Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 16 March 2017 at 2.00 pm
Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Ms. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
John Adler
Karen English
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani
Chief Supt Andy Lee
Roz Lindridge
Cllr. Kirk Master

Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Cllr. P. Ranson
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys
John Sinnott
Jane Toman
Jon Wilson

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 5 January 2017
and Action Log.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement from the Chairman.

(Pages 5 - 16)

Strategy.
5.

Sustainability and Transformation Plan Update. Better Care
Together

(Pages 17 - 24)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leicestershire.gov.uk

6.

Blueprint for General Practice: Delivering the
General Practice Five Year Forward View.

Better Care
Together

(Pages 25 100)

The final draft of the document submitted to NHS England is attached.

7.

Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 - 2018/19.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 101 182)

8.

Proposal for Joint Commissioning of a
Dementia Community and Hospital In-Reach
Service for Leicester and Leicestershire.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 183 188)

9.

Sport England Local Delivery Pilot Bid.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 189 194)

10.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide
Prevention Strategy and Action Plan 2017 2020.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 195 232)

11.

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 233 244)

12.

Safeguarding Boards Business Plans 2017/18.

Independent Chair
of the
Safeguarding
Boards

(Pages 245 252)

Performance.
13.

Ofsted Inspection of Services for Children in
Need of Help and Protection, Children Looked
After and Care Leavers.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 253 284)

14.

Transformation Plan for Mental Health and
Wellbeing for Children and Young People Refresh 2016/17.

Better Care
Together

(Pages 285 306)

15.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health
Protection Assurance Report.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 307 332)

16.

Health and Wellbeing System Performance
Report Quarter 3.

Chief Executive
and GEM
Commissioning
Support
Performance
Service

(Pages 333 350)

17.

Urgent Care Enter and View Report.

Healthwatch

18.

The Lived Experiences of Hospital Discharge.

Healthwatch

19.

Better Care Fund Quarterly Performance
Report.

(Pages 351 378)
(Pages 379 414)
(Pages 415 422)

Governance.
20.

Actions following the December Board
Development Session.

21.

Date of next meeting.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 1 June 2017 at
2.00pm
22.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

(Pages 423 442)

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 5 January 2017.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Paul Meredith
Mike Sandys
John Sinnott
Jon Wilson

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Karen English
Prof Mayur Lakhani
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Rick Moore
Leicestershire District Councils
Cllr Pam Posnett
Jane Toman
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
John Adler
Leicestershire Police
Ch Supt Andy Lee
Simon Down, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
In attendance
Angela Bright, West Leicestershire CCG
Helen Burchnall, Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
341. Minutes and Action Log.
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2016 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
The Board also noted the Action Log, which provided an update on actions agreed by the
Board at its previous meetings.

6
342. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.
343. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.
344. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:



QuitReady Leicestershire Launches in time for New Year Resolutions;
Local Engagement Events in January which focus on the future of healthcare in
Leicestershire;
A selection of National Publications, News and Consultations.

A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
345. Outputs of the Board Development Session held on 15 December.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
summarised the discussion that took place at the Health and Wellbeing Board
Development Session on 15 December, presented the outputs from that session and
outlined the next steps that would be taken to progress actions arising from the session.
A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 5’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) It was felt that, in addition to Integrated Locality Teams and Community Health
Services, the Health and Wellbeing Board should also assure itself that cross
border issues were being addressed through the delivery of the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP). The Board was advised that the Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) STP was currently being mapped against
neighbouring STPs to identify any implications for LLR and meetings were being
arranged with the Lead Officers for neighbouring STPs. The Director of Finance
for the LLR STP was considering the effect that neighbouring STPs would have on
activity levels and finances for LLR.
(ii) Some concern was expressed that the LLR STP included proposals for an
endoscopy unit at the Community Hospital in Hinckley. The STP for Warwickshire
proposed an endoscopy unity at the George Eliot Hospital in Nuneaton, and it was
suggested that to have two units in close proximity was not good value for money.
The Board was advised that the endoscopy unit in Hinckley would not be a
standalone unit but would be linked to the wider day case offer for that area. In an
LLR context, there was sufficient activity for the unit to be sustainable. However,
this proposal would now be considered in the light of the proposal for the George
Eliot Hospital.

7
(iii) The proposed communications campaign for the Health and Wellbeing Board
related to self care and supporting people to stay safe, well and independent in
Leicestershire would be developed across health and social care partners. It
would be submitted to a future meeting of the Board for approval. It would be
important for the campaign to enable the public to understand and shape the
future for health and care services in Leicestershire.
(iv) It was noted that Looked After Children, including unaccompanied asylum seeking
children, put pressure on NHS budgets as well as that of the Council. It was
confirmed that a Children and Families Plan for Leicestershire was being
developed and would include the future strategic direction for this area of work.
(v) It was requested that the update to the guidance on declarations of interest at
Board meetings, in the light of some Board members also leading STP
workstreams, be a solution for LLR as a whole.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the actions proposed in paragraph 9 of this report be approved and that
a report outlining progress with their delivery be submitted to the meeting of
the Board in March 2017;
(b) That the Director of Public Health be asked to develop a prevention wraparound offer for the Integrated Locality Teams and report on progress with
this to a future meeting of the Board;
(c) That individual partners be asked to progress the proposals outlined in
paragraph 12 which relate to their organisation and that this be the focus of a
Development Session for the Health and Wellbeing Board during Spring
2017.
(d) That officers be asked to develop a refreshed communications plan for the
Health and Wellbeing Board, based on the Board’s role as set out in
paragraph 13 of this report;
(e) That officers be asked to develop a communications campaign for the Board
related to self care and supporting people to stay safe, well and independent
in Leicestershire;
(f) That the Better Care Together/STP Programme Management Office be
recommended to consider learning from the integration model developed in
Salford;
(g) That the Better Care Together/STP Programme Management Office be
recommended to consider using the Public Health Prioritisation Tool to
determine commissioning and decommissioning decisions across the health
and social care system;
(h) That a report on cross border issues in relation to the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan be submitted to a future meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

8
346. STP Delivery Update.
The Board received a verbal update on progress with the STP from the Chief Operating
Officer at West Leicestershire CCG. She confirmed that the STP had been submitted to
NHS England on 21 October 2016. Formal feedback had not yet been received although
the acknowledgement from the NHS England regional office included informal feedback
that there was overall confidence in the plan and that it was a credible plan with good
communications and engagement.
It was confirmed that further finance and activity submissions would be required in the
light of the CCG Operational Plan but that there was no date for this at present. Dates for
public consultation on relevant parts of the STP had also not yet been confirmed,
although engagement events were currently taking place across Leicestershire.
The Capital Framework that would be used to determine the eligibility and success of
capital bids for the STPs was expected in February or March 2017. This would inform
the timing of the public consultation as some of the proposals were dependent upon
capital funding. There was less than usual capital funding available but informal
feedback had been positive about the relative priority of the LLR STP within the region.
The System Leadership Team had met twice and had identified lead accountable officers
for workstreams. The readiness of those workstreams was now being scoped.
The System Leadership Team was currently debating arrangements for interaction
between Health and Wellbeing Board Chairs and NHS Trust Board Chairs. It was felt
that this would be important to ensure the success of and commitment to the STP, as
would engagement between clinicians and politicians.
RESOLVED:
That the information now provided be noted.
347. CCG Operational Plan 2017 - 2019.
The Board considered a report from West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCGs which provided an overview of the CCGs Operational Plan. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.
It was noted that further discussion regarding the STP aspirations and urgent care
priorities was need to ensure that the two were aligned. The significant financial
challenged faced by the CCGs was also acknowledged.
RESOLVED:
That the overview of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Groups’ Operational Plan be noted.
348. Better Care Fund Refresh 2017-18.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided an update on the working progress to refresh and prepare the Leicestershire
Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan for 2017/18 to 2018/19. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.

9

Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) Discussions on the arrangements for Disabled Facilities Grant allocations in
2017/18 had concluded and a figure had been confirmed to each district council
based on their forecasting information. A letter would be sent to each district
council at the end of this week to confirm the position.
(ii) The CCGs would not fund the Supporting Leicestershire Families Programme for
2017/18 as it had not been possible to provide sufficient evidence of the effect that
the Programme had on NHS services. Information governance issues had
prevented relevant data from being collected but these were expected to be
resolved soon. It was hoped that this would result in CCG funding being provided
for the Programme. The Board was pleased to note that the Police and Crime
Commissioner had significantly increased his funding contribution for 2017/18 and
that the district councils had also committed funding.
(iii) The cost effectiveness of schemes within the BCF Plan had been considered
during the refresh process. An evaluation project with Loughborough University
was also considering the effectiveness of four schemes funded through the BCF
and how they improved patient flow.
(iv) Although there had been a further increase between Christmas and New Year, the
trend of rising emergency admissions to hospital for certain categories of patients
appeared be plateauing. This was likely to have been caused by the focus on a
combination of initiatives including ongoing changes to the urgent care system,
some of which were funded through the BCF, and internal improvements at UHL.
It was noted that A&E attendance and planned care referrals continued to rise.
These were an area of focus for the STP.
RESOLVED:
That the work in progress to refresh and prepare the Leicestershire Better Care Fund
plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 be noted.
349. Summary Care Record Solution for Care Planning
The Board considered a report of the Better Care Together IM&T Workstream which
provided an update on the Summary Care Record and Care Planning. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.
It was confirmed that the Summary Care Record would provide a comprehensive data set
for patients receiving end of life care. More assurance was needed that the project would
deliver this and that it would be effectively rolled out across LLR.
It was felt that LLR need a more ambitious digital strategy. The STP would rely on the
sharing of data in order to deliver the schemes within its workstreams. To this end,
cultural change, training and organisational development would be as important as the
technical solution. The development of Integrated Locality Teams provided an
opportunity for cultural change and those involved were keen to drive this change. It
would be important to ensure that this workstream included the activities linked to the
digital agenda and that dependencies on the development of the SCR were clearly
identified.

10

There was a role for both the Health and Wellbeing Board and STP workstreams to
support and educate the public. Currently, a significant number of patients did not agree
to the sharing of their information. As local health and care leaders, the Board needed to
give people the confidence to share their patient records safely.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the update on the Summary Care Record and Care Planning be noted;
(b) That the delivery of the Summary Care Record v2.1 to improve electronic care
planning in services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland be supported;
(c) That a report on progress with the delivery of the Summary Care Record v2.1 be
submitted to a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board;
(d) That a report on the Local Digital Roadmap be submitted to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
350. Parity of Esteem.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public health which provided an update
on local progress to address Parity of Esteem and specifically to present a timed and
quantified plan for addressing the physical health needs of people with serious and
enduring mental illness. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these
minutes.
The Plan for addressing the physical health needs of people with serious and enduring
mental illness was welcomed. It was confirmed that it would remain a priority for CCGs
and the police would wish to be involved through the Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner.
Within the STP, the Chief Executive of Leicestershire Partnership Trust would lead the
mental health workstream, which would have the same priorities and focus as the
previous Better Care Together mental health workstream.
RESOLVED:
That the update on local progress to address Parity of Esteem be noted.
351. Unified Prevention Board update and Terms of Reference.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided an update
on the progress of the Unified Prevention Board schemes and proposed a change to the
terms of reference to widen its scope to become an initial mechanism to integrate
services within the sphere of prevention. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is
filed with these minutes.
It was confirmed that the Lightbulb Business Case had been approved by five of the
seven district councils. The other two district councils were waiting for the financial
arrangements to be finalised before seeking approval. Project resource would be
available to help the district councils prepare for roll out of the Lightbulb Programme.

11
It was noted that, within the STP, Leicester City Council had the lead role for prevention.
However, it was felt that the work of the Unified Prevention Board aligned to and could
provide a wrap around prevention offer in communities for the Integrated Locality Teams.
RESOLVED:
That the Terms of Reference for the Unified Prevention Board be approved.
352. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
looked back at the past year for the Health and Wellbeing Board and reflected on the
progress that had been made across the partnership to improve the health and wellbeing
of the population of Leicestershire. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed
with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2016 be approved for
publication;
(b) That the progress made by the Board during 2016 be noted;
(c) That the key workstreams that have been identified to further progress the impact
of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017 be supported.
353. Better Care Fund Quarter 2 Performance Report.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided assurance on the national quarterly reporting requirements for the Better Care
Fund. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That it be noted that the quarter two Better Care Fund return was approved by
representatives of all partner organisations on the Health and Wellbeing Board at the
meeting of the Integration Executive on 24 November and submitted to NHS England on
25 November.
354. Date of next meeting.
It was noted that the next meeting of the Board would take place on Thursday 12 March
at 2,00pm.

2.00 - 3.40 pm
05 January 2017

CHAIRMAN

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

254(e)

07/01/16 Receive progress reports on the CAMHS
Transformation Plan, including performance
information with regard to the outcomes
framework on a regular basis.
17/11/16 Develop a delivery plan and performance
framework for the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy to monitor progress against the
Strategy and reported to the Health and
Wellbeing Board in due course.

326c)

Action

Responsible
Officer
Paul Meredith

Comments

Status

Mike Sandys

The delivery plan and performance framework for the GREEN
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be discussed
at the Board Development Session on 18 April.

Mike McHugh

A report is on the agenda for the March meeting of the GREEN
Health and Wellbeing Board

A report is on the agenda for the March meeting of the GREEN
Health and Welbeing Board

17/11/16 Submit a report outlining progress with the
development and delivery of the Suicide
Prevention Strategy to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

345(a)

05/01/17 Submit a report outlining progress with delivery of Rosemary Palmer
the actions agreed following the Development
Session to the meeting of the Board in March
2017.
05/01/17 Ask the Director of Public Health to develop a
Mike Sandys
prevention wrap-around offer for the Integrated
Locality Teams and report on progress with this
to a future meeting of the Board.

A report is on the agenda for the March meeting of the GREEN
Health and Wellbeing Board

05/01/17 Ask individual partners to progress the proposals Rosemary Palmer
for further action, following the Development
Session, which relate to their organisation and
present to the Development Session for the
Health and Wellbeing Board during Spring 2017.

Proposals for the Development Session are included
in the report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on
progress with outputs from the December
Development Session.

345(b)

345(c)

13

330c)

This is being developed and a report will be submitted GREEN
to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 1 June.

GREEN

1

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

345(d)

05/01/17 Ask officers to develop a refreshed
communications plan for the Health and
Wellbeing Board, based on the Board’s role as
set out in paragraph 13 of this report.
05/01/17 Ask officers to develop a communications
campaign for the Board related to self care and
supporting people to stay safe, well and
independent in Leicestershire.

345e)

345(g)

345(h)

Responsible
Officer
Sally Kilbourne

Comments

Status

The communications plan is included in the report to
the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress with
outputs from the December Development Session.

GREEN

Sally Kilbourne

An outline communications campaign plan has been GREEN
developed. The aim of the campaign will be to inform
and engage local people to take responsibility for their
health and wellbeing to achieve the best possible
quality of life. This will be achieved by providing tips on
staying safe, well and independent and signposting to
local and national resources. More information is
included in the report to the Health and Wellbeing
Board on progress with outputs from the December
Development Session.

05/01/17 Recommend the Better Care Together/STP
Cheryl Davenport
Programme Management Office to consider
learning from the integration model developed in
Salford
05/01/17 Recommend the Better Care Together/STP
Mike Sandys
Programme Management Office to consider
using the Public Health Prioritisation Tool to
determine commissioning and decommissioning
decisions across the health and social care
system;
05/01/17 Submit a report on cross border issues in relation Toby Sanders
to the Sustainability and Transformation Plan be
submitted to a future meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

The Programme Management Office has been made
aware of the model.

GREEN

The Public Health prioritisation tool has been shared
with the Programme Management Office.

GREEN

This is included in the STP Update to the March
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

14

345(f)

Action

2

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

349(c)

05/01/17 Submit a report on progress with the delivery of
the Summary Care Record v2.1 to a future
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
05/01/17 Submit a report on the Local Digital Roadmap to Vikesh Tailor
a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

349(d)

Action

Responsible
Officer
Vikesh Tailor

Comments

Status

A report is scheduled for the July meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

A report is scheduled for the June meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

15
3

This page is intentionally left blank

17

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 March 2017
STP Update
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Board on the progress of the Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

Link to the local Health and Care System

2.

The draft STP for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) is one of 44 plans
nationally. It shows how local services will evolve and become sustainable, in line
with the NHS’ five year vision for better health, better patient care and improved NHS
efficiency.

Recommendation
3.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note the update on the progress
of the LLR STP.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

At its meeting on 6 December, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to take on a
role which provided additional governance arrangements for the STP to deliver
improved clarity and connection between the local place and the LLR tier with more
visibility, shaping and recognition of the wider determinants of health in all aspects of
strategic planning. This aligns with the existing responsibilities of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

5.

The Health and Wellbeing Board on 6 December also agreed to take on a ‘confirm
and challenge’ function in relation to two specific areas of the STP, community
hospital reconfiguration (excluding Rutland Memorial Hospital) and the development
of Integrated Locality Teams.

Background
6.

The STP for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is in draft form and is currently
going through and engagement period, expected to be completed by the end of April
2017. The slides appended to this report provide an update on the current status of
the STP.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
7.

An engagement plan has been drawn together, and is currently being implemented to
involve patients, the public and other stakeholders.

18

Background papers
Full draft STP document is available at: www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 6 December concerning the role of the Board
in delivery of the STP http://ow.ly/Zk32309Hw9h
Officer to Contact
Angela Bright:
Telephone: 01509 567733
Email: angela.bright@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix – STP Update (presentation)
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
8.

Impact Assessments are carried out for all programmes and projects undertaken
within the STP programme.

Partnership Working and associated issues
9.

STP is the strategic platform requiring Health and Social Care systems to work
together. The STP footprint involves both Leicester City and Rutland County
Councils. The three Leicestershire and Rutland Commissioning Groups, and three
healthcare providers, as well as NHS England.

STP Update March 2017
19

National Direction
•

STP Development Day 31st January 2017 to inform the Five
Year Forward View Plan
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Submission of GP Five Year Forward View and
Implementation Plan
National Capital Funding
Transformational Funding Bids to support National Priorities
•
•
•
•

Cancer
Learning Disabilities
Diabetes
Mental Health – IAPT & Urgent Care Liaison

20

•

Investments and Priorities
Formal appointment process for STP leaders
Strengthening STP leaders positions
Provision of some transformational funding to areas with
strong plans and partnerships to support faster progress
Development of a credible implementation plan

Programme Highlights and Work
• Implementation Plan development
•
•

• Review of Capacity Plan (including application
of the three conditions test)
• Development of Future Models – Home First
and Integrated Care Teams
• Established work stream delivery

21

•

Delivery Prioritisation
Resource requirements including central PMO
support
Identification of additional work streams

STP Engagement and Feedback

Key themes
•
More information required on the future of mental health services and
children’s services
•
Prevention was felt to be really important
•
General agreement that only care that should take place in a hospital
setting happens in the future
•
More planned care in a community settings
•
What does this really mean for me and my family

22

Engagement
•
7 Public events across the county with a further 5 planned
•
Publication of public facing summary
•
Video blogs of case studies featuring clinicians and PPI representatives
•
Publication of National video on ‘What is an STP?’
•
Planned staff engagement events

Bordering STPs
Northamptonshire

Lincolnshire










Centralise maternity services across Lincoln & Boston
(Mainly in Lincoln)
Grantham A&E becomes urgent care centre backed up
by a medical take providing ambulatory care services
and bed based selected medical admissions
New Urgent Care centre in front of Lincoln A&E
Re-provision of community facilities at Louth and
Skegness with single site
Provide more care in the community – join up physical
and mental health
Network of small community hospital facilities which
will include an urgent care centre, diagnostic support
such as x-rays and tests, outpatient facilities and a
limited number of beds
Provide a small number of specialised mental health
inpatient facilities
Centralisation of stroke and vascular centres in Lincoln
(Subject to final analysis)







Rapid access to primary and community
care & enhanced routine care &
discharge support in the community
Adoption of new medical models of
acute care
24/7 single point of access service via 111
24/7 community mental health crisis
response and intensive home
treatment service
New models of care to maximise
consistent, effective compassionate
primary care services

Nottinghamshire




7 day GP services
Promote wellbeing, prevention, independence & selfcare
Strengthen primary, community, social care and carer
services

In the media: comments on concern for workforce reduction
Notes Planned merger of Sherwood Forest Trust & Nottingham
University Hospitals has been dropped (Some aspects of STP
relied on merger)


Derbyshire
Some of the key proposals
outlined in the Sustainability
and Transformation Plans of
STP areas bordering Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland

In the media: Council unanimously passes motion against
Lincolnshire STP hospital closures

 Join up place-based care to operate as a single team
 Preventing physical and mental ill health, identify
issues early to avoid bigger problems
 Community based care – Right services when needed
so A&E, Urgent Care, etc there for people who need
them
In the media: Concern around Burton Hospital A&E potentially
becoming urgent care centre (Staffordshire STP)

Coventry and Warwickshire
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent






Move from to 3 to 2 A&E sites and 1 Urgent Care
Centre
Enhanced primary & community care – 23 integrated
locality care hubs
Consolidate minor injuries, walk-in, GP urgent
appointments, NHS 111, and other urgent and
response services (Implement alternative rapid
response community facing services)
Develop options to re-configure services for planned
care to deliver ‘state of the art’ highly efficient 7 day
elective centres


In the media: ongoing concerns around the closure of
Lichfields’ Samuel Johnson Hospitals minor injuries unit &
reduction of beds at Tamworths’ Sir Robert Peel Hospital






Consolidate paediatrics and maternity
– develop community hubs
Consolidate acute stroke services at
University Hospitals of Coventry and
Warwickshire and additional
rehabilitation beds across the other
providers with Early Supported Discharge
teams – Community stroke rehab
commissioned
New model of care including crisis
response in community

In the media: Concern that George Eliot Hospital
(Nuneaton) A&E may be changing






Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
GP practices collaborations – e.g. federations &
super practices
Care closer to home – self-care & community based care
Integrated urgent care services & clinical hub to replace
current NHS 111 and GP out of hours
Joined up local urgent primary care 

23





This page is intentionally left blank

25

Agenda Item 6

Blueprint for General Practice
Delivering the General Practice Five Year Forward View

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
24 February 2017

Final Draft

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

26
Blueprint for General Practice | ii

Final Draft

Contents

1. Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
2. Our Model for General Practice . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Vision
Model
Next steps

3. Extended Access Across LLR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17
LLR Extended Access Service Model
Next Steps

4. Workforce . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
Education, Training and Recruitment
Next Steps for General Practice Workforce

5. Workload . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
Next Steps

6. Infrastructure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
IM&T
Estate
Next Steps

7. Investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
Five Year Investment Plan for Primary Care

8. Engaging on Primary Care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland . . . . 52
Next Steps

9. Leadership, Governance and Programme Arrangements . . . . . . . . . . . . 55
Next steps
Risks

10. Conclusion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58

Final Draft

27
1 | 1. Introduction

1. Introduction
Primary medical care is the foundation of a high performing health care
system and as such is critical to the successful implementation of the LLR
Sustainability and Transformation Plan. Ensuring the development and
resilience of Primary Care will assist in bringing about the system-wide
transformation required to focus on prevention and the moderation of
demand growth.
Whilst there are three separate CCGs with distinct geographical, political,
social and economic environments, with very differing health needs, we are
committed to the development of our response to the GP 5 Year Forward
view as a collective. As such, throughout this plan there will be a focus on
what brings us together and how we will jointly tackle the challenge, whilst
also highlighting locally sensitive solutions. Board GPs from each CCG have
actively engaged in the development of the plan and fully support it.
This is not going to be an easy task, there are many challenges facing
General Practice, including workforce, funding and rising demand. In LLR we
will work together to develop and co-design a resilient and sustainable
model in which general practice can thrive.
We have a clear direction for the future of primary care in which general
practice is the foundation of a strong, vibrant, joined up health and social
care system. The new system is patient centred, engaging local people who
use services as equal partners in planning and commissioning which results in
the provision of accessible high quality, safe, needs-based care. This is
achieved through expanded but integrated primary and community health
care teams, offering a wider range of services in the community with
increased access to rapid diagnostic assessment and, crucially, patients taking
increased responsibility for their own health.

What Primary Medical Care will look like in five years
When this plan is fully implemented, General Practice in LLR will be
recognisable as follows:
• General Practice with registered lists will remain at the heart of the model,
offering a comprehensive service to patients based on differential need
according to condition and complexity.
• Patients with complex needs will receive continuity of care and be treated
by their own General Practice, close to home on a more proactive basis.
• Practices will come together either formally or informally to provide
services on multiple sites, offering planned and unplanned services to
meet patient’s needs at scale.
• Practices working together will deliver improved efficiency by reducing
bureaucracy through the more effective use of existing resources, eg,
centralised HR, payroll.
• Groups of practices and federations will provide a significant proportion
of non-core services from fit for purpose premises which offer choice to
patients, but not necessarily within their own practice premises.
• Practices will actively contribute to place-based care provided around
geographically defined local populations. This will support the adaptation
of services for patients and act as a catalyst to new models of
collaboration.
• Patients will be an active part of the ‘practice team’, taking greater
Final Draft

28
Blueprint for General Practice | 2

Challenges:
General Practice in LLR is full to capacity
in its current form with:
•

•

•
•

Rising demand
An increasing population
A predicted growth of 19% in the
60+ age-group

Difficulties with recruitment and
retention of staff.
These challenges are too great for
individual practices to meet alone.
Practice will need to work in an
increasingly collective and integrated way,
“scaled” to address the challenges they
face:
•

•

With patients

•

As part of federations

•

With neighbouring practices
With health and social care
colleagues.

responsibility for their own health and wellbeing, to reduce demand.
• Patients will be able to access urgent and on the day services seven days
per week from the appropriate clinical team member within their locality.
• Practices will work collaboratively, and there will be full integration with
community and social care services.
• Practices, federations, localities and patients will play a greater role in
shaping how primary care is provided, to improve both quality of care for
patients and the sustainability of General Practice.
Priorities
Must DO ▼
STP

Financial Balance

Sustainable
General Practice

Model

Improve
Access

Workforce

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Workload Infrastructure Investment

✔

✔

18 week RTT

✔

✔

Cancer

✔

✔

✔

✔

Mental Health

✔

✔

✔

✔

Learning
Disability

✔

✔

✔

Improve Quality

✔

A and E
performance

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Impact on the 9 “Must Do”s
Once realised, our plan for General Practice will positively and directly impact
on the “9 Must Dos” as improving the efficiency, effectiveness and
sustainability of general practice will have wider system benefits:

The Local Landscape—Population
It is important to recognise that the starting points and the needs of the
population that each CCG serves will require differing approaches which
recognises the environment and the local needs and demands. Across the
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland STP area we have a total population of
1,061,800 with a forecast increase over the next five years of 3.6% for
children and young people, 1.7% for adults and 11.1% for older people.
The age structure of the area is on par with the national average but there is
a variation with Leicester City having a higher population of young people
and East Leicestershire and Rutland has more people age over 50. Analysis of
our health data identified the following areas that we need to address:
• Reducing the variation in life expectancy—in Leicester the average
life expectancy is 77.3 years for males and 81.9 years for females and in
Rutland it is 81 years for men and 84.7 for women. More variation can be
found across the STP footprint, for example in Leicester City the gap
between the best and worst life expectancy is 8 years. The difference in
Final Draft

29
3 | 1. Introduction

•

•

•

•

•

life expectancy is complex and is impacted on by deprivation, lifestyle and
the wider determinants of health.
Reducing the variation in health outcomes—there is a considerable
difference in health outcomes across the STP footprint. For example
43.8% of diabetes patients in Leicester city meet all three of the NICE
recommended treatment targets compared to 41.9% of patients in East
Leicestershire and Rutland. 66.4% of people with long term conditions in
West Leicestershire and 58.5% in Leicester City feel supported to manage
their condition.
Reducing premature mortality—premature mortality across the STP
footprint is caused by cardiovascular disease, respiratory diseases, cancer
and liver disease, the level of premature mortality varies across LLR. More
than 50% of the burden of strokes; 65% of CHD; 70% of COPD and
80% of lung cancer are due to behavioural risk and we will tackle this
through early detection programmes and preventative public health
strategies and programmes. Infant mortality has improved in Leicester
with the city now comparable to England as a whole. However the stillbirth rate at 6.5 days per 1,000 total births in 2012/14 is higher than the
national average of 4.7. A strategy is in place which focuses on targeted
work on predisposing factors including prematurity and small-for-date
babies.
Improving the early detection of cancers and cancer performance—
one year survival rates from all cancers varies across the STP footprint. In
Leicester city the rate is 65.9% compared to East Leicestershire and
Rutland which is 70.2%. Cancer is also one of the major causes of
premature mortality across the STP footprint. Detecting cancers early
improves survival rates for example 5 year survival rates for colon cancer
is 1 in 10 if detected at stage 4 but if detected at stage 1 survival after 5
years increases to 9 in 10, this is similar for rectal, ovarian and lung
cancers. We also need to improve our performance on 63 day cancer
rates.
Improving mental health outcomes—across the STP footprint there is
a difference in mental health need. East Leicestershire & Rutland and
West Leicestershire CCG areas have high levels of dementia, where
Leicester City has high levels of psychosis. All have high levels of
depression.
Moving from chronic disease management to prevention—much of
the above health outcomes are caused by lifestyle and are preventable;
late detection leads to costly chronic disease management.

The table below shows the NHS Outcome Indicators and the relative position of each
CCG demonstrating variation in performance and outcomes.

NHS Outcome Indicators
Domain 1
Potential years of life lost to
treatable disease, persons
Percentage of cancers detected
at Stage 1 or 2
Under 75 mortality rates from
cardiovascular disease
Under 75 mortality rates from
respiratory disease
Under 75 mortality rates from
cancer

England

LC

ELR

Reporting peWL Data source riod

2064.5 2642.8 1978.7

1764.2 HSCIC

2014

45.7% 42.9% 48.9%

46.0% HSCIC

2013

63.7

90.1

53.8

57.0 HSCIC

2014

27.6

35.4

19.7

22.4 HSCIC

2014

121.4

129.4

111.1

110.9 HSCIC

2014

A67A68A71A73

Patient satisfaction

ELR LC WL England
67% 68% 71% 73%

% of patients who find it easy to get
through to their surgery by phone.

87A7986A85
72A68A72A73
84A80A85A85

ELR LC WL England
87% 79% 86% 85%

% of patients who were able to get an
appointment to see or speak to someone
last time they tried.

ELR LC WL England
72% 68% 72% 73%

%of patients who describe their
experience of making an appointments as
good.

ELR LC WL England
84% 80% 85% 85%

% of patients who describe their overall
experience of this surgery as good.

Final Draft

30
Blueprint for General Practice | 4

Domain 2
Unplanned hospitalisation for
chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions
Unplanned hospitalisation for
asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in
under 19s

805.9 1,131.5

671.7

324.5

169.1

Outcome
Atlas /
740.5 HSCIC
Outcome
Atlas /
180 HSCIC

64.4% 57.3% 65.1%

Outcome
Atlas /
62.1% HSCIC

14/15

Emergency admissions for acute
conditions that should not usually require hospital admission

1272.4 1446.1

1047

Outcome
1066.7 Atlas

2014-15 (JulyJune) Provisional

Emergency admissions within 30
days of discharge from hospital

11.9% 11.7% 11.3%

Outcome
11.3% Atlas

11/12

Percentage of people reporting
their GP surgery as very good or
fairly good

85.0% 78.3% 84.8%

July 2015
publication—
data collected
from Jul-Sept
GP Patient 2014 and JanMar 2015
85.1% Survey

Percentage of patients reporting
a good experience with out of
hour GP services

68.6% 66.1% 69.8%

Outcome
61.2% Atlas

People feeling supported to
manage their condition

246.6

2014-15 (JulyJune) Provisional
2014-15 (JulyJune) Provisional

Domain 3

Domain 4

14/15

What Patients Have Said
In total more than 50 events have been held across Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland with a diverse range of audiences and participants including
clinicians and the public. Across those events there have been more than
6,000 attendees—with around 1,500 of those being unique participants.
Overall, almost everyone tells us the high regard in which primary care is held
and the vital role it provides for patients and local communities. It is the part
of the NHS with which people have most contact, and satisfaction with the
services provided by their practice—particularly doctors and other clinical
staff—is high. This is evidenced, for example, through work undertaken by
Healthwatch in Leicestershire and, in the city, focussed activity with the local
PPG network.
However, it is clear that there are also opportunities for improvement. Key
themes and feedback emerging from the events and meetings held across
the region have influenced our priorities for the future and can clearly be
seen within this plan.

The Local Landscape—General Practice
For many people a visit to their GP is the most common form of contact with
the NHS, with 90% of all health care episodes in England starting and
finishing within a patient’s surgery. Nationally each year, there are 340 million
appointments and many more contacts via telephone or letter.
Primary medical care is however under significant pressure from patient
demand:
• 1993–2013 saw the average GP consultation lengthen by 50% (from 8 to
12 minutes)

Final Draft

31
5 | 1. Introduction

• 2005–2015 saw a 40% increase in GP consultation rates
• The average patient now sees their GP eight times a year (100% up on
10 years ago)
• Average annual consultations among the over 75s have increased by over
50% from 7.9 in 2000 to 12.4 in 2015
• In 2010 people with LTCs (29% of the population) accounted for over
50% of all GP appointments.
This is in a climate of years of relative under-investment in primary medical
care. There are significant workforce issues with a 15% drop nationally in the
numbers coming into GP training, over 50% of GPs under 50 years of age
considering leaving the profession in the next five years, and the move away
from partnerships to salaried or locum positions. The recruitment and
retention issues affecting GPs are mirrored in the practice nursing workforce,
64% of practice nurses are over 50 with only 35% under 40. Between 2001
and 2011 the number of community nurses fell by 38%, whilst the nursing
workforce expanded by 4% in the acute sector and there is a growing
reliance on agency staff.
This national picture is mirrored locally with recruitment, retention and
workload cited as the key issues affecting the local sustainability of General
Practice. As such our plan needs both to support our practices in the day to
day delivery of core services, and to bring about transformational change.
Across LLR there are over 138 GP practices, ranging from single handed
practitioners to registered lists of over 38,000 patients.
Varying delivery methods and premises exist alongside historical funding
differences and a range of care models using GPs and other health care
professionals. Outcomes for patients differ based on age, sex, deprivation,
ethnicity and rurality and there are inequalities across the system.
CCG

Population

Number of
Practices

Average List
size

Contract Split

GP WTE

Registered
Nurses WTE

WL

374,000

48

7792

GMS 48

185

67

ELR
City

Total

325,000

376,000

1,075,000

31

59

138

10483
6642

24,917

GMS 31

APMS 13
PMS 1
GMS 45
138

206

156

547

83

68

218

Within LLR all of the CCGs have taken on responsibility for delegated cocommissioning and have worked hard to ensure additional investment has
been channelled into General Practice to improve the outcomes for patients,
and focus on ensuring care closer to home. See Section 7: Investment.
There is a range of estates, GP systems, and care homes all impacting on the
delivery of General Practice.

Final Draft

32
Blueprint for General Practice | 6

CCG
ELRCCG

WLCCG

LCCCG

Care Homes
78 residential homes
15 combined
22 nursing homes,
77 residential homes,
2 combined and 3 learning disability
homes
20 Nursing homes
85 Residential homes
Combined 9

45/105 homes offer some form of LD
provision

Premise —main and branches
GP Owned—25
GP Lease—21
LPT owned—1

NHSProp Services—2
GP Owned -44
GP Lease—16

LPT owned—6

NHSProp Services - 0
GP Owned -38
GP Lease—10

LPT owned—2

GP System
13 EMIS
20 Systm1
18 EMIS
30 Systm1
58 Systm1
1 EMIS

NHSProp Services—8
CHP—1

Improving Quality in General Practice—Supporting Improvement and Sustainability
CCGs, since their inception, have had a duty to continually improve the
quality of primary medical care services. This has been achieved through
active engagement with our member practices and the undertaking of
regular quality visits to each practice. Here qualitative and quantitative data
at practice level enables practices to understand their performance and the
quality of care their patients receive, benchmarked against their peers. Whilst
this has led to improvements in many areas there remains significant
variation across practices in LLR as a whole. We continue to place a priority
on addressing unwarranted variation—though we recognise that external
factors also affect the quality of general practice performance.
The programmes led by NHSE provide the opportunity to support the most
vulnerable practices. Through the Vulnerable Practice Pilot Programme and
the General Practice Resilience Programme, a number of practices across LLR
identified themselves as vulnerable. They cited recruitment and retention of
GPs and the wider practice team, increasing elderly population, funding,
premises and a growing list size as key issues. The table below indicates
applications received and those practices that will be supported. The level of
applications received demonstrates the anxiety and genuine concern from
practices with regard to their sustainability.
Vulnerable Practice Programme
ELRCCG

2/31 practices applied and supported

WLCCG

9/48 practices applied - 4 supported

LCCCG

4/58 practices applied and supported

General Practice Resilience
7/31applied:
1 supported
3 reserve
3 not supported
12 practices applied:
5 supported
5 reserve
2 not supported
23 practices applied
4 supported
8 reserve
11 not supported

Final Draft

33
7 | 1. Introduction

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG

Since the advent of co-commissioning the 3 CCGs (April 2015) have adopted
a comprehensive risk share and management process involving the
CCG/CQC/NHSE. This allows for formal discussion on a monthly basis to
assess and score risk in our primary care providers. Risk factors include, CQC
reporting, contract issues, soft intelligence, capacity/workforce and
sustainability issues.

Good
Requires
Improvement
O
ve
ra
ll
Sa
Ef fe
fe
ct
ive
Ca
Re rin
sp g
on
siv
W e
el
ll
ed

In Conclusion

Outstanding

The baseline assessment shows a diverse picture of General Practice within
LLR. There are significant variations in quality and outcomes for patients and
a system that is in places struggling with the increased demand on workload
and the recruitment of highly skilled clinical staff.

Leicester City CCG

Outstanding
Good

Inadequate

O

ve
ra
ll
Sa
Ef fe
fe
ct
iv
Ca e
Re rin
sp g
on
si
W ve
el
ll
ed

Requires
Improvement

West Leicestershire CCG

Outstanding
Good

ve

ra
ll
Sa
Ef fe
fe
ct
iv
Ca e
Re rin
sp g
on
si
W ve
el
ll
ed

Requires
Improvement
O

Our priorities for action are to:
• Support those practices at greatest risk through local and national
schemes
• Work with member practices, federations and the public to co-design and
deliver a model of service delivery that will be sustainable and support the
STP plan
• Deliver an integrated service that provides both high quality and needs
based in hours and out of hours care
• Deliver the workforce plan that will meet the demands of new models of
care
• Set a plan and trajectory for improved quality and reduced variation in
clinical outcomes and access
• Respond to patients’ feedback and concerns.

Inadequate

Inadequate

Final Draft

34
Blueprint for General Practice | 8

2. Our Model for General
Practice
Sustainable general practice
is at the heart of our model
and we will:
•

•
•

•

•

Actively work with Public health
colleagues on the core prevention
agenda
Expand our workforce, its skill mix
and capability
Decrease unnecessary workload
Ensure funding follows the patient

Capitalise on technological advances
to enable interoperability of systems
and record sharing.
See the following sections:
4. Workforce
5. Workload
6. Infrastructure
7. Investment

The overarching model of care across LLR is the Home First model. This
model was originally highlighted by Dr Ian Sturgess in the 2014 Sturgess
Report on the Urgent Care Pathway in LLR. However, the principles of Home
First are not only applicable to an urgent presentation but define our
approach to integrated care across LLR, including general practice.
This approach requires all teams and individuals—whether in secondary,
community or primary care—to ask “Why is this patient not at home?” or
“How best can we keep them at home?”It requires a move away from
organisationally-driven provision to integrated place-based provision.
Our overarching philosophy is that admission to secondary care should only
take place when it is clinically unavoidable, and that discharge home from
acute care should be achieved as quickly and efficiently as possible. In our
model we will increase the proportion of care patients receive close to home
through effective, timely interventions. This will require increasing access to
seven day—and, where appropriate, 24 hour—care management,
developing flexible models that enable care to be provided in both a
scheduled and unscheduled manner to meet the clinical needs of patients.
The Home First model is based on transforming services for all patients, but is
a particularly urgent priority for the rising number of patients with long term
and complex conditions. It requires a fundamental shift towards care that is
co-ordinated around the full range of an individual’s needs (rather than care
based around single diseases) and care that truly prioritises prevention and
support for maintaining independence. Achieving this will require much
more integrated working to ensure that the right mix of services is available
in the right place at the right time.

Vision
Over the next five years our new model for general practice which supports
the Home First philosophy will be realised. The practice and primary
healthcare team will remain as the core unit of care, with the individual
practice patient lists retained as the foundation of care. However, while a
large proportion of care will remain with a patient’s own practice, an
increasing proportion will be provided by practices coming together to
collaborate in networks or federations using their expertise, sharing premises,
staff and resources to deliver care for and on behalf of each other. In this
way it will be possible to improve access and provide an extended range of
service to our patients, as well as creating an environment that attracts
doctors and other health professionals into a career in primary health care.
We believe that the vast majority of health problems— including mental
health issues—could be dealt with by primary and community care. We have
not yet fully realised the potential of general practice, so too often patients
receive care in hospital that could be safely provided in the community,
coordinated through their general practice, and supported by the wider
health and social care teams.

Final Draft

35
9 | 2. Our Model for General Practice

Model
Our model is based on the GP as expert clinical generalist working in the
community, with general practice being the locus of control, ensuring the
effective co-ordination of care. The GP has a pivotal role in tackling comorbidity and health inequalities but increasingly they will work with
specialist co-located in primary and community settings, supported by
community providers and social care to create integrated out of hospital care.

0
Self care and
prevention

1
Primary
care

2

3

4

Enhanced
routine care

Urgent care and
crisis response

Emergency and
acute care

Greater risk and complexity

Our model places the patient and
their general practice at the centre of
provision, extending the care and
support that can be delivered in
community settings through
multidisciplinary working. The aim is to
reduce the amount delivered in acute
settings, so that only care that
should/must be delivered in the acute
setting will take place there in the future.

Patient
Practice
District
(Multispecialty
Community
Provider)

Acute

To achieve this the changes we envision will mean that primary medical care
will be more integrated and federated with patients co-designing services
and taking increased responsibility for their own health. This new system will
be patient-centered, providing accessible high quality needs-based care. This
is achieved through expanded but integrated primary and community teams
offering a wider range of services in the community with increased access to
rapid diagnostics assessment and co-located specialists. This will require a
shift of resources from the acute sector, investment in facilities and a greater
role for nurses, pharmacists and health care assistants.
The evidence of demand, patient disease-profile, and expectation, shows
that the reasonable needs of patients have changed since the contract was
issued in 2004. All practices will need to provide a level of urgent primary
care access as well as planned services and should support patients in selfcare management as well as accessing other appropriate health services,
such as pharmacy or when really necessary, urgent or emergency care.
To meet the reasonable needs of patients, now and in the future, the model
of delivery will need to adapt. This adaptation is based around patient need
and seeing the right health care professional for their condition.
The evidence shows that patients with complex needs, whether this is LTC,
mental health or frailty, require a co-ordinated package of care that will
require care planning, regular pro-active interventions and support. This
continuous care is best provided by a multi-disciplinary team with the GP
acting as the designated accountable care co-ordinator for the most complex
or vulnerable patients. This level of service utilises a GP’s skills to best effect
and patients will be streamed accordingly. All other patients will have access
either on the day or pre-booked to another appropriate health professional
with GP oversight.

Final Draft

36
Blueprint for General Practice | 10

This Blueprint shows a model of how
General Practice could manage patients
according to need, supported by
community services. Care is not
necessarily delivered by a GP but by a
nurse, pharmacist, nurse practitioner or
emergency care practitioner according to
need.
(See Section 4: Workforce)

A Proposed Blue Print for General Practice
Complex

Non-complex
Urgent noncomplex

Routine and
Planned

Visits

Urgent Complex

Self care and
prevention

Enhanced
services e.g.
INR, Minor
surgery
etc or
extended
commissioned
services

Extended Urgent
Care home
visiting for
housebound
Complex patients

Immediate
access seven
days a week
when in crisis to
clinical services
coordinated
through own
practice. e.g.
extended home
visiting,
community offer

On the day
nurse-led/other
healthcare
professionals
with doctor
support when
necessary

Continuity not
needed

GP continuity not
needed

Proactive
Management
Complex
Complex patients
including frail
older people, end
of life, multiple
long term
conditions or
Housebound

Could be
delivered at scale

Could be
delivered at scale

Proactive case
managed with
multi-disciplinary
team
GP continuity
necessary

INTEGRATED TEAMS: – Place based integrated team providing integrated wrap around care for a cohort of complex patients. e.g.
Therapies, community matron, district nurse team, voluntary and 3 sector social care.rdDelivered through MCP model
SCALE SUPPORT SERVICES – commissioned to support complex exacerbations. A single pathway through health and social care
e.g. virtual beds, 72 hour crisis response, intermediate care, specialist nurse/doctor e.g. geriatrician

Our Baseline
Federations
ELR CCG

•

ELR GP Federation

WL CCG
•
•
•

•

North Charnwood GP Community
Network
Hinckley and Bosworth Medical
Alliance
North West Leicestershire GP LTD
South Charnwood GP Network LTD

LC CCG
•

•

•

Across Leicester
Millennium
City Central

In reviewing our current position and our journey to achieving our model for
general practice we acknowledge that over the past two–three years we
have developed a range of new services within both general practice and the
community which are as yet are not fully utilised or coordinated.
We also acknowledge that each CCG is at a different stage in achieving the
model which poses challenges set against the desire to achieve a broadly
consistent approach:

In LC CCG
During 2016/17 the CCG developed a draft primary care strategy that sets
out the main challenges faced by primary care in the city as well as the CCG’s
local approach to addressing those needs. The strategy is currently being
engaged upon with key stakeholders. It should be noted that, while the
strategy sets the overarching vision for primary care in the city, the detail is
underpinned by the requirements of the GP Five Year Forward View
operational plan—which forms part of the overall STP.
Within Leicester City, many like-minded GPs have come together and joined
one of three federations. Currently around three-quarters of practices are
part of a federation, covering around two-thirds of the city’s patient
population. Each of the three federations is at a different level of
development, although two are currently fully legally constituted and CQC
registered.
Of these, Millennium Health Federation successfully bid for, and was
awarded, £3.2million of funding under wave 2 of the Prime Minister’s Access
Fund. Under this the federation has, for the last 18 months, delivered a
number of healthcare hubs across multiple locations in the city—providing
over 100,000 additional face to face appointments during this time. In
addition, Across Leicester Health Federation has received funding from NHS
England under the Clinical Pharmacists in Practices pilot scheme, with nine
clinical pharmacists currently in post to support practices across the city and
help to free up clinical time.

Final Draft

37
11 | 2. Our Model for General Practice

Members of the respective federations are currently identifying opportunities
for collaborative working, supported by the CCG as an ‘honest broker’. A
task and finish group has been establish that has representation from all
three federations, as well as non-federated practices, to examine the
possibility of practices coming together as part of one city-wide federation in
the future.

In ELR CCG

Localities and Federations

GP localities have a history of collaborative working. In 2014 the CCG
worked with its member practices to develop the Primary Care Strategy this
was codesigned and aligns to the overall LLR model. Whilst some progress
has been made the CCG acknowledges that further impetus is required to
fully realise the ambition.

A federation is a legal or formal provider
organisation made up of GP practices.
The locality is the footprint in which
community services are provided. In West
Leicestershire the federations are
coterminous with the localities. In East
Leicestershire and Rutland one federation
covers four localities. In Leicester City the
federations do not as yet fully match the
Health Needs Neighbourhood.

The practices have recognised the opportunity of the development of the GP
landscape and in 2015/16 the ELR GP Federation was formed as a legally
constituted organisation covering all 31 member practices. The federation
received development funding from the CCG to assist in its establishment.
The ELR GP Federation mission is “To champion through GPs and their
practices, investment and delivery healthcare services at scale for patients
across East Leicestershire and Rutland”. A federated general practice will
provide leadership for integrated place-based population health which is
central to the CCG’s strategy and the development of Multispecialty
Community Providers. A work plan has been developed to support the vision
and objectives outlined in the business plan, including ideas raised by members.
The ELR GP Federation is already beginning to support locality members’
practices with regard to changing the way care is delivered and the
infrastructure that supports this, through:
• Integrated Locality Teams—support practices in the development of
the ‘leadership teams’ in the four ELR localities (B&L, Melton/Syston,
Market Harborough, O&W), to work toward developing ‘wrap around’
community services.
• Primary Care Home—the Rutland Locality has been successful in its bid
and has a key opportunity for developing new models of working.
Learning will be shared across the CCGs as we develop integrated locality
teams.
• GP Programme Board—the ELR GP Federation is an active part of the
Board and is now taking on delivery of GP Five Year Forward View.
The role of the federation at the heart of delivering a new model of
sustainable General Practice is in its infancy and although all of our practices
have signed up as members, there is still a need for greater engagement and
involvement to realise its potential.

In WL CCG
In 2014 the CCG developed its Primary Medical Care Plan, setting out the
challenges, case for change, and ambitions to support the resilience of
general practice, so that it can thrive. This was followed in 2015 by a
Community Services Plan, outlining the system change required to further
redesign community services and transform primary care, in order to reduce
the proportion of resources assigned to acute care. Implementation is under
way for both plans, overseen by the Integrated Primary and Community
Services Programme Board. These plans fully align to the General Practice
Forward View and place the CCG in a strong position to address the national
requirements at a local level.

Final Draft

38
Blueprint for General Practice | 12

A key aspect of both plans is the delivery model of general practice that will
be integrated and federated with patients co-designing services and taking
increased responsibility for their health.
Much has already been achieved in realising this ambition. West
Leicestershire’s four localities have a strong and positive history of
collaborative working. The practices recognise the local and national
challenges facing them and the impact on the long term sustainability and
viability of general practice in its current form. In 2014 each locality formed a
legally constituted federation. Each of the four federations are now well
established with all 48 practices being active members of the federation in
their local area. Initially, each federation received development funding from
the CCG to assist in the establishment of the federation leadership team and
to undertake organisational development. Federated general practice is
providing leadership for integrated place-based population health which is
central to the CCG’s strategy and the development of the CCG agreed new
model of care, the Multispecialty Community Provider.
In testing collaborative arrangements in 2016/17 the four WLCCG
federations:
• Led on a number of test beds to develop an integrated approach to care
homes, urgent care and inter-practice referrals
• Are active members of the Integrated Locality leadership teams across the
CCG area
• Have successfully won contracts to provide services at scale. Most recently,
the federations secured the contract to provide integrated urgent care
services across WLCCG from April 2017 in collaboration with Derbyshire
Health United (DHU) Community Interest Company (CIC), the value of the
contract is £3.7m.

Conclusion
Each CCG recognises that the development of federations per se is not
sufficient to transform care, but is a part of the answer. In essence our
General Practice model, our federations, and the development of integrated
locality teams are the start of a journey towards a multispecialty community
provider approach.

Our localities
Across our practices in LLR we have a strong sense of locality, promoting
with our partners the concept of place-based care.
All our 138 practices are active members of 11 geographical localities
(known as Health Needs Neighbourhoods in Leicester City) which have
existed for many years. These localities are headed up by GP clinical locality
leads who sit on the governing bodies of the three CCGs.
Our localities are the unit at which we actively engage with general practice
co-designing pathways and services to improve patient outcomes and the
quality of care delivered. They are increasingly the unit at which care is
commissioned, coordinated and provided and are forming the basis not only
at which our practices collaborate with each other but also with the wider
health and social care teams. Each locality is subdivided further into smaller
geographical units bringing together practices and teams covering a
population of 30-50,00.

Final Draft

39
13 | 2. Our Model for General Practice

LLR Inttegrated T
Teams
eams
ELRCCG
4 Locality integrated teams
ELR CCG – 3 Localitty
Melton/Rutland
integrated te
eams:
Harborugh
Melton/Rutland/Harborough
d/Harborough
orough
Oadby/Wigston
Blaby
& Lutterworth
Oadby/Wigston
n
Blaby & Lutterw
worth

WLCCG
ocality
WL CCG – 3 Lo
3 Locality integrated teams
integrated tea
ams:
Charnwood
Charnwood
C
Leicestershire
NW
e
NW Leicestershire
N
& Bosworth
Hinckley
Hinckley & Boswo
H
orth

Melton

th West
North
N
Leicestershirre

Charnwood

Rutlland
Leicester
a
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Blaby

Oadby
&
Wigston

Harborough

City
CityCCG
CCG4x–Locality
4 x Locality
ality
Health Need Neighbourhood
Health Need Ne
eighbourhoods
ourhoods
North and West
North and Westt
South
South
Central
Central
North
and East
North and East

Cementing the localities as the key unit of primary care service provision and
delivery has enabled the wider system to, wherever possible, build on this
same footprint to deliver wider community services. Both planned and
urgent care provision across LLR is now centred around hubs aligned with
our GP localities.

Working together to achieve our model
In taking our model forward we have reached consensus from our three
CCGs on the direction of travel, and from our partners on the form and
function of integrated locality teams. As part of the implementation structure
of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, we have established two key
programme boards that will drive implementation of our model.
Our LLR General Practice Programme Board is working to ensure both
the core contract requirements and the developments of federations are
supported and adequately funded. The board consisting of stakeholders
from across Health, Social Care and Patient groups, has established a number
of delivery groups to implement our plan.
These are:
• General Practice Workforce Group
• General Practice IM&T Group
• General Practice Implementation Group.
The full programme structure can be seen in the final section on Governance.
Our LLR Integrated Teams Programme Board has built on the current
locality structures aligning our community and social care teams on the same
geographical footprint. We have established 11 locality leadership teams
each of which is led by a Board GP and Commissioning Manager, with
membership from our federations, adult social care and LPT community
services. Their purpose is to:

Final Draft

40
Blueprint for General Practice | 14

• Develop a deep understanding of the needs of the initial cohorts
identified across organisational boundaries, service users and datasets
• Identify how care and support varies, why it varies and how these
differences can be addressed
• Define new ways of working and support staff to change their practise
• Undertake some initial test of new ways to deliver care
• Plan how the new ways of working can be rolled out across all eleven
localities in 17/18.
This will enable the full integration of our practices with our community and
social care teams to support out of hospital care. Through this we are
shaping services with our practices, patients, partners and communities that
are coordinated and integrated at a locality level to meet their needs. The
locality leadership teams will work ‘as one’, being jointly accountable for the
care of their identified population.

Interdependencies with other transformational programmes in
LLR
In order to develop our model, the General Practice Programme Board will be
working closely with other leaders and teams in the LLR health and care
system who are responsible for related redesign work that builds both the
generic and specialist offer in the community to support general practice.
The approach in each of the related programmes is again centred on placebased pathways and systems of care which wrap around the patient and
their general practice, delivered through locally based health and care teams.
These are:
• The LLR Prevention Programme—supporting patients to manage their
own conditions and preventing illness through healthy living
• The LLR Integrated Teams Programme—developing and implementing
both the generic and specialist offer of integrated placed based teams
supporting an identified group of general practices.
• The Home First Rehabilitation and reablement programme—
seeking to develop a consistent offer at the point of discharge which
enables patients to return to the community as quickly and safely as
possible
• The LLR Urgent Care Programme—leading the development of
integrated urgent care across LLR, ensuring that access to 24 hour urgent
care aligns with general practice.
• The LLR Planned Care Programme—leading the development of
planned care in community settings, the diagnostic element of which will
increase the number of ambulatory pathways improving direct access by
GPs to locally based diagnostic hubs and services some of which will be
provided in and by general practitioners working together.

Final Draft

41
15 | 2. Our Model for General Practice

Our commitment to our patients
In delivering our model we have made the following commitments to our
patients:
Consistently High Quality
•

You can expect to have easy access, on-line or in person, to information, advice
and support. This will be through national programmes such as 111, and NHS
Choices.

•

You will be confident that the advice and care provided by your primary care
professional is consistent with best practice.

•

Variation in the delivery of primary care will be identified through national data,
and the commissioners will work together to support practices to provide core
standards of care.

•

You will be seen and treated by highly trained healthcare professionals who are
committed to delivering the best quality of care.

•

You will be treated as an individual by professionals and respected at all times.

•

This will link with all other services when you need continued, consistent care to
keep you at home.

Responsive and Accessible
•

The way you are able to access information and be directed to appropriate
services will be transformed through the use of new technology and social media.

•

You will be able to access primary care services at weekends. This may not
necessarily mean seeing a GP or nurse in the traditional way in your own practice.

•

You will be able to have access to a primary care or community professional
within a 24 hour period if you feel your primary care need is urgent.

•

You will have access to high level quality indicators for General Practice, so that
you can make an informed choice of GP practice.

Integrated
•

You will find that services are working seamlessly together to co-ordinate your
care and deliver the support you need to manage your condition. Holistic care will
be delivered that addresses your physical, mental health and social care needs
together and not separately. There will be no duplication.

•

The voluntary sector, pharmacists, nurses and social care will be more involved in
providing your care.

•

The way health services and local authorities work will change. Services will align
more closely, which will mean that primary care and social care deliver a seamless
service.

Sustainable
•

You will be confident that Primary Medical Care in LLR is financially well-run, and
that the system has been designed to deliver the right care in a way which is
affordable to the NHS and the tax-payer for the foreseeable future.

•

You can be confident that decisions made about the way care is provided will be
made because they benefit patients the most, within available resources.

Preventative
•

Primary Care Professionals will act as community leaders who provide your health
care.

•

You will be actively involved in the management of your own health and care.

•

You will receive more information on maintaining your health and we need you to
use this information to prevent ill-health that can be avoided.

Underpinning this is the need for services to be innovative and continuously evolve
and learn.

Final Draft

42
Blueprint for General Practice | 16

Next steps
In developing our model fully we have five main areas of focus:

1 Individual patient level
At the heart of General Practice is the core prevention agenda, whereby
people are empowered to make the right lifestyle choices to maintain their
health.
We will:
• Use active signposting at a practice level to ensure that when people do
require support, they are able to manage their own conditions through
appropriate information/tools.
• Develop full roll-out of e-consultation across LLR
• Improve patient access to core general practice 7 days a week.

2 Individual practice level
We will ensure the core offer from general practice meets patient needs by:
• Identifying and tackling unwarranted variation across our practices to
drive up the quality of patient care and outcomes
• Supporting recruitment and retention and the development of new roles
• Upskilling the practice team to support extended clinical pathways.

3 Collective level
We will support our practices to work more closely together as collectives or
federations by:
•

Providing ongoing support to the development of federations.

4 Collaborative level
We will build on our locality structure to:
• Develop integrated locality teams which wrap around the patient and
their general practice, extending the care and support that can be
delivered in community settings.

5 Specialist level
We will work with our secondary care providers to:
• Bring specialist support nearer to patients in their communities
• Reduce the time taken to access specialist input,
• Reduce the number of separate steps in care pathways.
Fully implementing our model will require a joint focus on the delivery of care
that meets the needs of the local population, with teams which share
priorities and goals. Federated general practice will provide the leadership for
integrated population-level health including the optimal organisation of
urgent care services both in and out of hours and long term condition
management. This is central to the development of MCPs.

Final Draft

43
17 | 3. Extended Access Across LLR

3. Extended Access Across LLR
In 5 years’ time the overall vision for extended access across LLR will be
realised by the delivery of an integrated, coherent and intelligible care
system, with patients supported to access the right service, in the right place,
at the right time. Primary and Community services will be available to meet
patients’ needs 7 days a week with reduced duplication and improved
information sharing and signposting between providers.
The aim is to slow the rate of growth in use of acute emergency care services
and increasingly meet people’s needs in lower acuity settings, such as general
practice and self-care.

Our Model
In developing our model for extended access to general practice we are
building on work to date led by the CCGs and the Urgent and Emergency
Care Vanguard Programme, to deliver a system which provides responsive,
accessible person-centred services as close to home as possible. In our model
services will wrap care around the individual, promoting self-care and
independence, enhancing recovery and reablement, through integrated
health and social care services that exploit innovation and promote care in
the right setting at the right time.
The LLR Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard has been supporting the
redesign and delivery of a broad and accessible range of extended services to

✃✂

LLR Extended Access Service Model
111, Advice, Pharmacy, NHS Choices

Self-Care
Monday–Friday, 8am–6.30pm Practices offering core primary care
Ambulatory Urgent Access
Monday to Friday evenings and all day at weekends.
Multi-disciplinary team including ANPs and GPs. Located
across LLR, within community hospitals, and large health
centres for a population hub.
Access Via GP surgeries, 111 and clinical navigation.

Ambulatory

Ambulatory Urgent Access 8–8 7 days per week. Three
Leicester City Hubs and the Oadby Urgent Care CentreMulti-disciplinary team including ANPs and GPs Access via
GP surgeries, 111 and clinical navigation.

Out of Hours base service
Available via Clinical Navigation and 111 at Loughborough and
the Leicester Royal sites.

Loughborough Urgent Care 24 hours a day 7 days a week. Acute diagnostics and Ambulatory care accessed via GPs and
booked appointments through the Navigation Hub.

GP (Core) Home Visiting 8am–6.30pm,
Monday–Friday.

Nonambulatory

LLR—Wide Out of Hours Home Visiting 6.30pm–8am, 7 days.

LLR Urgent Care home visiting service 8am–8pm, 7 days.
Referred by GPs during weekdays and identified at risk
(some patients may have a passport for access to the
weekend service).

IJKLMBCDEFGHIIJKLMBCDEFGH

8am

6.30pm

8pm

8am
Final Draft

44
Blueprint for General Practice | 18

patients across LLR. These services in conjunction with the access targets
associated with the 5 Year Forward View will deliver an integrated and easily
navigable service for all of the patients within LLR by 2018.
The service model described here has been developed in response to national
guidance and best practice as well as reflecting the needs of the LLR
population and the diversity of population and geography. The principle of a
core, consistent offer across LLR, with local flexibility has been followed.
The LLR Extended Access service model delivers the provision of urgent and
routine care across a 24 hour period for both ambulatory and nonambulatory patients. This model recognises the following:
• During the week, day-patients will present to their own registered
practice with urgent, planned and routine presentations and GPs will
undertake home visits as part of their core service provision.
• The GP acts as the designated accountable care co-ordinator for the most
vulnerable and complex patients in community settings and—through the
developing geographically based multi-professional integrated sub locality
teams—will risk-stratify the population, complete care plans and assign
case managers as required.
• The integration of other practitioners into primary care provision is vital—
eg, ANPs, ECPs, and clinical pharmacists—to release local GP capacity and
more appropriately match the needs of patients with practitioners.
• Some patients will have urgent care clinical presentations during GP core
hours but are too unwell to travel or are bed bound and require a home
visiting service. This will be provided through the urgent care home
visiting service.
• Some patients will have urgent and acute care clinical presentations
during GP core hours that require a range of diagnostics, clinical
assessment and specialist intervention that can be offered in community
settings. This will be provided through the Community Hub, community
hospitals and identified GP practices.
• All patients with an urgent care need after their registered practice has
closed can be offered assessment and treatment in a community setting
or in their own home following appropriate triage through the clinical
navigation hub, booking directly into community urgent care services.
• The creation of the clinical navigation service, providing telephone advice,
assessment and onward referral for people calling NHS 111 and 999. The
clinicians working in the service will have access to the patients’ primary
care records and care plans, where relevant, and will be able to directly
book patients into primary and community urgent care services.
• Extended access to primary care across LLR—so that patients can access
primary care services 8am to at least 8pm every day of the week.
• Urgent Care Centres will offer a range of diagnostic tests and medical
expertise for people with more complex or urgent needs, and we will
strengthen community based ambulatory care pathways which can avoid
admission without the need of referral to acute hospital.

Current Baseline
The majority of patients in LLR already have access to a variety of extended
daytime, evening and weekend services through Urgent Care centres,
Primary care hub services, GP specific extended hours and Out of Hours base
services.
However, the current model of access to primary and community services—
Final Draft

45
19 | 3. Extended Access Across LLR

whether urgent, planned or routine—does not offer the level of integration
or access that local people need and expect. It is also confusing for patients
and too variable in terms of service-offer by location and time of day.
The current range of services provided by each CCG varies:
CCG

ELR

Contract
Type

Service
Offer

DES

Extended Access
29/31 practices =
GP Surgery
additional 165 hours
per week

CBS

GP Surgery and
Minor Injuries Service
Harborough and
31/31 practices
Rutland hospitals

Location

NHS Contract Acute Visiting Service Mobile Visiting

Access

Hours of
Operation

Prebookable

Morning/Evening/
Weekend

Walk in/
Prebookable

Referral via
Weekday 9-4
GP/ Care Home

St Luke’s Hospital at
Market Harborough,
Walk in and
Rutland Memorial
prebookable
Urgent Care-Minor
Hospital in
NHS Contract
via
Injuries and Ailments
Oakham, Melton
NHS111
Mowbray Hospital,
Oadby

Harborough/Rutland/Melton service 5-9 pm
weekdays and 9Oadby 8am to 9
pm weekdays and
8am to 8pm
weekends and
bank holidays

DES

Extended Access 6/59
practices =12.75
GP Surgery
hours per week

Prebookable

Morning/Evening/
Weekend

CBS

Extended Hours 42/
59 Practices 153 addi- GP Surgery
tional hours

Prebookable

Morning/Evening/
Weekend

CBS

Quality Contract
29/59 practices offer
90 Clinical appoint- GP Surgery
ments per 100 population

Prebookable

Core GP Hours

CBS

PMC Fund—3x Primary Care Hubs offering core primary 3 Hubs across the
care 1481 additional City
appointments per
week

Prebookable

1. 8–8 7 days
2. Monday–Friday
6.30pm-10pm
Weekend 128pm

CBS

Crisis Response Team Mobile Visiting

Referral via
GP/
Care Home

8am-8pm 7 /7

Walk in

8am-8pm 7 /7

Prebookable

Morning/Evening/
Weekend

Walk In

Core GP Hours

City

NHS Contract Walk In/ Urgent Care Merlyn Vaz centre

WL

8.30-5 Mon-Fri

DES

Exteneded Hours
21/48 practices 112
Hours per week

CBS

Minor Injuries Service
GP Surgery
48/48 practices

GP Surgery

NHS Contract Acute Visiting Service Mobile Visiting

NHS Contract Urgent Care Centre

NHS Contract

Out Of Hours Base
visit

Referral by GP/
Weekdays 9-5
care Home and
Weekends and
patient “passbank holidays
port”
8am-7pm
at weekends

Walk in and
Loughborough Hosprebookable
pital
via NHS111

24 hours 7 days

Hinckley and
Bosworth District
Hospital

Weekdays 7pm12am

Prebookable

Final Draft

46
Blueprint for General Practice | 20

Moving Pathways to
Community Settings to
improve patient experience
and care closer to home
We have identified a range of pathways
that could safely be delivered in
community settings
Specialty
Pathway
Gynaecology Early Pregnancy
Urology

Cardiology
Respiratory
GP
Assessment
Unit
Paediatrics

Blocked Catheters
Non complex Urinary Tract
Abdominal Pain
Atrial Fibrillation
Heart Failure
Non complex COPD
Hyperkaleamia
Non complex diabetics
Non complex mental
Non complex asthma
General paediatric queries

Understanding Demand
In order to understand patient demand in the development of the new
model the CCGs have undertaken the following:
• Working with public health colleagues a review of the CCGs population
profile was undertaken utilising the 2011 census data to determine
health need with regard to age, gender, deprivation and external factors
eg, industrial related health needs.
• A baseline assessment of current services was undertaken aligned to
settings of care enabling the identification of gaps over the 24 hour
period and rapidity of response.
• Detailed data analysis was also undertaken in which we based our
assessment of need on the national Ambulatory Care-Sensitive
Conditions Directory. SUS data was then analysed against these HRGs. All
community based procedures were identified, to determine our activity
modelling.
• ELR CCG have commissioned Leicestershire County Public Health to
deliver an activity and demand deep dive to understand emergency care
access flow across LLR and flows to out of county providers. This piece of
work will aim to understand the relationships between actual demand,
capacity driven demand and patient flow behaviour.
• GP referrals for hospital diagnosis and treatment, including emergency
admissions with a length of stay between 0-6 hours have rapidly
increased over the years. Through analysis of this to date we have been
able to identify over 12 pathways that could be safely undertaken in a
community hub. We believe these will provide more timely local services,
increase choice for patients and facilitate more diagnostic support for
GPs.

Implementation of the Extended Access Model to
achieve 100% coverage
In each CCG area the model of extended urgent and routine access is being
developed and implemented as follows:

LC CCG
For LCCCG the continuation of the Hubs model is a key element of its access
plan. This builds upon a successful pilot to provide extended access to
routine primary and urgent primary care for all city patients outside of core
hours via a small number of locality based centres. The pilot was funded
from the then Prime Minister’s Access Fund (PMAF) following a bid from the
city’s Millennium GP federation.
During 2016/17 the CCG developed a specification for the service to be
commissioned by the CCG from 1st April 2017, making use of national £6
per head funding in each of the next two years. This specification built on
learnings from the pilot phase, including the configuration and location of
the hubs. Leicester City CCG is considering the most appropriate location for
its fourth primary care hub. One option under consideration is utilising
vacant space at the Leicester General Hospital site to create a community
super hub that could include a wider range of diagnostic services and the
potential for observation facilities in the future.
The CCG sought a long-term provider for the service through a comprehensive procurement process but, unfortunately, the process did not yield a
provider on the grounds of affordability. As such, the CCG plans to extend
Final Draft

47
21 | 3. Extended Access Across LLR

the arrangements with the federation until 30th September 2017 through a
Single Tender Action (STA). This is vital to ensure continuity of the service.
The CCG will shortly commence a new procurement process and, following a
review of the specification and through market testing, fully expects a new
provider to commence delivery of the model from 1 October 2017.
The proposed model will see weekday provision of access to pre-bookable
and same day appointments to general practice services on a tiered basis.
Tier one primary care hubs will be provided at Belgrave Medical Centre and
Saffron Health (6.30pm to 10pm Monday to Friday, and 12 noon to 8pm
weekends and Bank Holidays). Tier two hubs will be provided at Westcotes
Health Centre and either Merlyn Vaz Health and Social Care Centre or
Leicester General Hospital (8am to 8 or 10pm seven days a week), subject to
consultation. On average the hubs will provide between 1200-1800 extra
patient consultations per week.
Tier one Hubs will offer core primary medical care services for ambulatory
patients. The tier 2 Community Hubs will core primary medical care services
as well as access to some on-site diagnostics. This will include point of care
blood tests, urine tests, electrocardiographs (ECG) for monitoring the heart,
and ultrasound tests for a restricted range of conditions. Depending on the
location of the fourth hub, the range of diagnostic services at this site may
be extended to include x-ray in the future, histology, microbiology and
patient observations.
This is important because a large proportion of patients receive outpatient
appointments at Leicester’s Hospitals to have this testing carried out. We
believe it would be much more convenient and a better experience for
patients to have this carried out in the healthcare hubs instead. We believe
this will help to reduce pressure on services provided by Leicester’s Hospitals.
Appointments for the same day or up to 48 hours in advance can be booked
via the patient’s own GP practice, by calling NHS 111 or by calling the
designated healthcare hub phone number.

Definition of Tiers
Tier 1—Primary Care ‘hub’ opening 8am
to 8pm, seven days a week.
Offers assessment and treatment for
patients presenting with urgent care
needs, with the ability to prescribe
medication and take bloods. Offers access
to limited diagnostics and the ability to
perform some basic near patient testing
Tier 2—Urgent Care Service opening 8am
to 8pm, seven days a week.
Offers assessment and treatment for
patients presenting with urgent care
needs including minor injuries and minor
illness ,with the ability to prescribe
medication. Offers on site diagnostics
including plain film x-ray and near patient
testing, for the majority of opening hours.
Tier 3—Urgent Care Centre. Operates
24/7, seven days a week.
Offers assessment and treatment for
patients presenting with urgent care
needs. Offers on-site diagnostics including
plan film x-ray and near-patient testing,
for at least 16 hours a day. Is able to
undertake assessment of ambulatory
patients, including appropriately staffed
observation facilities, to avoid admission.

Ambulatory care-sensitive conditions account for one in every six emergency
admissions to hospital in England and often reflect poor co-ordination
between different elements of the health care system, in particular between
primary and secondary care. Community hubs will improve efficiency by
speeding patient flow and reducing unnecessary admissions while also
delivering faster and more patient centred care for less acute patients.
To meet this need there will be two Community Hubs that will offer
extended General Practice and a range of diagnostic / ambulatory care
services. Westcotes hub went live in late 2016, and it is planned that a
second community hub will open within the City during 2017.
Our vision is to have a fully integrated team, with provider partners from
social care working alongside clinical teams in the community hubs, enabling
us to build the service around the patient, rather than getting patients to fit
in with existing services. By working in partnership we will be able to avoid
many more unnecessary hospital admissions, as currently a high number of
people are admitted for largely social reasons, rather than on health grounds.

ELRCCG
The current service for extended primary care access was commissioned in
April 2015 and provides GP-led service 8-8 7 days per week in Oadby. It
supports the nurse-led evening and weekend access on the three spoke sites.
From April 2018 a new service will be procured that will combine the current
Final Draft

48
Blueprint for General Practice | 22

Extended Access and Out-of-hours base visiting service, enhanced and in line
with the expectations of the GP 5 Year Forward View. This will be provided in
the existing sites, with an additional evening and weekend service in the
Western edge of our Geography to ensure 100% coverage. This extended
primary care service will provide:
• An easy to navigate, accessible service for extended primary care access
and urgent on the day patient need.
• There will be 4 sites covering our large geographical area open in the
evening after GP services are closed and at weekends. One site will be
open 7 days from at least 8-8.
• A bookable service utilised by our member practices and the clinical
navigation hub, triaging 111 patients to ensure patients access the right
centre for their needs. Oadby will offer an element of walk in service with
clinical triage.
• This service will integrate with other community based urgent care
services, home visiting and clinical navigation to ensure patients are
treated locally in the right setting first time.

WLCCG
During 16/17 the CCG working collaboratively with our practices, federations
and providers through the development of an urgent care test bed, identified
the clinical presentations suitable to be seen both in tier 1 and tier 3 settings.
As a result the CCG developed an Integrated Community Urgent Care Service
Specification, undertaking an open procurement process to secure a provider
to commence from 1st April 2017. The successful bidder has now been
announced and is a Community Interest Company jointly provided by DHU
and the GP Federations in WLCCG. The service will initially provide patients
with access to same day urgent appointments to meet patient need, but will
expand by April 2018/19, to offer pre-bookable routine and acute
appointments in evenings and at weekends.
Extended Primary Care services will be provided on a tiered basis; tier one
Primary Care Hubs at Hinckley Community hospital (19.00-22.00 Monday to
Friday and 08.00-20.00 on Saturday, Sunday and Bank Holidays) and
Coalville Community Hospital (09.00-12.00 on Saturday), and tier three
Community Super Hub at Loughborough Community Hospital (24 hours per
day, 7 days a week).
Tier one Extended Primary Care will offer assessment and treatment for
ambulatory patients with urgent care needs who have been triaged through
111 and the clinical navigation hub, with access to limited diagnostics.
The tier 3 Community Super-Hub will offer assessment and treatment for
patients presenting with urgent care needs including injuries, illness and
ambulatory care sensitive conditions for all age ranges and offer a base for
patients fit to travel to be seen during the out of hours period. On-site
diagnostics, including plain film x-ray, will be available to meet patient need.
From April 18/19 patients with an acute but non-urgent primary care need;
or those requiring routine appointments where the patient is unable to
attend their own practice during core hours and whose general practitioner
is concerned about the patient’s needs after the practice has closed, will be
pre-booked via their own general practice into the 3 primary care hubs
described above. This service will operate from 6.30–8 pm weekdays and
Saturdays/Sundays. The CCG will work with our practices, federations and
partners to assess demand to ensure the service provided meets patient need.
We will take learning from the national Challenge Fund pilots, as it is clear
Final Draft

49
23 | 3. Extended Access Across LLR

that some extended hours slots have proved more successful than others,
particularly those in the evening and on Saturdays (particularly Saturday
mornings), whereas patient demand for routine appointments on Sundays
has been low. We will plan to pilot our approach during 17/18.

See the following sections for the impact of our model on
workforce, estates, IM&T and finance:
4. Workforce
6. Infrastructure
7. Investment.

Next Steps
These are CCG area specific and dependant on the current service provision
and status of planned procurements:

ACROSS LLR:
• Mobilise the LLR wide Home Visiting Service from April 2017.

ELRCCG:
• Procurement commencing June 2017 for an integrated urgent care and
extended access service to mobilise from April 18.

WLCCG
• Mobilise the WLCCG Integrated Urgent Care service from April 2017
• WLCCG to develop a test bed for extended primary care access in 17/18
and implement fully in 18/19.

LCCCG
• Current LCCCG Hubs to remain as is until Sept 2017
• Procurement commencing March 2017 of integrated urgent care and
extended access service to mobilise October 2017
• Complete pre-consultation engagement on potential location of fourth
hub.

Final Draft

50
Blueprint for General Practice | 24

4. Workforce
In Five Years
The new model of General Practice services, in conjunction with integrated
community and social care teams supports patients to remain cared-for out
of a hospital setting for longer than ever before. The utilisation of a broader
range of health and social care professionals has enabled patients to be
streamed according to need, which means that GPs can manage those most
complex patients and co-ordinate the care for the rest of their patient
population. The delivery of the majority of care is provided by the multidisciplinary team that includes pharmacists, nurse practitioners and
physicians associates alongside health care assistants.
With practices formally joined through federations, the back office support
functions can be redesigned to ensure that practice managers have the time
and capacity to deliver and support the cross site services, and the
administration staff can flexibly provide the service that both patients and
their clinical staff require, due to reduced bureaucratic process.

This will be delivered by:
Supporting the existing primary care workforce to improve recruitment and
retention but equally important to identify new capabilities, competencies,
skills and behaviours required to make an enhanced primary care offer.
• Identify new roles and capabilities in new staff groups. There is an urgent
need to focus on alternative professional roles that support integration,
increase capacity and reduce admissions by freeing up GPs time to manage
increasing complexity. Such roles include primary care physicians’ assistants.
• Identify roles and competencies currently sitting outside of primary care
that will be required to support the demand. Such roles include primary
care paramedical staff, community pharmacists, emergency care
practitioners, and specialist roles such as geriatricians.
• Actively utilising the three training hubs, support undergraduate medical,
nursing and pharmacy training and GP training at a federated level to
promote our practices as positive places to work to aid recruitment and
retention.
It is clear that these new models of working and potential workforce
shortages will require a change in workforce planning. These models—
including streaming of patients or provision through federations and
integrated teams—will bring together groups of existing and new health
professionals to meet the future needs of patients covering larger
geographical areas. This will mitigate some of the risk of additional workload,
ageing and more complex patient needs.

LLR General Practice Workforce Baseline
The local picture mirrors the national evidence of significantly lower growth
in GPs compared to hospital consultants in the last decade, creating a
shortage of GPs compounded by substantial difficulties with recruitment,
both of qualified GPs and GP trainees, with local training places unfilled. In
parallel to national research there are fewer GPs working full-time in patientfacing general practice, some working full-time but taking on other
responsibilities, including roles in clinical commissioning groups (CCGs);
management tasks in their own practice or in a wider federation. The
recruitment and retention issues are similar for nursing posts with many close
Final Draft

51
25 | 4. Workforce

to retirement. A survey of general practice nurses in 2015 found that a third
are due to retire by 2020.
The data analysis is from the most up to date workforce position, extracted
from data collected by NHS Digital as at 31st March 2016.

LLR Workforce risks
The local data analysis shows that there are real pressures on workload and
demand for services in each of the three CCGs within LLR, but often for very
different reasons. Leicester City has significantly greater levels of deprivation,
scoring 18/209 most deprived CCG in England and the added pressure of
working with diverse populations with high numbers of people from minority
ethnic communities who face both language and cultural barriers in
accessing care. In both ELR and WL CCGs, the number of patients over the
age of 65, (21% and 19% respectively against a national average of 17%),
—where demand significantly increases coupled with the challenge of
rurality—creates demand for home visiting.
There are also vast differences in numbers of GPs and other health
professionals per 1000 registered patients. This is partly down to historical
funding, but also the challenge of recruitment in inner city and more
deprived areas. This is compounded by the age demographic of both GPs
and nurses, where a significant proportion will be retiring in the next 5-10
years, often in areas that are already under doctored.

CCG

WTE GPs
GPs Aged GPs Aged
Partner/Sa
55-59 % 60+ %
laried

City
ELR
West

156
206
185

9.30%
13.60%
12.20%

9.90%
2.20%
6.80%

Staff Group

Headcount

FTE

GP
GP (excluding
Registrars,
Retainers &
Locums)
Nurses
Direct Patient
Care
Admin/
Non-clinical
staff

697

605

628

547

393

276

295

200

1426

1031

Practices are finding it increasingly difficult to recruit and retain GPs. Some
GPs reaching the end of their careers are choosing to retire early in response
to workload pressures. There are also many older GPs who have been
affected by changes to the tax treatment of pensions which create
disincentives to work when the lifetime allowance for pensions has been
reached. Fewer GPs are choosing to undertake full-time clinical work, with
more opting for portfolio careers or working part-time. This is true for both
male and female GPs. Trainee GPs are often planning to work on a salaried
basis. This continues a long term trend in which fewer doctors aspire to
become partners in their practices.
There are challenges too with recruitment and retention of other members of
the primary care team, particularly practice nurses and practice managers.
This makes it difficult for some of the work of GPs to be taken on by other
staff and therefore support change of clinical delivery model.

LLR Collaborative Workforce Programme
The delivery of a highly trained workforce to enable the new model of
General Practice to be realised is only possible through system collaboration.
Through the Better Care Together STP programme, LLR has a dynamic and
responsive programme co-ordinated and held to account through the Local
Workforce Action Board. Each of the work groups has a defined
responsibility to support the whole system.
Examples of projects to make LLR a recruitment hotspot and to retain our
valuable workforce have been:
• A programme of marketing and branding LLR as a system that provides a
variety of opportunity in both urban and rural settings, with the option to
move around the system over time.
• A focus on ensuring that students and trainees have a high quality
experience with providers across LLR in order to minimise attrition and

Final Draft

52
Blueprint for General Practice | 26

maximise the LLR workforce supply pipeline.
• The recognition of workforce wellbeing as key to our local health
economy. As a significant employer supporting our own staff, we have
the potential to influence the health and wellbeing of wider family and
friends As we share and build on existing workforce wellbeing initiatives,
we will explore these opportunities with Public Health colleagues across
the system.
• Co-ordinated international recruitment drive for clinical skills across LLR
including new staff groups such as Physicians associates.

Leadership and
Organisational Development
Leadership and Organisational
Development (OD) are central to
achieving our plans, targeted at the
following levels:

Practice/CCG Level
•

GP Board member development

•

LMC/HEEM funded GP coaching and
mentoring

Collective level
•

Federation OD plans and
development programme

Collaborative level
•

STP Clinical Leadership programme

•

Integrated locality teams East
Midlands Leadership Academy (EMLA)
programme.

Working together to achieve our aim
In January 2015, the LLR General Practice Workforce Delivery Group (LLR
GPWDG) was established. The group brings together the commissioners of
primary medical services and providers in order to:
• Engage with constituent member practices on the workforce issues facing
primary medical care and work together to develop solutions
• Ensure that education and training needs are identified for primary
medical care staff and reflected in the LLR-wide workforce development
plans provided to Health Education England
• Support the workforce objectives of BCT and now the STP together with the
CCGs Primary Medical Care Plans/Strategies, including new models of care.
The Delivery Group reports formally to the LWAB providing monthly updates
of progress against the work plan. The group also acts as a conduit for
information exchange with the Health Education England (HEE) Regional
Primary Medical Services Steering Group.
The LLR STP recognises the vital role of general practice in developing and
implementing our local strategy. This will require additional capacity within
primary care to accommodate the shift of activity from acute and community
settings. Meeting these expectations will mean changes in the skill-mix for
primary care as well as appropriate capacity across primary and community
settings. To support this workforce development there has been some real
success to date.

Education, Training and Recruitment
Each CCG in LLR has a Training Hub, set up from 2015. In combination these
are instrumental in helping to train the workforce of the future. Their vision
is to provide an educational environment that fosters inter-professional
learning between students of different disciplines and deliver enhanced
networks of personalised care. These include:
• Medical Student Placements—All of the Hubs have Academy Status
with the Leicester University Medical School Kings College London and
University College London and Nottingham University to teach
undergraduate medical students.
• Pharmacy Student Placements—The Hubs were instrumental in
developing a new pilot with DMU for undergraduate students during
2016. The project phase will take place during 2017, with a view that all
undergraduate students will have an educational block in general practice
by 2018/19.
• Student Nurses—he Hubs have been working closely with DMU to
update the mentoring qualifications of general practice nurses. This
enables more student nurse placements to be offered LLR.

Final Draft

53
27 | 4. Workforce

• Physician Associate Placements—This is a new concept and very a
recent development for all three Training Hubs. Relationships have been
successfully established with Worcester University and the aim is to place
5 PA students within LLR Training Hub Practices from September 2017
and thereafter, for the following academic year commencing September
2018.

New Workforce
• Clinical Pharmacists—ELR CCG have funded £2 per patient through
PMS funding for employment of pharmacists to improve quality,
workload and cost effectiveness, following a successful pilot phase in
2015/16. City and west CCG were successful in bidding for the national
programme for pharmacists
• AVS/CRT Urgent Home Visiting—Since 2015 the clinical response team
has taken referrals directly from GPs and/or care homes for patients that
require a same day home visit in order to potentially avoid an emergency
admission to hospital. This service is provided 7 days per week and adds
clinical workforce capacity and supports workload in General Practice
• Training Care Navigators and Medical Assistants—Five year £45m
fund has been created to contribute towards the costs for practices of
training reception and clerical staff to undertake enhanced roles in active
signposting and management of clinical correspondence. This is an
enhancement to normal good customer service

Practice Manager Academy
Practice managers play a key role in supporting the day to day delivery of
primary medical care services and are crucially important in system wide
work to transform how care is delivered. A recent survey of practice
managers competed by the Workforce Development Group, received a 72%
response. The results of the survey are being used to inform future plans
including the proposal to establish a Practice Managers Academy. The survey
identified that:
• 48% of practice managers had not worked previously in the NHS
• 48% were promoted to their current role from within the practice
• 70% do not think that they will work at another practice
• 42% were interested in receiving mentoring.
On the basis of the survey results an options appraisal is being completed to
inform the development of a LLR wide practice managers academy. The
initial focus on the academy will be to establish a practice manager induction
programme, appraisal process and mentoring scheme.

Investment in Workforce Development
Since 2015 the group has also secured significant non-recurrent funding
through successful bids to HEEto support some of the initiatives outlined
above, which include:

Final Draft

54
Blueprint for General Practice | 28

Initiative
The development of a programme to enhance the capability and capacity of medical undergraduate teaching in primary care.
The implementation of a detailed workforce scoping and audit in general practice to
inform a future training needs analysis
The development and implementation of 3 training hubs
Workforce scoping projects:
Qualitative and quantitative Training Needs Analysis to identify and support high
quality education and training of the general practice workforce
Scoping project to develop a Fast Track Transition Programme to practice nursing
Scoping project to develop Practice Manager Academy – a programme to develop
the practice managers of the future
Coaching/Mentoring project to design and deliver a coaching scheme for all general
practice staff(LMC led)
A project to develop Pharmacy & General Practice Inter-professional Working to
build cross-collaborative relationships between pharmacists and GPs.(LMC/LPC
led)
Post Graduate Training in Primary & Community Settings - a project designed to
scope the potential approach to fund and support training in community sites (Led
by the LLR Alliance)
Wider workforce funding
Flexible Learning Beyond registration
Apprenticeship Education
Total

Funding Secured
£308k

£100k

£150k
£67k
£156k
£53k

£26k

£63k
£21k
£9k

£953k

Next Steps for General Practice
Workforce
It is clear from the workforce data available that there are current gaps in
numbers of GPs required and both the number of and skill mix of other
health professionals. To deliver new models of care may require additional
recruitment, especially if groups of practices, federations or MCPs undertake
extra services to support the left shift of work from secondary to primary
care, which may require the transfer of staff across settings.
To deliver the Blueprint for General Practice (see Section 2. Our Model for
General Practice) there needs to be detailed modelling of how practices or
groups of practices can work to deliver new ways of managing their patient
needs, 7 days per week. This will require an analysis of how patients are
streamed and the most appropriate clinical skill mix to deliver these services.
The whole systems partnership has been working with the 15 GP Vanguard
sites nationally to support this modelling and will be working with practices
from all three LLR CCGs to support the workforce implications of new models
of care. This work will be completed in August 2017. The result will show in
detail exactly how the staff mix can change dependent on model of care.
In tandem with this work, which will cover at least 3 pilot sites in LLR, HEEM
has funded a nine month work program that has been set up through the
GP Workforce Group to deliver the following level of detailed information,
which will enable the 5 year forward view to be delivered:
• Produce a comprehensive baseline of current workforce numbers and
skills in General Practice to show the gap between current and projected
workforce.
• Map the existing programmes of training, education and development for
all staff groups within General Practice in LLR and understand gaps and
risks.
• Map the future workforce needs in line with the proposed new models of
care in General Practice
• Design a strategy for how we meet these needs for GPs, nurses, other
Final Draft

55
29 | 4. Workforce

health professionals, practice managers and administrative staff.
• Create an implementation plan that will link this to the General Practice
and Integrated Team STP work streams and help deliver sustainable
solutions in General Practice and the GP 5 Year Forward View.
• Increase the number and skill set of a new workforce using for example
ECPs to deliver urgent home visiting, clinical pharmacists in General
Practice through bidding for wave 2 NHSE scheme and upskilling nonclinical staff through the care navigator programme.
• Practice Manager Academy-Practice managers play a key role in
supporting the day to day delivery of primary medical care services and
are crucially important in system wide work to transform how care is
delivered. There has been the development of a LLR wide practice
managers academy. The initial focus on the academy will be to establish a
practice manager induction programme, appraisal process and mentoring
scheme.
• Close working with the NHSE medical director and his team locally to
access and integrate the GP Refresher and Retainer Scheme and the
International Recruitment Programme.
The LLR workforce groups are not waiting for this analysis and modelling to
be completed to drive forward plans for recruitment, retention and training
of staff. The success shown already across LLR is enabling new health
professionals to enter the workforce and deliver new models of care
providing seven day urgent care/primary care access, clinical pharmacists in
practice and ECPs providing a seven day urgent care at home service. The
next stages will support the longer term systematic design and delivery of
scale in General Practice services.

Final Draft

56
Blueprint for General Practice | 30

5. Workload
As identified earlier in our plan and well documented at a national level,
general practice is under a great deal of pressure driven by a number of
factors including increasing demand and growing expectations from the
public and policy makers. Workload was identified by the 2015 BMA survey
as the single biggest issue of concern to GPs and their staff. National figures
estimate the increase in workload in general practice of around 2.5% a year
since 2007/8.
This section of the GPFV Plan sets out our approach to reduce pressure on
general practice and release time for care. The plan seeks to maximise and
implement the initiatives developed to date as part of the GPFV and
Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance. The initiatives outlined
below should not be seen in isolation from the overall GPFV Plan; they
complement “offers” in other sections of the plan which are also designed
to support general practice.

In Five Years
Working with patients to
target demand
We will need the support of patients to
be open-minded about the changing
relationship with their practice, and to
play their part in ensuring the appropriate
and sustainable use of primary care. We
recognise that this will be a major
challenge, and so the three CCGs are
planning a significant public campaign
that seeks to explain the model of
primary care to patients, builds a sense of
collaboration and shared responsibility,
and starts to develop a compact between
practice and patient on what they might
reasonably expect.

From The NHS Constitution, 27 July 2015:
“Please recognise that you can make a
significant contribution to your own, and
your family’s, good health and wellbeing,
and take personal responsibility for it.”

We will have implemented a programme of support which will seek
wherever possible to reduce the pressure in general practice by addressing
bureaucracy and potentially avoidable GP demand. Recognising, though,
that demand is likely to continue to increase and the role of General Practice
broaden, we will have an equal focus on supporting practices to evolve their
operating model to more effectively respond to these demands. This work
will be taken forward by a designated subgroup of the GP Programme Board
and will report progress on a quarterly basis.

Baseline Position
As in many parts of the country general practice in LLR is facing a broad
range of challenges which until recently have remained hidden. Recent
research has identified a number of factors including:
• The number of face to face consultations grew by 13% and telephone
consultations by 63% between 2010/11 and 2014/15
• Over a twenty year period the average GP consultation has lengthened by
50% from 8–12 minutes
• Average consultations among the over 75s have increased by over 50%
from 7.9 in 2000 to 12.4 in 2015
• Between 2010/11 and 2014/15, GP workforce grew by 4.75% and
practice nurse workforce by 2.85%
• Over the same period funding for primary care as a share of NHS overall
budget fell every year from 8.3% to just over 7.9%.
The pressures on general practice are compounded by increasing demand
and patient expectation, driven in part by our aging population and
increasing numbers of people with complex conditions. Medical advances
and developments in preventative healthcare have also led to a considerable
increase in the number of activities carried out in general practice. There is a
strong evidence and feeling amongst general practice that this additional
work has not been accompanied by increased resources in terms of staff
numbers or funding.

Final Draft

57
31 | 5. Workload

Working together to achieve our model
Building on work undertaken by individual CCGs, we are increasingly
working together across the our healthcare system to address the challenges
facing general practice.
The prevention agenda is often complex and falls across the boundaries of
Health & Social Care and Public Health. Our vision of prevention describes a
system in which our patients and family carers have the skills, confidence and
knowledge to self-manage and become more ‘active’ in relation to their
physical and mental health promoting independence and rehabilitation.
The General Practice Resilience Programme (GPRP) aims to deliver a menu of
support that will help practices to become more sustainable and resilient,
better placed to tackle the challenges they face now and into the future, and
secure continuing high quality care for patients.
The approach taken by NHS England Central Midlands is to use this resource
in the most flexible, responsive, and meaningful way possible in order to
improve the resilience of GP practices and galvanise the transformation of
general practice. In recognising that a ‘one size fits all’ solution isn’t available
a menu of support has been developed to offer a tailored package for a GP
practice, practices, or localities that will improve sustainability and resilience.
This includes:
•
•
•
•
•

Diagnostic services to quickly identify areas for improvement support
Specialist advice and guidance eg, HR, IT
Coaching/Supervision/Mentorship
Practice Management Capacity Support
Rapid intervention and management support for practices at risk of
closure
• Co-ordinated support to help practices struggling with workforce issues
• Change management and improvement support to individual practices or
group of practices.
The 3 CCGs in LLR have worked closely with the NHS England local teams to
identify practices for cohort 1 of the GPRP programme. Initially 52 practices
applied for or were put forward by the CCG, of which 10 practices were
supported with a further 16 placed on the reserve list. CCGs / NHS England
are now working with the practices to identify the support required for each
practice based on the above menu. Subject to the support offered,
interventions are likely to continue into the 2017/18 year.
General Practice Development Programme—In 2016, working on the
STP footprint the 3 CCGs made a successful application to NHS England to
roll out elements of the GP Development Programme on an LLR basis. An
update on each area is provided below:

Productive General Practice (PGP)—To date 28 practices have signed up
to and are participating in wave 1 of this initiative. The programme is
designed to provide fast practical support to practices to help reduce
pressures and release efficiencies in general practice. The programme
consists of 6 half day practice based sessions and 4 group based sessions
supported by improvement experts. Practices can choose to participate in a
range of initiatives including: ‘chasing the tail’, workplace organisation,
workforce planning and failure demand.
Ten high impact actions—Building on work completed by the Primary Care
Foundation and NHS Alliance, the ten high impact actions are a range of

Workshop attendance and
feedback
124 GPs, practice managers and
members of the primary healthcare team
attended the LLR showcase event on 9th
Feb 2017.
On the day feedback included:
“This is just what we need”
“Great opportunity to learn from
colleagues in different CCGs”
“Practice manager from Gateshead spoke
really well and was inspirational”

Final Draft

58
Blueprint for General Practice | 32

practical measure to remove unnecessary pressures on general practice and
free up time for patient care. In February 2017, the CCGs working in
partnership with NHS England Sustainable Improvement Team held a very
successful showcase event for LLR practices. The event aimed to further raise
the profile of the GP Development Programme particularly focusing on the
ten high impact actions. Delegates received an update on the GP
Development Programme Offer and detailed information on the ten high
impact actions. In the final session delegates were given the opportunity to
work in small groups focusing on the high impact actions they were most
interested in taking forward.

Transferring Care Safely
The LLR Transferring Care Safely group
consisting of primary and secondary care
clinicians identified the following of
significance:
•

•

Medication

•

Diagnostics

•

Referrals
Monitoring

• Administration
Going forward we also need to work with
partners to look at Clinical Handovers in
the community.

Transferring Care Safely—The un-managed and inappropriate ‘left shift’ of
activity from secondary care to primary care puts significant unnecessary
pressure on GP workload. A pan-LLR Transferring Care Safely Interface Group
has been established to identify and influence how we can transfer care
safely across the whole LLR system in the most effective ways, to improve the
patient journey and ensure work is done in the right place at the right time.
Initial stages of the work have focused on stakeholder engagement across
the primary and secondary care interface and a GP survey has been
completed to identify and quantify key themes. The group recognises that
the transfer of care is an inevitable part of integrated working and is
committed to ensuring this is delivered in a safe way delivering high levels of
patient experience.

Next Steps
This project summary sets out our approach to reducing pressure on general
practice and releasing time for care. The plan seeks to maximise and
implement the initiatives developed to date as part of the GPFV and
Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance.
Working with key stakeholders we will take forward a range of initiatives to
reduce unnecessary work on general practice.

Transferring Care Safely
Building on the work completed to date there are plans to:
• Finalise and launch a guidebook to clarify issues for GPs and secondary
care (and community and social care)
• Agree a communication and engagement plan to support future work,
including a public facing campaign to enlist support from patients for the
required changes and support appropriate usage of primary care in
general practice
• Establish a GP Liaison line (telephone and e-mail) to help resolve issues as
they arise
• Work with quality leads to avoid duplication and ensure accurate
reporting
• Work with providers to introduce new legal requirements in the NHS
Standard Contract for hospitals in relation to hospital/ general practice
interface with a view to relieving some of the administrative burden on
practices.

Initiatives to reduce demand on General Practice
• Work with NHS England to locally implement initiatives currently being
considered to reduce demand on practices includes reductions in
inspections from CQC, outcome of the current review of QOF currently

Final Draft

59
33 | 5. Workload

being undertaken by NHS England and GPC, streamlining reporting
requirements and payment systems and accelerating paper free at the
point of access.
• Take forward our vision of prevention where our patients and family
carers have the skills, confidence and knowledge to self-manage and
become more ‘active’ in relation to their physical and mental health
promoting independence and rehabilitation.

General Practice Development Programme
Building on the successful collaborative bid we will work together with NHS
England to roll out the next stages of the programme:

Productive General Practice (PGP)
Our plan is to build on this positive engagement by 28 practices and support
a wider number of practices to participate in future cohorts of the
programme. This will involve:
• Working with the external provider to evaluate participation in wave 1
(April 2017)
• Subject to availability of national funding, sharing the outcomes of wave
1 and recruiting practices for phase 2.(May–June 2017).

General Practice Improvement Leaders Programme
Currently there is only one LLR attendee on the programme and we have
received feedback from our practices that they are concerned about the time
commitment and travel involved in attending the programme. Going forward
we think it is crucial to develop local capacity and skills around quality
improvement and following our showcase event we are planning to hold
local training programmes.
During 2017/18 we will run three Fundamentals of Quality Improvement
Training Programmes, for up to 25 participants each. This is a two day
programme, each day being 1-2 weeks apart and delivered at different
venues across LLR.

Ten high impact actions
The showcase event generated a lot of interest in taking forward elements of
the high impacts actions programme. This has been used to inform the next
steps outlined below:
• Evaluation of the showcase event (completed February 2017)
• Collation of the expressions of interest in rolling out the ten high impact
actions (February 2017)
• Discussion and agreement with the NHS England Sustainable
Improvement Team to agree the structure and content of the offer to
practices (March 2017)
• A suggested Collaborative Learning in Action Programme, for 15-25
practices, targeting the High Impact Actions 1) Active Signposting and 8)
Social Prescribing, which were the top two priorities identified by
participants at the Showcase event.

General Practice Resilience Programme (GPRP)
• Deliver a menu of support to help practices become more sustainable and
resilient. Encourage and support practices to apply for the GPRP.
Going forward the CCGs will continue to work with NHS England to
maximise the support available to practices through the GPRP and will

Final Draft

60
Blueprint for General Practice | 34

undertake the following actions:
• Review of implementation and effectiveness of support offered to
practices in cohort 1. (March–May 2017)
• Identification of practices for cohort 2—CCGs to identify practices for
consideration based on local knowledge and triangulation of data. (April
2016)
• Review/selection of practices—review to be conducted by all NHS
England/CCG and practices to be notified of the outcome. (May 2017)
• Roll-out of cohort 2 support (May 2017).

Final Draft

61
35 | 6. Infrastructure

6. Infrastructure
IM&T
In Five Years
We will ensure robust shared access to paperless patient records across all
clinical interfaces to improve patient outcomes and supported integrated
care models. We aim to achieve better value from our existing systems
through training and systems optimisation so that patients are treated more
efficiently and are more empowered in their own management. This work
will be taken forward by the LLR IM&T Enablement group and associated
subgroups.

Baseline Position
In developing our LDR we undertook a number of audits to assess our
performance against key national requirements. A summary of our
performance for universal capability is outlined below, along with assessment
against the GP IT Operating Framework.
Universal Capability

Completed

Professionals across care settings can access GPheld information on GP-prescribed medications, patient allergies and adverse reactions
Clinicians in urgent and emergency care settings
can access key GP-held information for those pa✓
tients previously identified by GPs as most likely to
present (in U&EC)
Patients can access their GP record

GPs can refer electronically to secondary care

Partially
Completed

Not Started

✓

✓
✓

GPs receive timely electronic discharge summaries
from secondary care
Social care receive timely electronic Assessment,
Discharge and Withdrawal Notices from acute care
Clinicians in unscheduled care settings can access
child protection information with social care professionals notified accordingly
Professionals across care settings made aware of
end-of-life preference information
GPs and community pharmacists can utilise elec✓
tronic prescriptions
Patients can book appointments and order repeat
✓
prescriptions from their GP practice

✓
✓
✓
✓

In our assessment against the Securing Excellence in GPIT Services 2016-18
Core and Mandatory Services we have rated ourselves green in 14 of the key
service areas and amber in the remaining 5 areas. In the enhanced primary
care IT services we have rated ourselves green in 8 of the key services area,
amber in 1 area and blue in 4 areas which at this time we are not looking to
progress. In the final area of the section on transformational care due to the
good progress being made in our system we have rated ourselves amber in
each of the 4 service areas. These informed assessments have helped us to
determine our priorities over the coming years and will support us to track
progress in key service areas.

Final Draft

62
Blueprint for General Practice | 36

100%

80%

100%

88.88%

90.60%

66.66%

77.77%

84.27%

100%

77.77%

40%

83.19%

60%

20%

0%
03W—NHS East
Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG

04V—NHS West
Leicestershire CCG

04C—NHS Leicester City
CCG

Core GP IT Compliance
Enhanced GP IT Compliance
Transformation in PC Compliance

Case Study
Systems Optimisation for GP Online–
Increasing uptake of patients using GP
Online services allows patients to use
transactional services (such as book
appointments and request repeat
prescriptions) without contacting the GP
practice. It also allows patients to have
access to their record and the medication
that they are taking. They can view this
information on a personal computer,
smartphone or tablet. Patients have
particularly found this useful whilst using
it in connection with EPS2 where they can
order repeat medication online and pick it
up at a pharmacy of their choice without
having to go into a practice.

Whilst our preference is to work collaboratively to tackle the key IM&T
priorities, there are times when, due to historical development and local
population health need, a more tailored solution is required. The section
below identifies some of the key areas where differences in current structures
will required the development of a more local solution.
GPSoC—Within LLR all practices are on either SystmOne or EMISWeb. In
Leicester City CCG all but one practice is on SystmOne whilst in the county it
is more evenly split between the 2 clinical systems with 48 practices on
SystmOne and 31 on EMISWeb. The County CCGs are supporting practices
to move for SystmOne and further progress will be made over the coming
years. Include other providers.
Cross Border Issues—Whilst the majority of patients are within the LLR
footprint there are significant numbers of patients in East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG and West Leicestershire CCG that access healthcare outside of
the LLR footprint. This has a number of practical issues for patients and
practices and will require consideration in the development of local plans.

Collaborative Achievements
Over the last 5 years the LLR Health and Social Care community has invested
heavily in IM&T has led to positive changes in the way people interact and
work in the system. This collaborative approach, supported by strong
leadership enabled the development of a robust Local Digital Road Map
which supports the Five Year Forward View, is aligned to our STP and sets
out a comprehensive and compelling vision for digital health care.
Channelling our energies into key system wide priorities has enabled us to
make excellent progress in tackling our key priorities:

Sharing Care Records
All GP practices in LLR currently upload information for the Summary Care
Record which can be accessed by any health professional who has a
legitimate reason to access the information and also gains the consent of the
patient. This direct sharing of records for a limited amount of data from the
GP-held electronic patient record allows clinical staff treating patients to have
access to appropriate information about the patient.
Final Draft

63
37 | 6. Infrastructure

100% of LLR GP Practices are signed up to a wide data sharing agreement
with a range of providers. This extends the ability of clinicians in and out of
hours and urgent care settings to view key elements of the patient’s record at
the point of care in real time using the Medical Interoperability Gateway
(MIG), thereby enhancing clinical decision making and support clinical safety.
In developing this work further, we are currently in the implementation
phase of a successful LLR-wide bid to the Estates and Technology Fund (ETTF)
to further develop our approach to interoperability and record sharing. Phase
1 of the project focuses on a defined minimum dataset for SystmOne and
EMISWeb for priority STP workstreams including Children’s, Dementia, Frailty,
Cancer, LTCs and Planned Care.

Population Data Analysis
The LLR footprint has a strong commitment to using data from a variety of
sources to better understand the current health of the local population and
also the variation over time in health outcomes and needs within and
between various populations. As part of this process we have worked hard
to create safe consent models for data extraction, pseudonymisation, analysis
and publication back to practices within a secure NHS Environment. Using
risk stratification (Adjusted Clinical Groups (AGC) tool), we are able to both
identify high risk individuals and aggregate data to look at population health.
This has enabled us to identify and provide interventions to patients who are
at the highest risk of admission and to help proactively manage healthcare
for these patients. This approach is a key element of our work on integrated
locality teams and has also informed system wide work on defining our bed
base.

System Wide Efficiencies
As a system we have worked hard to identify and tackle initiatives that
support more effective working across the system. By definition these
projects are prioritised within the STP and our LDR, and are key enablers to
help deliver primary care at scale, seven day services, new models of care and
transforming care.
The following digital services are 100% enabled and activated across all LLR
practices.
GP online—booking, cancelling appointments and ordering repeat
medication
Electronic Prescription Service (EPS)
Electronic Repeat Dispensing (ERD)
Electronic Referral Service (ERS) including Advice and Guidance
SCR 1
GP2GP
SMS notifications for patients
IG Toolkit level 2 compliance for all practices
Additionally we have developed and implemented a range of initiatives to
support effective system-wide working.

Final Draft

64
Blueprint for General Practice | 38

PRISM—electronic clinical referral pathway system library.
Supported mobile and agile working through Federated Wi-Fi enabling clinicians and care staff to work without being limited to access organisational native systems.
Structured secure e-mail with health and social care providers
Established remote access from OOH/111/Urgent Care for automated booking into City Hubs and GP for certain dispositions for inhours Links Vanguard Clinical Navigation Hub.
Implemented our responsibilities for GPSoC, securing ETTF funding
to support 12 system migrations.
Going forward it is important that we maximise use of these initiatives to
support the implementation.

Next Steps
Building on the progress made to date and our strong commitment to IM&T
over the next five years, we deliver our vision by taking forward the following
priorities:

Interoperability and Record Sharing to Support Care Planning
Over the last 12months we have reviewed and developed our approach to
integration locally and confirmed that rather than looking for an “off the
shelf tool” we will pursue the exploitation and optimisation of:
• TPP SystmOne
• Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG) Solution
• Summary Care Record (SCR)
Following our successful ETTF bid, Phase 1 of this process is under way, and
will focus on: Integrating and improving data flows, new ways of working,
standardised codes, protocols and flags in as many systems as the integration
technology will allow. We will give care professionals and carers access to all
the data, information and knowledge they need through real time system
integration. To enable this SCR V2.1 will be enabled across LLR with
additional datasets to support electronic record sharing and care planning.
Special Patient Notes and Electronic Frailty Index will also be added to this
method of sharing.
The ETTF bid will also look at implementing additional datasets as part of
MIG V2. The datasets will map the SCR V2.1 datasets to maximise sharing in
greater care settings such as Social Care. This phase will also look at two-way
developments to allow full interoperability to support integrated locality
teams.
Phase 2 will look at maximising the use of SCR V2.1 and MIG V2 in providers
to ensure that the data that is shared is used for the benefit of patient care.
This includes remodelling workflows to ensure that electronic data is utilised
in the most appropriate way. It will also explore the use of Open APIs as
another mechanism to share data.

System Integration and Joint Working Hubs
In continuation of good work from previous years and in support of CCG
strategic direction of travel we will support practices and embark on a three

Final Draft

65
39 | 6. Infrastructureure

year programme from 2016/17 to move the local clinical system estate
towards a single interoperable platform. We firmly believe this will improve
interoperability and information sharing across the healthcare landscape.
Currently our community services provider and main acute care provider use
the same platform enables sharing of critical information directly at the point
of professional / clinical need.

Phase 1—Single clinical system platform
Support collaborative and federated working by matching operational needs
to systems that are available. In the absence of true interoperability between
clinical systems, there is an emphasis on moving to a single system platform
to meet the needs of collaborative working. The Leicester City Healthcare
hub (PMAF) has demonstrated that this can dramatically improve the way
care is delivered, via a multisite approach. The CCGs understand their GPSoC
obligations and will continue to support practices in their choices of clinical
systems platform. Where we have a collaborative and federated system
established, a common system approach will be in place following best
practice, by Q1 2017/18.

Phase 2—Interoperable systems
LLR will look to maximise the interoperability of clinical systems to work in a
collaborative and federated way. This will exploit Open API’s to improve data
sharing and transactional activities. There is a key dependency on the delivery
of this from some of the national programmes such as GP Connect. LLR
CCGs remain in dialogue with NHS England and NHS Digital on progress with
Open API standard developments.
Once the GP Connect programme approves open API’s for GP clinical
systems, the CCGs will start to explore how this can benefit patient care. We
have been advised by NHS Digital that the earliest available time for API
connectivity of GP clinical systems is July 2017.
Strategically across LLR this project links with the local digital roadmap and
the LLR STP in that it is one of a range of planned enabling projects for
digital technology to help LLR deliver:
• Primary care at scale,
• Securing seven day services,
• Enabling new care models
• Transforming care in line with key clinical priorities
The project will operate over a three year period with the introduction of
SystmOne hubs in year two.
• Year One—18 Proposed clinical system changes
• Year Two—20 Proposed clinical system changes and the introduction of
4 clinical system hubs.
• Year Three—7 Proposed clinical system changes and the introduction of
3 clinical system hubs.

Technology Enabled Patient Self-Management
Patient self-management is a local priority with local engagement work
highlighting the need to use IM&T to support primary care developments.
Local GPs and commissioners acknowledge there is a real opportunity to
improve patient outcomes through better patient self-management using
remote monitoring devices and associated electronic mobile application
based solutions with portal access or direct links to clinical systems.

Final Draft

66
Blueprint for General Practice | 40

We have experience of electronic self-management technology in relation to
blood pressure monitoring due to us undertaking a pilot project in 2014 / 15
using the Flo Telehealth system. We have learnt valuable lessons and want to
take the good practice from that project to roll out patient self-management
on a wider scale in terms of medical conditions with a more innovative
tailored local solution on a larger population scale, across LLR.
We want to improve the outcomes for the local patient population by
enhancing the practice offering through the use of a locally tailored and
effective technology solution through deployment of electronic health
monitoring devices to high risk patient cohorts and associated mobile phone
health applications to enable patients to take control of their conditions.

Phase 1—Empowering patient self-care
Our plans over the next three years from 2016/17 involves supporting these
developments starting by tackling hypertension during level 1 (first)
diagnosis, monitoring and medication compliance stage through GP-led,
patient interactive, technology enabled self-management tools. We will offer
all General Practice across LLR technology enabled equipment such as
SMART monitoring devices that link to mobile applications.
We need to identify the resources for the delivery of this initiative. This may
require funding through bids. The initiative will aim to start once funding or
resources are available in 2017/18.

Phase 2—Connected care
We will be utilising third party apps and open APIs to allow patients to
interact with the health and care service to provide vital statistics about their
health. Patients will have greater connectivity to their healthcare records to
support improvements in wellbeing. The introduction of third party
applications will enable greater innovation for patient self-management.
We need to identify the resources for the delivery of this initiative. This may
require funding through bids. The initiative will aim to start once funding or
resources are available in 2018/19.

Systems Optimisation
General Practices currently have advanced IT systems as part of the GPSoC
framework. Maximising the use of these systems is essential to the delivery
of good quality of care. Systems optimisation will help in the following areas:

Final Draft

67
41 | 6. Infrastructure

Initiative
Patient online services for transactional services (booking appointments, requesting
prescriptions, accessing the patient record)
eWorkflow
Development of flags for alerts

Plan
Implemented across all GP practices. There is a
plan to improve uptake of services with patients.
Further targeted communication with the support of
medicines management as it will help to reduce
wastage.
Smarter working using existing technology.
Optimisation of flag to be used such as frailty.
Through the implementation of the single care plan.
Improved data quality
SNOMED, data coders to improve data quality.
Process currently in place to review common temOptimised templates
plates and make them available to all practices.
Expansion of pathways and mobile connectivity.
Pathway tools (PRISM)
Market engagement taking place.
E-Consultation
SMS already in place. Currently looking at two way
Electronic messaging for direct
patient communication (inc. SMS) communication.
Preparation in place to move to SNOMED-CT codSNOMED-CT
ing.
SCR V2.1 currently being deployed. Updates to
Optimisation of national systems
other national systems will be implemented once
(ERS, SCR, EPS, EDS)
available.
Review how systems can interoprated after NHS
System interoperability (through
Digital and NHS England approval of testing
GP Connect)
through the GP Connect programme.
Greater investment in mobile and agile working inGreater mobile and agile working
cluding support of practices to have laptops and
capabilities
VPN
Federated Wi-Fi completed. Single clinical system
Enablement of federation working approach to support federated and collabrotive
working.
Investigating what is available. This includes a sinAdvanced telephony systems
gle telephone number for practices and other automated functions.

Timescale
20% usage by
Q2 2017/18
Ongoing
Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Q2 2017/18
Q1 2017/18

Q2 2017/18

Q1 2018/19

SCR V2.1 - Q4
2016/17
Q4 2017/18

Q4 2017/18
Q2 2017/18
Q4 2017/18

Estate
Investment in primary care premises is crucial to the successful
implementation of this plan. Investment is needed, both in terms of bringing
existing primary medical facilities up to date, addressing the growth in the
number of new homes and associated population, and in ensuring there are
appropriate facilities to support transformation across the healthcare system.
In order to make this a reality, where possible we will explore with our partners options for utilising existing facilities more effectively and make the case
for continued investment in primary medical care estate linked to our STP.

Baseline Position
There have been a number of estates reviews in the last few years that have
provided the information required to support the overall estates strategy.
• 2009–10—The two PCTs in LLR undertook a full and detailed review
including detailed surveys of every GP premises, including utilisation and
valuation. From this a rating was produced that informed the
prioritisation of any new builds or developments. Due to very limited
revenue funding only a small number of schemes have been completed
since 2009.
• 2014–15—The LLR Better Care Together Estates group produced a
strategy that detailed all healthcare estate, including age, condition and
backlog maintenance.
• 2015–16—The three CCGs did a complete refresh of this baseline to
ensure there was an up to date analysis to support the decision making
for investment using the national Estates and Technology Transformation
Fund (ETTF) process.
Final Draft

68
Blueprint for General Practice | 42

Each of these reviews supported the development of the STP estates plan
and has enabled the work streams to develop plans for use of and
development of both primary care and community estate to support service
planning
The geographical size and rurality in the county is very different to that of
Leicester City CCG and this impacts on the current and future model of care.
Across WLCCG and ELRCCG there are nine community hospitals providing a
mixture of inpatient beds, community nursing and therapy services and
elective care outpatient appointments, diagnostic investigations and
treatments. These facilities are very variable in terms of the quality of the
estate condition, but many are under-utilised, often have small isolated
wards which cause sustainability issues, and are often not fit for 21st century
health care delivery. Going forward our proposed new models of care, clinical
sustainability and efficiency issues will impact on the scale and location of
community hospitals required.

What we are working on together
Many of the changes described in our STP plan have estates implications
including providing more planned care in the community; developing placebased teams to deliver services to keep patients at home as long as possible,
and moving services around to ensure that the right services are next to one
another for reasons of safety, quality and efficiency.
As such the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland health and social care
system has been reviewing and improving the provision of community health
services over the last few years and has also initiated activity to increase the
level of day-case procedures and outpatient appointments in community and
primary care settings, improving access for patients. The LLR strategy is to
provide care for patients closer to home where feasible in facilities fit to
deliver sustainable 21st century health care.
The 3 CCGs in LLR have been proactive in utilising their delegated
responsibilities for co-commissioning of primary medical care to establish
robust primary care estate plans. In 2016, this work informed a successful
bid to the ETTF securing funding of up to £7m for 11 projects which will be
delivered over the next 4 years. As part of this process the CCGs needed to
agree the revenue investment required for each project which has been
factored into the financial plans for each CCG.

Next Steps
As outlined above much needed capital funding has been secured through
the ETTF and will be utilised for 11 projects. Work is now under way to
finalise business cases and complete due diligence, prior to commencing
work on the ground. Whist this is significant and welcome investment it will
only go so far in meeting local need and leaves many practices facing
operational challenges in their current buildings.
Going forward, the detailed prioritisation process undertaken by the CCGs as
part of the first wave of ETTF funding will help inform future priorities for
investment as other national funding becomes available.
The CCGs will continue to use their delegated commissioning responsibilities
to maximise opportunities for tackling the current premises challenges faced
by practices in LLR, including working with our partners across health and
social care to maximise the use of existing estate.

Final Draft

69
43 | 6. Infrastructure

The County CCGs are also able to work with district/borough local authorities
to access secure S106 funding associated with new housing developments
and use this as resource to plan for primary health care estate
The schemes supported as part of the ETTF across LLR process are outlined
below:

East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG
• South Wigston Health Centre—Cohort 2 2017–2019, a significant
project in an area identified as having a large deprived population. A new
purpose-built primary care facility project will ensure the premises are fit
for purpose, sustainable and able to offer increased access and capacity
linked to improved service provision in primary care as articulated in the
CCG’s operational and STP plan. Location viability and initial planning
reviewed. Business case supported by CCG and initial approval by NHSE;
Funded via ETTF (indicative 40% of overall capital cost)
• Central Surgery Oadby—Cohort 2 2017–2019, extension to existing
site including two new consulting rooms and one treatment room. A
business case is under development and due for consideration by ELRCCG
at the Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee. Initial approval has
been obtained from NHS to fund 66% of capital costs
• Warren Lane Surgery Leicester Forrest East extension—Cohort 2,
2017/2019 Significant extension to existing build, six new consulting
rooms, conference suite for medical education and training, staff room
and increase to the waiting rooms. Initial approval from NHSE approved
awaiting Primary Care co-commissioning approval will be summer 2017.
Funded via ETTF (66% of overall capital cost)

Leicester City CCG
• Saffron Lane—Cohort 2, the acquisition of additional land and
substantial extension to existing premises to accommodate the merger of
two local practices to provide the majority of services in fit for purpose
premises and provide further enhanced service to meet the needs of the
local population. NHS England will fund 66% of the total approved
project cost, which will be a maximum contribution £1.94m. The practice
and professional advisors are working on their business case ready for
submission to the CCG PCCC in April 2017. Due diligence processes are in
place to ensure value for money, including liaison with the DV to ensure
ongoing revenue costs are proportionate.
• Heatherbrook—Cohort 2, the conversion of a vacant first floor flat to
relocate staff room and provide a seminar room/library for teaching
purposes and to extend the ground floor to provide two further
consulting rooms and a minor operating theatre. NHS England will fund
66% of the total approved project cost, which will be a maximum
contribution of £107k. The practice are engaging with an architect to get
plans drawn up and will be working on their PID for submission to the
CCG PCCC. Due diligence processes in place to ensure value for money,
including liaison with the DV to ensure ongoing revenue costs are
proportionate.
• Pasley Road—Cohort 2, the acquisition of a site has been completed to
develop new purpose built health centre which includes the provision of
extra clinical rooms in which to perform a wider range of primary care
services eg, additional treatment rooms, health promotion, minor ops and
recovery suite, ambulatory care day beds, counselling room and
optical/audiology screening suite. The scheme requires the change in

Final Draft

70
Blueprint for General Practice | 44

Premises Directions and NHS England has allocated a provisional amount
of £665k based on an indicative 40% contribution to the cost of the
project. The GP practice has met with NHS England and has a proposal
for moving forward the development without waiting for the Premises
Direction changes and have been advised that they need to work up the
proposal and they will discuss it with the CCG. Due diligence processes
are in place to ensure value for money, including liaison with the DV to
ensure ongoing revenue costs are proportionate.
• Willowbrook, Springfield Road—Cohort 3, the acquisition of an
existing Health Centre and conversion into the equivalent of new
purpose-built accommodation. No announcement has been made on
support for practices in Cohort 3 so this scheme is in abeyance at this
stage.

West Leicestershire CCG
• Silverdale Medical Centre—Cohort 1, a significant extension to existing
premises to ensure that they are fit for purpose, sustainable and able to
offer increased access and capacity linked to increasing service provision
in primary care as articulated in the CCG’s operational plan / PMCP / STP.
Planning permission has been granted. The business case is supported by
the CCG and approved by NHSE and the project has commenced. It is
funded via ETTF (66% of overall capital cost) and S106 (S106 contribution
deducted from overall cost before applying methodology to determine
66% grant). Due diligence processes are in place to ensure value for
money, including liaison with the DV to ensure ongoing revenue costs are
proportionate.
• Burbage—Cohort 2, extension to an existing site including five new
consulting/treatment rooms. The business case is under development and
due for consideration by the CCG at the PCCC meeting in April 2017. It
will utilise identified S106 funding and ETTF. The total project cost is
currently being finalised ahead of the submission of a business case
which will clearly articulate the practice vision to expand and increase
capacity in primary care in line with strategic objectives. Due diligence
processes are in place to ensure value for money, including liaison with
the DV to ensure ongoing revenue costs are proportionate.
• Heath Lane—Cohort 2, the extension to existing build, four new
consulting rooms, surgical suit, admin area, linked to large Sustainable
Urban Extension and the practice vision to expand to enable a greater
breadth of primary care provision at scale in line with CCG strategic aims
and the STP. A business case under development will utilise S106 funding
and ETTF for a total cost of £600K. Due diligence processes are in place
to ensure value for money, including liaison with the DV to ensure
ongoing revenue costs are proportionate.
• Barwell—Significant project; new build on a new site in a town centre
location, with a strong link to Sustainable Urban Extension in Barwell
which will lead to development of 2,500 new homes. The business case is
under development utilising existing S106 funding and ETTF to realise the
practice vision to provide primary care services from fit-for-purpose
premises, sustainable throughout planned housing growth in the local
area. The total project cost is in the region of £4m. Plans will be finalised
aligned to further guidance linked to the allocation of capital grants to
new builds as per updated premises directions from NHSE. Due diligence
processes are in place to ensure value for money, including liaison with
the DV to ensure ongoing revenue costs are proportionate.

Final Draft

71
45 | 7. Investment

7. Investment
In Five Years
Each CCG within LLR took on full delegated commissioning responsibility for
General Practice and thus the opportunity to hold the entire health budget
for each population to commission and invest across the whole pathway and
spectrum of health and social care.
To ensure sustainable and resilient primary care, certainty on levels of funding
for core as well as additional investment is important to enable practices and
groups of practices to plan services and future delivery their model. This also
supports the aspirations of the LLR STP, where General Practice is key to
overall delivery alongside, new models of integrated community services and
the seven day primary care access that supports the urgent and emergency
care agenda. This transparency and long term planning will support a
resilient General Practice.

Financial Baseline for General Practice
The national formula and historical funding by PCTs and now CCGs means
that each area has a different baseline position for investment into General
Practice. This discrepancy in itself creates variation at practice level with
different levels of core global sum; this ranges from £74 to £130 per patient
per year. Although the changes in national contracting, move away from the
PMS contract and local investment supports reducing this variation, it needs
to be recognised as an issue that will need resolving to support the
development of new models of delivering General Practice.
The funding into General Practice is split into the following distinct areas:
• Budget for the cost of medicines
• Core contract and additional statutory spend ( Including PMS/ FDR
reinvestment)
• Discretionary spend
• Over the next five years care pathways will be developed which will see
settings of care being transferred to a primary care or community setting.
We will ensure that resources follow this activity.

Statutory Budgets
The core budgets were disaggregated to each CCG in April 2015, following
the successful award of full delegated co-commissioning responsibility from
NHS England. These differ based on historical funding formulas and show in
some cases a significant difference in the core global sum paid to practices to
care for their patients. An area of funding that has enabled innovation and
supported new ways of working is the reinvestment of PMS growth monies.

PMS Premium and Funding Differential Review (FDR)
reinvestment
A detailed process was established between NHS England and the three
CCGs in 2014 to put in place a transition plan for practices that moved from
a PMS contract with premium monies to a GMS contract. The agreement
was that the funding would be drawn down over a 5 year period and that all
of the funding would be reinvested back into General Practice. The CCGs
have invested this in the following ways:

Final Draft

72
Blueprint for General Practice | 46

WL

Total PMS
Premium and
Areas or Investment
FDR funding
by 2020/21
Year 1 : £325k recurrently (£1 per patient) invested equally across all practices to provide an enhanced dressing service and to support the new
Stoma/Dressing/Catheter formulary
Year 2: £650k recurrently (£2 per patient) Invested equally across all practices/ groups of practices to employ pharmacists or pharmacy technicians
£2.27m
to increase workforce, support workload and improve cost effective prescribing.
Year 3 onwards will be invested in line with CCG/ General Practice priorities
Premises – to support increases in notional rent.
Fairer Funding – distribution of funding at a practice level to support the
equalising of core funding levels
Struggling practices fund – to support practices facing significant and serious issues that have the potential to impact on patient care.
£1.5m

City

£2.25m

CCG

ELR

This was aligned with practices signing up to Improve Access, Improve
clinical outcomes, reduce inequalities and engage and participate in federation development
Year 1
Funding to raise the baseline GMS capitation to £83.21 for 30 of the
·
city’s most lowly funded practices.
£323,618 was invested in a city-wide quality scheme, open to all prac·
tices, which aimed to encourage practices to provide a minimum of 90 appointments per 1,000 registered patients, and ensuring that practices are
open (and providing appointments) throughout core hours.
£61,347 was reinvested as a PMS premium for a city practice with an
·
atypical (student) population
·
£100,000 was set aside to provide support any practices experiencing
particular difficulties.
Year 2 Onwards
·
In future years, the CCG is committed to maintaining the increased
minimum baseline of £83.21 per patient.
·
CCG is consulting with member practices on plans to allocate the remaining funding in each year using a model that recognises the respective
workload based on the burden on practices of high disease prevalence,
deprivation and ethnicity/language

Discretionary spend
This is for local incentives, quality contracts and community based services
and has been developed differently by each CCG according to local need and
quality outcome measures. This is, however, a significant investment directly
into General Practice. Examples across the CCGs of how this funding has
been utilised are:

ELR CCG GP Support and Investment Programme (GP SIP)
The ELR CCG GP Support and Investment Plan (GP SIP) has been designed to
build on the high quality healthcare provided by General Practice and to fund
improvement in quality and outcomes for our patients. The CCG believes that
working in collaboration with our providers, partner organisations and
members will enable us to exceed the national expectations of high quality
outcome focussed health care for our patients. The GP Support and
Investment Plan for General Practice is one of ELR CCGs strategies for
engaging and involving our member practices in the delivery of the key
quality and patient outcomes set out in our constitution and 2 Year
Operational Plan of achieving improved outcomes in the following;
• Dementia
• End of Life Care
• Care Homes
Final Draft

73
47 | 7. Investment

•
•
•
•
•
•

Respiratory/COPD
Stroke Prevention
Diabetes
IAPT Mental Health Access
Renal/CKD management
Cancer Screening

West Leicestershire CCG Federation QIPP
2017/18: The CCG has agreed to target investment of up to £2.3 million
dependent on delivery to support an outcome based federation level QIPP
scheme. The scheme represents a fundamental shift from previous practice
level schemes and is closely aligned to our strategic priorities which include
the sustainability of general practice, primary care at scale, addressing
unwarranted variation, supporting clinical behavioural change, and assisting
the CCG achieve financial sustainability. The scheme will be delivered by the 4
federations in WLCCG and will focus on the following areas: efficiency and
integrated teams, embedding processes to support delivery and maintaining/
reducing activity levels in prescribing and non elective admissions.
2018/19: Subject to a positive evaluation the 2017/18 Federation QIPP
scheme will be updated and funding levels continued for 2018/19.

Leicester City CCG
Leicester City CCG and its member practices recognise that there are
opportunities to improve the quality of services patients receive whilst also
improving efficiency, lowering costs and providing more care outside of
hospitals. The CCG also recognises that general practice and wider primary
care services face increasingly unsustainable pressures—and that general
practice wants and needs to transform the way it provides services to reflect
these growing challenges.
During 2017/18, Leicester City CCG will work with member practices to
design and implement a new GP Quality Contract designed to fulfil our
ambition as stated above. This will offer services at two levels; practice-level
services and services provided by specialist practices at a Health Needs
Neighbourhood level. Whilst this co-design process progresses, our practices
will continue to provide services at practice level via enhanced services with
an investment of £1.5m. Services offered under this portfolio are designed to
focus on areas in which we have noted particular unwarranted variation in
outcomes such as end-of-life care, cardio-vascular services and respiratory
services.
In addition, a further £1m of investment is being made into General Practice
to support the implementation of Integrated Care models which will ensure
our most at-risk and vulnerable patients are cared for in the community
wherever possible by an integrated team of health and social care
professionals.

Final Draft

74
Blueprint for General Practice | 48

Five Year Investment Plan for Primary
Care
The target set by NHSE is to spend 10.9%, but with an aspiration of 11.3%
of total CCG allocation year-on-year into General Practice services by 2020.
The following shows the financial trajectories for each CCG to achieve this
goal. This is in line with national allocations and historical differences in
funding, but all CCGs meet this goal.
This funding into General Practice services is only one part of the investment
required to deliver a sustainable integrated out-of-hospital service, which will
see a new commissioned integrated community team model that enables
patients to be cared for at home co-ordinated by their GP surgery, which is
fundamental to the success of the STP.
''"#$%&
''"$$%&

ELR

''")$%&

City

Total Primary Care investment as
a % of overall CCG allocation

''"'$%&
'("!$%&

WL

'("#$%&
'("$$%&

City

'(")$%&

ELR

Co-commissioning allocation as
a % of overall CCG allocation

'("'$%&
!"!$%&

WL

!"#$%&

'*+'#&

GPFV Expectations
PRIMARY CARE FUNDING
CCG Allocation £'000
Primary Care Funding - CoCommissioning Allocation
Co-Commissioning Allocation as %
of Overall CCG Allocation
Primary Care Discretional Spend
Total Primary Care Spend
% of CCG Budget Spent on Primary
Care

2016/17 £'000

2017/18 £'000

'#+',&

',+'!&

2018/19 £'000

'!+-(&

2019/20 £'000

2020/21 £'000

ELR
City
West
ELR
City
West
ELR
City
West
ELR
City
West
ELR
City
West
398,780 477,730 457,845 406,645 487,902 466,838 414,470 497,978 476,518 423,132 508,865 486,906 438,967 528,694 505,832

40,192

10.1%
5,787
45,979

11.5%

50,246

10.5%
3,900
54,146

11.3%

44,990

9.8%
4,750
49,740

10.9%

41,593

10.2%
5,862
47,455

11.7%

50,335

10.3%
3,950
54,285

11.1%

45,956

9.8%
4,750
50,706

10.9%

42,170

10.2%
5,943
48,113

11.6%

51,420

10.3%
4,005
55,425

11.1%

48,212

10.1%
4,750
52,962

11.1%

43,099

10.2%
6,002
49,101

11.6%

52,819

10.4%
4,045
56,864

11.2%

50,460

10.4%
4,750
55,210

11.3%

44,818

10.2%
6,062
50,880

11.6%

54,453

10.3%
4,085
58,538

11.1%

52,555

10.4%
4,750
57,305

11.3%

*These figures do not include GPFV £6 access fund

*ELR Co-commissioning allocation includes £1 million for Oadby UCC

Transformational and Devolved Funding
There are a number of additional funding streams and work programmes
that form part of the forward view focus on support and delivery. The details
of this level of funding over the next 4 years are detailed in the following
table.

Final Draft

75
49 | 7. Investment

Transformational and Devolved Funding
Area

2016/17
ELR

Transformational Support: £3 per
patient split
OnLine GP
Consultation
Training Care
28
Navigators
Extended access

City

34

West

33

2017/18
ELR

City

West

487

582

75

100

58

67

2018/19
ELR

City

West

575

487

582

575

98

100

134

131

65

58

67

65

2019/20
ELR

City

West

50

67

65

58

67

65

1.09m 1.31m 1.29m 1.95m 2.37m 2.3m

Transformation
Each CCG has allocated an equal split of £1.50 per registered patient in
2017/18 and 2018/19 and has been accounted for through existing resource
aligned to each operational financial plan.
Each CCG will use this funding in slightly different ways, but all are already
committed to supporting the continued development of GP Federations. In
addition to this investment the CCGs will invest the funding as follows:
CCG

ELR

WL

City

Year 1 2017/18
Financially support the ELR GP
Federation, consisting of all 31
practices, to support the delivery of new care models £175k
£312k targeted to support
groups of General Practices to
come together in line with the
proposed new care models

The CCG has agreed to target
the investment of £575k to support an outcome based federation level QIPP scheme. The
scheme represents a fundamental shift from previous practice level schemes and is
closely aligned to our strategic
priorities which include the sustainability of general practice,
primary care at scale, addressing unwarranted variation; supporting clinical behavioural
change and assisting the CCG
achieve financial sustainability.
Targeted through the four city
Health Needs Neighbourhoods
(HNNs) which encompass all of
the practices in Leicester based
on a geographical footprint. The
main priority for the CCG is to
consider transformational opportunities of practices working
together to free-up capacity and
enable resources to be redirected to the areas of greatest
need.
Support for city federation(s) to
bring about the development of
‘at scale’ solutions within practices across the city through
collaborative working initiatives
and a focus on delivery of the
10 High Impact Actions.

Year 2 2018/19
Financially support the ELR GP
Federation, consisting of all 31
practices, to support the delivery of new care models £175k

Outcomes

A Fully financially sustainable
Federation supporting and providing services across ELR

Successful transition by groups
£312k targeted to support
of practices to a new model of
groups of General Practices to
delivery of care for their patient
come together in line with the
population and a more sustainproposed new care models
able long term model
The scheme will be delivered
by the 4 federations in WLCCG
2018/19: Subject to a positive and focus on the following
evaluation the 2017/18 Federa- areas: efficiency and integrated
teams, embedding processes
tion QIPP scheme will be upto support delivery and maindated and funding levels
taining / reducing activity levels
continued
in prescribing and non elective
admissions
Targeted through the four city
Health Needs Neighbourhoods
(HNNs) which encompass all of
the practices in Leicester based
on a geographical footprint. The
main priority for the CCG is to
consider transformational opportunities of practices working
together to free-up capacity and
enable resources to be redirected to the areas of greatest
need.
Support for city federation(s) to
bring about the development of
‘at scale’ solutions within practices across the city through
collaborative working initiatives
and a focus on delivery of the
10 High Impact Actions.

Groups of practices successfully collaborating to provide
services at scale, with delivery
of appropriate new models of
care to patients.

Increased sustainability of practices in the city.

Final Draft

76
Blueprint for General Practice | 50

On Line GP Consultation Software
All three CCGs in collaboration have a clear plan on the delivery of
E–Consultations. We wish to make most of the current infrastructure using
the EMISWeb and Systm1 GP systems and will explore the functionality,
before we then consider what the wider solutions market has on offer. We
are mindful that there will be financial implications regardless of the route
we decide is the most appropriate for our local health economy. The
potential cost implications at this stage are software enhancement, or
procurement of additional software, configuration and training as well as
marketing implications to inform our populations of this development.
This is a key priority through the LLR Digital Roadmap and a GP IM&T subgroup has been formed to drive forward the piloting and procurement of this
as necessary.
The plans for roll out are as follows:
2017/18

2018/19
Full Procurement and roll out of
Trial the system using the S1 and system across LLR when fully assessed for capability and reEMIS WEB capability
viewed by practices and patients
Assessment day with GPs, IM&T
Engage with patient groups to engroup and patients of all of the
sure understanding and useage
available systems to work through
and how best to promote further
which to trial

2019/20
Evaluate and improve system if
underutilised. Work with practices
to ensure meeting their needs and
expectations.
Promote further the uses of and
benefits of the system

Review other national procured
systems through local STP footprints in the East Midlands to assess merits for procurement
Pilot across 6 practices

Work with local PPGs of pilot
practices and patient groups prior
to roll out and to reviews outcomes

Training for Reception and Clerical Staff
The training and support will be delivered to practices across the STP
footprint through the LLR Primary Care Training department. Over the period
of the programme £850,000 will be invested to enable primary care to
confidentially and safely signpost patients to the most appropriate service.
This programme will be delivered through the LLR STP workforce group
which will enable the programme to be delivered collaboratively across the
region.
2016/2017
Identify the Model to deliver the
Training
Identify training providers

Identify Practices to be in first
tranche of training

2017/2018
2018/2019
Commence delivery of the first
tranche of training
Evaluate the first cohort of TrainContinuation of training
ing
Invite additional Practice to participate

Final Draft

77
51 | 7. Investment

Extended Access
By 2019/20 all three CCGs in LLR will have been allocated the £6 per patient
for extended primary care access. The delivery models can be seen in section
3. Extended Access Across LLR. Each model will be regularly evaluated to
understand service usage and impact on the health system. The longer term
model, funded from CCG baseline, will be adapted if necessary in line with
this evaluation.

Further Investment
There are a number of further investment streams that are aligned to the
delivery of the forward view. They are
• General Practice Resilience Programme—Detailed in Section 5.
Workload
• Estates and Technology transformation fund (ETTF) and GPIT
funding—Detailed in Section 6. Infrastructure.

Final Draft

78
Blueprint for General Practice | 52

8. Engaging on Primary Care
in Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland
The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland plan for primary care has been
informed by engagement with both clinicians and patients over the course of
the last few years. This has included both soft intelligence gathering on the
issues and challenges facing primary care locally, as well as more formal
engagement to involve people in sharing their views on emerging plans for
the future.
In summary, this has so far included the following:
• Specific engagement with practices across Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland through protected learning time events, locality meetings and
listening events
• A range of dedicated stakeholder and public events, including Patient
Participation Groups (PPGs)
• Canvassing of practice staff on key issues through online surveys;
• Day-to-day feedback from patients obtained during existing CCG work on
their experiences of primary care, eg, patient events and meetings with
patient groups
• Sustained engagement on Better Care Together with political and
statutory bodies, including health and wellbeing boards, overview and
scrutiny committees, councillors, MPs and the community and voluntary
sector.
In total more than 50 events have been held across Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland with a diverse range of audiences and participants including GPs
and the public. Across those events there have been more than 6,000
attendees—with around 1,500 of those being unique participants.
Overall, almost everyone tells us about the high regard in which primary care
is held and the vital role it provides for patients and local communities. It is
the part of the NHS that people have most contact with, and satisfaction
with the services provided by their practice—particularly doctors and other
clinical staff—is high. This is evidenced, for example, through work
undertaken by Healthwatch in Leicestershire and, in the city, focussed activity
with the local PPG network.
However, it is clear that there are also opportunities for improvement. Key
themes and feedback emerging from the events and meetings held across
the region have influenced our priorities for the future and can clearly be
seen within this plan. For example, patients have clearly told us that having
access to urgent on-the-day appointments which can be booked in advance
is extremely important to them—even if that appointment is not at their
regular practice. They have also told us that they want to book appointments
easily and quickly and at convenient times, including evening clinics and
Saturdays.
Patients have also told us that continuity of care is very important to them,
particularly if they have a complex or long-term condition. They only want to
have to tell their story once, regardless of which health or social care
organisation is looking after them. If they do have a long-term condition,

Final Draft

79
53 | 8. Engaging on Primary Care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

they would like to have more information about it so they can manage dayto-day living better, while they would also like to see a broader range of
services within the practice and greater use of technological solutions.
For clinicians, many tell us that they are concerned that the growth in
workload means they are not able to provide the range of services of, in
some instances, the quality of care that they would want for their patients.
Many say that they want to feel empowered and supported to look at
innovative ways of collaborating across practices to reduce the burden.
Practices have also told us that there is an urgent need to improve
information sharing and the ways in which different providers work together.
They want to see seamless care between community nurses and social care
services and better care planning and co-ordination to support the increasing
number of complex and frail patients.
In the city, in particular, GPs and practice staff have made it clear that we
must move towards fairer funding that is based on the prevalence of illhealth to help address health inequalities across Leicester.
All of these themes and many more are addressed within this plan. But,
despite this work to date, it is important to recognise that engagement on
the contents of this plan is very much a work in progress with more specific
engagement on the contents necessary.
At present there are variable levels of knowledge and buy-in across the local
health system and among stakeholders. For example, although all three CCGs
are subscribed to a model of Multi-speciality Community Providers as a
direction of travel this has so far only been officially endorsed by practices
within West Leicestershire CCG. Work is currently ongoing within Leicester
City and East Leicestershire and Rutland in this regard.

Engagement in progress
Implementation of the GP Five Year Forward View offers an opportunity to
deliver urgently needed service transformation and financial efficiencies
within primary care. However, legal duties still apply, and public scrutiny of
compliance with those duties will be intense.
The overall plan for engagement and communications linked to the STP
across the health and social care system is overseen by a dedicated
communications and engagement group, made upof the communications
and engagement leads for all of the partner organisations. This aims to
ensure that a joined up and sustained approach to engagement and
consultation is taken across all areas of the STP.
To support this approach a dedicated communications and engagement lead
is to be identified for this workstream. This individual will be responsible for
co-ordinating ongoing activity, ensuring that it is consistent and joined up
with other areas of the STP. He or she will, in partnership with the
communications and engagement group and the workstream delivery board,
be responsible for forming a view on any elements of the plan that require
formal public consultation.
It should be noted that, at this stage, no requirement for formal public
consultation has been identified, although this will be kept under review.
However, any issues that do require consultation—such as the merger of any
practices—will be dealt with as business as usual following existing
consultation protocols across the three CCGs.
In the meantime, each CCG will continue to engage with statutory bodies,
Final Draft

80
Blueprint for General Practice | 54

elected officials, local authorities, clinicians, the voluntary and community
sector, member practices, patients, carers and members of the public in their
area on the emerging vision and ambitions going forward—and particularly
as the STP develops.

Next Steps
Over the course of the coming months it is proposed that a series of both
internal and external LLR-wide engagement events will take place to help
people understand the proposed direction for primary care (both at a CCG
level, and as highlighted in the STP) and listen to feedback.
The events will be structured to:
• Highlight what the CCGs are doing in primary care to make long-term
sustainable improvements
• Ask people to endorse our plans for primary care, building upon the
insight and feedback they have shared with us previously
• Engage people in the visions for primary care (as set out in our GP5YFV
documents) to feed into developing primary care strategies.
Key messages will be centrally agreed and managed to ensure continuity
across the region, but will include the local context tailored by each CCG.
Events will be tailored to suit the audience and will involve as wide a range
of stakeholders as possible.
Feedback loops and evaluation procedures will also be put in place to ensure
that the system is able to capture the feedback from stakeholders on the
engagement and incorporate this into planning, as well as recording all
engagement taking place in order to evidence stakeholder involvement and
input.
An evaluation of all the feedback received via the range of engagement
methods will be collated quarterly, key themes identified and an overall
report produced to share with System Leadership Team and SRO of the
primary care work stream.
We will also develop a significant public campaign that seeks to explain the
model of primary care to patients, builds a sense of collaboration and shared
responsibility, and starts to develop a compact between practice and patients
on what they might reasonably expect.

Final Draft

81
55 | 9. Leadership, Governance and Programme Arrangements

9. Leadership, Governance
and Programme
Arrangements
Building on the previous primary care strategies set out by East Leicestershire
and Rutland (ELR), West Leicestershire (WL) and Leicester City (LC) Clinical
Commissioning Groups, this GP5YFV submission is a collaborative plan that
aims to provide a bold vision and clear roadmap for key reforms to our
primary care system. We have an opportunity to redefine what we mean by
primary care and to locate it in the context of place based systems. It
highlights the important principles behind our plans; the benefits we hope
the changes will bring to patients, the general public, health and care staff
and the local economy as a whole.
The formation of a joint and collaborative structure to support the systemwide development of primary care to deliver sustainable General Practice and
therefore enable the STP to be delivered builds on the work each CCG has
undertaken over the last few years.
To deliver this programme of work a number of existing groups have been
combined or refocussed and a programme board and implementation group
is now in place. This governance structure feeds directly into the System
Leadership Team (SLT). Each of the groups has clinical and managerial
representation from each CCG, as well as Health watch, LMC, NHSE, HEEM,
GP member practice managers, federation managers and GPs, UHL and LPT,
local authority and public health.
As part of the collaborative arrangements through the System Leadership
Team, we have clear and agreed accountability arrangements for the GP
resilience strand of our STP. This is led by:
• Clinical Chair—Prof Azhar Farooqi Chair of City CCG
• SLT Executive Lead—Karen English MD ELR CCG
• SRO—Tim Sacks COO ELR CCG

Statutory
Organisations
Governing Body

System Leadership Team

Health and
Wellbeing Boards

General Practice Programme
Board

General Practice
Workforce Group

Local
Workforce
Action Board

General Practice
IM&T Group

LLR IM&T
Steering Group

General Practice
Implementation
Group

Final Draft

82
Blueprint for General Practice | 56

Programme Management
Since summer 2016, the GP programme strand of our STP has been
resourced from within existing staff across the three CCG primary care
delivery teams, together with some administrative support from the SROs
CCG, East Leicestershire and Rutland. An element of additional project
management and GP support has been resourced to support delivery of
certain workforce schemes through HEEM funding.
Moving forward the ambition and scale of this Plan, combined with our
recent experience of the process of drawing this together across the three
CCGs, has reinforced the need for a significant upgrade in how this work is
locally led and resourced. Implementing the Delivery Plan at the required
pace will require a clearer element of dedicated overall managerial and
clinical support, together with more specific input to particular elements of
the programme.
Based on the schemes set out in the Delivery Plan, a rapid review will be
undertaken during March to identify the capacity, capability and
accountability arrangements required. Given the financial constraints on the
running costs of the three CCGs, this resource will need to be secured
through the redeployment of existing staff and clinical leads from within the
STP footprint CCGs, supplemented where opportunities emerge by the
alignment of capacity from partners, such as the national Arms Length
Bodies. The implications of releasing resource in this way will need to be
worked through by the three CCGs in order to ensure that core primary care
transactional functions continue to be effectively discharged alongside this
more transformational work.

Programme risks
Reflecting the multiple pressures and challenges facing general practice, this
is an ambitious plan. It needs to be in order to address the underlying
pressures around workload, workforce and funding that have built up over
recent years, as well as enabling the sector to respond to a broader future
role at the heart of the out of hospital care system.
Not surprisingly therefore, a plan with this level of ambition does come with
significant risks to delivery, in particular:
• Ability to secure engagement across and mobilise the support of 138
general practices run as independent contractors
• Availability of workforce to support new ways of working and care
models
• Ability of commissioners to make the required investment in both core
general practice services and wider integrated community teams set
against other competing financial pressures
• Impact of changes in other parts of the health and social care system on
demand for general practice services
• Acceptability of new skill mix models to patients used to a more
traditional GP focused model of care
As part of the Delivery Plan the Programme Board will maintain a full risk
register which, importantly, sets out local actions being taken to mitigate the
potential impact of these.

Final Draft

83
57 | 9. Leadership, Governance and Programme Arrangements

Next steps
The Programme Board and the delivery groups are fully constituted and a
work plan has been developed to deliver each of the priorities of the five
year forward view. All of the CCGs in LLR are fully committed to supporting
the delivery of this key work strand of the STP, and additional resource in the
form of people and support will enable this to succeed.

Risks
Currently identified risks to the plan are set out below. These risks are
being actively managed, and will be monitored through the
governance processes above.
5 Catastrophic

Risk that NHS
provider
organisations and
social care do not
evolve at the same
pace as primary
care.

4
Major

Lack of resources to
support General
Practice and out-ofhospital care
redesign.
Demand for primary
Lack of capacity
within General
Practice to lead or
enable change.

care will increase due
to an ageing
population,
demographic change,
and use of services.

Lack of ownership
by practices of the
need to change

Insufficient
capability and
capacity of existing
General Practice
staff to enable new
models of care to
be delivered.

3
Moderate

Insufficient clinical
staff to fulfil the
current model of
General Practice.
Federations
developing at
different rates in
each CCG with
varying degrees of
engagement from
their member
practices.
NHSE GP5YFV
initiatives delivering
minimal change.

2
Minor

1
Negligible

Impact /
Likelihood

1
Rare

2
Unlikely

3
Possible

4
Likely

5
Almost Certain

Final Draft

84
Blueprint for General Practice | 58

10. Conclusion
This plan exists to ensure a resilient and sustainable general practice system
as the bedrock of healthcare. It is integral to all other healthcare redesign
and redevelopment. We know that there is increased demand and pressure
on General Practice. Population is ageing, demand is increasing, and we
must ensure that the system meets the health needs of a changing society.
The current model is underfunded: pressures on GPs and GP surgeries mean
that, unless we do something different, General Practice will not be
sustainable.
In this document, we have outlined what the problem is and what we will do
about it. This has involved analysing issues of workforce, estates, IT systems
and the changing needs of patients, which can only be met by GPs leading
in the role of care co-ordinator, working with a team of practice- and
federation-based professionals. This plan exists to ensure that we have
greater levels of funding in General Practice, and supports a model which
not only enables us to deliver current services in a more responsive way, but
also enables practices to have the flexibility of designing and delivering a
model that introduces new skillsets to the benefit of both patient and
healthcare professionals.
Over the past years, a great deal of onus has been put on primary care at
scale. This is because there are many benefits of sharing ideas, clinical skills
and workforce that will enable patients to live healthier lives, and practices to
thrive. This blueprint supports the entire STP programme by putting GPs at
the centre of patient care, based around population health of around
100,000 people.
This document has grown from the wisdom, dedication and innovation of a
generation of GPs, practice staff, allied health professionals and other health
service workers in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, as well our colleagues
in social care. This plan is designed to ensure the sustainability and resilience
of the health service in which they have invested so much.

Final Draft

85
59 | 10. Conclusion

Final Draft

This page is intentionally left blank

Blueprint for General Practice
Delivery Plan

Final Draft

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

87

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
24 February 2017

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GP time freed up to concentrate on multi
morbid patients.

Full rollout completed across LLR

GPFV - Model of Care - LLR
Deliver the model for As described in the narrative document supporting this
delivery plan across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
general practice
STP area we have a total population of 1,061,800 with a
across LLR
forecast increase over the next five years of 3.6% for
children and young people, 1.7% for adults and 11.1% for
older people. The age structure of the area is on par with
the national average but there is a variation with Leicester
having a higher population of young people and East
Leicestershire and Rutland has more people age over 50.
Analysing our health data identified the following areas that
we need to address.
Reducing the variation in life expectancy
Reducing the variation in health outcomes
Reduce premature mortality
Improve the early detection of cancers and cancer
performance

Individual Patient Level actions

£820k (2016/20)
for econsultation

June 2018

Full roll out of e consultation
Improve patient access to core general practice via
demand and capacity audit at practice level, in conjunction
with the local workforce survey

£14k (2017)
for workforce audit
Further funding linked to Promote patient role in demand management through
LLR STP
coaching /education supported by PPGs.

LLR STP GP
Improved access to General practice through identification Programme
Board
& roll-out of best practice models across LLR practices

Number of practices adopting the toolkits, thereby increasing access

July 2017

Demand and capacity audit completed and
informing the CCG models for extended
access

April 17/March 18

Best practice models identified and shared, Participation in engagement events by providers, patients and stakeholders.
with evidence of impact on quality of service Feedback received, and demonstrable evidence that feedback has been
provision.
considered and acted upon

April 17/March 18

Secondary care spend for high risk patients reduced, so increase in the
number of patients seen, treated, and managed in community settings.

Increase in the number of patients seen,
treated and managed in community settings

Improved pre-planned access to General Practice for
patients at high risk of emergency or elective admission
through local CCG schemes
Engagment of providers, patients and other stakeholders
in developing the model of care and playing an active role
in its delivery

Improving mental health outcomes

LLR

Move from chronic disease management to prevention

At a collaborative level

Significant engagement with stakeholders has taken place
to date, with more than 50 events held. Further work is
required however to ensure universal understanding and
support for our plans and priorities.

Actively lead the implementation of all ILTs across LLR
based on geographic footprints acorss General Practice,
community services and social care.

Monthly IT board
meetings

Identify cohort of high risk patients for focus and test
health and social care interventions to be delivered.

Nov 17

Undertake test beds in each CCG area of
multiprofessional working following approval by LLR
Integrated Teams programme board.

LLR STP
Integrated
Teams Board

Each Integrated Locality Leadership Team to complete
EMLA development programme.

April-Sept 2017

Fully developed ILT which wrap around the TBC - as part of Capacity Plan
patient and their general practice, extending
the care and support that can be delivered in ILTs launched - number of patients identified vs. cared for via ILT
community settings. Monthly meetings of
each ILT and monitoring through the
Number of each intervention delivered for high risk group
Iintegrated Team Programme Board.
Decrease in patients seeking non-urgent healthcare in secondary care
Slow the rate of growth in use of acute
emergency services and increasingly meet
peoples needs in lower acuity settings

April 2017
Commnence Feb
2017

Develop and submit bids for the NHSE Primary Care
Home Scheme

88

June 2017
Using the foundation of ILT to develop Primary and
Community MCP model and enact through an MCP
contract.
At a specialist level
Agree the model of specialist support to the Integrated
Locality Teams across LLR
Explore the potential of the specialist GP role

Nov 2017
LLR

September 17

Model of specialist support agreed across
LLR with implentation commencing Q3/4 which brings specialits support nearer to
patients in their community;reduce the time
taken to access specialist input;reduice the
number of separate steps in care pathways

Increase in the number of patients successfully treated within community
settings
Increase in the number of patients successfully treated within community
settings
Deliver the left shift of agreed pathways from secondary care into the
community from an elective care perspective
Deliver the left shift of agreed pathways from secondary care into the
community from an non-elective care perspective

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GPFV - Model of Care - ELR
Deliver the model for GP localities have a history of collaborative working. In £0.50 per patient per
general practice
2014 the CCG worked with its member practices to
year 2017/18 and
across LLR
develop the Primary Care Strategy this was
2018/19 to enable

codesigned and aligns to the overall LLR model.
Whilst some progress has been made the CCG
acknowledges that further impetus is required to fully
realise the ambition. The practices have recognised
the opportunity of the development of the GP
landscape and in 2015/16 the ELR GP Federation was
formed as a legally constituted organisation covering
all 31 member practices. The federation received
development funding from the CCG to assist in its
establishment. The ELR GP Federation mission is “To
champion through GPs and their practices, investment
and delivery healthcare services at scale for patients
across East Leicestershire and Rutland”.
The ELR GP Federation is already beginning to
support locality members practices with regards to
changing the way care is delivered and the
infrastructure that supports this through:

ELR

Federation to develop as
lead for key work streams
and £1.00 per patient to
create investment 'pot'
for practices to develop
primary care at scale
initiatives

£6 per patient
discretionary spend
investment into complex
patient management,
incorporating risk
stratification and complex
patient management via
an Integrated Teams
approach to care
delivery.

GP Programme Board—the ELR GP Federation are
an active part of the Board who are now taking on
delivery of GP Five Year Forward View.

ELR CCG
ELR GPs

Supporting sustainability and resilience in General
Practice.

Focussing of primary care MDT capacity
to maximise impact
Practices achieving their case mix adjusted spend
From April 17

Improved outcomes for care home
patients and target populations

From Jan 17

Increase in practices resilience

KPIs agreed between partner practices and care homes
Roll out of transformational programmes

Identifying and tackling unwarranted variation by the
use of risk stratification.

Heart Failure/Atrial Fibrillation: Management of BP in stroke patients
of >150/90

Supporting practices to improve the model in which
they deliver care to nursing homes within sub-locality
teams.

Throughout 2017/18

Development of practices individually within sublocality teams whilst still retaining practice identity.

Throughout 2017/18

Throughout 2017/18

Multi-functioning, MDT working across
primary care
Sustainable and high quality practices

End of Life :Increase/maintenance in practice palliative care registers
(1%) and 100% of Care management plans completed for EOL
patients in Care Homes.

Integration of new roles within practices, contributing
to the development of a primary care MDT.
Practice Contract and Quality Reviews and
Appraisals completed with achievable action plans
implemented.
Collective Level Actions
Federation driven actions, supporting primary care
delivery at scale
Delivery of primary care transformation strategy,
linked to primary care discretionary spend

ELR CCG
ELR GP
Federation

Achievements of clinical and quality
indicators
From April 18
From Jan 17

2017/18

Facilitation of a ELR GP Federation Teaching
Academy

From April 18

Aiding the recruitment and retention and the
development of new roles i.e. pharmacists in general
practice

2017/18 & 2018/19

Federation led coordination of 7 day extended
primary care and urgent primary care services
Federated approach to project delivery, enabling an
ELR-wide response to presenting challenges and
opportunities.

2017/18 & 2018/19

Delivery of plan
Delivery of Primary Care Workforce Strategy

Delivery of the Primary Care Workforce
Strategy (see workforce section)
Delivery of the Primary Care Workforce
Strategy (see workforce section)
Multi-functioning, MDT working across
primary care

Roll out of transformational workforce programme

Procurement and mobilisation of new Integrated Service contracts
Delivery of Federation Business Plan

Federation led Integrated Community
services
Federation led approach to core service
delivery

89

Integrated Locality Teams - support practices in the
Development of the ‘leadership teams’ in the four ELR
localities (B&L, Melton/Syston, Market Harborough,
Leicestershire County
O&W) to work towards developing ‘wrap around
Better Care Fund (BCF)
community services’.
£3.3m for 2017/18 and
2018/19
Primary Care Home—The Rutland Locality has been
successful in its bid and is a key opportunity for
developing new models of working. Learning
will be shared across the CCGs as we develop
integrated locality teams.

Individual Practice Level Actions

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

LC CCG

Practice level data
completed in March
2017. Replace
current system of
reporting by June
2017.

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

Practices actively engaged with the use of
the data to improve the quality of services
provided

Practices achieving their case mix adjusted expected level of secondary
care spend

GPFV - Model of Care - LC
Deliver the model for Our developing CCG Primary Care Strategy (2016/17) has
been co-produced with our member practices, patients, the
general practice
public and our stakeholders. This plan helps to set out our
across LLR
future vision for primary care, detailing how we will meet the
requirements placed on primary care in the coming years.
This includes working with our 3 City Federations, our
workforce development plans and our estates strategy.

LC

Interlinked to this, is our Better Care Fund plan, which sets
out the Leicester City model of care for pre- and posthospital health and social care services. Pilot schemes,
developed by front line staff inc. GP's, practice staff, social
care and provider partners , have been in place since 2015.
These cover services such as enhanced access to General
Practice for our most vulnerable and high risk patients,
proactive case management of high risk care home patients
and 2 hour health and social care response services to
prevent both avoidable admissions into hospital and
facilitate early discharge for our patients with community
support where required.

Planning for Integrated Care Individual practice level actions
scheme (PIC GP): £1.2m
(17/18)
Identify and tackle unwarranted variation using the ACG
system, based on observed vs. expected case mix
BCF: £4.4m (17/18-18/19) adjusted secondary care spend at practice level
Continue to focus on the Leicester City 'Quality,
engagement and delivery in General Practice' programme,
driving up the quality of general practice by working with
each practice individually.

In place for 17/18

Ongoing through
17/18

Support the development of roles across General Practice,
from enhanced HCA services to clinical pharmacists to GP
fellowships in pre-hospital healthcare.
Actions at a collective level
Support our practices to work more closely together as
collectives.

KPI's agreed at practice level based on agreed plan of action
Practices actively engaged with and enacting
the plans agreed through the QED
Increase in the variety of roles at practice level by staff group
programme

LC CCG

Successful applications to NHSE for the
Clinical pharmacy bids in Wave 1, with 8
appointments made and Wave 2 we have
two bids from two GP federations. GP
fellowship applications and related training
programmes.

In place and ongoing Attendance at workshops and listening
event.
Jan 2017 to be
completed by June
Member practices and Federations actively
2017
engaged in delivery of integrated teams.

100% Engagement from practices by year end.

Actively lead and facilitate the identification of
opportunities for collaborative working.

90

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Federation QIPP 17/18.
WLCCG Integrated Urgent
Care service 3.7 million
.Practice Appraisals 40k.

Individual Practice Level actions:

WLCCG

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

April2017

Federations actively engage with member
practices and QIPP requirements achieved

Achievement as per Federation QIPP:

Set 2017

100% of 2 Week Wait referrals on PRISM
Reduce Demand in secondary care for both
out patients and emergency admissions and 100% usage of all available PRISM pathways
reduction in prescribing spend
100% use of eReferrals by end of March 2018
Practice Appraisals completed and action
plans developed and implemented.
Increase usage of Advice & Guidance and Consultant Connect (or
equivalent)
Federations application successful through
the NHSE bidding process ,CCG Medicines 100% of appraisals completed
Management team rerstructured to align with
federations
Objectives of learning event achieved with tangible patient benefits identified

GPFV - Model of Care - WL
Deliver the model for Primary Medical Care Plan 2014 and Community
general practice
Services Plan 2015 co-designed with member
practices,patients and the public in 2014.Good progress re:
across LLR
implementation of both plans via the Integrated Primary and
Community Services Programme Board.Work to date
includes:establishmnet of 4 legally constituted federations in
2014 supported by development funding from the CCG to
assist with the developement of the leadership team and
OD;Federations have led on a number of test beds to
develop an integrtaed approach to care homes,urgent care
and interpractice referrals:3 Integrated Locality leadership
teams established Dec 16 with 90 day plans in
place;succesful procurement of WLCCG Integrated Urgent
Care service,mobilsation commenced with contract start
date 1/4/17.

Identify and tackle unwarranted variation through the
implementation of the Federation QIPP scheme.

Submitted Feb 2017
Expand interpractice referral to reduce secondary care
demand

Quarterly learning
time events

BCF: £4,3 m (17/18-18/19) Continue rolling programme of practice appraisals based
on quality and sustainability
Actively support the development of new roles across
General Practice, onto mission of the Federation Clinical
Pharmacy Bid.

Learning events scheduled with postive
feeedback

Deliver general practice upskilling programmes

WL

The WLCCG Better Care fund has key elements within it
that supports health and social care needs for people pre
and post hospital. Programmes of work have been
developed between general practice, community health
providers and social care partners over the past two years
to enable this support for pre and post hospital care. These
services reflect the needs of the most vulnerable risk
stratified population group in the CCG. These include
proactive care, local urgent health and social care provision
that can be accessed within a two hour response time to
reduce the risk of an avoidable hospital admission, support
people to die in their preferred place of death, as well as
facilitating early discharge from an acute hospital setting.

April 2017

Federation QIPP fully implemented

Achievements as per Federation QIPP:

Implement WLCCG Federation QIPP

Monthly

Prescribing and Non Elective Admissions - Achievement below baseline
plus 4% rewarded in increments of 0.1%

Actively engage with the federation through federation
locality meetings, the CCG wide federation meeting and
federation managers meetings

Commence June
2017

Practice level membership subscription to
the federations achieved supporting
federation sustainability

At a collective level:

WLCCG

Meetings held as per plan

100% practice representation at events , monthly federation meetings
achieved with minutes and action plan

Instigate quarterly contract meetings for federation QIPP.

Contract monitoring in place

Achieve contractual compliance

Extend the federation led employment of staff to address
short term capacity issues at practice level.

Clear allignment of incentives and plans of
the CCG,federations and practices.

Full coverage of the federation support scheme

As a result of the federation support scheme
no practice in WLCCG fails

91

Schemes

Key deliverables

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Out of Hours
Home and base visiting at night (8pm – 8am)
2 extended access base visiting hubs (weekend days)
(10am – 4pm) and one weekend days (9am – 8pm) and
weekday evenings until midnight)

Urgent Care Home Visiting
(UCHV) - £2.2M from April
2017

Re-procurement of UCHV for 1 April 2017

ELR CCG

April 17

Extended Hours DES
Currently delivered via 29 out of 31 CCG practices
Offers in early mornings (before 8am), evenings (after
6.30pm) and Saturday mornings
GP and nurse appointments offered
Bookable access managed directly by providing practice 165 hours per week

Urgent Care Integrated
Community Service - £1.9M
+ up to 600K Extended
Hours DES and £600k
Minor injuries service
combined

Baseline Position

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

Timely commencement of both new
contracts (1.4.17 and 1.4.18)

Percentage of patients who have had appointment booked by NHS 111
leave the UCC or do not attend their booked appointment without seeing a
clinician - target <5%

GPFV - Improving Access- ELR
GP5YFV - Extended
Hours Access &
Integration with
Primary Care

Extended primary
care access - £3.34 per
Extended Primary Care
patient investment from
Minor Injuries Community Based Service (CBS); currently
delivered by 31 out of 31 CCG practices and offers a walk-in April 2018, rising to £6.00
minor injuries service at GP practices in core GP hours and per patient from April 2019
to deliver MDT extended 7
in 2 community hospitals with X-ray available
day primary care service
Acute home visting service, weekdays (9am - 4pm);
referrals by GPs and care homes

ELR

Extended Urgent Primary Care
3 hubs, 5pm – 9pm weekdays and 9am – 7pm weekends
1 hubs, 8am – 9pm weekdays and 8am – 8pm weekends
Access via walk-in or booked via 111
Provides 407 hours per week extended access

Mobilisation of UCHV serivce from Dec 2016 to 01.04.17

March 17

Review of Urgent Care and Extended Primary care
demand and patient behaviour study with Public Health

July 17

Complete and agree ELR service specification for
extended primary care by 01.07.17

December 17

Complete procurement process for ELR extended primary
care access by 01.12.17
Mobilisation of ELR extended primary care service by
01.04.17

April 18

Offer a minimum of 247 hours per week of
out of hours primary care capacity to the
patients of ELR (45 minutes per 1000
population)

Percentage of patients who walk into the UCC leave the UCC or do not
attend their booked appointment without seeing a clinician - target <5%

Percentage complete any treatment and discharge or refer the patient within
Offer a service from 8am until at least 8pm
2 hours of them arriving in the centre - target 95%
(Monday to Friday), but services open 7 days
per week
Percentage of available shifts have a Clinical Staff on duty - target 100%
Offer a bookable routine access
weekend/evening service for ELR patients
based on clinical need

Percentage of patients sent on to Acute site for addiitonal care / admission target < 10%

Percentage of practices offering 7 day on the day and bookable
Offer a walk-in service for acutely presenting appointments - 100%
patients
Percentage of patients not requiring urgent care redirection to an
Offer a fast-access service to protect primary appropriate setting - target TBC with developement of UHL front door model
care capacity to manage the most complex of care
patients
Be able to report in real time, appointment
availability, use and activity
Fully integrated Community Based Urgent
Care service for ELR patients

92

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

Timely commencement of new contract on
1st October 2017

80% minimum average weekly utilisation per hub

April 17

GPFV - Improving Access - LC
GP5YFW - Extended Extended Urgent Primary Care Hubs
2 hubs, 6.30pm – 10pm weekdays and 12pm – 8pm
Hours Access &
weekends and bank holidays
Integration with
Primary Care
1 hub, 8am – 8pm 7 days a week
208 face to face 15 minutes per week
197 additional out of hours provision each week per 1000
patients
105 additional in-hours provision each week per 1000
patients

Urgent Primary Care Hubs: Extended Urgent Primary Care Hubs
LC CCG
£2.4m from 1st April
Mobilise existing hubs under APMS contract
(funded from NHS E GP
commissioned by CCG
Access Fund - £6 per head)
Complete and agree service specification for extended
Home visiting and CRT:
primary care hubs, including pathways for ambulatory
£1.4m for 2016/17 and
services
£1.4m for 2017/18.
Commence procurement of extended primary care hubs
Extended hours CBS:
£336k from 1st April 2017
Completion of procurement of extended primary care hubs
and award of contracts
Extended hours DES:
£580k from 1st April 2017
Mobilisation of extended primary care hubs

March 17

April 17

Minimum 80% of GP rotas to be filled with Leicester City Principal or
Offer a minimum of 185 hours per week of
salaried GPs
additional out-of-hours primary care capacity
to patients in Leicester
100% of GP and nurse rotas to be filled
Offer a minimum of 105 hours per week of
additional in-hours primary care capacity to
patients in Leicester

July 17

October 17

Offer a service until at least 10pm (Monday
to Friday), but services open 7 days per
week

Access via GP referral, walk-in or booked via 111
Extended Primary Care
Home visiting at night (6.30pm – 8am)

CCG Quality Contract:
£194k in 2016/17

Offer pre-bookable routine access evening
and weekend service for Leicester patients
based on clinical need

Offers in early mornings (before 8am), evenings (after
6.30pm) and Saturday mornings
GP and nurse face to face and telephone appointments
offered

LC

Pre bookable access managed directly by providing practice

5% Reduction in the number of LC CCG patients accessing the DHU OOH
Service
10% Reduction in the number of LC CCG patients accessing the LRI UCC
Service
10% Reduction in the number of LC CCG patients accessing the LRI ED
Service.

Offer a walk-in service for acutely presenting 95% patients accessing service to have a booked appointment within 48
patients
hours in accordance with SAT GP criteria.

Clinical Response Team home visiting weekends 8am-8pm
Extended Hours CBS
Currently delivered by 42 out of 59 CCG practices

<10% of patients visiting an EHPC Hub to visit ED or a UCC within 24hours
of Hub consultation based on availability of SUS data

LC CCG
Out of hours
Reprocurement of CRT service as part of the 24 hour LLR
in-home visiting service

April 17

Service successfully procured and mobilised % of patients visited within 2 hours
% of admissions avoided

Mobilisation of CRT service as part of the 24 hour LLR inhome visiting service
In Hours
Develop CCG quality contract to replace current CBS
portfolio

% of emergency department attendances avoided

LC CCG

October 17

GP Qulaity contract designed and
implemented in partnership with member
practices

100% of practices signed up to deliver practice level Quality Contract
100% of practices signed up to deliver HNN level Quality Contract

Minimum 4 appointments per hour

Offers in early mornings (before 8am), evenings (after
6.30pm) and Saturday mornings
GP and nurse face to face and telephone appointments
offered
Pre bookable access managed directly by providing practice
In Hours
Quality Contract: 29 of 59 practices offering minimum 90
GP clinical appointments per 1000 population per week
Thursday afternoon opening mandatory
Clinical Response Team home visiting service 8am - 8pm ,
seven days per week
GP Online
10% of patients registered for online services

93

Extended Hours DES
Currently delivered by 6 out of 59 CCG practices

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

WLCCG

April 17

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

WLCCG Integrated Urgent Care Service
mobilised effectively and contract
commences to plan.

% adult patients clinically triaged within 20 minutes of arrival and children
within 15 minutes of arrival

GPFV - Improving Access - WL
GP5YFW - Extended
Hours Access &
Integration with
Primary Care

Directed Enhanced Service (DES)
Currently delivered via 21 out of 48 CCG practices
Offers appoinments early morning (bfore 8am), evenings
(after 6.30pm) and Saturday mornings
GP and Nurse appointments offered
Bookable access managed directly by providing practice

WLCCG Integrated Urgent Mobilise the WLCCG Integrated Urgent Care Service
Care £3.7m from April 2017 Establish mobilisation checkpoint meetings
WLCCG Home Visiting
Services £2.6m from April
2017

Implement communication and engagement plan
Achieve contract commencement

Weekly to January March 17, Monthly to
September 2017
January - March 17

Extended Primary Care
Minor Injuries Community Based Service (CBS); currently
delivered by 48 out of 48 CCG practices and offers a walk-in
minor injuries service at GP practices in core GP hours
Acute home visting service, weekdays (9am - 5pm);
referrals by GPs and care homes
Acute home visiting service, weekends and on bank
holidays (8am - 7pm); referrals by GPs, care homes and
patient 'passport

Extended Opening Hours
DES £710k (maximum
based on 100% sign up)
from April 2017

Establish monthly contract meetings.

April 17

Urgent Care Centres (UCCs) and Out of Hours (OOH)
Loughborough Urgent Care Centre - 1 hub, 24 hours per
day 7 days a week; access via walk-in or bookable via 111
Hinckley & Bosworth Community Hospital - 1 out of hours
base visit hub, 7pm - 12am weekdays; pre-bookable
appointments

% patients not requiring urgent care redirection to an appropriate setting
% people with an illness who were seen, treated and discharged from the
service with no further follow up
% people with an injury who were seen, treated and discharged from the
service with no further follow up

April 17 - March 18

% people with a fracture who were seen, treated and discharged from the
service with follow up arranged with another provider

NHSE GP Access Fund
£3.24 per head of
population in 2018/19 and
£6.00 per head of
population in 2019/20.

% people with an ambulatory care sensitive condition who were seen,
treated and discharged from the service with community services follow up
% people who are onward referred to UHL; via the emergency floor,
assessment units and direct admission to a base ward.
WLCCG Integrated Urgent Care Service
Mobilise the WLCCG element of the LLR Home Visiting WLCCG (Urgent April 17
Care Contract
mobilised effectively and contract
Service
Team)
Establish mobilisation checkpoint meetings
Weekly to January - commences to plan.
March 17, Monthly to
Implement communication and engagement plan
September 2017
January - March 17
Achieve contract commencement
April 17
Establish monthly contract meetings.
April 17 - March 18

Initial referral acceptance/rejection time
Visit response time
Dispositions; see, treat and discharged, onward referral to health and social
care services and onward referral to acute care
% of patients not received treatment from the service
Number of rejected referrals including referral source and reason
Number of adverse outcomes (as per CCGs Quality & Performance
schedule)
Number of unplanned hospital admissions avoided
Consecutive review of case notes.

WL

Develop test bed for extended primary care access
Establish task group to develop extended primary care
access test bed

WLCCG

April 17
April 17

May 17

Establish scope and implement timeline for test;
Agree model to test
Agree date, time & location for the test
Agree minimum data set (MDS) requirements for
recording observations of the test
Agree success measures

June - July 17

To be developed as part of the test bed - but ensuring core requirements of
GPFV Extended Access are met; weekday provision of access to prebookable and sameday appointments to general practice services in
Service specification and contract developed evenings (after 6.30pm) - to provide an additional 1.5 hours per day
for implementation in April 2018 as planned. weekend provision of access to pre-bookable and sameday appointments
on both Saturday's and Sunday's to meet local population needs provide
robust evidence, based on utilisation rates, for the proposed disposition of
services throughout the week appointments may be provided on a hub basis
with practices working at scale a minimum of an additional 30 minutes
consultation capacity per 1000 population, rising to 45 minutes per 100
population.

Implement test bed model for agreed period
September - October
17

Evaluate test bed outcomes

November 17

Workforce review - identifying skill mix and training
requirements
Develop model for implementation in 2018/19

November December 17

Service commencement

April 18

Mid-year review of initial phase.

September 18

Offer Extended Opening Hours DES to practices
Offer DES to practices in March 2017

WLCCG

April 17

WLCCG practices signed up to deliver the
Extended Opening Hours DES.

Trajectory - 44% of WLCCG practices signed up as a minimum.

March 17
Practices signed up to deliver service by end March 2017;
including plan approved by CCG

March 17

DES service provision commences 1st April 2017

April 17

Practices to submit quarterly activity data to CCG for
review.

Quarterly 2017/18

Submission of quarterly activity data to fulfill DES requirements

Practices successfully promote and publicise
availability of extended hours to maximise
patient uptake.
Appointments provided at times and in a
manner in line with patient expressed
preferences; e.g. early mornings, evenings,
Saturday mornings and through face to face
and telephone consultation appointments.

94

Agree key clinical and admin team members to participate
in the test

Test bed developed, implemented and
evaluated

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

TCSIG

May 17

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GPFV - Workload - LLR
Transfering Care
Safely

In LLR a Transfering Care Safely Interface Group had
been established to identify and influence how we can
transfer safely. The group is clinically led and includes
representation from primary and secondary care with
a clear focus on improving the patient journey and
ensuring work is done in the right place at the right
time.

Finalise terms of reference for the Transfering Care
Safely Interface Group.
Finalise guidebook for GPs and secondary care.

June 17

Agree communication and engagement plan.
June 17

Primary and secondary care engaged
Full rollout across LLR
and actively working together to improve
the patient journey.
Number of Primary and Secondary Care clinicians using the
guidebook.
Guidebook developed and implemented
effectively across Primary and
Secondary Care.

Establish GP liaison line ( telephone and online)
July 17
Review and implement new legal requirements in the
NHS Standard Contract for hospitals.
Initiatives to reduce The number of face to face consultations grew by 13%
demand on general and telephone consultations by 63% between 2010/11
practice
and 2014/15.
Over a twenty year period the average GP
consultation has lengthened by 50% from 8- 12 mins

Ensure effective implementation of national initiatives GP5FV
Ongoing
(when agreed) to reduce demand on general practice Implementation
such as streamlining reporting requirements and
Group
potential changes to QOF.
GP Prorgamme Board to review and agree
prevention and self managment approach.

Average consultations among the over 75s have
increased by over 50% from 7.9 in 2000 to 12.4 in
2015.

GP
Programme
Board

Changes to NHS Standard Contract for
hospitals implemented and monitored.

Number of changes made targeted at
reducing workload of General Practice

GP 5 Year Forward View Implementation Group to review and make
recommendations to GPPB on national actions launched.

Number of practices reporting time freed
up by changes made

July 17
STP/GPPB agreeing approach to
prevention and self management

Between 2010/11 and 2014/15 GP workforce grew by
4.75% and practice nurse workforce by 2.85%
Over the same period funding for primary care as a
share of NHS overall budget fell every year from 8.3%
to just over 7.9%.

LLR

General Practice
28 practices across LLR currently participating in the
Development
PGP programme
Programme Productive General
Practice
General Practice
Development
ProgrammeImprovement
Leaders
Programme

General Practice
Development
Programme - Ten
High Impact Actions

High Impact Action event held on 09.02.17 in
partnership with NHS England sustainable
improvement team.

95

The pressures on general practice are compounded
by increasing demand and patient expectation driven
in part by our aging population and increasing
numbers of people with complex conditions. Medical
advances and developments in preventative
healthcare have also led to a considerable increase in
the number of activities carried out in general practice.

NHS England
Work with the external provider to evaluate
Sustainable Improvement participation in wave 1.
Team (central funding)
Share outcomes of wave 1 and subject to national
funding recruit practices for wave 2
Confirm commitment from NHS England to run 3
fundamentals of Quality Improvement training
programme in 2017/18.
Scope feasibiity of providing a contribution on backfill
funding.
Promote to all primary medical care health care
teams and recruit minimum of 15 practices per
programme.
Evaluation of showcase event.

GP5FV
April 17
Implementation
Group
May - June 17

Number of practices reporting positive
outcomes following participation in the
programme.

20% of practices completing wave 1, further 10% practices identifed
and completing wave 2

Key learning outcomes shared across
LLR.
GP5FV
April 17
Implementation
Group

Initial cohort of primary care staff with
increased knowledge and confidence to
implement quality Improvement
Initiatives.

Fundamentals of Quality Improvement Training Programmes
completed in 2017/18 with a total of 50 people completing the
programme.

April 17
Quality Improvement leaders identifed
across the LRR system.
May 17

GP5FV
February 17
Implementation
Collation of expresssions of interest in rolling out ten Group
April 17
high impact actions.
Agree with NHS England structure and content of
offer to practices.

March 17

Suggested approach collaborative learning in action
programme for 15 - 25 practices, targeting HIAs 1)
active signposting & 8) Social prescribing.

May 17

Primary health care teams attendeding Run Collaborative Learning in Action Programme targeting HIA 1 & 8
the HIA programme reporting improved during 2017/18 targeting 25 practices and 30 individuals.
signposting and links to support services
outside primary care.

Key learning outcomes agreed across
LLR.

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

General Practice
Resilience Programme February 2017
investment for cohorrt 1
to be confirmed my NHS
England

Review implementation and effectiveness of the
support offered to practices in cohort 1.

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GPFV - Workload - LLR (Ctd.)
GP5YFW Workload

LLR

Practices indentified and receiving support.

GP5FV
May 17
Implementation
Group
Identification of practices for cohort 2 based on CCG
April 17
local knowledge and triangulation of the data.
Review / selection of practices - review conducted by
NHS England and CCGs, practices notified of the
outcome.

Practices prevented from reaching crisis 10 practices supported in cohort 1. Practices on reserve list provided
through identification and ongoing
ongoing support from the CCG.
support.
Successful implementation of support to practices identified in cohort
1.
Identification of practices and implementation in cohort 2.

May 17

Rollout of cohort 2
May 17

96

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Since 2015 over £1m of non
-recurrent funding has been
awarded by HEEM for
succesful bids for training
and education

Produce a comprehensive baseline of current workforce
numbers and skill mix in general practice.

LLR Workforce
Group/ LWAB

August 2017

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

Continue through the STP and GP
Workforce Groups to maximise funding for
LLR training hubs. Dynamic and responsive
programme co-ordinated and held to account
through the Local Workforce Action Board.

Maximise the national opportunities for staffing through the GP5YFV
programme for addtinal GPs, PAs, Pharmacists and Mental health workers

Actively utilising the three training hubs,
support undergraduate medical,nursing and
pharmacy training and GP training at a
federated level to promote our practices as
positive places to work to aid recruitment
and
retention.

Locum Chambers to be set up across LLR or through Federations to enable
flex of staff when practices require clinical support

Continue to fund hubs to increase training
placements across LLR

Increase the number of Partner and Salaried GPs in the workforce

GP5YFV - Workforce - LLR
To Deliver the
workforce
for a sustainable
General Practice and
enable new models of
care

In January 2015, the LLR General Practice Workforce
Delivery Group (LLR GP WDG) was established.
The Delivery Group reports formally to the LWAB providing
monthly updates of progress against the work plan. The
group also acts as a conduit for
information exchange with the Health Education England
(HEE) Regional Primary Medical Services Steering Group
Each CCG in LLR has a Training Hub, set up from 2015. In
combination these are instrumental in helping to train
theworkforce of the future. Their vision is to provide an
educational environment that fosters interprofessionallearning between students of different
disciplines and deliver enhanced networks of personalised
care.

LLR

£300k for GP training
pooled across CCGs
Central funding for
undergraduate and post
graduate schemes.
Urgent Home Visiting
Contract for 24/7 service
£7.3m PA

Local picture of shortage of GPs compounded by
Pharmacists in General
substantial difficulties with recruitment, both of qualified GPs Practice £650k PA recurrent
and GP trainees, with local training places unfilled.
for ELR. City and West
CCGs through national
Number of GPs , nurse and other health professionals per programme
1000 patients differs across LLR with real risks of retirement
and inequity of access for patients
Care Navigators £475k over
4 years
There are examples of ECPs commissioned to provide
home visiting services and pharmacists in General Practice
through the NAtional scheme and locally funded through
PMS monies, it is still not common place across LLR for
other that Doctors, nurses or HCAs to be employed

Map the existing programmes of training education and
development for all staff groups within General Practice in
LLR, identyfing gaps and risks.

August 2017

Map the future workforce needs inline with the proposed
new models of care in general practice.

October 2017

Create an implementation plan that will link this to the
General Practice and Integrated Team SRP workstreams
to deliver sustainable solutions.
Increase the number and skill set of new workforce e.g.
ECPs, Pharmacists delivbering care in LLR
Fund the Practice Manager academy to support this
important group to enable change in General Practice
Actively utilising the three training hubs, support
undergraduate medical,nursing and pharmacy training and
GP training at a federated level to promote our practices
as positive places to work to aid recruitment and retention.

October 2017

2017 Onwards

June 2017

Ongoing

Supporting the existing primary care
workforce to improve recruitment and
retention
Identify new capabilities, competencies,
skills and behaviours required to make an
enhanced primary care offer.
Programme to ensure retention of trainees
and increase of clinical staff to choose LLR
as a place to work

In collaboration with NHSE,utilise the National GP refreseher and retainer
schemes and actively recruit Internationally

Increase the number of GP trainees who remain in LLR after scheme
completion
Reduce number of Locum doctors in the system

Programme of upskilling nuses and HCAs to enable every practice to retain
staff and enable GPs to be released to focus on Complex patients
Pharmacists in the primary care workforce supporting every practice directly employed or through Federations
Other health professionals such as PAs and ECPs employed across all
localities in LLR to bolster the GP workforce
Training programmes for nurses in place to support autonomous working

Understand through the HEEM/ WFP study
the exact future needs for a sustainable new
model

97

Analysis of how patients are streamed
through new clinical modles and the
most appropriate clinical skill mix to deliver.
The whole systems partnership are working
with practices from all three LLR CCGs to
support the workforce implications of new
models of care.

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

Apr-17

Build completed in line with NHS Enlgand
expectations.

Scheme progressing and completed on time in line within financial
allocation.

On-going

Completion of schemes supported through
ETTF.

Build completed by April 19.

GPFV - Infrastructure - LLR
Investment in primary
care premises both in
terms of bringing
existing primary
medical facilities up to
date, addressing the
growth in the number
of new homes and
associated population
and in ensuring there
are appropriate
facilities to support
transformation across
the health care
system

The LLR PCTs and CCGs have undertaken a number of
estates reviews over the last few years that have provided
the information required to support the overall Estates
Strategy.

Funding of up to £7m
WLCCG
ETTF Cohort 1 - Business case approved (18.11.16)
capital for 11 projects which
will be delivered over the
Completion and ongoing due diligence to ensure value for
next 4 years.
money and adherence to required timescale.
Revenue consequences to
Estate condition survey information was used to support the be met by the CCGs upon
decision making for investment using the national Estates
completion of the projects to
and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) process.
include an abatement to
reflect the capital
The geographical size and rurality in the county is very
contribution made by NHS
different to that of Leicester City CCG and as such impacts England.
on the current and future model of care. Across WLCCG
LLR CCGs
ETTF Cohort 2
and ELRCCG there are 9 community hospitals providing a
mixture of inpatient beds, community nursing and therapy
services and elective care outpatient appointments,
diagnostiic investigations and treatments. These facilities
are very variable in terms of the quality of the estate
condition, but many are under-utilised, often have small
isolated wards which cause sustainability issues, and are
often not fit for 21st century health care delivery.

Work with NHS England to support development of the
business case for the 10 schemes in cohort 2.

A number of premises improvement
schemes approved outside of ETTF capital
investment.

Review and approval of the business case by PCCC

April - October 2017

Due diligence to ensure value for money and adherance to
required timescales.

October 2017

ETTF Cohort 3

Ongoing

National alternative funding to be identified.

Ongoing

Increase investment in primary care estate
Review forward plan trajectories for population growth and new housing
through outside funding mechanisms e.g.
developments to proactively plan for primary health care estate.
s106.
Primary care capacity not adversely affected
by new housing developments.

Work with scheme identified as cohort 3 to review funding
options.

LLR

Maximise use of S106
Continue to support practices not successful through
funding, ensuring approved ETTF where relevent accessing S106.
funding supports local
priorities and the CCG
continues to access new
funding relating to housing
growth.

98

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GPFV - IM&T- LLR
Interoperability and Record Sharing
Integrating and improving data flows,
ways of working, standardised codes,
protocols and flags in as many systems
as the integration technology allows. Care
professionals and carers access to all
data, information and knowledge they
need through real time system
integration.

MIG V.1 with 10 Summary screens currently
in place and used across scheduled care
clinical setting.
100% ISAs signed and activated across LLR.

LLR

LLR STP GP
IM&T Group

Process map EPaCCS current and future processes
£420k (ETTF 16/17 funding) across LLR
Develop data entry templates for Systmone and Emis Web

100% EDSM practice activation across LLR.

SCR v2.1 Rollout period

100% SCR V.1 practice activation across
LLR.

MIG V.2.1 data set development commissioned
MIG V.2.1 rollout
ISA refresh and update
Wider rollout to Health and Social Care Organisations

Focus on the following:
• TPP SystmOne
• Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG)
Solution
• Summary Care Record (SCR)

System Integration and joint working
hubs
Sharing of clinical information
electronically. Focus around Health care
hub (Hub and Spoke Type Working)
providing LLR 7 day services led by a
number GP federations supporting
collaborative working and also wider
provider partners across LLR footprint
involved in clinical workstream redesign.
Continue supporting practices to migrate
as part of the local transition towards a
footprint wide clinical system estate
towards a single interoperable platform in
line with GPSoC.

Define Minimum data set for SystmOne and EMISWeb

Funding to be sourced

Current 4 clinical hubs in the LCCCG
operating on SystemOne community
modules.

Single system platform for all LLR hubs
Interoperability of clinical systems through API
developments.

Jan-18

Dec-16 Electronic Care data set available to care
professionals in the following areas:
Jan-17 Children
Dementia
Feb-17 Frailty
Cancer
Mar-17 LTCs
Planned Care
Apr-17 Mental Health
Jul-18
Mar-17 Extended rollout of MIG - LLR Adult Social
Mar-18 Care, LOROS, LPT and Integrated Point of
Access.

March 2017 full rollout to all LLR practices.

Mar-20 Common electronic platform approach in
place for all LLR hubs.

Year Two 4 clinical system hubs.
Year Three 3 clinical system hubs.

March 2018 extended access to core clinical dataset from Primary Care
Electronic Records.

£522k (ETTF 16/17 funding)
Baseline as at Feb 2017.
WLCCG Clinical Systems: 30 SystmOne / 18
EMISWeb
ELRCCG Clinical Systems: 20 SystmOne / 13
EMISWeb
LCCCG Clinical Systems: 58 SystmOne / 1
EMISWeb

LLR CCG demographic areas to move to a single
interoperable platform.

Mar-20

100% of LLR GP practices effectively using a Year One 18 Proposed clinical system changes
chosen single platform
Year Two 20 Proposed clinical system changes
Year Three 7 Proposed clinical system changes

99

Number of practices migrated from EMIS
WEB to SystmOne in 16/17 = 12
Technology Enabled Patient Self
Management
Consistent remote device technology
rollout across LLR underpinned by
supporting GP practices and Patients
through robust LLR wide business
change in order to enhance patient
choice in how they access primary care
services.Improve the outcomes for the
local patient population by enhancing the
practice offering through the use of a
locally tailored and effective technology
solution through deployment of electronic
health monitoring devices to high risk
patient cohorts and associated mobile
phone health applications to enable
patients to take control of their conditions.

Experience of electronic self-management
Funding to be sourced
technology in relation to blood pressure
monitoring through undertaking a pilot project
in 2014 / 15 using the Flo Telehealth system.

Early technology feasibility investigation

Mar-18 Targeted cohorts of patient able to undertake Year Two All LLR practices have 25 self management devices.
Level 1 Diagnosis and Self-Management in
the community.
Year Three Open API standards defined and in use with clinical
Jul-18
systems
Mar-19

Planning and Design with GP's and Patients
Deployment of electronic monitoring devices to LLR
practices
Patient Access

Aug-19

Automated data transfer from device to clinical systems.

Dec-19

Introduction of 3rd party apps via Open API's

Mar-20

Schemes

Key deliverables

Baseline Position

Investment (Inc. Dates)

Action/Milestone

Action Owner
(organisation)

Milestone Delivery
Date

Success Measure

KPIs/Plan trajectory

GPFV - IM&T- LLR (Ctd.)
Key digital services are 100% enabled and
GPIT Funding
Systems Optimisation
National Systems - Increase utilisation of activated across all LLR practices. Baselines Capital and Revenue
as at Dec 2016.
all national systems that have been
activated locally.
WLCCG Practice Utilisation
GP Online 10% usage: 34
Practices using EPS : 47
Practices over 80% ERP: 36
GP2GP % activity: Requesting = 88% ,
Sending = 95% , Integrating = 67%.
ERD Over 25% - % activity: 7%

GP online increase patient utilisation
EPS /ERP
GP2GP
ERD

LLR STP GP
IM&T Group

Mar-18 CCG aggregate utilisation at GMS levels or LLR CCG's GP Online aggregate 20% registered patient usage
achieved by March 2018.
Mar-18 above.
Mar-18
Each CCG practice utilising at GMS levels or
Mar-18
above.
EPS - At least 80 per cent of repeat
prescriptions to be transmitted electronically
using EPS Release 2 by 31 March 2017

ELRCCG Practice Utilisation
GP Online 10% usage : 30
Practices using EPS : 25
Practices over 80% ERP: 21
GP2GP % activity: Requesting = 81% ,
Sending = 92% , Integrating = 63% .
ERD Over 25% - % activity: 3%
LCCCG Practice Utilisation
GP Online 10% usage: 36
Practices using EPS : 59
Practices over 80% ERP: 34
GP2GP % activity: Requesting = 73% ,
Sending = 83% , Integrating = 59% .
ERD Over 25% - % activity: 3%
Baselines as at Dec 2016.
WLCCG
ERS utilisation 55%
ELRCCG
ERS utilisation 66%
LCCCG
ERS utilisation 64%

LLR

GP5YFV/GPIT compliance and service
provision locally in line with and
operational with national mandates.

GPIT Funding
Capital and Revenue

ERS

Mar-18 Reduction in fax based referrals

Wi Fi: Federated Wi Fi coverage available
across LLR providers Inc. Social Care and
Care Home Providers.

Sep-16 Local provision is in compliance with
Mar-18 specified activity outlined within the Securing
Jun-16 Excellence GPIT operating model 2016/18.
Jul-17
Greater agile working in General Practice
Jul-17
enabled through access to mobile devices
through RRP

Year One Access to compatible mobile devices at next refresh.
Testing completing April 17

Year One Engagement with supplier and practices complete
Year Two Practice sign up to initiative
Year Three rollout complete

Increased local resilience in Cyber Security.
Data Quality: LCCCGhave a portion 'in-house'
and an element within SLA with providers.
ELRCCG within SLA with providers and
elements also included as an addendum.
WLCCG current provision is lacking and
requires bolt on within SLA with providers.

Enhanced patient experience and access to
General Practice.

RRP: In line with contractual requirements for
the GPIT operating framework 14/16.

Local systems developed and optimised
to ensure fully maximised operationally
capabilities are in place.

InterpreterNow BSL electronic access pilot in General Practice
the City. Provides instant video remote
Development Programme
access to an interpreter.

Electronic Consultations Feasibility
Full rollout across LLR

Electronic clinical referral pathway system in
place for clinicians only.

PRISM Pathway additions
SNOMED transition
Targeted Risk Stratification
e-workflow development
Development of flags and alerts
Optimised Templates
Greater mobile and agile working
Advanced telephony systems

BI tool and ACG system used to support and
plan service delivery to identify high risk
patients. Currently takes into account NHS
data only.

Funding to be sourced

Mar-18
Mar-20

Increased pathways accessible via PRISM to Year One SNOMED coding in place within local clinical systems of
improve quality of referrals.
choice.

Mar-18

Optimisation of General Practice local
systems to improve practice efficiency and
quality of patient care.

100

Wi Fi Funding to be sourced Enhance Wi Fi provision in General Practice
via:
Electronic Messaging
The NHS Wi-Fi programme Improved data quality
Maximises Rolling Replacement Programme (RRP)
SMS: County practices: Using in line with
All others actions sourced
GPIT Funding
Implementation of Cyber Security in General Practice
local SMS guidance = 67.
LCCCGpractices: Using in line with local SMS Capital and Revenue
guidance = 59.

Year One 80% of all referrals done via ERS or alternative electronic
referrals methods.

101

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2017/18 – 2018/19
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the progress to refresh and
submit the Leicestershire Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan, including an update on the
refreshed spending plan and outcome metrics for 2017/18 and 2018/19 as at 7 th
March 2017.

Recommendation
2.

It is recommended:
a. That the BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 be approved for submission to NHS
England in line with the national timetable, and subject to the publication of the
national BCF guidance and any further amendments required;
b. That the Chief Executive of Leicestershire County Council, following consultation
with the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board be authorised to make any
amendments to the Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 – 2019/20 in the light of the
national guidance, prior to its submission to NHS England;
c. That the final Better Care Fund Plan for 2017/18 – 2019/20 be submitted to the
next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board for assurance, along with a
progress update on the process and timescale for national assurance via NHS
England.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3.

The BCF policy framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with the first
year of BCF plan delivery being 2015/16. The Cabinet in February 2014 authorised
the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the BCF Plan and plans arising from its
use.

4.

The BCF policy framework was refreshed for 2016/17 and published by NHS
England in January 2016. In January 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board received
a presentation on the progress to refresh the BCF plan for 2016/17. On 5 May 2016,
the Health and Wellbeing Board received a report confirming that the final 2016/17
BCF Plan had been approved by all partners on the Integration Executive, on behalf
of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and submitted to NHS England.

102
5.

A further report on the Leicestershire BCF was made to the Health and Wellbeing
Board in September 2016, which focused on the implications of local arrangements
for Disabled Facilities Grant allocations.

6.

The Board received a presentation and report on the work in progress to refresh the
BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 at its meeting on 5 January 2017.

Background
7.

The purpose of the BCF is to transform and improve the integration of local health
and care services, in particular to reduce the dependency on acute hospital services,
in favour of providing more integrated community based support.

8.

The strategic framework is set by BCF national policy requirements, BCF national
conditions, BCF metrics, CCG commissioning intentions, and key local authority
duties with respect to integration and the Care Act.

9.

Locally, the introduction of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR)
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) essentially reframes priorities and
financial plans across the LLR health and care economy.

10. Keeping people out of statutory and acute provision wherever possible, sustaining
adult social care within new models of care locally, ensuring there is a cohesive plan
for data integration at population and care planning levels, implementing seven day
services, improving hospital discharge and developing an infrastructure and platform
for joint commissioning remain high priorities within the integration agenda nationally
and locally.
Current Position
11. At the time of writing this report, the national BCF policy framework and technical
guidance for 2017/18 is still awaited, having been delayed since November 2016.
The National Better Care Team has reported that it anticipates the guidance will be
released by mid-March. The timetable for submission of BCF plans to NHS England
will be confirmed at the same time.
12. Ahead of the policy framework and guidance being released, the Integration
Programme Operational Group, a subgroup of the Integration Executive which has
representation from commissioners and providers across health and care, has led
the work to refresh the BCF Plan and produce a final draft of the associated spending
plan.
13. The outputs of this work were discussed in depth at a workshop of the Integration
Executive held in January, and further work undertaken during February and March
to finalise the proposed plan.
14. A draft narrative document (Appendix A) has been developed setting out how the
local BCF plan will deliver health and care integration. It provides details on the BCF
national conditions and metrics and demonstrates how these will be achieved and
measured.

103
Resource Implications
15. The BCF Spending Plan totals £43m in 2017/18, subject to confirmation of local
authority allocations in March, compared with £39.4m in 2016/17.
16. At the time of writing this report Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) minimum BCF
allocations for 2017/18 – 2018/19 have been confirmed, but local authority budgetary
allocations are expected on 8 March. It is anticipated that these will include
confirmation of the Disabled Facilities Grants allocations. The table below provides
an overview of the BCF allocations as at 7 March.

Minimum NHS Ring-fenced from
CCG Allocation (including in CCG
Operating Plans 2017-19)
CCG Additional Funding Allocation*
Total CCG Allocation

ELRCCG
WLCCG

2016/17
£000
15,559
20,477

2017/18
£000
15,832
20,844

2018/19
£000
16,129
21,240

36,036

1,195
1,367
39,238

1,195
1,367
39,931

ELRCCG
WLCCG

Disabled Facilities Grant**
3,067
3,067
3,067
LCC Disabled Facilities Grant Uplift
663
LCC Miscellaneous
315
52
53
Total BCF
39,418
43,020
43,051
*This increase is due to the inclusion of the Intensive Community Support Service (Phase
2) in the BCF pooled budget, with effect from April 2017
**currently based on 2016/17 levels
17. The BCF is operated as a pooled budget under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. The
Leicestershire BCF section 75 agreement is a rolling agreement originally approved
by the Cabinet in July 2014. Assurance will be required locally and nationally that the
BCF section 75 has been extended for a further 12 months and plans are in place,
via the Integration Executive, to undertake this work in the usual way between April
and June 2017.
18. In line with the announcements made in the 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review,
local upper tier authorities were expected to benefit from improved BCF (iBCF)
allocations from 2017/18 onwards, however the amount received per area depends
on the ability of the council to raise funding from the social care precept.
19. The County Council included a 2% social care precept in 2016/17 and budget plans
include proposals to introduce a maximum further 6% over the next three financial
years.
20. As a result Leicestershire does not receive any additional iBCF funding in 2017/18
and reduced levels in later years. It is anticipated that £5.6m of iBCF additional
funding will be available via local authority allocations in 2018/19.
21. There is considerable financial pressure on the BCF spending plan for 2017/18,
caused primarily by two key issues:-

104
a. The requirement from the two county CCGs that up to £2m of savings should be
sought in the BCF Plan in 2017/18, to support the significant financial risks
affecting NHS commissioners in 2017/18.
b. The social care capital grant being removed from the BCF in 2016/17 and
replaced with an unfunded uplift in Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocations.
22. A mitigation plan has been put into place to manage the financial pressures relating
to the 2016/17 DFG allocation. Leicestershire County Council will contribute up to
£1m in the BCF Plan for 2017/18 to resolve the DFG 2016/17 funding pressure. This
is on a non-recurrent basis, and therefore will only apply to 2017/18.
23. It should be noted that the majority of the BCF Plan is attributed to core NHS and
local authority services, with some components dating back to historic pooled budget
arrangements from 2011/12 onwards. BCF services therefore feature in existing core
commissioning NHS and local authority contracts, so where service changes are
proposed these need to be factored into activities led by CCG commissioning/
contracting leads of local authority lead commissioners.
24. Any proposed changes will need to be incorporated into contracts, and any
decommissioning/re-commissioning activities are subject to usual processes and
governance (e.g. consultation, lead times, notice periods, procurement decisions,
etc.)
BCF Spending Plan
25. As part of the refresh process, the Integration Programme Operational Group have
reviewed the existing schemes within the BCF Plan and made a number of
recommendations, which were considered at a workshop of the Integration Executive
on 19 January 2017. Further refinement of the BCF spending plan has taken
placement during February and March, with regular updates to all partners.
26. Appendix B provides a summary of the draft spending plan for 2017/18 and 2018/19
as at 7 March 2017.
27. The current BCF Plan reflects a number of BCF national conditions which affect the
overall financial position. It is expected that these conditions will continue in 2017/18.
Specific activities have been completed to locally agree arrangements for two of the
national conditions and the associated spending plan. These are set out below:a. Maintenance of Social Care Expenditure – a working session with senior
representatives from the Adults and Communities Department and CCG finance
and strategy leads was held on 1 November to review financial assumptions for
the Adult and Social Care investments within the plan. The 2017/18 BCF Plan
assumes the same level of Adult Social Care protection as in 2016/17 (£17m).
This will be reviewed following the release of the national guidance. It is expected
that the overall social care spend will need to increase at least in line with
inflation.
b. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) – it is expected that funding allocations for major
adaptations in the home will continue to be routed via the BCF to district councils
in line with current national policy. Work with District Council Chief Executives and

105
their Finance Leads, has been undertaken to forecast DFG demand across
Leicestershire to inform the positon. As a result of this, DFG allocations totalling
£2.85m have been included in the Plan from 2017/18. This will be reviewed once
the local authority allocations for 2017/18 and the national BCF guidance are
published.
28. Through the work to refresh the Leicestershire BCF plan a number of actions have
been agreed which have been added to the Integration work programme for 2017/18.
These are summarised in the table below, and have also been reflected in the
summary programme plan at Appendix C. The actions are targeted to priority areas
of service review and redesign, including where additional savings might be achieved
within the next 12 months.
Scheme
First Contact Plus

Action
Service review to be undertaken.

Carers Health and
Wellbeing Services

Following release of the national
Carers strategy, undertake a full
review of carers services in LLR,
which will include BCF funds. Report
to LLR Carers Board.
Existing case management services
in each CCG in LLR will be reviewed
as part of the Integrated Locality
Teams workstream.
Joint procurement of a community
and hospital based post-diagnostic
dementia support service (being led
by the LLR Dementia workstream) is
underway.
The medium term plan is to adopt a
county wide sustainable business
model which will be developed in
2017/18. Opportunities to integrate
AT into the County Lightbulb
Housing Service will also be
explored
A baseline review will be undertaken
within the Home First Workstream in
Q4 2016/17.
An analysis of the CCG reablement
cases undertaken between
November 2016 and February 2017
will be completed before the end of
March 17.
Commissioning intentions for the
training model for 2018/19 onwards
are required by Sept 2017.
Phase 1 – County Integrated
Discharge business case
implementation, assumed from Q4
2016/17.

Proactive Care &
Integrated Care
Teams
Dementia Services

Assistive
Technology (AT)

Home First –
Reablement
Help to Live at
Home

Health and Social
Care Protocol
Training
Integrated
Discharge

Phase 2 - Medium term plans for
further redesign of discharge

Timescales
Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18
Q1 2017/18

Lead
LCC - Public Health

Q2 – Q3
2017/18

WLCCG

Launch 1st
Oct 2017

City Council - lead
commissioners
ELRCCG
LCC ASC

2017/18

LCC – ASC
Blaby District
Council - Lightbulb
Housing Service

2017/18

Q4 2016/17

Home First
Workstream
Lead commissioner
Integration
Programme
WLCCG
ELCCG

Sept 2017

TBC

Q4 2016/17

Discharge Working
Group

LCC – ASC

106

Improving Mental
Health Discharge
Improving Quality
in Care Homes

LD Short Breaks
PI Care and Health
Trak (data
integration tool)

services to be directed by Home
First and the Discharge Working
Group.
The services will be reviewed as part
of the overall Mental Health pathway
work within the STP/Home First.
A review is proposed to examine the
opportunities for integrating the 3
quality improvement teams across
LCC, ELRCCG and WLCCG.
A review of the service will be
undertaken during 2017/18.
Extension of the current PI Ltd
contract through to March 2018.
A commissioning plan for the PI
Care and Health tool (or equivalent)
from April 2018 onwards to be
developed by September 2017.

2017/18

LCC ASC

2017/18

TBC

2017/18

ELRCCG

Sept 2017

LCC – Chief Execs
Integration
Programme
STP PMO

29. In approving the BCF plan today the Board’s attention is drawn to the following
a. The CCGs will consider at their respective Board meetings on 14 March 2017 the
potential inclusion of the Intensive Community Support phase two service line,
along with its associated budget, into the BCF from 2017/18 onwards.
b. The BCF spending plan is subject to final BCF allocations and technical guidance
(including final DFG allocations).
c. Although local areas are being asked by NHS England to prepare a two year plan,
the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board will be involved in the usual way in
a refresh/review of the planning assumptions for 2018/19 between December
2017 and March 2018.
d. The approval of the BCF plan by all partners is an essential part of the assurance
process for local BCF plans by NHS England.
e. The Integration Executive will be fully engaged in finalising the plan in support of
the delegation outlined in paragraph 2b.
BCF National Conditions and Metrics
30. The current BCF policy framework and existing BCF technical guidance from 2016/17
indicate that a local BCF Plan must demonstrate how it will deliver against the
following national conditions:a. Delivery against five national BCF metrics and a locally selected metrics;
b. How a proportion of the fund will protect adult social care services;
c. How data sharing and data integration is being progressed using the NHS
number;
d. How an accountable lead professional is designated for care planning/care
coordination;
e. Delivery of Care Act requirements;
f. How a proportion of the fund will be used to commission care outside of hospital;

107
g. How seven day services will be supported by the plan;
h. That the impact on emergency admissions activity has been agreed with acute
providers;
i.

That there is a locally agreed proactive plan to improve delayed transfers of care
from hospital;

j.

That Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocations within the BCF will be used to
support integrated housing solutions including the delivery of major adaptions in
the home; and

k. Approval of the BCF Plan by all partners, being assured via the local Health and
Wellbeing Board.
31. It should be noted that these conditions could be subject to change, once the final
technical guidance is published for 2017/18. It is believed that the forthcoming
national BCF guidance may reduce the number of national conditions from eight to
possibly three or four, with quarterly reporting to NHS England required, as in
previous years. However local areas will still be expected to provide evidence of
plans and progress towards those other elements of integration policy which
previously were listed as BCF national conditions.
32. It is anticipated, and reflected in the draft BCF Plan (p49-53), that the following
metrics will all continue to be nationally required:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Reducing the number of total emergency admissions;
Effectiveness of reablement at 91 days;
Improving delayed transfers of care; and
Reducing permanent admissions to care and nursing homes.

33. Preparatory work to refresh the BCF outcome metrics has taken place during
January and February 2017. Aside from the BCF guidance, there are a number of
other interdependencies for this work, including:
a.
b.
c.
d.

STP activity assumptions;
CCG operating plan assumptions for 2017/18 – 2018/19;
BCF Plan refresh progress for 2017/18 – 2018/19;
Impact of the implementation of new models of care in LLR.

34. Those emergency admissions which are planned to be avoided via services funding
by the BCF will be clearly defined and fully aligned to CCG operating plan targets for
2017/18, the wider LLR activity assumptions within the STP, and the new model of
urgent care in LLR which comes into effect on 1 April 2017.
Timetable for Decisions
35. A report on progress with the refresh of the BCF was considered by the Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 1 March 2017 and the Cabinet on 10 March
2017.
36. The BCF Plan will be considered by the respective Boards of the two county Clinical
Commissioning Groups on 14 March 2017.

108
37. At the time of writing this report, the BCF policy framework and technical guidance for
2017/18 is still awaited, having been delayed nationally since November 2016.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
38. Findings from service user engagement activities across the health and care
economy have also been used to inform the BCF refresh, a selection of which are
listed below:


Service user metrics have been analysed to assess improvements in the
experience of local people using integrated care and support across settings of
care in Leicestershire, including the quality of life score in the Adult Social Care
Outcome Framework, support for people with Long Term Conditions via the GP
survey, and experience of coordination of care and support on discharge from
CQC surveys;



A Better Care Together customer insight survey undertaken in 2015/16 focused
on the views and experiences of carers;



Engagement with service users undertaken for the introduction of the “Help To
Live At Home” domiciliary care services, used to shape the outcomes and service
model;



Engagement with service users across eight BCF services as part of the
evaluation conducted with Loughborough University and Healthwatch, focused
particularly on community based services targeted to admissions avoidance;



Engagement and customer insight analysis undertaken for the Lightbulb Housing
Project which informed the service model;



Engagement with service users on integrating customer services points of access
across health and care, used to inform the future options and solutions for an
LLR-wide operating model;



Engagement undertaken by Leicestershire Healthwatch, reported bi-monthly to
the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with thematic analysis on areas
such as mental health, primary care access, urgent care and hospital discharge;



Findings and recommendations from local authority scrutiny committees and
scrutiny panels; and



Feedback from LLR engagement events for Better Care Together and the STP.

Background papers
Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2016-17 - http://ow.ly/74k9309bePG
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board Report on 5 May 2016 ‘Better Care Fund Plan
Final Submission and Assurance’ - http://ow.ly/ahgj309bf47
Report to the Cabinet on 17 June 2016 ‘Disabled Facilities Grant/BCF report’
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s120067/supplementary%20BCF%20Plan%20DFG%20report.pdf

109

Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 15 September 2016 ‘BCF/Disabled Facilities
Grants’ http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s122300/DFG%20Report.pdf
Report to the Cabinet on 16 September 2016 ‘BCF/Disabled Facilities Grants’
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s122380/BCF%20DFG%20Report.pdf
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 5 January 2017 ‘Better Care Fund Refresh
2017/18’ - http://ow.ly/30DZ309bfTt
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and Transformation Plan http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officer to Contact
Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
Telephone: 0116 305 4212
Email: Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk

List of Appendices


Appendix A

Draft Better Care Fund Narrative Plan



Appendix B

Draft Better Care Fund Spending Plan



Appendix C

Integration Programme Workplan



Appendix D

BCF Refresh Engagement and Governance Planner

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
39. Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to an equality impact assessment and
the evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to
Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. An equalities and human rights
impact assessment has been undertaken which is provided at
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-carefund-overview-ehria.pdf. The assessment concluded that the impact of the BCF is
neutral and therefore a full assessment was not required.
40. This document is undergoing an annual review by Leicestershire County Council’s
(Adults and Communities Department) Equalities Group on 14 March 2017 and any
revisions arising from this will be reflected in the final BCF Plan submission to NHS
England.

110

Partnership Working and associated issues
41. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget
are managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and
providers in Leicestershire.
42. Wide ranging engagement across all partners has been undertaken to refresh the
BCF Plan as shown in Appendix D.
43. Day to day oversight of delivery is undertaken by the Integration Executive, an officer
subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprising all partners represented on
the Health and Wellbeing Board, with the exceptions of the Police and NHS England.
44. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated
services are in place and contribute to the system wide changes being implemented
through the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), the five-year plan to
transform health and care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.
http://ow.ly/lPsP309cK2D.
Risk Assessment
45. Key risks affecting the refreshed BCF Plan at this stage are characterised as a
combination of:
a. Overall LLR system level risks (service, financial and transformational), per the
LLR STP, and
b. Specific risks affecting the Leicestershire BCF Plan/pooled budget (arising from
the LLR system level risks and the national policy position for the BCF).
46. The following is a summary of Key Risks associated with the BCF refresh as at
March 2017:
a. Impact of the 2017/18 financial position across the health and care economy –
risk that partners are forced to address immediate/short term system pressures
versus investing in medium term solutions/transformation, e.g. per the STP
priorities.
b. Lack of financial headroom within the Leicestershire BCF Plan, including lack of
reserves and contingencies from 2017/18 onwards.
c. Increased significant risks in CCG financial plans from 2017/18 onwards.
d. Ongoing urgent care pressures, including a deterioration in Delayed Transfers of
Care (DTOC) performance in 2016/17.
e. As mentioned previously, at the time of writing this report, the national BCF
guidance has not yet been published. There are three key areas of risk that need
further clarification via this guidance, namely:
i. Whether a risk pool is required for emergency admissions performance.
(Initial feedback indicates that this will be required only if the BCF is
expected to deliver a reduction in emergency admissions beyond CCG
operating plan assumptions).

111
ii. Whether any increase in local authority allocations into the BCF will be
announced/available, based on the previous 2015 Comprehensive
Spending Review announcements and intentions. If so, it is likely these
would be linked to either DFG and/or Adult Social Care budgets.
iii. Any DFG allocations pressures into the Leicestershire BCF arising from the
local authority allocations and/or BCF technical guidance (expected in late
February 2017).
a) Reliance on the delivery of further in-year savings from service review and
redesign across a number of BCF service lines in order to deliver a more
sustainable medium term financial plan.
b) A number of these BCF service lines are subject to work lead by STP
workstreams during 2017/18, with key milestones and quantifiable impact in
some areas still to be confirmed.

This page is intentionally left blank

113

APPENDIX A
Leicestershire Better Care Fund Plan – 2017/18 – 2018/19
DRAFT AS AT 8 MARCH 2017 V.8
Local Authority

Leicestershire County Council

Clinical Commissioning Groups

West Leicestershire CCG
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG spans
populations within both Leicestershire
County Council and Rutland County Council.

Boundary Differences
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG have
also co-produced the Rutland BCF plan with
Rutland County

Date agreed at Health and Well-Being
Board:
Narrative Interim Submission
Date submitted:
Narrative Final Submission

Minimum required value of BCF pooled
budget: 2017/18
Total 2017/18 BCF Plan

1

114

Authorisation and signoff (to complete for XX XXXXX Submission)
Signed on behalf of East Leicestershire
and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group
By

Karen English

Position

Managing Director

Date

Signed on behalf of the West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning
Group
By

Toby Sanders

Position

Managing Director

Date

Signed on behalf of the Leicestershire
County Council
By

John Sinnott

Position

Chief Executive

Date

Signed on behalf of the Leicestershire
Health and Wellbeing Board
By Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board

Cllr Ernie White

Date

2

115

CONTENTS
1

OUR VISION FOR HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION ...................................................................... 6
1.1

Our Vision................................................................................................................................ 6

1.2

National Policy Context ........................................................................................................... 7

1.3

Home First and the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan............................................ 8

1.4

Key Challenges for the Delivery of Leicestershire BCF Plan and the LLR STP ....................... 10

1.4.1

Urgent Care ................................................................................................................... 10

1.4.2

Hospital Discharge ........................................................................................................ 11

1.4.3

New STP Workstreams for 2017 ................................................................................... 13

1.4.4

Financial Context........................................................................................................... 14

1.4.5

Data Integration ............................................................................................................ 14

1.5
2

Aims of the Leicestershire BCF Plan 2017 - 19 ...................................................................... 15

LOCAL CASE FOR CHANGE............................................................................................................. 16
2.1

Summary Overview of Case for Change Analysis.................................................................. 16

2.1.1

Better Care Together .................................................................................................... 16

2.1.2

The LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) ................................................. 17

2.1.3
Leicestershire’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Leicestershire’s Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy ................................................................................................................. 17
2.1.4

Public Health Summary Needs Analysis 2016 ............................................................... 17

2.1.5

Population and Practice Level Risk Stratification .......................................................... 17

2.1.6

Case for Change: LLR’s Urgent Care System ................................................................. 18

2.1.7

Summary of Customer Insight Analysis that has informed the BCF Refresh ................ 19

2.1.8

Other Reference Sources of Data and Analysis that underpin our BCF plan ................ 19

2.2
3

How the Leicestershire BCF Plan Responds to the Case for Change .................................... 20

Our Track Record of Delivery in 2015/16...................................................................................... 21
3.1

Progress Achieved by the 2016/7 BCF Plan .......................................................................... 21

3.2

Progress by Theme................................................................................................................ 22

3.3

Progress with BCF Enablers in 2016/17 ................................................................................ 23

3.4

How we refreshed our BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 ...................................................... 24
3

116

4

5

OUR PLANS FOR 2017/18 – 2018/19 ............................................................................................ 26
4.1

BCF 1 - Unified Prevention Offer........................................................................................... 26

4.2

BCF 2 - Home First & Our Local Action Plan to Improve Hospital Discharge ........................ 27

4.2.1

LLR Discharge Pathways as at February 2017 ............................................................... 27

4.2.2

Discharge to Assess ....................................................................................................... 28

4.2.3

Trusted Assessor ........................................................................................................... 28

4.2.4

End of Life (EOL) and Fast Track Cases .......................................................................... 28

4.2.5

LLR System Oversight of Discharge Flow and DTOC Performance ............................... 29

4.2.6

Home First Programme ................................................................................................. 29

4.3

BCF 3 Integrated Housing Support ........................................................................................ 30

4.4

BCF 4 Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home ................................................... 31

4.5

BCF 5 - Integrated Locality Teams ......................................................................................... 32

4.6

BCF 6 Integrated Urgent Care ............................................................................................... 33

4.7

BCF 7 - Integrated Points of Access....................................................................................... 36

4.8

BCF 8 - Integrated Data ......................................................................................................... 36

4.9

BCF 9 Integrated Commissioning .......................................................................................... 38

4.10

BCF Plan Scheme Level Overview ......................................................................................... 38

Delivery of the Better Care Fund National Conditions AND METRICS .......................................... 39
5.1
Assurance on the preparation and approval of the BCF Plan by the Leicestershire Health
and Wellbeing Board......................................................................................................................... 39
5.2

How the BCF Plan Maintains Protection of Adult Social Care .............................................. 39

5.2.1

Impact of LLR-wide system changes on Adult Social Care ............................................ 40

5.3
Financial Requirements including Confirmation of the Source of Funds for the Refreshed
BCF Plan ............................................................................................................................................ 44

6

5.4

Leicestershire BCF Section 75 ............................................................................................... 46

5.5

Investment in NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services ................................................ 46

5.6

Disabled Facilities Grant Allocations ..................................................................................... 48

5.7

Better Care Fund Metrics ...................................................................................................... 49

PROGRAMME PLAN ...................................................................................................................... 53
4

117

7

INTEGRATION PROGRAMME RESOURCES .................................................................................... 55
7.1

Team Structure Chart............................................................................................................ 55

7.2

Matrix Management for Programme Delivery across the Partnership ................................ 56

8

PROGRAMME EVALUATION & MEASURING IMPACT ................................................................... 57
8.1

Measuring the Impact of the Leicestershire Better Care Fund Plan ..................................... 57

8.2

SIMTEGR8.............................................................................................................................. 57

9

RISK REGISTER AND RISK MANAGEMENT ..................................................................................... 58

10

PROGRAMME GOVERNANCE .................................................................................................... 59

11

EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT ........................................................... 63

APPENDICES:
1 – PUBLIC HEALTH NEEDS ANALYSIS
2 (a, b, c) – POPULATION LEVEL RISK STRATIFICATION ANALYSIS
3 – SCHEME LEVEL BREAKDOWN MAPPED TO BCF METRICS AND THE LLR STP
(DRAFT)
4 – BCF SPENDING PLAN (DRAFT)
5 – BCF REFRESH ENGAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE PLANNER
6 – DETAILED PROGRAMME PLAN (DRAFT)
7 – RISK REGISTER

5

118

1 OUR VISION FOR HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
1.1 Our Vision
Our vision remains as set out in our original Better Care Fund (BCF) plan submission in
2014

We will create a strong, sustainable, person-centred, and integrated
health and care system which improves outcomes for our citizens.
Our vision is built upon four fundamental strategic drivers, two of which are local drivers, and
two of which are national, as illustrated below:
THE SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRANSFORMATION PLAN FOR :
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND
RUTLAND
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/

LEICESTERSHIRE’S JOINT HEALTH AND
WELLBEING STRATEGY
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124188/JH
WS%20App%20A.pdf

THE KING’S FUND: INTEGRATED, PERSON
CENTRED CARE
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/makin
g-our-health-and-care-systems-fit-ageingpopulation

NATIONAL VOICES: PRINCIPLES FOR
INTEGRATED CARE
http://www.nationalvoices.org.uk/publications/ourpublications/principles-integrated-care
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/05/nv-narrative-cc.pdf

6

119

1.2

National Policy Context

The diagram below shows the main “pillars” of national policy that continue to promote and
drive integration across health and care.

Nationally the health and care system is implementing and testing a range of approaches as
follows:


New models of NHS care per the NHS England Five Year Forward View



New models of adult social care, focusing on personalisation and demand
management



New ways of delivering integrated care, including new organisational forms across
health and care



New digital technologies and data sharing capabilities across health and care
systems



New approaches to back office, estate sharing and workforce development, across
public sector organisational boundaries



New approaches to integrated commissioning, at both personal and population
levels, including how pooled budgets, contracting and tariffs are evolving



New opportunities and flexibilities arising from devolution where applicable.

7

120

Translating national policy into the practical reality on the ground is a complex task, which is
being undertaken in the context of ongoing austerity. Partner organisations are facing
unprecedented levels of demand with correspondingly large saving requirements.
Learning from good practice internationally, nationally and locally is essential to progress
integration. This includes assessing and adopting lessons learned from horizontal and
vertical integration models, whether internationally, or from UK Vanguard sites, and learning
lessons and innovating from the perspective of our local health and care economy to
become more integrated and sustainable for the future.
The 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review set out the government’s intention that by 2020
health and social care will be integrated. Since 2015 the National Better Care Fund policy
has provided a framework for a joint planning approach and a pooled budget mechanism
between Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) and Local Authorities (LA) in order to
support this ambition.
The central role of integration in transforming health and care has been reaffirmed through
NHS national policy during 2016/17. This can be seen in particular via:



1.3

The NHS planning guidance for 2017/18 published in September 2016.
The expectations placed on the 44 area Sustainability and Transformation Plans
(STP) which have been developed in 2016/17.
Home First and the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan

The vision for the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) health and care system is that
people will be cared for at home or in their own community, whenever possible, and for as
long as possible.
Our entire model of care is being transformed across LLR so that “home first” becomes a
reality. This means tackling the over reliance on acute care, and ensuring our community
based services are integrated, consistent, reliable and resilient.
For home first to operate successfully, rapid, easy access to the appropriate level of care
and support outside of hospital on a 24/7 basis is required, with person centred care
coordinated effectively across organisational boundaries and professions. If an emergency
admission to hospital does occur, then the ‘home first’ principle also applies, so that, if
someone is admitted to hospital and after necessary interventions and treatment, the
system’s primary aim will be to return that person to the home address from which they
came
Over the past two years some core components of the home first model have been
developing in LLR, through the Better Care Fund Plans operating across Leicester City,
Leicestershire and Rutland, and other transformational programmes of work such as the LLR
Urgent Care Vanguard. These have included for example consolidating hospital discharge
routes into five streamlined pathways across LLR, introducing new urgent care services such
as the acute visiting service, and integrating housing support alongside health and care.
Some elements of integration have started to take shape over the past two years but we are
now entering a further phase of redesign within the STP, where remaining variations in care
pathways and delivery across the LLR area can be fully addressed and where medium term
solutions will be implemented across the system. The development of the STP has led
8

121

partners to achieve consensus on the top priorities across the system, and renew their
collective commitment to achieve a much greater level of integration across care pathways
and organisations over the next few years.
The table below shows the mapping we have undertaken to demonstrate how the integration
policy pillars are reflected in the LLR STP and its delivery arrangements, with mapping to the
supporting strategies which underpin the STP across the health and care system.

The preparation of the STP has led to improved collaboration on financial and activity
modelling across partners in the health and care system. Partners have jointly considered
the demand and resource flowing through the health and care system, the
interdependencies of activity assumptions, financial assumptions, reconfiguration,
transformation plans and savings requirements over the five year period.

Achieving a greater level of shared understanding and a more integrated, robust and
dynamic model of how the health and care system operates now and in the future is a key
feature of the ongoing leadership of the STP.
The co-production of the STP has enabled the health and social care community across LLR
to plan together more confidently and set out more clearly how new models of care will be
implemented across organisational boundaries.
The development of the STP signals a move away from an annual planning process that has
delivered incremental, organisational-specific improvement to a longer-term view that
delivers transformational change across organisational boundaries. The STP therefore
represents a combined LLR strategy supported by joint planning assumptions and delivery
arrangements for the partners across the health and care economy.

9

122

The diagram below (this is a draft diagram) illustrates how the overarching framework and
aims of the LLR STP are being supported by Leicestershire County’s CCG operating plans
and the MTFS of Leicestershire County Council, through the with the BCF plan and pooled
budget.

1.4

Key Challenges for the Delivery of Leicestershire BCF Plan and the LLR STP

1.4.1

Urgent Care



The demands on the acute care system are the local health and care economy’s
greatest risk to sustainability.



Total emergency admissions in Leicestershire have again exceeded CCG commissioned
levels over the past 12 months.



In 2014/15 there were 58,479 non-elective admissions for Leicestershire residents



In 2015/16 the outturn for non-elective admissions was 60,090 (increase of 1.5%)



In 2016/17 the forecast outturn for emergency admissions is 61,424 against a plan for
59,030 (increase of 2.2% on 2015/16 levels)



Analysis by the LLR Urgent Care Board shows that a proportion of the growth over the
last 12- 18 months has occurred in the 0-10 and 20-40 age groups.



The four emergency admissions schemes implemented within the 2015/16 BCF plan
have been evaluated in conjunction with Loughborough University, and along with other
elements of urgent care system redesign/reviews, have informed the model of integrated
urgent care designed by the LLR urgent care vanguard.



This new model of urgent care and its associated capacity planning assumptions have
been reflected in the LLR STP and CCG operating plans, and an LLR wide procurement
for new urgent care services to commence from April 1st has recently been concluded.



One of the BCF schemes from 2016/17, the Loughborough Older People’s Assessment
Unit, has been decommissioned as result of the BCF evaluation process, however other
components such as the falls non conveyance pathway and the acute home visiting
service (part of primary care seven day services investments) have proved very effective
and are being commissioned recurrently within the new urgent care model.
10

123



In terms of a continued focus on hospital admissions avoidance, the 2017/18 BCF plan
includes implementing a further emergency admissions avoidance scheme that was
tested earlier in 2016/17, which focuses on short stay cardio-respiratory patients.



The overall trajectory for emergency admissions avoidance for the BCF for 2017/18 –
2018/19 has been aligned with CCG operating plans and further information about this
metric can be found in section 4.6 of this report.

1.4.2

Hospital Discharge



We set a modest improvement on the DTOC target for 2016/17 based on the
performance achieved in 2015/16 and with the emphasis on seeking further
improvement in the non-acute settings of care.



However sustaining our good DTOC performance achieved in 2015/16, has proved very
challenging in 2016/17 and a marked deterioration has occurred.



Performance for quarters one, two and three was 287.04, 357.19 and 382.17 days
delayed per 100,000 population aged 18+ per month, against targets of 236.66, 231.91
and 214.66 respectively.



Delays due to patients waiting for the completion of an assessment rose dramatically in
December, almost doubling from the November level.



Patient or family choice was a major cause of delayed days in September and October.



Delays due to public funding peaked in July and August but have also seen an increase
again in December.



There are a number of reasons for the current performance ranging from:
o The volumes of emergency admissions activity generally across the system.
o

The impact of the transition to the domiciliary care contracts in the county,
particularly in the period October-December 2016.
11

124

o

Problems with CHC referral processes and pathways.

o

Problems with flow internally within UHL.

While the overall position has deteriorated, Leicestershire is not exceptional and was in the
top quartile for performance each quarter when benchmarked against CIPFA statistical
neighbours as illustrated in the chart below.
Q3 performance compared with CIPFA Group

The LLR-wide action plan to improve DTOC performance (and ensure all five discharge
pathways are fully implemented in line with the new urgent care vanguard models of care) is
overseen by the LLR Discharge Steering Group which reports to the LLR A&E Delivery
Board.
Further information on the components of the local action plan and services in support of
improving hospital discharge can be found at section 4.2 of this document.

12

125

1.4.3

New STP Workstreams for 2017

Integrated Locality Teams


As part of the STP, a new area of focus is the systematic implementation of
integrated locality teams across LLR.



This large scale transformation programme commenced in Q3 of 2016/17 with a view
to implementing new ways of working by April 2017.



Elements of the existing BCF plans across LLR will be redesigned to meet the new
model of care and the outcome of this work will affect commissioning intentions/
contractual arrangements from April 2018



More information about this development can be found in section 4.5 of this
document.

Home First


As part of the STP a new area of focus is developing the strategic approach to Home
First for LLR, setting out the integrated rehabilitation and reablement services which will
support step up/step down (admission avoidance and rapid discharge).



This large scale transformation programme commenced in Q4 of 2016/17 and the scope
and key milestones are at an early stage of development at the time of this submission.



Elements of the existing BCF plans across LLR will be redesigned to meet the new
model of care and the outcome of this could affect some contractual services via in year
variation within 2017/18 and then medium term commissioning intentions and contractual
changes from April 2018.



Further information about this development can be found in section 4.2 of this document.

These two new areas of work present number of additional challenges to the delivery of the
BCF plans in LLR, due to their overall size, scope and complexity, and the fact that existing
investments in LLR BCF plans will be redesigned during 2017/18.
Hence there is a need to manage the interdependencies between these elements and
ensure the BCF plan funding, deliverables and metrics are aligned to the changes that will
take place and that these are translated effectively into commissioning arrangements for
year two of this BCF refresh.
Another key challenge is the large scale OD and cultural work needed to enact these
changes operationally and build more integrated services across a range of organisations
and professional groups.

13

126

1.4.4

Financial Context



Financial allocations, the scale of financial pressure and collective level of savings
required across the partnership impact on the ability of all partners to commit to new
initiatives, unless funds are reallocated between existing commitments, existing services
are decommissioned or transformation funds can be accessed, especially for delivering a
return on investment within a one to three year horizon.



LCC is required to make savings of £16.4m in 2017/18, WLCCG requires savings of
£18.7m and EL&RCCG requires savings of £14.8m



The financial refresh of the BCF for 2017-19 has placed additional emphasis on driving
out further savings and creating headroom within the plan where possible.



A workplan of priority services for further review during 2017, with a view to
commissioning decisions to be taken for year two of the BCF plan, has been identified
(see section 6).



The position of adult social care, linked to the council’s MTFS, relies on the £17m adult
social care protection level agreed within the 2016/17 BCF plan being maintained for
2017/18.



Despite this, partners must commit to the BCF plan, maintain delivery across the BCF
plan metrics and national conditions, as well as deliver a medium term view of
transformation linked to the STP.



To do this, even more rigour to benefits realisation, with more sophisticated, integrated
and co-produced methodologies for predictive modelling and measuring impact will be
required and greater alignment will be needed between the local BCF plans, the medium
term integration plan (to 2020) and the LLR-wide five year plan/STP.



In 2016/17 we developed a framework for integrated commissioning across LA and NHS
partners and commenced the first area of joint work using this framework, a new joint
commissioning approach to care and nursing home placements. This work will span two
financial years so delivery of the benefits of this work will be seen from 2017/18.



DFG allocations proved challenging in the 2016/17 BCF plan due to the late publication
of the BCF guidance and a late and unexpected change to financial allocations
associated with DFGs. Dialogue with Districts has taken place ahead of BCF guidance
for 2017/18 being published. The outcome of this is that a proportion of DFG monies
previously held back within the BCF plan in 2016/17 will now need to be released to
Districts, placing a £1m pressure on the 2017/18 BCF financial plan.

1.4.5

Data Integration



Although progress has been made on data integration using the NHS number and PI
Care and Healthtrak in 2015/16, further work is needed on the integration of records and
data across agencies for direct care and case management in community settings.



The BCF has a dependency on the development of an LLR wide solution for the
electronic summary care record – this is a key part of the LLR Digital Roadmap with an
expectation of solutions being implemented from 2017/18

14

127

1.5

Aims of the Leicestershire BCF Plan 2017 - 19

The aims of the Leicestershire BCF plan have been refreshed in light of the national
strategic policy context and the development of the LLR STP.
The revised aims are as follows:
1. Develop and implement
new models of provision
and new approaches to
commissioning, which
maximise the
opportunities and
outcomes for integration.

2. Deliver measurable,
evidence based
improvements to the way
our citizens and
communities experience
integrated care and
support.

3. Increase the capacity,
capability and
sustainability of
integrated services, so
that professionals and the
public have confidence
that more can be
delivered in the
community in the future.

4. Support the
reconfiguration of
services from acute to
community settings in
line with:
 The LLR STP
 New integrated
models of health and
care.

5. Manage an effective and
efficient pooled budget
across the partnership to
deliver the integration
programme.

6. Develop an integrated
health and care system by
2020/21, including the
local approach to
devolution where
applicable

15

128

2 LOCAL CASE FOR CHANGE

2.1

Summary Overview of Case for Change Analysis

A number of existing documents provide a consistent analysis of the case for change in the
local health and care economy in LLR. In terms of the BCF refresh for 2017/18 we have
therefore summarised and signposted to these as follows:
2.1.1

Better Care Together

In 2015 The Better Care Together LLR-wide five year plan considered the overall
sustainability of our health and care system and the reconfiguration opportunities in LLR, in
particular the shift of care from acute to community settings and how improvements in
priority care pathways could drive this reconfiguration. The case for change for the BCT five
year plan in summarised in the summary diagram below and the BCT blue print document at
this weblink:
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=31818&se
rvicetype=Attachment?AssetID=31818

16

129

2.1.2

The LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

In the Autumn of 2016, LLR partners produced the local STP, which was built upon the case
for change and strategic foundations of the Better Care Together Programme. A public
summary of the STP can be found at this weblink
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
The priorities contained within the LLR STP respond to the local case for change and tackle
three key challenges which are
 Improving health and wellbeing
 improving the quality of care and services
 Achieving a more efficient and sustainable health and care economy which can
meets future demands..
2.1.3

Leicestershire’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Leicestershire’s Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy

These documents consider the specific health outcomes where improvements are still
needed for the local population including for example, improving mental wellbeing.
Our JSNA documents are the key reference points for the case for change per the in depth
population health needs analysis http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html and
our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy illustrates how the Health and Wellbeing Board is
responding to the priorities highlighted by this analysis
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124188/JHWS%20App%20A.pdf, with other sources
of supporting information at this weblink.: http://www.lsr-online.org/health-and-wellbeingleicestershire3.html
Our JSNA includes a helpful infographics interactive webpage, which shows the profile of
Leicestershire’s population per the priorities in our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
https://public.tableau.com/views/CoredatasetMASTER_All_Infographics/BestStartinLifeCounty?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&:showTabs=y&:showVizHome=no#3.
2.1.4

Public Health Summary Needs Analysis 2016

In support of the BCF refresh we have provided a summary population health needs analysis
which can be found at Appendix 1. The analysis is based on the current JSNA and
population health profiles for 2016.

2.1.5

Population and Practice Level Risk Stratification

As part of the BCF refresh we have refreshed our population level risk stratification using
2016/17 data via PI Care and Health Trak - the outputs of this analysis are at Appendix 2.

17

130

In summary this shows that, from April 2016 to November 2016, 37% of all emergency
admissions at University Hospital Leicester (UHL) for Leicestershire residents have been for
patients aged 70 and over. For those aged 70 and over, length of stay tends to be longer,
and admissions for this age group account for 55% of the bed days, and 51% of the health
service costs.
The analysis also shows the profile healthcare costs of Leicestershire’s population with LTCs
in the over 70 age group. This shows that most of the costs (65%) for emergency
admissions to UHL for those aged 70 and over are for patients with between two and five
long-term conditions. This amounts to over £24.5 million of costs for April - November 2016.
In Leicestershire in 2015, almost 62,000 (46%) adults aged 65 or over were predicted to
have at least one limiting long-term illness (JSNA 2015). Of these, hypertension is the most
costly long term condition and 74% of the costs for this condition can be attributed to
patients aged 70 and over.
The STP workstream for Integrated Locality Teams has used risk stratification at local GP
practice population level, via the ACG tool, to identify three cohorts of the population in each
locality who should be the focus of improved case management and care coordination in
community settings.
They will benefit from a new model of integrated multi-disciplinary working between primary
care community nursing/therapists and social care.
The ACG risk stratification tool in GP practice has been used to identify these cohorts which
include those with frailty markers, those with 5 or more LTCs and those whose acute care
costs are estimated to be 3x the expected levels over the coming 12 months.
2.1.6

Case for Change: LLR’s Urgent Care System

This area of work focuses on the gap between the current model of urgent care operating in
LLR and what a redesigned urgent care system based on best practice could deliver.
This work has been based on the new models of care for England as set out by Simon
Stevens in in the NHS England Five Year Forward View publication.
LLR’s urgent care system has been under unsustainable pressure over a number of years
with the health and care economy placing too much reliance on urgent/acute care, when
other alternative settings of care should be or are available for local citizens to use.
In 2014 an independent review of the health and care system was undertaken by Dr Ian
Sturgess which focused on the root causes of the reliance on emergency and urgent care
and how the system as a whole needed to respond and change to provide more anticipatory
care in the community.
In 2015, the LLR area was selected as one of the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard
sites in order to accelerate the necessary changes. As a result of this, during 2016/17 a new
system of urgent care has been designed and commissioned which comes into effect from
April 2017.
Further information about the implementation of this and the funding from within the BCF
which supports the new services can be found at section 4.6 of this document.
18

131

2.1.7

Summary of Customer Insight Analysis that has informed the BCF Refresh

Findings from service user engagement activities across the health and care economy have
also been used to inform the BCF refresh, a selection of which are listed below:


Service user metrics have been analysed to assess improvements in the
experience of local people using integrated care and support across settings of care
in Leicestershire, including the quality of life score in the Adult Social Care Outcome
Framework, support for people with Long Term Conditions via the GP survey, and
experience of coordination of care and support on discharge from CQC surveys;



A Better Care Together customer insight survey undertaken in 2015/16 focused on
the views and experiences of carers;



Engagement with service users undertaken for the introduction of the “Help To Live
At Home” domiciliary care services, used to shape the outcomes and service
model;



Engagement with service users across eight BCF services as part of the evaluation
conducted with Loughborough University and Healthwatch, focused particularly on
community based services targeted to admissions avoidance;



Engagement and customer insight analysis undertaken for the Lightbulb Housing
Project which informed the service model;



Engagement with service users on integrating customer services points of access
across health and care, used to inform the future options and solutions for an LLRwide operating model;



Engagement undertaken by Leicestershire Healthwatch, reported bi-monthly to the
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with thematic analysis on areas such as
mental health, primary care access, urgent care and hospital discharge;



Findings and recommendations from local authority scrutiny committees and
scrutiny panels; and



Feedback from LLR engagement events for Better Care Together and the STP.

2.1.8














Other Reference Sources of Data and Analysis that underpin our BCF plan
NHSE Benchmarking data (e.g. readmissions within 30 days)
UHL readmissions report and supporting analysis 2016
Urgent Care/A&E Board Analysis, including DTOC reporting
ACG Risk Stratification data from Primary Care
LA Benchmarking data: e.g. on permanent admissions to residential care and DTOC
Adult Social Care Performance Reports and Dashboards
Regional and National BCF analysis /benchmarking
The detailed analysis completed for the recommissioning of Leicestershire’s
domiciliary care services across health and social care
A self-assessment against the high impact changes for DTOC
Independent evaluations and clinical audits.
Findings from CQC or reviews/reports by other regulatory bodies
ECIP Reviews
LA Peer Reviews

19

132

2.2

How the Leicestershire BCF Plan Responds to the Case for Change

There is an ongoing need to focus integrated community based interventions on those with
Long Term Conditions (LTCs), frailty and the growing population of over 70s - to reduce the
level of activity and costs associated with acute care in favour of a shift into proactive and
preventative care in community settings. In line with the case for change and the LLR STP
priorities arising from this, the Leicestershire BCF plan is comprised of the following key
areas in support of health and care integration.
BCF 1 - A unified prevention offer – that is co-designed across the full range of partners,
wraps around people, communities and locality teams, and is targeted to maintaining
wellbeing and independence.
BCF 2 - Home First - providing an enhanced community care service on a 24/7 basis which
support early discharge, prevent readmission, and delivers maximum reablement. Home first
is supported by integrated locality teams who ensure those with complex care needs/those
at risk of acute care episodes are managed effectively and proactively at home.
BCF 3 – Integrated Housing Support – providing a range of previously fragmented
housing support service in one integrated offer targeted to supporting health, wellbeing and
independence at home.
BCF 4 – Integrated Domiciliary Care – the new Help to Live at Home service in
Leicestershire County has been commissioned jointly by the LA and CCGs. It operated
across 18 geographical lots, with services provided by a much smaller number of providers,
organised around the same footprints as the new integrated locality teams in LLR
BCF 5 - Integrated locality teams – from April 2017 these will focus on specific cohorts of
people where the opportunity to intervene via improved integrated case management will
have maximum impact on outcomes, both for the individual and the health and care system
as a whole.
BCF 6 - A new model of integrated urgent care - offering clear alternatives to attendance
at the A&E department and improved clinical triage and navigation to ensure consistent use
of these pathways to actively divert people from acute care where applicable.
BCF 7 - Integrated points of access – providing integrated call handling and a tiered
assessment response across health and social care. In particular for service users whose
care does not need a purely medical response, and which can be delivered in community
settings, providing the interface between integrated locality teams, their service users and
the multidisciplinary teams who support them in the community.
BCF 8 - Data Integration – at both population level, so we can track the performance and
utilisation of the health and care system, and at individual care management levels so that
the delivery of care is supported by a summary care record accessible to professionals
across the system.
BCF 9 – Integrated Commissioning – between LA and CCG partners, focusing for
example on the ongoing stabilisation of the new Help to Live at Home service, and a new
approach to joint commissioning for care and nursing homes being developed in 2017/18.

20

133

3 OUR TRACK RECORD OF DELIVERY IN 2015/16
3.1

Progress Achieved by the 2016/7 BCF Plan

The 2016/17 Leicestershire BCF Plan was delivered under four themes. The themes are
designed to group together related activity/projects so that:



These are managed and governed effectively within the local integration programme.
Their contribution and outputs are connected effectively to LLR-wide governance,
where applicable.

BCF THEME 1:
Unified Prevention Offer


Integration of prevention services in
Leicestershire’s communities into one
consistent wrap-around offer for
professionals and services users.



Improved, systematic, targeting, access
and coordination of the offer.

BCF THEME 2:
Long Term Conditions


BCF THEME 3:
Integrated Urgent Response


Integrated, rapid response community
and primary care services 24/7



Working together to avoid unnecessary
hospital admissions, supporting people at
home wherever possible.

Integrated, proactive case management
from multidisciplinary teams for those
with complex conditions and/or the over
75s.

BCF THEME 4:
Hospital Discharge and Reablement


Safe, timely and effective discharge from
hospital, via consistent pathways,
reducing length of stay



“Home First” philosophy, focused on
reablement and maintaining
independence.

21

134

3.2

Progress by Theme

Implementation of the integration programme in Leicestershire continues at pace.
The following table is a summary of our achievements during 2016/17:
Unified Prevention Offer

Integrated, Proactive Care
for those with Long Term Conditions

 First Contact Plus – launched a new web-based
referral system, which facilitates efficient clinical
referral and also self-referral and public facing
option, during 2016/17.

 Integrated locality working between
community and social workers in place
so they can jointly respond and manage
their caseloads using shared operational
practices and procedures – organised to
support both planned care and urgent
care cases in each locality.

 Piloted and developed business case for new
Lightbulb Housing offer to provide joined up
support across housing, health and social care
to keep people safe, well, warm and
independent in their own homes.
 Redesigned falls pathway. Each stage within
the pathway has been developed into an agreed
level of service that will form part of the LLR
Falls Prevention and Treatment Strategy.

 Integrated locality teams are being
developed during Q4 2016/17, and will
initially support patients with multiple
long term conditions, frailty and others
who are at risk of high levels of acute
care costs if their care is not well
managed in the community.

 Developed the model for social prescribing
across Leicestershire.

Integrated Urgent Response

Hospital Discharge and Reablement

 Achieved 2,138 avoided admissions between 1st
April and 31st December 2016.

 Launched a new jointly commissioned
domiciliary service, called Help to Live at
Home, on 7th November. It promotes
reablement in the home and integrating
domiciliary care providers more
effectively with other health and care
services, including primary care and
prevention services in each locality.

 Launched a new electronic falls risk assessment
tool (eFRAT) for paramedics, which has resulted
in reduced conveyances to hospital. Integrated
working with community health services has
enabled fallers to stay in their home while
receiving nursing and therapy services required.
 Piloted ambulatory care scheme within the
Clinical Decisions Unit at Glenfield Hospital for
cardiorespiratory patients.
 Urgent Care System in LLR has undergone a
service redesign and reprocurement process in
2016/17. New services to commence in April
2017, which incorporate a number of the
emergency admissions avoidance schemes
funded and tested within the Leicestershire BCF.

22

 New Integrated Discharge In-Reach
team set up in January 2017 to identify,
transfer and then assess suitable
patients into bed based reablement.
 As part of Lightbulb, the Hospital
Housing Discharge support service
involves housing specialists working
directly with patients and hospital staff to
identify and resolve housing issues that
are a potential barrier to discharge and
to help prevent readmissions. Service
demonstrating impressive results.

135

3.3

Progress with BCF Enablers in 2016/17

Progress with BCF Enablers in 2016/17


The Leicestershire Integration Programme has been leading work to scope opportunities
to integrate the various points of customer access across the health and care economy
in LLR. Extensive service development and design activity workshops were undertaken,
which involved all partners co-designing the principles and model of service, and
gathering more detailed baseline and performance data across partners.



Care and Healthtrak is now a business as usual tool for measuring the impact of care
pathway developments in LLR. Customised dashboards are in place which reveal
otherwise unachievable insights into patient journeys across the health and care system
and how services across health and care impact upon each other.



Individual trajectories developed for each of the emergency admissions avoidance
schemes with ongoing performance management and data quality improvements.



Formal independent evaluation of four components of the Integration Programme, via a
research partnership with Loughborough University, Healthwatch Leicestershire and
SIMUL8. Integrated care pathways analysed using simulation modelling, stakeholder
workshops and patient experience focus groups.



At December 2016, there was 9,550 adult social care service users of which 9,341
(98%) have a validated NHS number as a key enabler to data sharing across health and
care.



Launched Health and Care Integration Website for Leicestershire
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/.



Social isolation campaign launched in autumn 2016
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/reducingloneliness/.



Integration Stakeholder Bulletins published monthly featuring our progress and case
studies http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/healthand-care-integration-newsletters/.



Work of the Integration Programme promoted via @leicshwb twitter feed.

23

136

How we refreshed our BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19

3.4

A systematic approach has been undertaken.
Leicestershire’s (multiagency, director level) Integration Executive has overseen this work on
behalf of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.
Detailed work to evaluate the performance of the BCF plan to date has been led by the
Integration Operational Group. This is a multiagency group of commissioners and providers
reporting into our Integration Executive.
In order to refresh the Leicestershire BCF plan for 2017/18 in summary we have undertaken
the following activities: 

Considered the strategic context of the integration policy pillars on our local vision
and plans



Examined our progress to date and the milestones we still need to achieve to
become an integrated health and care system by 2020/21.



Clarified the contribution the Leicestershire BCF plan and pooled budget will continue
to make to deliver specific components of the system level transformation set out
within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s Sustainability and Transformation Plan,



Completed a full financial refresh, in line with the significant financial pressures and
risks affecting all partner organisations



Completed a review across all BCF plan components, led by the integration
operational group. This has included taking account of evaluations and service
reviews completed in 2016/17, in accordance with our workplan, assessing current
risks and issues affecting plan delivery, and identifying priority service lines where
further work needs to be undertaken in our 2017/18 workplan



Undertaken a significant programme of engagement across all partners.



Assessed the implications of the BCF policy framework and technical guidance

The following section sets out in more detail the approach we have taken:
The BCF plan was divided into categories for the refresh:
1. Elements of the plan considered embedded and business as usual, some of which date
back to the original health transfer monies allocations in 2011/12 which preceded the
BCF. The refresh process ensured partners could discuss and agree which schemes
should remain in this category and if additional review work should be undertaken either
now or in the future
2. Elements of the plan which were new in 2016/17 and subject to
evaluation/commissioning decisions either by December 2016 or post December 2016.
3. Elements of the plan which were emerging for 2017/18
4. Elements of the plan which were already planned to be decommissioned by March 31
2017.
24

137

5. Elements of the plan where funding was assumed to be recurrent but services would be
redesigned during 2017/18 - in particular for Home First and Integrated Urgent Care.
The Integration Operational Group worked through a series of workshops and meetings
between October and December 2016 to review the plan in detail, creating an action plan by
commissioner, compiling evidence from a range of sources including the findings of formal
evaluations being undertaken, emerging business cases/proposals, and routine performance
and service information/decisions gathered via existing governance processes.
The group directed actions and clarifications over this 3 month period, ensuring these
elements could be reflected in CCG operating plans, and NHS and LA contractual
requirements for 2017/18.
Initial recommendations from these outputs were made to the Integration Executive at their
meetings in November and December 2016 to inform the first cut of the BCF refresh by 20
December 2016.
This deadline was set locally in the absence of national guidance for the 2017/18 BCF, but
was deemed necessary by partners, to align with the submission of CCG operating plan on
December 23, 2016.
In parallel with the above:

A full financial refresh was undertaken, profiling the plan for 2017/18.



A review of Adult Social Care protection was undertaken in conjunction with CCGs.



A review of additional pressures affecting CCGs and adult social care in the context of
local allocations and savings targets was undertaken.



A review of the threshold for the reserve/risk pool within the plan was undertaken in
conjunction with CCG Finance Directors.



Trajectories for existing and proposed emergency admissions avoidance schemes were
refreshed/developed using the learning and findings from our implementation experience
and evaluations undertaken in 2016 – confirm and challenge was applied to these
trajectories on a multiagency basis ensuring alignment to the assumptions in CCG
operating plans and the STP.



A refresh of the programme delivery resources in terms of the management support
available to deliver the plan, both within the core BCF delivery team and via matrix
working across our partnership.

25

138

4 OUR PLANS FOR 2017/18 – 2018/19
In this refresh of the BCF plan we’ve updated the original four themes, and now have nine
BCF components (referenced 1-9 below and the corresponding spending plan at Appendix
4), with clear alignment to the priorities and workstreams of the LLR STP.
The diagram below illustrates how the key workstreams of the LLR STP will together deliver
the integrated, care in the community that is needed to make our health and care system
person centred, accessible and sustainable for the future.

Section 4.1 – 4.19 below outline how the Leicestershire BCF plan will deliver (and fund) key
elements of the work.
4.1

BCF 1 - Unified Prevention Offer

The STP calls for an increased focus on prevention so that in the medium term people are
supported to self-care, and that where possible we prevent, reduce or delay the need for
statutory services by investing in low level support and supporting people to make positive
choices to maintain their health, wellbeing and independence for as long as possible. It is
recognised that many of these interventions are non-medical and can be provided from a
range of partners and sources, including informal community based support.

26

139

The Leicestershire BCF has, since its inception placed priority on developing a Unified
Prevention Offer for Leicestershire’s communities, building on community assets and
building community capacity in conjunction with the Council’s Communities Strategy.
With leadership from Public Health and District Councils, in conjunction with other council
services, NHS partners, Fire, Police, and the voluntary sector, the Unified Prevention Board
has led work to develop the approach to social prescribing during 2016/17.
The BCF plan continues to include investment for First Contact as a single point of access to
refer and navigate into the local menu of non-medical interventions.
The menu includes public health lifestyle services, local area coordinators who provide
vulnerable people with low level support in their community, and a range of wellbeing
services such as support for carers and falls prevention.
First Contact also provides the front door into Leicestershire new integrated housing service,
called Lightbulb.
Lightbulb provides a one stop shop for assessing and coordinating housing support including
hospital discharge housing support, affordable warmth, aids and adaptations, home
maintenance, home safety and future housing options.
4.2

BCF 2 - Home First & Our Local Action Plan to Improve Hospital Discharge

The overarching model of care across LLR is the ‘Home First’ model. In practical terms this
means everyone should ask: “Why is this patient not at home?” or “How best can we keep
them at home?” During 2016/17, LLR has redesigned its discharge pathways from over 50
ways out of hospital into five distinct pathways, designed to make Home First a reality in our
health and care system in the future.
4.2.1

LLR Discharge Pathways as at February 2017

27

140

Each pathway follows the key principles of ‘Home First’ which include:
 Discharge to Assess
 Trusted Assessor
 Reducing the number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) assessments completed in the
acute setting.
4.2.2

Discharge to Assess

This approach links into the ‘’home first’ philosophy by seeking to only assess a patient’s
long term needs once they have recovered from their acute illness or hospital episode.
As a result, pathways two and three offer a period of NHS funded reablement (home based
and residential care based) for up to six weeks which includes case management and
therapy assessment alongside enabling carers. The aim is to increase the number of people
who remain in their own homes, and reduce the complexity of a long term care package. By
offering discharge to assess, it supports the aim of reducing the number of people who are
assessed in the acute trust for Continuing Healthcare funding. These assessments are now
completed whilst the person is nearing the end of their reablement period.
4.2.3

Trusted Assessor

The concept of trusted assessor is to ensure the patient is assessed for their ongoing needs
once, and that the assessment is ‘trusted’ by the receiving community service. For LLR, this
principle is in place for pathways two and three.
The hospital discharge team at UHL and nominated team members in the community
hospitals complete the assessment document which then negates the need for the referring
service lead to visit the patient in hospital to re-assess their needs before accepting the
patient.
Currently the document is paper based but there is an established program of work to
support an electronic version.
Trusted assessment does not currently apply to long term stays in residential and nursing
care homes. A piece of work is planned which addresses how care homes and hospitals will
work together on this basis.
4.2.4

End of Life (EOL) and Fast Track Cases

In 2017, the EOL strategy team is planning to test a new approach whereby existing services
are deployed via a coordinated hub (e.g. all services can be accessed via a single point of
contact, and the services decide which skill set is most needed to support the patient). The
aim is to avoid a ‘prescribed’ approach to end of life care which often does not meet the
patient’s needs and overburdens services.
The approach supports ‘discharge to assess’ and trusted assessment as there is a case
management function to ensure the patient’s ongoing needs are supported once they reach
their intended destination (home, hospice etc.).

28

141

4.2.5

LLR System Oversight of Discharge Flow and DTOC Performance

The LLR health and care system’s performance in relation to delayed transfers of care and
the implementation of the pathways noted above is led by the LLR A&E Delivery Board,
supported by a Discharge Working Group.
The LLR Recovery Action Plan contains the local action plan targeted to improving hospital
discharge performance.
The two high impact actions from the RAP in relation to improving hospital discharge in LLR
are:
 Increase capacity in Pathways two and three to support discharge including
discharge to assess


Improve interface with CHC approval and brokerage

UHL have implemented a new “Red 2 Green” system across all wards which has been
designed to focus on internal flow in support of more effective hospital discharge.
Once a patient is medically fit for discharge there should be a series of rapid and
coordinated activities across the hospital to ensure this happens at pace.
For example, ensuring senior clinical decisions take place early in the day, prompt access to
medications for discharge, ensuring the discharge to assess approach is taken, with
proactive and responsive support from hospital based social care teams and discharge
inreach services.
The LLR Urgent Care Recovery Action Plan is reviewed fortnightly by the A&E Delivery
Board, with daily/weekly operational escalation procedures in place across all agencies to
deal with system surges and capacity problems. These arrangements have been
strengthened as usual over the winter period including regular daily teleconferences to
manage specific discharge cases, pressures and blockages.
In recent weeks the A&E Delivery Board has been able to monitor new data arising from the
Red 2 Green approach, collectively tackling the key themes and issues arising from this
analysis, with the underlying operational issues being fully surfaced and addressed.
4.2.6

Home First Programme

In terms of transformation, and the implementation of medium term, sustainable solutions in
LLR, since January 2017 a new Home First Programme Board has been established as a
key workstream of the LLR STP.
Scoping and baseline analysis is currently in progress but a draft PID is already in place.
The focus of this work will be to:


Oversee the implementation of the Home First strategy, including working effectively
with the Integrated Teams Board, A&E Delivery Board and Integration Boards;



Continue the service redesign needed to fully embed the new discharge pathways



Further review the existing referral processes and systems operating across
organisations such as for CHC and discharge to assess



Ensure that reablement and rehabilitation capacity is organised to provide the most
effective and efficient hospital discharge arrangements
29

142



Ensure that reablement outcomes focus on returning people to maximum
functionality, avoiding readmissions and keep people in their usual place of residence
for as long as possible. Agreeing the future model of community support in line with
the Home First strategy;



Determine/refine the future capacity requirements needed for hospital beds, linked to
STP planning assumptions and contribute to the bed reductions outlined in the STP



Ensure that local people are effectively engaged in Home First and developing a
communications and engagement plan to support the strategy;



Ensure that the implications of Home First on carers are well addressed



Lead a collaborative approach to developing and managing the market for domiciliary
care and care homes across health and social care in order to deliver Home First.

The Home First Workstream will consider both step down and step up services within its
remit and will work closely with the existing Discharge Steering Group in delivering its
objectives.
In support of the LLR A&E Delivery Board and the new Home First Workstream an
independent ECIP review has recently been conducted to provide further insights into the
current discharge pathways and systems across LLR.
This review considers the current services operating between hospital and community
settings and the partnership working arrangements and referrals processes between health
and social care partners to facilitate hospital discharge, and makes recommendations about
where further improvements can be made with reference to best practice.
The outputs of this review are expected to be available in late February to inform next steps.
These will be adopted by the Home First Workstream and A&E Delivery Board and where
applicable reflected in the RAP and Home First PID/workplan. (This para will be updated
with the key recommendations, once the report is finalised and approved, and before the
BCF submission is sent to NHSE)

4.3

BCF 3 Integrated Housing Support

During 2016/17 we developed a business case for our new integrated housing service
across Leicestershire, called Lightbulb.
The service brings together a range of previously fragmented housing support services
provided by district councils, the county council and other providers into one integrated and
consistent offer across the local population. The service will operate on a hub and spoke
model with locality based spokes in each District Council. The housing offer will therefore
support integrated locality health and care teams.
We have tested a number of parts of this service over the past 18 months using a
transformation grant from DCLG.
The business case demonstrates the effectiveness of the proposed model which includes
introducing a new housing coordinator role who will provide one point of contact for
supporting customers to access major and minor adaptations, affordable warmth, hospital
discharge support, home safety, home maintenance etc.
30

143

A new housing MOT offers a holistic assessment of need and seeks to provide earlier
intervention targeted to health and wellbeing e.g. falls prevention within the home
environment.
Within the Lightbulb service model are specific staffing resources for supporting hospital
discharge. Staff are based at Leicester Royal Infirmary and the Bradgate Unit, working
closely with discharge teams to support patients with a range of housing solutions such as
homelessness, rent/tenancy issues, furniture packs, cleaning and clearing patients homes
have become cluttered or unsuitable e.g. due to hoarding, moving furniture to accommodate
a change in the person’s mobility/reduce risks of falls, expediting adaptations, and tackling
heating problems.
Key benefits from the Lightbulb housing service include streamlining processes with fewer
handoffs and delays, the opportunity to provide on average 3 housing interventions to
vulnerable people (based on the findings from our housing MOT pilot), integrating housing
support into locality based health and care teams, significant reductions in delayed transfers
of care due to housing related issues, as demonstrated by the work of the discharge housing
support staff over the past year.
Subject to approval of the business case by partners in Q3/4 of 2016/17, the service is
intended to be rolled out between April and October 2017.
The Lightbulb business case can be found at this weblink
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4607&Ver=4 (item 499)
4.4

BCF 4 Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home

During 2016/17 a new domiciliary care service, called Help to Live at Home was
commissioned jointly by the County CCGs and Leicestershire County Council.
The procurement secured nine new providers for the Leicestershire area covering 18
“geographical lots aligned to the CCG boundaries. The service has been commissioned to
deliver improved reablement and provide the opportunity for local home care providers to be
integrated with other parts of the health and care system in their locality.
The new service went live on 7th November. However, just prior to the launch, one of the
new providers exited the process, which led to the council enacting a contingency plan
across West Leicestershire, where three lots geographical lots were affected by this
situation.
These lots are currently being covered by other local providers on an interim basis, and a reprocurement is underway with a view to selecting provider(s) for the remaining three lots by
March 2017.
A back office joint commissioning function is in place to support the delivery of HTLAH and
resources supporting the back office form part of the Leicestershire BCF financial plan.
Further work is being undertaken in Q4 of 2016/17 to stabilise provision, maximise capacity
and monitor ongoing quality assurance requirements with the new providers.

31

144

4.5

BCF 5 - Integrated Locality Teams

Per the diagram below, our model of integrated health and care wraps around the patient
and their GP practice, extending the care and support that can be delivered in community
settings through multidisciplinary working, with the aim of reducing the amount of care and
support delivered in acute settings, so that only care that should/must be delivered in the
acute setting will take place there in the future.

Critical to this model, in terms of the contribution from the BCF are:





Multidisciplinary teams and integrated services that are configured on a locality basis
and wrap-around clusters of GP practices.
Community based alternatives for urgent care.
Ensuring those being discharged from hospital are received safely back into local
community services.
Shifting demand into non-medical support where appropriate by providing a broad and
consistent range of social and preventative services.

Between November 2016 and April 2017 preparatory work has been undertaken at pace to
implement integrated locality teams in LLR - in summary this has involved:


Setting up a multi-agency Programme Board as one of the key workstreams of the
STP - with joint SROs across health and care, and joint clinical leads across primary
and secondary care.



Development of a PID.



Identification of 11 locality leadership teams across LLR comprised of designated
senior professionals from primary care, CCGs, social care and community nursing
teams.



Undertaking a readiness self-assessment across all 11 locality teams.



Assessing and adapting the learning from MSCP Vanguard sites including in
particular Hampshire and Sunderland, to inform the local model.



Via risk stratification, defining the cohorts in scope for integrated locality teams to
focus on.
32

145



Providing data analysis packets by locality and a self-serve guide to promote the
ongoing use of this analysis.



Defining the model of case management, care coordination, and
multidisciplinary working should develop in LLR with effect from April 2016.



Defining the key evidence based interventions that should be applied to the patient
cohorts to improve case management, care coordination and reduce acute/urgent
care spend.



Developing a framework for evaluating the impact of integrated locality teams.



Developing a governance and accountability framework for integrated locality teams



Sourcing leadership development for integrated locality teams (with a leadership
programme commencing in February 2017).



Using a range of the above outputs to create a “manual” for integrated locality teams
for LLR to help structure their operational work, and capture learning and impact in
the early stages of implementation.



A number of initial test beds will be identified across the 11 integrated locality teams
with a view to testing interventions within the specific cohorts, with effect from April
2017.

4.6

how

BCF 6 Integrated Urgent Care

During 2016/17 LLR partners have been working towards a new model of integrated urgent
care in line with the NHS England Five Year Forward View, through our participation across
LLR in the national Urgent Care Vanguard programme. This work has culminated in a
procurement for a new model of service for April 2017 onwards which has the following key
design principles:


Responsive, accessible person-centred services as close to home as possible.



Services will wrap care around the individual, promoting self-care and independence,
enhancing recovery and reablement, through integrated health and social care
services that are innovative and promote care in the right setting at the right time.



Urgent care services in LLR will be consistently available 24 hours per day, 7 days a
week in community and hospital settings.



Clinical triage and navigation is a central part of the new integrated urgent care offer,
reducing demand on ambulances and acute emergency services.

The following diagram identifies the components of our integrated urgent care system.

33

146

The main changes to urgent care which will be delivered by the new service model are:


The creation of a clinical navigation service, providing telephone advice, assessment
and onward referral for people calling NHS 111 and 999.



The clinicians working in the service will have access to patients’ primary care
records and care plans, where relevant, and will be able to directly book patients into
primary and community urgent care services.



The service will include warm transfer callers to specialist advice for mental health,
medication and dental issues.



Future plans for the navigation hub include bringing it together with a professional
advice line and integration with a single point of access for social care.



Extended access to primary care across LLR – so that patients can access primary
care services 8am to a minimum of 8pm every day of the week.



Urgent Care Centres will offer a range of diagnostic tests and medical expertise for
people with more complex or urgent needs, and we will strengthen community based
ambulatory care pathways which can avoid admission without the need to referral to
acute hospital.



An integrated streaming and urgent care service at the front door of Leicester Royal
Infirmary Emergency Department, staffed by senior GPs working within the rebuilt
Emergency Department.



A 24/7 urgent care home visiting service across LLR, including out of hours home
visiting and an acute visiting service for people with complex needs or living in care
homes.

The Leicestershire Better Care Fund supports delivery of this new model of service by
providing investment associated with the following components of the new urgent care
model.
34

147

List of BCF urgent care schemes for 2017/18 which support the new model of urgent care
from April 2017.
The CCG operating plans for 2017/18 indicate that the total number of emergency
admissions commissioned for 2017/18 as 63,123 admissions, (comprising 34,779 for
WLCCG and 28,344 for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG.
The total number of emergency admissions commissioned reflects the impact assumed from
the new urgent care system in totality, including the contribution from each BCF funded
component.
The individual contribution assumed for each of the BCF funded schemes is shown below.
The table shows the baseline activity assumed per scheme from 2016/17 and any additional
activity required of the schemes over and above this level of achievement for 2017/18.
Insert table – awaiting final data
While these schemes will be reported monthly via the Integration Executive (and quarterly
via NHSE governance routes), local performance management and assurance for the
delivery of the urgent care system as a whole is via the LLR A&E Delivery Board.

35

148

4.7

BCF 7 - Integrated Points of Access

The Integrated Points of Access programme is an important enabler to the delivery of our
urgent care system and to multidisciplinary community based teams working in localities.
The service will provide integrated call handling across community based health and care
services on a 24/7 basis.
Following production of a business case approved in the early part of 2016, LLR partners are
currently in phase one of this development.
The Integrated Points of Access programme is working with seven existing call centres
across health and care which coordinate community based services. These vary in size,
scope and purpose, operate with differing models and performance requirements and are
providing services from different locations within a range of NHS and LA organisations.
The business case demonstrated the benefits of enhancing the model of care by moving to a
more consistent call handling approach across these services, and integrating them for
example into a consolidated management structure, using the same technology and
potentially operating from a consolidated estate.
Phase one of the work ends in June 2017, which involves each existing call centre adopting
the new model of service, delivering initial operational benefits from this change. A gateway
review then follows before partners determine if further integration across the services
should be taken forward with the benefit of an estate and technology appraisal to inform next
steps.
The design of the service is concerned with improved call handling and improved
technology, for example having text messaging alerts and updates between professionals
engaged in case management and care coordination in the community, freeing up valuable
professional time in chasing the progress of activities across different parts of the system. As
such this is a key enabler to integrated locality teams and is also a critical part of the LLR
infrastructure sitting beneath the new clinical navigation service.
4.8

BCF 8 - Integrated Data

Leicestershire is seen as a national exemplar in data sharing due to the early adoption of the
NHS number onto social care records (currently at 98%), the adoption of the PI care and
health trak tool in 2015/16, and the application of this tool during 2016/17 to support arrange
of transformation priorities including the emerging workstreams of the STP.
The implementation of PI Care and Health trak has provided valuable insights into the
utilisation of health and care services across LLR and the impact of changes in care
pathways. It has also been the catalyst for the creation of business intelligence network
across LLR, and provided the data source/sets for the STP workforce analysis and the
evaluation of BCF services through simulation modelling with Loughborough University.
The development of the summary care record solution for LLR is a critical enabler to the
STP and Leicestershire Integration Programme.

36

149

The milestones in the digital roadmap which support this development are summarised
below:
To be updated.

37

150

4.9

BCF 9 Integrated Commissioning

Section to be added - currently being drafted reflecting work in progress on


Joint approach to commissioning nursing and residential care placements



Integrated Personal Budgets

Brief Section summarising existing Section 75 agreements covering


BCF Plan Section 75/pooled budget



Community Equipment Section 75/pooled budget



Learning Disabilities Section 75/pooled budget



Help to Live at Home (domiciliary care) Section 75/pooled budget (from November
2016).

And plans to develop an overarching s75 during 2017/18

4.10 BCF Plan Scheme Level Overview
A scheme level breakdown of the BCF plan which maps BCF components to the STP and
the BCF National Metrics and BCF National Conditions is provided at Appendix 3.
Further scheme level financial detail is provided in the BCF spending plan at Appendix 4.

38

151

5 DELIVERY OF THE BETTER CARE FUND NATIONAL
CONDITIONS AND METRICS

5.1

Assurance on the preparation and approval of the BCF Plan by the
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

There has been extensive engagement across all partners in the preparation of the
Leicestershire BCF as shown in Appendix 5.
The detailed work to refresh the BCF has been led by the Leicestershire Integration
Executive per the scheme of delegation in place via the Health and Wellbeing Board Terms
of Reference.
The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board received a report and presentation on the
progress with the BCF refresh at their meeting on 5, January 2017, and are being asked to
receive the draft BCF submission for approval on 16 March 2017, in order that the Board is
able to receive these materials prior to the pre-election period.
It is hoped the Board will be able to approve the draft BCF submission at this meeting,
subject to the national BCF guidance being published ahead of this date. Should this not be
available delegated approvals will be put in place so that the BCF submission can be
finalised and the NHS England submission timescales can be achieved between formal
Board meetings.

5.2

How the BCF Plan Maintains Protection of Adult Social Care

Within the 2016/17 BCF plan we agreed a number of investments where specific types of
packages of care and other social care services were protected. In the 2016/17 BCF plan
this totalled £17m of the £39m pooled budget.
The prioritisation and type of resource to be protected has been reviewed for 2017/18 and
determined by analysing:







The population demand profiles/projections for adult social care.
The impact of the savings target in adult social care for Leicestershire County
Council.
The protection that can be seen through the allocation of growth funding applied in
the Council’s, Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).
The delivery requirements of the local care system, including changes to models of
care being driven by the BCF.
Specific requirements linked to BCF Metrics and National Conditions, for example for
the Care Act and Delayed Transfers of Care.
The service and financial pressures that are still to be addressed in the medium term.
39

152

5.2.1

Impact of LLR-wide system changes on Adult Social Care

In the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) local health and social care economy, a
funding gap of £400m has been identified by 2020/21 if no action was taken on how current
services are being delivered. This includes the current funding pressures faced by social
care services, and the NHS together with anticipated increased demand and costs over the
next five years.
The STP builds upon the Better Care Together (BCT) partnership programme and aims to
address the way by which health and care services are delivered to meet the needs of the
local people, while at the same time ensuring that the current financial pressures faced are
effectively managed. The five year Strategic Plan sets out the most ambitious change for
health and social care for LLR and was published in November 2016.
The five year plan has identified five key strands for change which taken together will help us
to eliminate our combined financial gap by 2020/21 and contribute to closing the health and
wellbeing and care and quality gaps
The five key strands include the development of:


New models of care focused on prevention, and moderating demand growth,
including place based integrated teams, a new model for primary care, effective and
efficient planned care and an integrated urgent care offer.



A reconfiguration of hospital based services, subject to consultation.



Redesigned pathways to deliver improved outcomes for patients and residents.



Operational efficiencies - to support financial sustainability.



Getting the enablers right-including workforce; IM&T; estates; and health and social
care commissioning integration.

As interventions are focussed towards prevention, avoided hospital admissions, a ‘home
first’ model of care and greater integration across social care, community health care and
primary care, it has been recognised that this will impact on demand for social care support,
public health interventions and community services.
The full implications of the strategy for the County Council need to be identified and
addressed in order to manage the increased pressure on resources and to allow for planning
to meet this additional demand. To date there are no additional Council funds identified to
resource this. However there is a commitment, by all partners, to ensure a system wide
response to meeting changes in demand across the sector that may enable further funding
transfers from the NHS to local authorities with social care responsibilities may be required.
It is recognised by all partners that the protection of adult social care services within the
BCF, and the incremental changes already being made to integrated care delivery through
the BCF, are a crucial part of maintaining system delivery while the longer term system
changes are implemented, and the implications of the Better Care Together programme on
adult social care can be assessed and addressed in more depth.

40

153

Leicestershire County Council is required to make a total of £66m budget savings between
2017-21, of which £10m is earmarked to be saved from Adult Social Care. The Council
recognises the need to protect adult social care and accordingly has allocated only 12% of
required savings despite spending 38% of the Council budget in this area.
The Council’s 2016/17 MTFS shows an increased financial allocation for growth totalling
£13m in Adult Social Care for the next four years, representing a 4% growth in adult social
care budgets whilst overall council spending will fall.
The funding proposed from the BCF will in part meet increasing demand and cost and
continue to protect social care services alongside the council’s own measures.
The protection identified within the BCF plan does not resolve all aspects of the increased
demographic pressure, nor does it address the wider LLR system changes that are still to
come, however priority has been given to areas where insufficient social care support will be
detrimental to the delivery of the BCF plan’s aims and metrics, in particular:


To reduce emergency admissions.



To ensure a more streamlined and responsive health and care system supporting
hospital discharge seven days a week.



To provide sufficient social care support for frail older people and those with LTCs to
remain in their community for as long as possible.



So that the existing social care resource can be redesigned to integrate more
effectively with community services and primary care services.

The table below summarises the packages/activity type and investment levels that have
been agreed for 2017/18 in order to protect Adult Social Care in support of the BCF plan.
The investments include all previous protection elements which have been re-confirmed and
are being carried forward into 20117/18.
The breakdown of adult social care protection shown in the table below corresponds with the
detailed BCF spending plan at Appendix 4.
Please note: the table below shows the 2016/17 breakdown. The adult social care protected
spend for 2017/18 has locally been agreed to be set at the same level, per the same
components as in the 2016/17 table - however this is subject to confirmation against the
national technical guidance when published, and any changes required as a result.

41

154

Column will be added to show 2017/18, per the note above
Service Area

Nursing Care
Home
Packages

Home Care
Services

Residential
Respite
Services

Social Care
Assessment
and Review

Description

Risk if not protected /
protection reduced

Ongoing provision of c300
nursing care packages enabling
these high dependency service
users to remain safely in stable
placements.

Service user needs not
adequately met which
could result in a
deterioration in condition
and admission to hospital
and or need of more costly
services.
Service users are not
adequately supported in
the community which may
result in the need for more
costly services, for
example residential care.
Unmet needs could have
an impact on a service
user's health needs leading
to additional demands on
primary, community or
acute health care services.

The provision of home care
services to vulnerable adults is a
cost effective way of meeting
service user needs in their own
home and helps to maintain their
independence in the community.
Demand for this service is
increasing as more community
based services are being
commissioned. The funding
ensures the delivery of c740,000
hours of home care to 1,420
service users.
Ongoing provision of residential
respite care for c20 service
users per week. This service
provides support to carers of
service users with complex and
challenging needs, giving them
a break from their caring
responsibilities.
Dedicated social work teams
based across Leicestershire and
in acute hospitals to ensure that
service users and carers are
assessed or reviewed in an
appropriate timescale ensuring
that needs are identified and,
where appropriate, services are
commissioned to meet
outcomes.

Increased
demand for
Nursing Care
Placements

Demand growth in nursing
placements equivalent to 750
bed weeks.

Increased
demand for
Community
Based Social
Care Services

Leicestershire has an ageing
population and as a result,
greater numbers of residents are
in need of support from Adult
Social Care. This allocation will
allow for a provide community
based support for an additional
40 service users to enabling
them to remain safely in their
own homes, reducing the
likelihood of admission to
permanent residential care.

Increased risk of carer
breakdown which could
result in the need to
provide more costly
services to support service
users that would otherwise
be undertaken by the
carer.
Reduced capacity in this
area may result in delays in
assessing service user
needs which could
adversely impact on
DTOCs. Reductions in
review staff may mean that
areas of over
commissioning are not
identified which would
result in capacity issues in
the market place.

2015/16
Protected
Amount
£000’s

Other
Adjustment

2016/17
Protection

£000’s

£000’s

3,361

0

3,361

10,312

432

10,744

743

0

743

1,640

0

1,640

238

300

16,056

42

432

17,026

155

Progress on Implementation of the Care Act
The Care Act 2014 introduced significant changes to Social Care legislation in April 2015.
The changes implemented included the introduction of a national eligibility threshold; a new
duty to carry out assessments for all carers regardless of the level of care provided, and an
expanded role in market shaping. Responsibilities were also broadened to include
assessments and support for adult prisoners and people in approved premises as well as
the introduction of a universal deferred payment scheme.
All the required statutory requirements were implemented in April 2015, and a post
implementation review has been completed confirming compliance with the Act.
Further changes were due to take effect from April 2016, namely the introduction of a cap on
charges payable by service users; an increased threshold before service users start paying
and free social care to anyone entering adulthood with a disability. Due to their significant
cost, at a national level, these changes have now been postponed until 2020.
Better Care Fund Resubmission (September 2014) – CARE ACT IMPLICATIONS
Scheme

BCF Scheme
Ref

Total BCF
Commitment
£'000

Carers Support. In some cases carers will be entitled to receive
services. The BCF includes funding for the Carers Support Fund,
GP referral support service, access to advocacy and funding for
respite provision provided by the independent sector.

BCF2

805

Safeguarding. The Care Act requires that Local Authorities set up
safeguarding Adults Boards in their area. Leicestershire already
has such a board in place which is funded outside of the BCF. The
BCF plan does include funding for a number of safeguarding posts.

BCF9

55

Assessment & Eligibility. The Care Act includes provision for a
national minimum threshold for eligibility to receive services. This is
to be set at substantial and critical. As Leicestershire's eligibility
threshold is already set at this level and any additional cost will be
absorbed in the protection of social care already included in the
BCF submission.

BCF2

288

Continuity of care for movers. When a service user moves home
within England, they will continue to receive care on the day of their
arrival in the new area meaning that there will be no gap in care and
support when people choose to move. This will also be absorbed in
the protection of social care already built into the BCF Plan.

BCF2

45

1,193
Two elements of the DH Local Reform and Community Voices
Grant are funded from the Better Care Fund:
1) Veterans in receipt of guaranteed income payments (GIP).
When financially assessing social care service users to determine
the charge they pay for the service received, if a service
user/veteran is in receipt of a GIP through the Armed Forces
Compensation Scheme, that income cannot be taken into account
and reduces the charge that the Council can make.

43

EN02

17

156

2) Independent Mental Health Advocacy (IMHA). The responsibility
for the provision of Independent Mental Health Advocacy (IMHA)
services transferred to the local authority in April 2013 from PCTs.

EN02

58

DWP Policies. The introduction of pension auto enrolment for
providers is likely to result in additional costs. In addition to this, the
1% cap on benefits (against the previous increases in line with
inflation) will see reduced income generating capacity for the
provision of social care services. This forms part of the protection of
social care already included in the BCF Plan.

120

1,388

Other elements (including Law Reform, information and advice Support) to meet Care Act
requirements are included in Local Authority core funding through existing commissioning
rather than BCF)

5.3

Financial Requirements including Confirmation of the Source of Funds for the
Refreshed BCF Plan

Financial Context
The BCF refresh for 2017/18 and 2018/19 has involved a comprehensive review of the
proposed spending plan for that period.
The BCF Operational Group and the Integration Finance and Performance Group have led
the detailed work to evaluate the performance of the BCF plan in 2016/17 including
assessing financial performance and risks and the outputs of this work have been reported
via the Integration Executive, approved by the Integration Finance and Performance Group
and assured via the Health and Wellbeing Board, in line with local governance
arrangements.
Partners have considered the overall pressures within the BCF spending plan, the level of
investment needed to meet the BCF metrics and national conditions, seeking local
agreements on the level of the risk pool, the impact of national BCF allocations including
inflationary factors and DFG allocation requirements.
These discussions have taken place in the context of wider financial pressures affecting all
partners in the health and care system, plus the need to balance priorities within a complex
planning environment and in a health and care economy which continues to face significant
sustainability risks linked to the over use of acute care.
The process to refresh the BCF financial plan has confirmed the following:


That the planning process has been made over the medium term with partner
contributions to the pool exceeding the minimum required BCF funding levels of
£43m in 2017/18 and 2018/19 (£39.1m in 2016/17)



Additional contributions above the required minimum BCF level of funding total
include:
44

157

o

An additional CCG contribution of £2.6m due to the addition into the BCF plan
from 2017/18 of the second phase of the Intensive Community Support
service in Leicestershire. This over and above the BCF minimum contribution
and the s75 agreement will be revised to reflect this

o

An additional LA contribution of £0.7m in 17/18 and £0.1m in 18/19 (£0.2m in
16/17).



That the investment in adult social care protection within the fund will be £17m.



That £2.9m in 2017/18 and 2018/19 (£1.7m in 2016/17) of the DFG allocation will be
passported directly to Districts for DFG delivery, in line with grant conditions, and the
remaining £0.2m funding will be allocated as part of a joint decision including housing
authorities.



That funding has been set aside to help progress the Government’s intention that by
2020 health and social care will be integrated across England.



A further financial refresh will take place in Q3-4 of 2017/18 to take account of
ongoing commissioning developments linked to the STP, national policy
requirements and any further savings/re-prioritisation needed to ensure a sustainable
pooled budget in the medium term.



The creation of a £1m risk pool from within the BCF during 2017/18 is in recognition
of the need to achieve further savings and headroom so that the plan can become
more sustainable in the medium term. This is due to the significant financial
pressures affecting partners in 2017/18, and the fact that, unlike the previous 2
financial years, the BCF plan does not have the benefit of any other contingencies or
reserves to draw on from 2017/18 onwards.



Should the £1m risk pool not be able to be achieved from the service review/VFM
activities outlined in the programme plan the risk will be shared between CCG core
budgets and the BCF plan on a 50%/50% basis.



This will be reflected in the s75 agreement.



Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) – per the announcements made in the 2015 CSR,
Local Authorities were expected to benefit from improved BCF allocations from
2017/18 onwards, however the amount received per area depends on the ability of
the council to raise funding from the social care precept. As a result, Leicestershire
does not receive any additional iBCF funding in 2017/18, and reduced levels in later
years. It is anticipated that £5.6m of iBCF additional funding will be available via
Local Authority allocations in 2018/19.The county council included a 2% social care
precept in 2016/17 and budget plans include proposals to introduce a maximum
further 6% over the next three financial years.

45

158

The table below confirms the source of funds to be applied to the BCF over the two year
period. The BCF will be subject to refresh for 2018/19 to take account of refreshed guidance,
any changes in the BCF policy and BCF allocations, and agreement will be sought across
the partnership, including via the Health and Wellbeing Board by April 2018.
Better Care Fund Funding 2017/18 and 2018/19
Funding Source

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

15,832
20,843
3,067
39,743

16,129
21,239
3,067
40,435

Additional LA Contribution
Additional CCG Allocation (ICS scheme)

716
2,563
3,279

53
2,563
2,616

Total BCF Funding

43,022

43,051

* Inclusive of Care Act Funding

1,388

Minimum Contributions
East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG*
West Leicestershire CCG*
Disabled Facilities Grants
Additional Contributions

5.4

Leicestershire BCF Section 75

The (rolling) section 75 for the Leicestershire BCF was initially approved in 2015 and
refreshed in line with the 2016/17 BCF plan schedules in June 2016.
This work was undertaken in partnership across the two CCGs and LA, and with the support
of respective finance officers, corporate governance officers and legal advisers.
The BCF s75 was also updated in 2016/17 to reflect the inclusion of back office functions
and reablement services associated with the new Help to Live at Home Service, which in
itself has a related s75 document.
Work to refresh the BCF s75 for 2017/18 will be undertaken in April and June 2017 and the
s75 will be approved via the existing governance routes of the CCG Boards, and by
delegated authority from Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet.

5.5

Investment in NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services

The detailed BCF spending plan at Appendix 4 demonstrates the breadth of the
Leicestershire BCF plan in investing in NHS commissioned services out of hospital. This
46

159

includes not only NHS community services and social care services but a range of
prevention services such as first contact, housing support and local area coordination.
The proportion of the plan invested in these services is illustrated in the following tables and
pie charts with comparison chart between 2016/17 and 2017/18:

Analysis of BCF Expenditure by Provider
Social and Housing (LCC Provider)
Social and Housing (LCC Commissioned)
NHS Commissioned (Out of Hospital)
NHS Commissioned (Acute)

2016/17
£000
7,942
17,298
14,102
78
39,419

2017/18 2018/19
£000
£000
9,206
8,950
17,069 16,978
16,745 17,123
43,020 43,051

Provisional themes table is to be further checked.
Analysis of BCF Expenditure by Theme
Unified Prevention Offer
Home First
Integrated Housing Support
Integrated Domicilliary Care
Integrated Locality Theme
Integrated Urgent care
Integrated Commissioning
Enablers
Risk Pool, Contingency and Cost
Improvement Target

47

2016/17
£000
553
27,134
2,803
992
1,368
4,016
1,738
815

2018/19
£000
166
28,179
3,730
1,694
1,691
4,533
1,829
545

2018/19
£000
167
28,088
3,536
1,694
1,691
4,538
1,755
548

39,419

656
43,020

1,035
43,051

160

5.6

Disabled Facilities Grant Allocations

The Leicestershire BCF plan currently forecasts and commits to allocate £2.85m to Districts
in the form of DFG allocations, subject to confirmation of the 2017/18 DFG allocations
expected to be confirmed nationally by March 2017.
Due to the financial gap in DFG funding in the 2016/17 financial plan, caused by the late
removal of the social care capital grant nationally, Leicestershire County Council has
provided £600k of additional funds into the BCF to mitigate this pressure.
The allocation by District is shown in lines 32-38 of the BCF spending plan (Appendix 4).
Preparations for the refresh of the BCF plan included working with District Councils to
examine DFG forecasting information so that a more realistic projection of spend could be
developed. Districts will move to invoicing quarterly for DFG activity based on actual DFG
spend with effect from April 2017.
Although current forecasting information assumes the majority of the £2.85m will be
required, should any allocation remain uncommitted/or be forecast to be uncommitted, each
District will agree how this is to be used in the context of the BCF policy, e.g. in support of
strategic priorities which integrate of health, wellbeing and housing, for the benefit of their
local residents.

48

161

5.7

Better Care Fund Metrics

The following tables set out each BCF metric, our performance in 2016/17, our proposed
trajectory for the 2 year period of this BCF plan and a summary of the rationale for the level
of performance we are aiming for.

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population
This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to reduce inappropriate
admissions of older people to residential care.
2016/17
Performance
621.80, based on
Apr-Jan data

Trajectory for 2017/18
and 2018/19
630.60 and 630.60

Target setting methodology and
rationale
These targets have been set in agreement
with the Adults and Communities
Directorate at Leicestershire County
Council based on the forecast end of year
position for 2016/17 based on the Apr-Dec
data. More challenging targets were not set
because the new Help to Live at Home
domiciliary care scheme has yet to achieve
stability, and the evidence from the JSNA
shows that the number of people aged 85+
is set to grow at a greater rate than the rest
of the population from 2016 onwards.

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after
discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services
This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to increase the
effectiveness of reablement and rehabilitation services whilst ensuring that the number of
service users offered the service does not decrease.
The aim is therefore to increase the percentage of service users still at home 91 days after
discharge.
2016/17
Performance
88.0%

Trajectory for 2017/18
and 2018/19
89.0%, 89.0%

Target setting methodology and
rationale
A small improvement in performance has
been used to set the target. 89.0% would
put Leicestershire in the top quartile
nationally based on 2015/16 performance.
These targets have been set in agreement
with the Adults and Communities

49

162

Directorate at Leicestershire County
Council.

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population (average per
month)
This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome of effective joint
working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and community-based
care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all hospitals for all adults.
The aim is therefore to reduce the rate of delayed bed days per 100,000 population.
2016/17
Performance
287.04, 357.19 and
382.17 days
delayed per 100,000
population aged 18+
per month for
quarters 1-3
respectively

Trajectory for 2017/18
and 2018/19
2017/18


Q1 – 289.91



Q2 – 355.94



Q3 – 378.92



Q4 – 474.71

In terms of total days delayed in 2017/18 a
0.5% reduction on 2016/17 performance
has been applied, allowing for population
increase.
However, that reduction has been phased
across the year with 1% deterioration in
performance in the number of days in Q1.
For the final three quarters of 2017/18,
0.35% (Q2), 0.85% (Q3) and 1.3% (Q4)
improvements in performance have been
applied.

2018/19


Q1 – 285.67



Q2 – 292.17



Q3 – 275.81



Q4 – 376.31

Target setting methodology and
rationale

The 2018/19 targets are based on aligning
us closer to the performance shown by
Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire, our real
and statistical neighbours.
Although Leicestershire benchmarks well
nationally, we are still ambitious to reduce
our delayed transfers of care.

50

163

Non-Elective Admissions (General & Acute)
This is a nationally defined metric measuring the reduction in non-elective admissions which
can be influenced by effective collaboration across the health and care system.
Total non-elective admissions (general and acute) underpin the payment for performance
element of the Better Care Fund.
2016/17
Performance
753.75 admissions
per 100,000
population per
month

Trajectory for 2017/18
and 2018/19
768.87 and 768.04
admissions per
100,000 population per
month – based on CCG
operating plans

Target setting methodology and
rationale
In 2016/17 the target of avoiding 1,517
admissions was set, based on alignment
with CCG operating plans. This number of
avoided admissions was achieved by the
end of September and by the end of
December, 2,138 admissions had been
avoided by BCF funded schemes.
CCG Operating Plan 2017/18 indicates the
county CCG’s will commission 63,123
emergency admissions. This represents an
increase in the number of emergency
admissions when compared with the
2016/17 contract (58,896).
The following is an initial breakdown of
admissions to be avoided by schemes
detailed in operating plan (for the two
Leicestershire CCG’s):
UEC = 662
Cardiorespiratory QIPP = 41
Stroke neuro rehab = 58
Total = 760
Admissions to be avoided by other BCF
schemes:
ICS = further work in progress
ICRS-EoL = further work in progress
eFRAT = further work in progress

51

164

Improved Patient Experience
Selected metric for BCF Plan from national menu: - taken from GP Patient Survey:
“In the last 6 months, have you had enough support from local services or organisations to
help manage long-term health condition(s)? Please think about all organisations and
services, not just health.”
The metric measures the number of patients giving a response of "Yes, definitely" or "Yes, to
some extent" to the above question in the GP Patient Survey in comparison to the total
number of responses to the question.
2016/17
Performance
Data released July
2017

Trajectory for 2017/18
and 2018/19
64.9% and 66.2%

Assessment of impact of BCF on
achieving the performance
Data is now released only annually each
July. 2016/17 data
2015/16 performance was 63.6% released
in July 2016. This is better than the
England average for this period of 63.1%.
The targets are for data due to be released
in July 2018 and July 2019.

Injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over
This is a locally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to reduce emergency
admissions for injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over.
2016/17
Trajectory for 2017/18
Assessment of impact of BCF on
Performance
and 2018/19
achieving the performance
1,401.24 per
100,000 population
aged 65+

1,191.05, 1,120.71

The targets for 2017/18 and 2018/19 are
based on the predicted 2016/17 rate of
1,401.24 admissions per 100,000
population aged 65+ and the recently
approved falls pathway improvement
business case which will be implemented
from April 2017. This should reduce falls
admissions by 15% in year 1 and 20% in
year 2.
The latest published data (2014/15) shows
Leicestershire as having a directly
standardised rate significantly better than
the England average for the whole age 65+
cohort and for the separate 65-79 age
group and the 80+ age group.
52

165

6 PROGRAMME PLAN
Our Programme Plan has been refreshed in light of the work undertaken to review the BCF
plan for 2017/18. A high level summary is given below (the more detailed Gantt chart is
available at Appendix 6).
The BCF refresh identified a number of specific commissioning actions and activities
including service reviews and ongoing VFM assessment will take place in 2017/18. These
are highlighted in red for ease of reference.
Q1
Programme Management
Sign-off section 75 agreement
Monitor and report BCF performance and finance process
Agree communications and engagement plan for 2017/18
Annual review of BCF Equalities Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA)
Develop and agree evaluation plan for integration programme
BCF Schemes
Unified Prevention Offer
Develop/agree social prescribing model for Leicestershire
Information sharing agreement across Unified Prevention Board partners
Map all areas of STP for prevention
Undertake review of First Contact Plus service
Integrated Locality Teams (STP workstream)
Confirmation of case management model across LLR
Review Integrated Care/Proactive Care models and redesign LLR approach
Mobilisation of new falls pathway across LLR
Develop and implement phase 3 eFRAT (Falls Risk Assessment Tool)
Further development of falls prevention programme
Pilot new pathway for end of life (including 24/7 service)
Scope and mobilise cardiorespiratory service
LLR Dementia Workstream
Launch new jointly procured post diagnostic support & community in-reach
service for people affected by dementia
Housing
Develop a proposed business model for medium term approach for Assistive
Technology across Leicestershire
Implement phase 1 (early roll-out in 1 District) of Lightbulb Programme
Full roll-out of Lightbulb Programme across Leicestershire
Refresh Disabled Facilities Grants quarterly forecasting for 2018/19
Home First (STP Workstream)
Baseline review of all current reablement spend, activity & outcomes
Further milestones to be confirmed post baseline review
Develop a new joint health & care LLR Carers strategy for 2017-20
Explore recommendations to revise training approach for Health and Social
Care Protocol
Confirm commissioning intentions for Health & Social Care Protocol for April
2018 onwards
Develop medium & longer term approach for integrated discharge services
53

Q2

Q3

Q4

166

Q1
Review overall mental health pathway as part of Home First work
Urgent Care Model (STP workstream)
Implement new urgent care services
Review the social care Crisis Response Service
BCT LD Short Breaks
Review the LD Short Breaks service for 2018/19
Integrated Commissioning
Scope joint commissioning of placements / fee reviews
Review of integration and quality review teams
Help to Live at Home – mobilisation of new contracts
Integrated Points of Access
Standardisation phase for existing customer centres
Conduct gateway review
Agree progress to phase 2 (implementation stage)
Integrated Data
Agree commissioning plan for the PI Care and Health tool (or equivalent) from
April 2018 onwards (developed in overall context of STP BI Strategy)

54

Q2

Q3

Q4

167

7 INTEGRATION PROGRAMME RESOURCES
7.1

Team Structure Chart

The diagram below shows the core integration team staff structure chart and associated
level of resource in place to deliver the Leicestershire Integration Programme and BCF.
Roles shaded in blue and pink (per the key) are core to the team, including resources
commissioned from LCC’s corporate departments.
The joint commissioning project manager role is currently assigned to the care and nursing
homes workstream and is operationally hosted in ELRCCG.
These have been included in the BCF programme management costs in the BCF spending
plan at Appendix 4.
The LLR roles/programme resources are hosted in the team but the source of funds is
outside of the BCF, linked to LLR STP infrastructure.

55

168

7.2

Matrix Management for Programme Delivery across the Partnership

The majority of the BCF is delivered through matrix working with partners, and
project/delivery leads come from a wide range of partner organisations, including on an LLR
wide basis
The programme plan at Appendix 6 shows the distribution of the work across, including the
managerial lead and governance route for each element of the workplan.
The Integration Operational Group, which meets monthly, coordinates delivery and inputs
across all agencies in order to achieve the programme milestones. Further information about
the role of this group and the governance of the programme overall can be found in section
10.
There are a number of key roles and relationships in the matrix management system which
ensures we deliver the totality of our programme:


CCG Integration Leads (x two)



Urgent Care PMO



STP PMO



Leicestershire County Council Transformation Unit



Adult Social Care Assistant Directors/Transformation Leads



STP PMO



District Council Leads for Health and Housing

56

169

8 PROGRAMME EVALUATION & MEASURING IMPACT
8.1

Measuring the Impact of the Leicestershire Better Care Fund Plan

The impact of the plan is measured in the following ways:
a) Quarterly, nationally using a national template into NHS England. This measures the
delivery of each local plan in relation to the BCF national conditions and BCF national
metrics as detailed by definitions provided the BCF policy framework and technical
guidance for 2017/18.
b) Quarterly, locally via our Integration Finance and Performance Group – (oversight of
the BCF section 75/pooled budget).
c) Quarterly, locally to Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board.
d) Monthly, locally via the Leicestershire Integration Executive, via the Integration
performance dashboard and programme highlight report.
e) Monthly, locally via individual project/theme level governance boards, with monthly
operational oversight by the BCF operational group. This tier providing much more indepth discussion on specific milestones, trajectories and KPIs at project level.
f)

Via specific evaluation activity– for example clinical audits, independent evaluations,
academic studies, e.g. the evaluation of Local Area Coordination and the SIMTEGR8
programme (see section 8.2).

g) During the BCF refresh for 2017/18 we conducted a number of in depth reviews of
existing BCF funded services to examine their overall efficacy and VFM. The findings
were scrutinised by the Integration Operational Group and Integration Executive and
informed specific commissioning and decommissioning decisions for the 2017/18 –
2018/19 BCF plan.

8.2

SIMTEGR8

During 2016/17, we conducted a second phase of our integration evaluation and research
study (SIMTEGR8) in conjunction with Loughborough University, SIMUL8 Corporation and
Leicestershire Healthwatch. Building on the methodology developed in 2016/17 where we
evaluated 4 emergency admissions avoidance services, a further four BCF services in
2016/17. Findings are being disseminated regionally and nationally during 2017/18. Further
information can be found here http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-careintegration/monitoring-and-evaluation/

57

170

9 RISK REGISTER AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The risk register for the Leicestershire Integration Programme which reflects the risks
associated with the delivery of the BCF plan can be found at Appendix 7.
The programme level risk register is reviewed operationally and strategically at regular
intervals as part of the routine work of the Integration Executive and Integration Operational
Group.The high level risks are reflected in the corporate risk registers of Leicestershire
County Council and the two County CCGs, updated on a quarterly basis.
The Programme Director’s highlight report at the Integration Executive also summarises key
issues and risks on a monthly basis. The Key Risks relating to the BCF refresh as at March
2017 are summarised below. These are can characterised as a combination of:
1. Overall LLR system level risks (service, financial and transformational), per the LLR
STP.
2. Specific risks affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan/pooled budget, (arising from both
the LLR system level risks and the national policy position for the BCF).
a. Impact of the 2017/18 financial position across the health and care economy –
risk that partners are forced to address immediate urgent care system pressures
vs investing in medium term solutions.
b. Lack of financial headroom within the Leicestershire BCF plan, including lack of
reserves and contingencies from 2017/18 onwards.
c. Increased significant risks in CCG financial plans from 2017/18 onwards.
d. The national BCF guidance has not yet been published at the time of drafting this
narrative. There are 3 key areas of risk that need further clarification via this
guidance:
i. Whether a risk pool is required for emergency admissions performance.
(Initial feedback is that BCF guidance is likely to state this is required only
if the BCF is expected to deliver a reduction in emergency admissions
beyond CCG operating plan assumptions).
ii. Whether any increase in LA allocations into the BCF will be
announced/available, based on the previous 2015 CSR announcements
and intentions. If so, these would be linked to either DFG or Adult Social
Care budgets.
iii. Any DFG allocations pressures into the Leicestershire BCF arising from
the LA allocations/BCF technical guidance (expected in late February
2017).
e. Reliance on the delivery of further in year savings from service review and
redesign across a number of BCF service lines in order to deliver a more
sustainable medium term financial plan.
f.

A number of these BCF service lines are subject to work lead by STP
workstreams during 2017/18, with key milestones and quantifiable impact in
some areas still to be confirmed.

g. Ongoing urgent care pressures, including a deterioration in DTOC performance in
2016/17.
58

171

10 PROGRAMME GOVERNANCE
Since February 2014 the Leicestershire Integration Programme has been governed by the
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with a scheme of delegation in place to the
Leicestershire Integration Executive, the group which provides day to day oversight of the
delivery of the Integration Programme and associated pooled budgets, and which meets on
a monthly basis.
Leicestershire Integration Executive
 Chaired by a clinical lead from the CCG (rotating approx. every 18 months) the
Leicestershire Integration Executive is a very productive, delivery focused group
which has consistently benefited from excellent engagement at Director level across
health and care organisations. The Integration Executive includes representation
from the County Council, District Councils and Healthwatch, plus all local NHS
organisations, both commissioners and providers.


This group is the overarching governance group responsible for the delivery of the
whole integration programme in Leicestershire on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing
Board. The group sets the vision for integration, oversees the delivery and evaluation
of the BCF in totality, sets strategic priorities across workstreams and ensures
alignment with LLR-wide programmes of work within the STP. Members of this group
are also SROs for key deliverables within the LLR STP/ Leicestershire Integration
Programme.

There are 3 other key groups in place which support delivery of the Integration Programme :
Integration Operational Group
 Chaired by the Director of Health and Care Integration, this group comprises senior
managers responsible for delivery of the various components of integration across
the programme, with representatives from all partners on the Integration Executive.


The group which meets quarterly is responsible for overall detailed coordination of
the Integration/BCF programme plan, including business case development,
investment and disinvestment proposals, project management, programme/project
level budget management, scheme level trajectories, metrics, KPIs and evaluation,
digesting national policy and best practice, staffing resources into key elements of
the programme, troubleshooting across the programme partnership, communications
and engagement plans/materials, governance planners and reporting into respective
partner organisations, refreshing the annual BCF plan/submission and ensuring the
quarterly reporting to NHSE is prepared, approved and submitted.

Integration Finance and Performance Group
 Chaired by a CCG Director of Finance, this group comprises director/senior manager
level commissioning and finance leads from the LA and two County CCGs.

59

172



The group is primarily responsible for oversight of the pooled budgets supporting the
integration programme, including setting strategy for contingencies and risk pools,
and the overall financial management and performance of the section 75 for the BCF.



During 2016/17 the TORs have been updated to include oversight of other section 75
agreements and pooled budgets which support the Integration Programme including
Help to Live at Home, Learning Disabilities and Community Equipment. The group is
tasked with overall prioritisation of investments and making final recommendations
on the BCF financial plan/pooled annually, as well as refreshing the BCF s75, and
ensuring the appropriate governance approvals for the s75 via LCC Cabinet, CCG
Boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Unified Prevention Board


Chaired by the Director of Public Health and the District Council Chief Executive from
Blaby, this group meets monthly and comprises senior managers from all health and
care partners as well as the voluntary sector, fire and police.



The group has been tasked with a baseline review of existing services, designing the
model for a unified prevention offer for Leicestershire’s communities/localities for the
future, and recommending the forward commissioning strategy. During 2016/17 the
group has been assessing the most appropriate model/mechanisms for social
prescribing in support of the unified prevention offer. This group reports directly to
Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board given the importance of this work in
relation to both Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and LLR STP
prevention workstream.

The Leicestershire Integration Programme has maintained good visibility, communication
and engagement across partner organisations with regular all member briefings, reports to
executive teams of NHS Trusts, CCG Board meetings, scrutiny committees, Cabinet and the
District Councils, (for example via District Council Health and Wellbeing forums, the Housing
and Health Members Advisory group, the Lightbulb Programme Board and District Council
Chief Executives meetings).
Governance approvals for the Integration Programme can be complex but the governance
planner and programme plan ensure activities are well coordinated and that individual
organisations are engaged in the development, assurance and approval of plans with clear
records of decisions and delegated authority where applicable.
The diagram below shows the current governance arrangements for the Integration
programme and how the Integration Executive reports into the Leicestershire Health and
Wellbeing Board.

60

173

The Integration Programme has participated in two internal audits to test the delivery and
governance mechanisms associated with the programme including the BCF specifically,
both of which have returned high levels of assurance. CCG and LA internal and external
auditors are also closely involved in testing the financial arrangements and financial
governance operating between the three commissioners who lead the s75 BCF.
While the above arrangements have served us well to date, with the introduction of the LLR
STP, it is timely to review our local arrangements, especially as the new STP workstreams
will bring together integration deliverables across the 3 LA footprints and we would wish to
avoid duplication of effort and governance arrangements where possible.
STP Governance
The following LLR –wide workstreams will now involve oversight of deliverables that are
closely linked to the 3 BCF plans in LLR


Integrated Locality Teams



Home First



Urgent Care



Integrated Points of Access



Prevention



Implementation of the LLR Digital Roadmap

The progress of integration across health and care will therefore increasingly be delivered
and measured on an LLR wide basis, with the BCF plans and pooled budgets as a key
enabler to delivering improved models of care in LLR.
61

174

However the development, approval, submission, and quarterly monitoring of local BCF
plans, including their national conditions, metrics and budgets is still anticipated to continue
via NHSE on the basis of each LA footprint for the next two financial years, expect perhaps
in the case of those areas who “graduate” from the BCF.
National guidance about graduation from the BCF is expected shortly. In the meantime
locally we will refresh our governance structures in 2017/18 so that we place emphasis on
the STP workstreams where applicable for the delivery of BCF components, as well as
keeping in place a lean local structure to govern assurance and reporting for each Health
and Wellbeing Board area. Following a leadership development session across LLR in
February 2017, the Senior Leadership Team for the STP is already engaged in considering
how these matters should be addressed.
In addition to the issues noted above, it has been agreed that each Health and Wellbeing
Board in LLR should take a lead oversight role in one or more of the STP workstreams. For
Leicestershire this will be Integrated Locality Teams and Community Hospitals
reconfiguration. Local governance arrangements and TORs for the Health and Wellbeing
Board are already being updated to reflect this and a paper setting out the Board’s role and
actions in this regard was presented at the January 2017 Health and Wellbeing Board
meeting – see this weblink:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125463/Outputs%20from%20Development%20Sessio
n.pdf
A diagram showing the governance arrangements for the LLR STP is given below.

Governing
Bodies

Health and
Wellbeing Boards

SLT will be dually accountable to the boards, governing bodies and /or executives of
its members as well as to the HWBs for LLR. It will make recommendations to
individual boards, governing bodies and executives to ensure local decision (e.g.
capital investment are informed by system view/system priorities

LLR Senior
Leadership Team
Programme
Management Office
System Strategy
Operational planning
Finance and activity
Monitoring and
reporting

Workstreams
Urgent Care
Integrated Locality
Teams
Home First
Planned Care
Learning Disabilities
Mental Health
Primary Care

62

Stakeholders and
Influencers

Enabling Groups

System Stakeholder
Forums

LLR Workforce Delivery
Group

PPIG

IM&T Group

Clinical Leadership
Group

Estates Group

175

11 EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to an equality impact assessment and the
evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to Leicestershire Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been
undertaken which is provided at - http://ow.ly/1sgC309cJUu .
This document is undergoing annual review by Leicestershire County Council’s (Adults and
Communities Department) Equalities Group on 14 March 2017 and any revisions arising
from this will be reflected in the final BCF Plan submission to NHS England.

63

This page is intentionally left blank

177
BETTER CARE FUND REFRESH 2017/18 & 2018/19 - DRAFT
2017/18 SPENDING PLAN
West Leics East Leics &
Leics
CCG
Rutland
County
CCG
Council

Scheme Name

Total
Budget

2018/19 SPENDING PLAN
West Leics East Leics &
Leics
CCG
Rutland
County
CCG
Council

Total
Budget

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

93.6
93.6

71.2
71.2

.0
.0

164.8
164.8

94.6
94.6

71.9
71.9

.0
.0

166.5
166.5

257.9
7.8
313.0
2,419.0
951.0
1,367.3
300.0
421.8
58.1
2,044.4
6,273.0
48.5
118.7
208.0
931.5
154.3
15,874.3

196.1
5.9
267.0
1,713.0
870.0
1,195.5
229.0
320.8
44.2
1,554.9
4,771.0
36.9
90.3
184.0
708.4
117.3
12,304.3

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

454.0
13.7
580.0
4,132.0
1,821.0
2,562.7
529.0
742.6
102.3
3,599.3
11,044.0
85.4
209.0
392.0
1,639.9
271.6
28,178.5

257.9
.0
313.0
2,419.0
951.0
1,367.3
300.0
421.8
14.5
2,044.4
6,273.0
48.5
118.7
208.0
931.5
154.3
15,822.9

196.1
.0
267.0
1,713.0
870.0
1,195.5
229.0
320.8
11.0
1,554.9
4,771.0
36.9
90.3
184.0
708.4
117.3
12,265.2

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

454.0
.0
580.0
4,132.0
1,821.0
2,562.7
529.0
742.6
25.5
3,599.3
11,044.0
85.4
209.0
392.0
1,639.9
271.6
28,088.0

.0
.0

.0
.0

760.0
114.0

760.0
114.0

.0
.0

.0
.0

680.0
.0

680.0
.0

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

450.0
772.4
350.0
406.5
237.3
323.1
316.6
2,855.9
3,729.9

450.0
772.4
350.0
406.5
237.3
323.1
316.6
2,855.9
3,729.9

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

450.0
772.4
350.0
406.5
237.3
323.1
316.6
2,855.9
3,535.9

450.0
772.4
350.0
406.5
237.3
323.1
316.6
2,855.9
3,535.9

BCF4 - Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home
Community Based Review Team
CCG Reablement
Back Office Support
Integrated Domiciliary Care

234.3
662.2
56.8
953.3

178.2
519.4
43.2
740.8

.0
.0
.0
.0

412.5
1,181.6
100.0
1,694.1

234.3
662.2
56.8
953.3

178.2
519.4
43.2
740.8

.0
.0
.0
.0

412.5
1,181.6
100.0
1,694.1

BCF5 - Integrated Locality Teams
Proactive Care Model
Integrated Care Teams
Cardiorespiratory (LTC QIPP)
LLR Community Stroke & Neurology Rehabilitation Service
Integrated Locality Teams

540.0
.0
273.3
174.4
987.7

.0
430.0
169.0
103.9
702.9

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

540.0
430.0
442.3
278.3
1,690.6

540.0
.0
273.3
174.4
987.7

.0
430.0
169.0
103.9
702.9

.0
.0
.0
.0

540.0
430.0
442.3
278.3
1,690.6

228.0
321.3
890.0
.0
1,278.5
2,717.8

172.0
244.3
.0
776.0
622.5
1,814.8

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

400.0
565.6
890.0
776.0
1,901.0
4,532.6

228.0
324.5
890.0
.0
1,278.5
2,721.0

172.0
246.8
.0
776.0
622.5
1,817.3

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

400.0
571.3
890.0
776.0
1,901.0
4,538.3

.0

.0

.0

.0
.0

.0

.0

.0

.0
.0

39.8
39.8

30.2
30.2

.0
.0

70.0
70.0

39.8
39.8

30.2
30.2

.0
.0

70.0
70.0

288.7
51.7
203.7
588.0
1,132.1

219.5
39.3
162.5
256.0
677.3

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

508.2
91.0
366.2
844.0
1,809.4

291.6
6.8
193.0
588.0
1,079.4

221.8
5.2
153.9
256.0
636.9

.0
.0
.0
.0
.0

513.4
12.0
346.9
844.0
1,716.3

42.7
197.1
239.8

32.4
149.7
182.1

.0
52.6
52.6

75.1
399.4
474.5

42.7
199.0
241.7

32.4
151.2
183.6

.0
53.1
53.1

75.1
403.3
478.4

22,038.4

16,523.6

3,782.5

42,344.4

21,940.4

16,448.8

3,589.0

41,978.1

500.0
500.0
-828.1
171.9

500.0
500.0
-496.1
503.9

.0
.0
.0
.0

1,000.0
1,000.0
-1,324.2
675.8

500.0
500.0
-334.1
665.9

500.0
500.0
-124.3
875.7

.0
.0
-468.6
-468.6

1,000.0
1,000.0
-927.0
1,073.0

22,210.3

17,027.5

3,782.5

43,020.2

22,606.3

17,324.5

3,120.4

43,051.1

20,843.0
1,367.3

15,832.0
1,195.5

36,675.0
2,562.7
3,067.3
52.6
662.6
43,020.2

21,239.0
1,367.3

16,129.0
1,195.5
3,067.3
53.1

22,606.3

17,324.5

3,120.4

37,368.0
2,562.7
3,067.3
53.1
.0
43,051.1

.0

.0

.0

.0

.0

BCF1 - Unified Prevention Offer
First Contact Plus
Total Unified Prevention Offer
BCF2 - Home First
Care Act Support Pathway
Carers Health and Wellbeing Service
Intermediate Care
Reablement (NHS protected)
Intensive Community Support phase 1 (NHS protected)
Intensive Community Support phase 2 (CCG additional allocation)
Step Down (NHS protected)
Residential Respite Service (ASC protected)
Health & Social Care Protocol Training
Increased demand for Nursing Care Packages (ASC protection)
Increased demand for Home Care Service (ASC protection)
Discharge Pathway 3 - Non-weight bearing pathway
Community Hospital Link Workers
Primary Care Coordinators (NHS protected)
Assessment and Review (ASC protected)
Improving Mental Health Discharge
Total Home First
BCF3 - Integrated Housing Support
Assistive Technology
Lightbulb - Housing Discharge Enabler
Disabled Facilities Grants
* Blaby DC
* Charnwood BC
* Harborough BC
* Hinckley and Bosworth BC
* Melton BC
* North West Leicestershire BC
* Oadby and Wigston BC
Sub Total Disabled Facilities Grants
Total Integrated Housing Support

BCF6 - Integrated Urgent Care
End of Life Night Nursing Service
Crisis Response Service (CRS) - Social Care
Loughborough Super Hub
Reallocation of Rapid Assessment for OPU (ELRCCG)
Home Visiting Centre
Total Integrated Urgent Care
BCF7 - Integrated Points of Access
Total Integrated Points of Access
BCF8 - Integrated Data
PI Care and Healthtrak
Total Integrated Data
BCF9 - Integrated Commissioning
Improving Quality in Care Homes
Nursing and Care Home Placements
Post Diagnostic Community & In-Reach Service for people affected by Dementia
LD Short Breaks
Total Integrated Commissioning
BCF10 - BCF Enablers
Care Act Enablers
Programme Management
Total Integrated Commissioning
TOTAL BCF SCHEME SPEND
CONTINGENCY
CCG Contingency
Risk Pool
Cost Improvement Target
TOTAL CONTINGENCY
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

CCG BCF Minimum Funding Allocation
CCG BCF Additional Funding Allocation
DFG Allocation**
LCC Misc. Contribution
LCC DFG Uplift
Total Allocation
Over/Underspend Commitment

22,210.3

17,027.5

3,067.3
52.6
662.6
3,782.5

.0

.0

.0

This page is intentionally left blank

179

APPENDIX C
Appendix C – BCF High Level Programme Plan 2017/18
The Leicestershire BCF Programme Plan has been refreshed in light of the work undertaken
to review the BCF plan for 2017/18.
The BCF refresh identified a number of specific commissioning actions and activities
including service reviews and ongoing VFM assessment will take place in 2017/18. These
are provided in bold for ease of reference.
Q1
Programme Management
Sign-off section 75 agreement
Monitor and report BCF performance and finance process
Agree communications and engagement plan for 2017/18
Annual review of BCF Equalities Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA)
Develop and agree evaluation plan for integration programme
BCF Schemes
Unified Prevention Offer
Develop/agree social prescribing model for Leicestershire
Information sharing agreement across Unified Prevention Board partners
Map all areas of STP for prevention
Undertake review of First Contact Plus service
Integrated Locality Teams (STP workstream)
Confirmation of case management model across LLR
Review Integrated Care/Proactive Care models and redesign LLR approach
Mobilisation of new falls pathway across LLR
Develop and implement phase 3 eFRAT (Falls Risk Assessment Tool)
Further development of falls prevention programme
Pilot new pathway for end of life (including 24/7 service)
Scope and mobilise cardiorespiratory service
LLR Dementia Workstream
Launch new jointly procured post diagnostic support & community in-reach
service for people affected by dementia
Housing
Develop a proposed business model for medium term approach for
Assistive Technology across Leicestershire
Implement phase 1 (early roll-out in 1 District) of Lightbulb Programme
Full roll-out of Lightbulb Programme across Leicestershire
Refresh Disabled Facilities Grants quarterly forecasting for 2018/19
Home First (STP Workstream)
Baseline review of all current reablement spend, activity & outcomes
Further milestones to be confirmed post baseline review
Develop a new joint health & care LLR Carers strategy for 2017-20
Explore recommendations to revise training approach for Health and Social
Care Protocol
Confirm commissioning intentions for Health & Social Care Protocol for April
2018 onwards
Develop medium & longer term approach for integrated discharge services
Review overall mental health pathway as part of Home First work

Q2

Q3

Q4

180

Q1
Urgent Care Model (STP workstream)
Implement new urgent care services
Review the social care Crisis Response Service (TBC)
BCT LD Short Breaks
Review the LD Short Breaks service for 2018/19
Integrated Commissioning
Scope joint commissioning of placements / fee reviews
Review of integration and quality review teams
Help to Live at Home – mobilisation of new contracts
Integrated Points of Access
Standardisation phase for existing customer centres
Conduct gateway review
Agree progress to phase 2 (implementation stage)
Integrated Data
Agree commissioning plan for the PI Care and Health tool (or equivalent) from
April 2018 onwards (developed in overall context of STP BI Strategy)

Q2

Q3

Q4

181

APPENDIX D
BCF REFRESH ENGAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE PLANNER
There has been extensive engagement undertaken within the BCF programme throughout
2016/17. The table below focuses on the detail of activities between October 2016 and
March 2017 evidencing how the BCF refresh has been undertaken, with the engagement of
all stakeholders.
Date
th

13 Oct 16
th

25 Oct 16
th
28 Oct 16
st

1 Nov 16
st
1 Nov 16
th

7 Nov 16
th
8 Nov 16
th

8 Nov 16
th
10 Nov 16
nd

22 Nov 16
th
5 Dec 16
th
5 Dec 16
th
6 Dec 16
th

6 Dec 16
th
7 Dec 16
th
8 Dec 16
th

19 Dec 16
th

20 Dec 16
rd
3 Jan 17
th
5 Jan 17
th

5 Jan 17
th

6 Jan 17
th

19 Jan 17
th

26 Jan 17
th
26 Jan 17
Jan/Feb 17
th

7 Feb 17
th

7 Feb 17

Purpose

Audience

Initial workshop to review the existing
BCF schemes
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Review of Disabled Facilities Grants
spend
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Review of Adult Social Care protection
schemes
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Briefing on BCF refresh progress

Integration Operational Group

Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Further evaluation of BCF schemes
review.
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Update on progress of the BCF refresh
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Further evaluation of BCF schemes
review.
Detailed review of BCF spending plan for
2017/18-2018/19 and further prioritisation.
Decision on Risk Pool levels for 2017/18.
Review of progress on BCF refresh
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Presentation on planning guidance and
approach to BCF refresh/emerging
priorities
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
(including DFGs)
BCF Schemes Risk Impact Assessment
Session
Workshop to review proposed schemes
and investment levels within BCF plan
Update on the BCF refresh
Briefing on BCF refresh progress
Multiagency meetings to set scale of
ambition for national BCF metrics for
2017/18
Update on BCF submission
Update on the BCF submission

WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup
LCC and District Council Reps
Integration Executive
ELRCCG, WLCCG & LCC Strategy and
Finance Leads
LPT Executive Team
LPT Community Health Service – Senior
Divisional Group
UHL Executive Strategy Board
Integration Operational Group
WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup
ELRCCG Executive Management Team
WLCCG Corporate Management Team
ELRCCG Integrated Governance
Committee
Integration Executive
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Integration Operational Group
Integration Finance & Performance
Group
ASC Transformation Delivery Board
Integration Executive
Health and Wellbeing Board

District Councils Chief Executive
ELRCCG, WLCCG and LCC BCF Leads
Integration Executive Workshop
Integration Operational Group
LCC Transformation Delivery Board
Partners across health and social care

ELRCCG Integrated Governance
Committee
Integration Executive

182

th

Update on the BCF submission
Update on the BCF submission
Briefing on BCF refresh
Briefing on BCF refresh

th

Update on final BCF submission
Briefing on BCF refresh
Briefing on BCF refresh
Presentation on the BCF Refresh
Review BCF Submission
Assurance on final BCF submission

ELRCCG Executive Management Team
WLCCG Corporate Management Team
UHL Executive Strategy Board
LPT Community Health Service – Senior
Divisional Group
ASC Transformation Delivery Board
LPT Executive Team
EMAS Executive Team
VAL Health and Social Care Forum
WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

th

Review of BCF submission

Integration Executive

th

Briefing on BCF refresh progress
(including DFGs)

District Councils Chief Executive

th

13 Feb 17
th
13 Feb 17
th
14 Feb 17
th
14 Feb 17
15 Feb 17
th
20 Feb 17
TBC Feb 17
th
28 Feb 17
th
28 Feb 17
st
1 Mar 17
7 Mar 17
9 Mar 17
9 Mar 17

Presentation on BCF refresh

All Members Briefing

th

Assurance on final BCF submission

LCC Cabinet

th

Sign-off of final BCF submission

ELRCCG Board

th

Sign off of final BCF submission

WLCCG Board

th

Briefing on BCF submission

A&E Delivery Board

th

Final sign-off of final submission.

Health and Wellbeing Board

th

Briefing on BCF refresh

Leicestershire Fire & Rescue Service
Executive Team

10 Mar 17
14 Mar 17
14 Mar 17
15 Mar 17
16 Mar 17
28 Mar 17

183

Agenda Item 8

a
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL DIRECTOR OF
ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
PROPOSAL FOR JOINT COMMISSIONING OF
A DEMENTIA COMMUNITY AND HOSPITAL INREACH SERVICE
FOR LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Board about the proposals for the future
joint commissioning of a dementia community and hospital inreach support service,
and to seek agreement for the use of Better Care Fund monies for this purpose.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

The service links to a range of local strategies and plans across both health and social
care:
a. The proposed service will support Outcome 5.4 of the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy: “Increase the early detection and improve the management of dementia”,
through raising awareness, supporting people with concerns about memory, and
then offering advice, information and individual support in both community and
acute settings.
b. Outcome 5.4.1 of the Better Care Fund plan 2016/17 sets out intentions to provide
integrated support, and to progress shared care. The proposed service will support
people to identify and access appropriate services in a timely manner, and will help
them to develop resilience and to remain living independently for as long as
possible through good information, specialised support and links to community
resources.
c. The LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) outlines the need to
improve mental health outcomes and to focus on prevention, particularly in relation
to modifiable factors. The new service will help people to adopt a healthy lifestyle,
reduce social isolation and will offer support for carers, all of which are identified
within the STP as issues which if addressed can improve outcomes for individuals.
The STP also identifies the need to improve the pathway for support for people
with dementia and achieve effective transfers of care, which will be supported
through the continuity of provision offered by a joint service.
d. The proposed service aligns with the Leicestershire County Council Adult Social
Care Strategy, and will help to prevent, reduce and delay need through helping
people to stay well and plan for the future.

184

Recommendations
3.

It is recommended that:
a. The proposal for joint commissioning of a Dementia Community and Hospital
Inreach Service, to support the ambitions of the LLR STP and improve the support
pathway for people affected by dementia, be approved by the Board;
b. The Board agree to a 10% efficiency saving against the current allocation of Better
Care Fund resources, resulting in a contribution of £287,000 per annum (subject to
approval of the Better Care Fund plan).

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The relevant policy framework includes:





5.

The Care Act 2014;
Adult Social Care Strategy (‘Promoting Independence, Supporting Communities;
Our vision and strategy for Adult Social Care 2016);
Better Care Together (BCT) Five Year Strategic Plan (2014);
LLR Sustainability Transformation Plan (LLR STP) (2016).

In February 2014, Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet authorised the Health and
Wellbeing Board to approve the Better Care Fund Plan and plans arising from its use.
Dementia Support Services in Leicestershire are entirely funded by the Better Care
Fund Plan.

Background
6.

A review of service provision for people affected by dementia across health and social
care identified the need for an overall integrated community service for the City and
County, and to ensure that support continued if this involved a period in one of the
University Hospitals of Leicester.
CCGs - Current Service provision

7.

The three local CCGs (East Leicestershire and Rutland, West Leicestershire, and
Leicester City) currently commission a Hospital Dementia Support Service to which
they all contribute equally, at a total cost of £100,000 per annum (from the BCF). This
service is separate from, and in addition to, the community services commissioned by
the County Council and, in Leicester, the City Council.

8.

In 2015/16, a total of 495 people accessed this hospital service. Of these, 116 were
supported with information only (this includes ward staff seeking assistance to support
inpatients and/or their carers). Of the 379 who received direct support, 220 were
County residents, 117 were City residents and 42 were unknown – the latter are likely
to be carers of people who live in Leicester or Leicestershire, but who themselves live
outside the area.

185

Leicestershire - Current Service Provision and Review
9.

The current County Council commissioned service (Memory Support Co-ordination
Service) is provided by the Alzheimer’s Society, which was awarded the contract
through a competitive tender process in 2014. The service commenced on 1 October
2014 for an initial period of one year, with an option for the contract to be extended for
a further two years, in one-year periods.

10. This service aimed to ensure that there was equitable provision across the county, as
some areas had previously been poorly served, and to meet several key objectives of
the LLR Joint Dementia Commissioning Strategy 2011-14 through provision of
information, guidance and signposting, one to one support to access other community
opportunities and plan for the future, emotional support, a range of support groups
and training for carers.
11. The service currently provides a range of ‘memory cafes’ and groups for carers and
service users to engage in activities and find peer support, a carers’ training
programme and one-to-one episodic support in response to particular need.
12. In 2015/16, the service handled 2,673 referrals, and an average of 620 people per
month used dementia cafes, carer support groups and activity groups, all located in
and around the county. During the year 52 carers attended the CRISP training
programme (a Carer Information and Support Programme run by the Society).
13. The current budget for this service is £319,000 per annum (from the BCF).
Leicester City – Current provision
14. Leicester City Council also commission a community dementia support service (Adult
Social Care funded) costing £102,000 per annum.
Demand for Services in Leicestershire
15. In 2013/2014 4,170 people within the registered population were diagnosed with
dementia (0.6%), the same as the England average. This represents an increase of
10% in the number of people recorded with dementia; a reflection of the work
undertaken within primary medical care to improve diagnosis and recording.
16. The number of adults with early onset dementia (i.e. affecting people under 65 years
of age) is predicted to rise from 178 in 2014 to 190 in 2,030, with a peak of 198 by
2025. The number of older people with dementia is predicted to rise from 9,125 in
2015 to 12,927 in 2025.
Both locally and nationally people with dementia tend, on average, to stay in hospital
for twice as long as people over 65 without dementia.
Proposals/Options
17. All current services have been under review and are now part of plans to commission
an integrated service working across Leicester City and Leicestershire. The service

186

will be funded from an aligned budget (County and City BCF and City Council funds)
to bring together three separate current services: the County Memory Support Coordination Service, the City Dementia Support Service and the CCG Hospital
Dementia Support Service.
18. The new service will provide community support and a hospital inreach element to
ensure seamless service for people affected by dementia, and to support transfer from
acute to community settings. It will support the STP aims of improving the pathway to
support and will promote self-management thus enabling people to remain in, or return
to, non-acute or residential settings.
19. It is intended that the service will receive direct referrals from the Memory Assessment
Clinic service (commissioned by CCGs and provided by LPT) at the point of diagnosis
(on an opt-out basis to ensure proactive engagement with people affected by
dementia), and from GPs in relation to planned admissions to hospital of people with
dementia.
20. Leicester City Council will act as lead commissioner, organising procurement and
contract management. The joint commissioning partners will have oversight of
performance monitoring and ongoing service development and improvement. The
provider will be required to report on activity by CCG area.
21. The contract management arrangements are still to be finalised (through authority
delegated to the Director of Adults and Communities by Cabinet), but will ensure that
service delivery to Leicestershire residents is proportionate to the County BCF funding
contributions. The contract will also include appropriate mechanisms to review this on
an annual basis.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
22. Council officers have visited a range of dementia support groups and memory cafes to
engage with the people who use them. Whilst there are no proposals to remove any
element of the current service model, this engagement has been used to identify what
is most important to people affected by dementia, including carers. The main findings
are:
a. The links between memory services and GPs are not consistent in all areas;
b. One to one support is very important in helping people to navigate complex
systems within health and social care;
c. Carers groups offer emotional and peer support; activity groups are highly valued
for the stimulation and social interaction for the person with dementia, and as a
brief “break” for their carers.
23. The Better Care Together (BCT) Frail Older People (FOP) Dementia Workstream has
overseen the development of these proposals.
24. A report is being presented to Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet on Friday 10th
March seeking Cabinet approval for the joint commissioning of the service, with
Leicester City Council acting as lead commissioner.

187

Resource Implications
25. The total future BCF investment (health and social care) is £376,975 per annum. This
comprises £287,000 from the County Council and £90,000 from the LLR Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) (£30,000 each). In addition, Leicester City Council
proposes to reinvest £102,000 each year into the future service provision. This will
therefore result in a total budget for the new service for Leicester and Leicestershire of
£479,000 per annum.
26. Leicester City Council will provide the resources for procurement and contract
management. Council and CCG officers will be involved in development of all relevant
documentation, including the service specification, contract and Invitation to Tender, in
the evaluation of bids for the contract, and in ongoing performance monitoring and
management.
Background papers
Report to Cabinet 10th March 2017: http://ow.ly/PAs4309Hrnh
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officer to Contact
Jon Wilson
Director of Adults and Communities
Telephone: 0116 305 7454
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
27. A Better Care Together Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment will be
completed jointly by the commissioning partners. It is envisaged that the future
proposed model, offering a single integrated service, will better support equality
across Leicester and Leicestershire. Any emerging issues will be addressed within
the service specification, procurement exercise and (if required) through contract
management.

This page is intentionally left blank

189

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
SPORT ENGLAND LOCAL DELIVERY PILOT BID
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to outline the emerging Leicestershire bid to be a Sport
England Local Delivery Pilot site and to seek support from the Health and Wellbeing
board for the bid.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

If successful, the Local Delivery Pilot bid will support the delivery of the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) by
providing a substantial investment in walking programmes contributing to the
prevention and treatment of ill-health. It will contribute to the Leicestershire Local
Transport Plan (LTP3) through the promotion of walking as a sustainable means of
transport.

Recommendation
3.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to support the bid and initial expression of
interest.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The proposal is consistent with the Government’s physical activity strategy (Sporting
Future) and Sport England’s physical activity strategy (Towards an Active Nation),
the Department for Transport’s Cycling and Walking strategy and Public Health
England’s physical activity strategy Everybody Active Every Day).

Background
5.

Sport England is inviting bids for 10 local areas to become Local Delivery Pilots to
help test what works to get the most inactive people to be more active. Sport
England investment will total £130million over 4 years in these 10 areas.

6.

The Local Delivery Pilots will test new approaches to help get those most inactive
people to be more active and to explore the barriers that exist to people being more
physically active. Sport England wanst the local offers to be based on a ‘whole
systems approach’ and to focus on outcomes for people in their own communities
(i.e. geographical communities) and communities of interest (e.g. people who share
the same health conditions). Outcomes should align with the 5 government

190
outcomes of physical wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual development, social and
community development and economic prosperity. Sport England wants the
approaches to be transformational and to be grounded in behaviour change theory.

Proposals/Options
7.

Prior to the announcement of the Local Delivery Pilots, work had already begun to
develop a whole-systems focus on walking in Leicestershire as a way of helping
inactive people become active and achieve co-benefits associated with this: walking
for health and fitness to improve physical and mental wellbeing, walking as a form of
sustainable travel and thus reducing traffic congestion and improving air quality and
walking as a social activity, reducing isolation and building community cohesion.

8.

With 26% of people in Leicestershire doing less than 30 minutes of activity per week,
there is substantial scope to target this segment of the population, reduce the
proportion of inactive people and, in doing so, improve the overall health and
wellbeing of our population.

9.

The bid will focus on getting more people walking. Walking has been shown to be
the most achievable, accessible and affordable form of physical activity for inactive
people to take up and has been shown to be the gateway to other, more varied forms
of physical activity. Leicestershire has a track record of training volunteers to
become walk leaders and in developing community activators to motivate and mentor
people in their own communities to walk more. There is substantial experience in
promoting walking as a sustainable form of travel through the County Council
‘Choose How You Move’ programme and there is an extensive network of green
assets in our country parks and rights of way that are freely accessible for people to
use.

10. This is not simply a walking programme. The bid will develop a comprehensive
approach to all types of walking on a scale that has not been done before in the UK.
The bid will promote innovation by developing a digital platform that will bring
together information on all walking opportunities available locally (a ‘walking.com’).
The platform will record walking activity data populated by individuals (manually or
automatically through e.g. wearable devices such as fitbits), groups (e.g. Ramblers,
Age UK, Macmillan etc) and organisations (e.g. district leisure services) using open
data institute standards. This is an innovative approach to using data to motivate
people to be more active and to monitor people’s activity so that we can demonstrate
the impact of the programme.
11. A multi-disciplinary collaboration to take the bid forward is led by Public Health
including colleagues across Leicestershire County Council, District Councils,
Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport, the University of Loughborough (National Centre
for Sports and Exercise Medicine, British Heart Foundation National Centre and
NIHR Biomedical Research Centre), East Leicestershire and Rutland and West
Leicestershire CCGs and Voluntary Action Leicester. This collaboration builds on a
track record of working together to deliver on projects including ‘Get Healthy Get Into
Sport’, Walking Away from Diabetes and the FaME falls prevention programme.

2

191
12. The bid will be seeking funding from Sport England in the region of £13-15m to
support walking programme delivery, volunteer training, website/digital platform
development and capital investments in walking infrastructure.
13. An outline of the project, described using a logic model, can be found at Appendix 1.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
14. There is substantial insight from residents from a range of walking and other
programmes regarding barriers and facilitators to being more active and attitudes to
walking for health, utility and leisure. This insight has been used to form the basis of
the project idea.
Resource Implications
15. The bid does not require matched funding. It would, though, require in-kind
commitment in terms of person time to develop the project further, should the bid get
through to the next stage.
Timetable for Decisions
16. The expression of interest is due in by 5pm on the 31 March 2017. The decision on
progress to stage 2 will be made by May 2017. Further details regarding dates are
not yet available.
Conclusion
17. A successful bid to Sport England would lead to improvements in population health,
contributing to the Health and Well Being Strategy and the STP. The bids aims are:
 To make walking a more desirable, easier choice for health, leisure and daily
transportation, creating opportunities to do this on a scale not seen before in the
UK
 To have a measurable population impact on inequalities in health, wellbeing and
economic prosperity
 To transform the way that people find out about walking opportunities and
transform how they are motivated to walk more.

Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health
Tel 0116 305 4239
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Elizabeth Orton, Consultant in Public Health
Telephone: 0116 30 55347
Email: elizabeth.orton@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Logic Model
3

192
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
18. Will be considered as part of the bidding process
Crime and Disorder Implications
19. Not applicable
Environmental Implications
20. Not applicable
Partnership Working and associated issues
21. If successful, partnership working across NHS, Local Government, voluntary and
community sector and other partners will be crucial in order to have a system-wide
approach and outcomes as described above and to ensure the programme is
sustainable after Sport England funding has ended.
Risk Assessment
22. Not applicable

4

193

Figure 1

This page is intentionally left blank

195

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND (LLR) SUICIDE
PREVENTION STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN (2017-20)
Purpose of report
1.

This report provides an update on the work of the LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention
Group (SAPG) and seeks approval for the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and draft
Action Plan (2017-20).

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

The LLR SAPG brings together key partners across the health and care system with
the purpose of tackling the causes and the impact of suicide locally. The group has
refreshed its local strategy and draft action plan for 2017-20.

3.

The LLR SAPG is a sub-group of the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(STP) Mental Health Partnership Group and it also feeds into the LLR Crisis
Concordat.

4.

The LLR SAPG reports to Unified Prevention Board of the Leicestershire Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and its neighbouring HWBBs in Leicester and Rutland.

5.

The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2017-20) includes a key outcome
focussing on giving equal priority to mental health and wellbeing and access to the
right support for mental health issues across the life course.

Recommendation
6. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
(a) Note the purpose and work of the LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group;
(b) Approve the draft LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plans (2017-20);
(c) Request the UPB to take forward Leicestershire specific work actions and report
back to the Health and Wellbeing Board when appropriate.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
7.

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016) states: ‘The Department of
Health, PHE and NHS England should support all local areas to have multi-agency
suicide prevention plans in place by 2017, reviewed annually thereafter and
supported by new investment’.

196

8.

The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019 requires local
areas to reduce suicide rates by 10% against the 2016/17 baseline.

9.

The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report on suicide
prevention from the Director of Public Health on 5th May, 2016. That report updated
the Board on the work of the LLR SAPG and highlighted existing and emerging
priorities.

Background
10. Although deaths from suicide are a small proportion of overall deaths, they have a
disproportionate impact on years of life lost to premature death as suicide rates are
higher in people aged between 35 and 54 years.
11. Since 2001 the trend in the age standardised rate of suicide per 100,000 in
Leicestershire initially reduced before increasing again (table 1). The most recent
rate for 2013-15 was 9.3 per 100,000 population, which was not significantly different
from the regional rate of 9.9 and the national rate of 10.1. This equates to roughly
60 people per year across Leicestershire.
12. Local and national audits show there are links between death by suicide and
deprivation. We also know that the biggest single group at risk is males aged 35-54.
Substance abuse is a common associated factor. The majority of cases are death by
hanging, in cases of overdose there has been a move away from paracetamol to use
of anti-depressant medication.
13. There are some additional groups at increased risk e.g. prisoners, veterans; people
living with long-term physical health conditions; lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender people; people from black and minority ethnic groups; asylum seekers;
looked after children; care leavers, and survivors of abuse or violence, including
sexual abuse;
14. Depression is one of the most important risk factors for suicide. Timely identification
and treatment of depression has a major role to play in suicide prevention across the
whole population.
15. Tackling social factors linked to mental ill-health is critical in reducing suicide. These
factors may include unemployment, debt, social isolation, family breakdown and
bereavement. Reducing alcohol and drug dependence are also critical to reducing
suicide.
Proposals/Options
16. The LLR SAPG works on behalf of local partners, organisations and people to reduce
the impact of suicide locally. This work is evidence based and is aligned with the
latest UK National Suicide Prevention Strategy. The LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy
and Action Plans (2017-20) are attached as Appendix 1 and 2. The strategy and
draft action plan target the following key actions:



Promote better mental health
Promote open discussion about suicide

197







Support people bereaved or affected by suicide
Deliver suicide awareness training
Work to prevent suicide in health care settings
Raise awareness with better data
Influence service providers to implement NICE guidance for treatment of self-harm
Target support at high risk groups

17. The work of the Unified Prevention Board can complement that of the SAPG by
bringing an additional Leicestershire focus to the strategy and action plan. In
particular the UPB would enable the inclusion of organisations not currently
represented on the SAPG such as district councils and the wider voluntary and
community sector.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
18. The voluntary and community sector is represented at the SPAG through the
Samaritans, and the Rural Community Council (RCC). Other attendees have
included regional suicide prevention representation, primary care professionals,
researchers into hate crime, representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender people, local universities and elected members
Resource Implications
19. The main resource implications relate to the time and input of representatives into the
SAPG and associated actions by participant organisations in ensuring that tackling
suicide is prioritised within plans according to local need.
Conclusion
20. Preventing deaths through suicide requires co-ordinated action across a very diverse
range of partners. The LLR SAPG harnesses the input of partners in developing a
truly collaborative approach to tackling suicide across LLR.
Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health
Leicestershire County Council
0116 305 4239
Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
Dr Mike McHugh, Consultant in Public Health
Leicestershire County Council
0116 3054236
Mike.McHugh@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix 1: LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy (as slides)
Appendix 2: LLR Suicide Prevention draft Action Plan

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

Talk, Listen, Support
199

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit
and Prevention Group (SAPG)

Draft LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy
2017-2020

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

1

Contents
Foreword by Alan Savill , a bereaved parent

3

Introduction

4
AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

Partnership and Purpose

6

Key messages

7

Suicide Audit and Prevention Group Aims

8

Key Actions 2017-2020

9
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Accountability

11
SUICIDE IN LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND
13

Deaths from suicide in Leicester

14

Deaths from suicide in Leicestershire and Rutland

15

200

Latest data on deaths from suicide in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

RAISING AWARENESS IN PARTNERSHIP
Partnership working

17

1. Promote better mental health

18

2. Support people bereaved or affected by suicide

19

3. Suicide awareness training

20

4. Prevent suicide in health care settings

21

5. Raise awareness with better data

22

6. Supporting people in prison and those in contact with criminal justice

23

7. Protecting people with a history of self-harm

24

8. Target support at key high risk groups

25

Measuring impact

26
APPENDICIES

All-party Parliamentary Group on Suicide and Self-harm
In line with national policy

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

28
29

2

A personal account by Alan Savill,
bereaved parent
Ian died three days before Christmas in 2012. His fiancée found him at home. I remember, as if it was yesterday, the knock on the door and
the words “I’m sorry to tell you but your son has taken his own life this morning.” I cannot remember anything more, I went into deep shock.
I had to ring Ian’s mother and sister and family. The most difficult calls I will ever have to make. Then, I broke down in floods of tears. My first
reaction was that I wanted to be with him so he would not be alone. The next few weeks were a blur consisting of funeral arrangements and
surviving myself.
I remember saying goodbye to Ian in the Chapel of Rest. He looked so serene and at last in peace. This last meeting gave me solace but also
made me so sad. A final goodbye. Ian had a young daughter who was nearly two and he idolised her. He suffered from mental illness but
despite this he worked and provided for his family. He was a proud man who simply wanted to provide a safe home. He had tried everything.
He was seen by doctors and professionals but it was too late and not enough.

Although life will never be the same again, there is not a day when I do not think of Ian, especially when I am doing things which he would
have loved to have done himself. I find myself getting very emotional when I see wonderful sights around the world, as he will never have the
privilege.
There is still a great deal of stigma attached to suicide and to mental ill health. We need to encourage openness to talk about mental health
issues at home, in schools and workplaces. I tell people all the time that if you had cancer you would get specialist help and ask for the
support of friends and families, and it must be the same if you have mental issues.
Bereavement from suicide is unlike any other grief, you never get over it. It is with you every day and is such a profound and deep sadness.
The impact is like a pebble thrown into a pond, it ripples out and affects so many people; close family, friends, work colleagues, the
emergency services which are called to the scene.
This strategy will go some way in addressing these issues and preventing more families getting the same devastating news as we did.
Talk. Listen. Support.
Alan Savill, written in memory of Ian Savill (14.05.1989 – 22.12.2012), SOBS Bereavement Support

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

3

201

Living with a suicide of a loved one is tough. It is with you every day. There is no real closure, and family and friends still feel that there might
have been something that could have been done. We still do not understand why the signs were not read. If we knew what was going on in
Ian’s mind we would have sat with him 24 hours a day.

Introduction
Death from suicide has devastating consequences for family, friends and colleagues, carers and first responders. Suicide has
important links to deprivation, mental ill health, significant adverse life events and access to means. The latest data show the
average rate of death from suicide in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) matches that for England. High-risk groups in our
area are men aged 35-54, people from minority groups, those in the care of mental health services, offenders and people who live
in deprived areas.
The LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (SAPG) brings people together with the common purpose of learning from, and acting
on, suicide prevention information. We work together to raise awareness of risks, reduce the number of deaths and influence
policy makers. We promote open discussion to challenge stigma linked to suicide and to support the bereaved. We believe that
each death from suicide is preventable.

202

Over the last few years we have delivered suicide awareness training in communities where the risk is highest. Leicestershire
Police is one of three forces involved in the Real Time Surveillance pilot to improve information about deaths from suicide. Our
‘Finding Hope’ films have told stories of people who have survived suicide attempts, to live rewarding lives.
The wider context to our work includes the National Suicide Prevention Strategy, local authority public mental health approaches
and partnerships with key local organisations. Together we raise awareness and challenge stigma and discrimination linked to
mental illness. Suicide prevention is overseen by the Health and Wellbeing Boards, local Mental Health Partnership Boards and
the Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. We engaged with the East Midlands Regional Suicide Prevention Group and share our
work with other local Suicide Prevention Groups.
This strategy builds on our recent actions to bring together coherent, co-ordinated suicide prevention work in LLR. It will be
supported by an annual action plan which will be developed and reviewed by the SAPG.
Mark Wheatley
Public Health Principal, Leicester City Council
Dr Mike McHugh
Consultant in Public Health, Leicestershire County Council
February 2017
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

4

203

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

5

Partnership and Purpose
Suicide prevention requires work across different settings. The SAPG
partnership has expertise and resources from the public, private and
voluntary sector, working as a formal multi-agency group and a wider
network.
Our purpose is to prevent suicide by:
Developing community interest in suicide prevention
Supporting collective action towards our aims and objectives
Supporting people who are at risk of suicide
Supporting people who are bereaved by suicide
Working with wider organisations to provide insights and expertise
regarding high risk groups
• Working with East Midlands regional suicide prevention networks to share
knowledge
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

6

204

•
•
•
•
•

Key messages
Our approach is to raise awareness about some key suicide prevention messages:
•
•

•
•
•

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

7

205

•

Suicide is preventable: We need to build community resilience and target support at people
at heightened risk of suicide
Suicide is everybody’s business: We need to challenge taboos by improving knowledge of
suicide risk behaviour and the signs of mental illness
Suicide takes a high toll: On average about 80 people a year in Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland die from suicide. As most people who die from suicide are relatively young, and
would have expected to live into their 80s, suicide is the major cause of years of life lost
Supporting people bereaved by suicide is important: People bereaved by suicide are at
increased risk of depression and find social situations difficult
There are groups at higher risk of suicide: Suicide risk is higher in men aged 35-54, people
with mental health problems and people who experience socio-economic disadvantage
There is an economic cost of suicide: The economic cost of a single suicide is estimated to be
£1.67 million; this includes costs of care, loss of productivity and earnings and associated
pain, grief and suffering. It is estimated that at least 10 people are intimately affected by
every suicide

Suicide Audit and Prevention Group aims
The SAPG aims to prevent avoidable loss of life through suicide and
undetermined injury in LLR by:

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

206

• Developing the local strategic direction for suicide prevention
across LLR
• Encouraging local partners to contribute to delivering the National
Suicide Prevention Strategy
• Influencing commissioning in LLR so that opportunities to prevent
suicide are optimised
• Supporting people at risk of suicide
• Supporting people bereaved by suicide
• Encouraging responsible reporting of suicide in the media
• Promoting mental wellbeing in the wider population.

8

Key Actions 2017-2020

The LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group will:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

207

Promote better mental health
Promote open discussion about suicide
Support people bereaved or affected by suicide
Deliver suicide awareness training
Work to prevent suicide in health care settings
Raise awareness with better data
Influence service providers to implement NICE guidance for treatment of
self-harm
• Target support at high risk groups

9

208

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

POLICIES AND ACCOUNTABILITY

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

10

Accountability
Health and Wellbeing Boards: LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group
reports to local health and wellbeing boards as a way of gaining local
commitment and establishing a common purpose across health and
social care to raise awareness about suicide risk.
209

Sustainability and Transformation Plans: The SAPG will work with
local groups to show how suicide prevention can contribute to the
sustainability of local services.
Mental Health Partnership Boards: As it is impossible to deliver
effective suicide prevention advice alone, the SAPG will report and
contribute to different mental health partnerships.
Crisis Care Concordat: LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group will
continue to influence the local Crisis Care concordat Action Plan.
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

11

210

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

SUICIDE IN LEICESTER,
LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

12

Latest data on deaths from suicide in Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland
By reviewing data on deaths by suicide we learn more about risk
factors, vulnerable people and emerging common
circumstances. This improves our understanding and can be
used to prevent further suicides.
211

The latest data on suicide, for the period 2012-14, were
published in February 2016. The rates in LLR were in line with
the national average, as can be seen in the graphs below:

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

13

Deaths from suicide in Leicester
The three year average rate for death by suicide in Leicester has been on a downward trend 2008-10, the latest data for 2013-15
has the rate at 9.7 per 100,000 people.

212

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

14

Deaths from suicide in Leicestershire and
Rutland
The three year average rate for death by suicide in Leicestershire and Rutland has increased since 2008-10. The latest data for
2013-15 has the rate at 9.3 per 100,000 people.

213

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

15

214

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

RAISING AWARENESS IN
PARTNERSHIP
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

16

Partnership working
We are building a partnership approach, using knowledge, expertise and resources across local communities. The
partnership includes the multi-agency Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (SAPG) and a wider network of interested
groups and communities. Our core membership includes:
•

215

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Voluntary sector organisations with an interest in mental health, supporting people at risk of suicide and those
bereaved by suicide (Samaritans, Rural Community Council, Survivors of Bereavement by Suicide)
Public Health, (Leicester City Council, Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils, Public Health England)
Clinical Commissioning Groups for Leicester City, Eastern Leicestershire and Rutland, West Leicestershire
Local Authority commissioners (Adult Social Care)
Safeguarding experts (Local Safeguarding Boards, Safeguarding Manager CCG)
Primary and secondary care
Mental Health Providers (Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust)
Criminal Justice System, including Leicestershire Police and Probation Services
Emergency services (East Midlands Ambulance Service)
Universities (University of Leicester, De Montfort University, Loughborough University)
Crisis Care Concordat Network

We will work together to promote better mental health, support people bereaved or affected by suicide, deliver suicide
awareness training, prevent suicide in health care settings, raise awareness with better data, supporting prisoners and
offenders and those at high risk of death by suicide.

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

17

Our Partnership approaches
216

1. Promote better mental health
People with poor mental health, especially undiagnosed and untreated
depression are at higher risk of death by suicide than the general population.
Raising awareness of mental wellbeing, and where to get help when problems
arise, can contribute to suicide prevention across wider networks. Better
mental health starts in homes, schools and workplaces.
217

The Suicide Audit and Prevention Group will promote better mental health,
helping people to seek support and talk about their feelings and challenging
stigma linked to mental illness.

We will use our wider partnership to promote better mental health, linking
our work to important initiatives like ‘Time to Change’ and ‘Mental Health
First Aid’.

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

19

2. Support people bereaved or affected by
suicide
People affected by or bereaved by suicide may be depressed and
anxious. The grief may be so intense that they feel despair or disbelief,
finding it hard to accept that someone has died.

We are determined to challenge taboos linked to mental ill health and
suicide. A culture of openness will improve care for people in
emotional distress and encourage them to get the confidential
emotional support necessary for them to express their feelings.

218

The LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group will work with voluntary
sector organisations, first responders, primary and secondary care and
the Coroners’ Offices to improve the support available to people
bereaved by suicide in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

3. Suicide awareness training
Raising awareness about suicide risk can help people to feel more confident
to talk about it and challenge stigmatising attitudes. Our local aspiration is to
deliver suicide awareness training which improves the knowledge base and
develops skills in wider society.

The training empowers people to challenge attitudes about suicide and helps
them to make an initial response to support someone who has expressed
suicidal thoughts, helping them to get appropriate help and guidance.

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

21

219

Whilst we may target areas where there is greatest risk, we aim to harness
the support of everyone with an interest in tackling death by suicide either as
part of their job role or personal experience. The purpose is to create a
community of interest.

4. Prevent suicide in health care settings
The Zero Suicide approach is a US model based on the belief
that all suicide in health care settings is preventable.

Where the risk of death from suicide is believed to be high,
there will be a further risk assessment, to review patient
motivation and the individual factors which have led to this
situation. Clinicians will be trained in this approach.

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

22

220

In LLR we will do everything that we can to prevent suicide in
people known to health care providers. This will include good
assessment and management based on best practice.

5. Raise awareness with better data
The SAPG is working to improve information about death by suicide. In
collaboration with Leicestershire Police we are collecting real time data. This
is collected when the police respond to incidents where circumstances
suggest suicide.

Our first real time data report was produced in January 2016. Going forwards
the SAPG will consider how to use real time data effectively, so that it triggers
effective necessary responses.

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

23

221

The potential benefits of real time data are: timely, appropriate support for
people who have been bereaved or affected by suicide; identification and
response to potential suicide clusters in a particular community; trends within
an area, including means by which people died from suicide; responding to
cases in particular institutions (e.g. hospitals, prisons); identifying high risk
locations; supporting development of the strategy and action plan.

6. Supporting people in prison and
those in contact with criminal justice
Suicide is the most common cause of death of people in custody.
Suicide by people with in contact with the criminal justice system is
tragic for the individual involved and a stressful event for prison
officers and other people in prison.

The SAPG will work with local prisons, young offenders institutions and
probationary services to develop peer support networks and raise
awareness of suicide prevention advice.

222

Many factors can have an impact on suicidal behaviour in prison or
people have had contact with the criminal justice system. Different
situations are stressful, such as being on remand, having a long
sentence, lack of purposeful activity, overcrowding and vulnerability on
release.

7. Protecting people with a history of selfharm
Self-harm, including attempted suicide, is the single biggest indicator of suicide risk.
Nationally about half of deaths by suicide are by people with a history of self-harm, in
many cases there has been an episode of self-harm shortly before a person has died.

The Suicide Audit and prevention Group will work with service commissioners and
providers to:
• Implement NICE guidance on the treatment of self-harm, including better mental
health care at UHL Emergency Department, including psychosocial assessments
and mental health liaison services
• Improve local monitoring of people who present with self-harm, working with
local CCG commissioners to ensure evidence is collected towards the Public Health
Outcome Framework measurement of people presenting with self-harm, making
the local Emergency Care Data Set as robust as possible and raising awareness of
the NHS CQUIN for people who frequently attend Emergency Department having
self-harmed

223

According to the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey, less than half the people who
self-harm receive medical or psychiatric help, many report lack of sympathy and other
negative experiences when they come into contact with NHS professionals.

8. Target support at key high risk groups
Although suicide can affect anyone and is everyone’s business, the national strategy
prioritises reducing suicide risk in higher risk groups:

224

Men:
3 times greater risk of suicide than women. In LLR men aged 35-54 years are at
highest risk. The factors associated with men are depression (especially untreated or
undiagnosed); alcohol and drug use; unemployment; relationship problems; social
isolation and low self-esteem.
Other high risk groups:
Unemployment is a risk factor for death from suicide, particularly because of
vulnerability to poor economic circumstances. Other groups may include children and
young people who are looked after children, care leavers or those in the criminal
justice system; Survivors of abuse; Veterans; People with long term conditions;
Lesbian, Gay, bisexual and transgender people; People from minority ethnic groups;
Asylum seekers; Pregnant women and those who have recently given birth.
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

26

Measuring impact
• Training: there will be 300 attendees a year at Suicide
Prevention Training sessions

• Annual action plan: the SAPG will produce an annual audit
and report to underpin an annual action plan
• Better care in healthcare settings: the SAPG will work with
Leicestershire Partnership Trust to promote better care for
people at risk of suicide in healthcare settings

225

• Suicide rates: the SAPG will work towards reducing the rate of
death by suicide

226

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

APPENDICES

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

28

All-party Parliamentary Group on
Suicide and Self-harm
In line with recommendations of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on
Suicide and Self-harm Prevention LLR SAPG has:

• Established a multi-agency suicide prevention group involving key
statutory agencies and voluntary organisations whose support is
required to implement the strategy and action plan in LLR;
• Carried out audits of suicides in LLR, based on sources such as
information from Coroners’ Offices and mortality data, with the aim
of understanding local factors such as high risk demographic
groups. Prevention of suicides requires concerted action.
DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

29

227

• Developed a suicide prevention strategy and action plan, based on
the national suicide prevention strategy and the local data, with the
aim of reducing suicide risk in LLR;

In line with national policy
National policy provides the framework for our local suicide prevention work. It also links with mental health promotion
programmes that we have in LLR. The policies that we work to include:
Preventing Suicide in England: A cross government strategy to save lives (2012). This develops a public health approach to
suicide prevention with 6 areas for action, including reducing risk of suicide in high-risk groups; tailoring approaches to improve
mental health in specific groups; reduce access to means of suicide; provide better information and support to those bereaved or
affected by suicide; support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour; support research, data
collection and monitoring.

228

No Health Without Mental Health (2011). The cross government mental health outcomes strategy advocates that suicide
prevention starts with better mental health for all and that local prevention strategies should be informed by people who have
been affected by suicide.
Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016). This report of an independent task force for report to NHS England, set the
target to reduce suicides by 10% nationally.

Children and Young People’s Mental Health Taskforce report (2015). The Future in Mind report sets out ambitions to improve
mental health services for children and young people. Many goals overlap with suicide prevention approaches. There is a LLR
Transformation Plan to implement the recommendations of the report.
Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat (2014). This is a national partnership agreement seeking to ensure better care for anyone
experiencing a mental health crisis. The LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group reports to the LLR Crisis Care Concordat Action
Plan.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA). Suicide prevention in LLR is linked to the JSNA which uses public health data to
describe the impact of mental health and influence joint commissioning strategies. (See
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/178811/mental-health-jspna.pdf).

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY

30

Appendix 2
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group
Draft Suicide Prevention Strategy Action Plan 2017-2020
The table below highlights our 8 key actions:
Aim

Objective

Specific outcome

(1)

Monitoring data

Promote better mental health in LLR

To take every opportunity to raise
awareness of the links between
mental illness and risk of suicide
and by promoting better mental
health in LLR.

There will be measurable
increase in awareness of stigma
and discrimination linked to
mental health problems through
local health education
programmes, including Resilience
and Recovery Service, Future in
Mind and Mental Health First Aid.

2017-18: Establish link between
suicide prevention work and
Future in Mind, Recovery and
Resilience Hubs and all local
public mental health promotion
campaigns.

There will be an
improvement in mental
wellbeing across LLR
communities using the
WEMWBS tool.
The number of LLR schools
and workplaces pledged to
challenge stigma and
discrimination liked to
mental illness.
Local reports to CCG
commissioners.

(2)
To encourage local partners to
work together to develop a culture
of support for people bereaved or
affected by suicide.

Support people bereaved or affected by suicide

To give effective and timely help
to people bereaved by suicide,
with key local organisations such
as the Police and Coroners’
Offices delivering best practice
and offering advice in
collaboration with voluntary
organisations such as Samaritans
and SOBs.

Key organisations will share best
practice through the LLR Suicide
Audit and Prevention Group.
Statutory and voluntary
organisations will form a support
network though which they will
signpost bereaved people to
appropriate, timely help.

2017-18: SAPG community
group members will link with
Coroners’ Offices and
Leicestershire Police to
establish a process by which
they work together to offer
information and signposting to
everyone bereaved by suicide.

Evaluation of real time
surveillance data as
evidence that people have
been offered support and
guidance.
Reported annually
preparatory to World
Suicide Prevention Day.

229

To influence health and social
care commissioners to promote
better mental health and wellbeing
in LLR.

Milestones

(3)
To raise awareness about suicide
risk.

To empower course attendees to
challenge attitudes about suicide.

To help people to feel more
confident in talking about suicide.

To help attendees to make an
initial response to support
someone who has expressed
suicidal thoughts.

To challenge stigmatising attitudes
to suicide.

(4)

There will be a number of courses
held in LLR to raise awareness in
local areas and among people in
other high risk categories.

Course evaluation data.
Reported regularly to
commissioners.

The course attendees will be
evaluated to assess their
knowledge of the topic
immediately before and after the
course with an additional
evaluation 6 months afterwards.
Prevent suicide in health care settings

To assess suicide risk of everyone
known to mental health services.
To undertake a further
assessment where risk of suicide
is high, reviewing individual
factors and patient motivation.
Best practice management of
individuals at high risk of death
from suicide.

(5)
To improve and use information
about death by suicide in LLR.

2017-18: 12 Courses of suicide
awareness training with 300
delegates.

To use information about death by
suicide as a way of providing
timely appropriate support for
people at risk of suicide, suicide
hot spots and clusters.

Everyone known to mental health
services will have an assessment
of risk of death by suicide.
Appropriate further assessment
and management of all people at
high risk known to mental health
services and appropriate care
plan drawn up.

2017-18: work with
Leicestershire Partnership Trust
to implement risk assessment
training to help therapists to
recognise suicide risk, judge
those risks and follow
appropriate guidance to mitigate
them.

Training of mental health staff in
assessment and best practice
care management.
Raise awareness with better data
An annual audit of deaths by
suicide in LLR, informed by
Coroners’ Offices data, Public
Health England Fingertips
evidence and real time
surveillance.
Ongoing support of real time

Proportion of people known
to mental health services
with a suicide prevention
care plan.
Reduction of number of
deaths by suicide in people
known to mental health
services.
Reported routinely to
CCGs.

Formalise reporting of Real
Time data in 2017

Annual audit reports to
SAPG preparatory to World
Suicide Prevention Day.
Quarterly reports to LLR
SAPG and LLR Mental
Health Crisis Care
Concordat.

230

To do everything possible to
prevent death by suicide in people
known to mental health services.

Suicide Awareness Training

surveillance data with
Leicestershire Police, with regular
reports to the SAPG and
extraordinary reports in response
to circumstances such as high
risk hot spots, clusters and
institutions.
(6)
To work with prisons and criminal
justice system to develop support
networks as a way of preventing
suicide and self-harm.

Supporting people in prison and those in contact with criminal justice

To raise awareness of high risk
sub-groups to support people in
prison and those in contact with
criminal justice system.

Regular reports to the LLR SAPG
which will cover the number of
deaths by suicide, assessments
of people at high risk and
development of supportive best
practice.

(7)

Invite representatives from local
criminal justice to join the SAPG
in 2017.
Establish formal links between
SAPG and local prisons and
probation services in 2017

Quarterly reports to the
SAPG, outlining progress
towards supportive
networks, ease of access to
training and response to
deaths by suicide.

231

To work with key partners to
develop peer support networks in
local prisons, young offender
institutions and probationary
services.

To encourage an evidence-based
response to protect people who
self-harm. This response will
ensure best practice in health care
commissioner and provider
services and highlight key
messages from supportive
community groups, such as the
Samaritans.

Regular reports to Mental
Health Partnership Boards
and Health and Wellbeing
Boards.

Protecting people with a history of self-harm

To implement NICE guidance on
the treatment of self-harm.
To improve local monitoring of
people who present with selfharm.

There will be psychosocial
assessments followed by
appropriate support at UHL
Emergency Care department for
people who self-harm in line with
NICE guidance.

To promote key messages which
are supportive of people who selfharm and sensitively highlights the
risk of suicide in people who selfharm.

CCG commissioners will collect
evidence towards the Public
Health Outcome Framework
measurement of people who selfharm.

(8)

Align work of SAPG with Acute
Vanguard during 2017

Target support at key high risk groups

Annual report on the
number of people who selfharm.
Report on the number of
people who are trained in
best practice response to
self-harm in health care
services.
Report to SAPG by support
groups about the local
perceived need of people
who self-harm in LLR.

To raise awareness of death by
suicide in high risk groups.

To promote a clear response to
protect people at an increased risk
of suicide, by peer communicators
and community out-reach.
To develop holistic responses to
encourage help seeking, effective
treatment for depression and
measures to reduce social
isolation or vulnerability to
economic circumstances.

There will be timely access to
appropriate mental health care,
including resilience and recovery
services and IAPT, and other
changes under the Sustainability
and Transformation Plan.
Development of cross-cutting and
co-ordinated approaches will
include signposting to broad
support, such as tackling
unemployment, debt, stigma and
discrimination.

Create a task and finish group
of SAPG in 2017 looking
specifically at high risk groups

Local reports to CCG
commissioners on access
to mental health services to
sustain resilience to mental
illness and provide support
to people with anxiety and
depression.
Number of people who are
signposted to wider support
networks by health and
social care services.

232

233

Agenda Item 11

a

LEICESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16
MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2018
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to highlight the responsibility of the Health and
Wellbeing Board to publish a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA),
the timescale to do so, and the proposed governance structure to enable
production of the PNA.

Background
2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory responsibility to prepare a
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for Leicestershire and publish it
by March 2018.

3.

The purpose of the PNA is to:
 Identify the pharmaceutical services currently available and assess
the need for pharmaceutical services in the future;
 inform the planning and commissioning of pharmacy services by
identifying which services should be commissioned for local people,
within available resources, and where these services should be;
 inform decision making in response to applications made to NHS
England by pharmacists and dispensing doctors to provide a new
pharmacy. The organisation that will make these decisions is NHS
England.

4.

The last PNA for Leicestershire was produced in 2015 and can be accessed
at: http://www.lsr-online.org/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment.html.

5.

The responsibility for producing the PNA rests with Health and Wellbeing
Boards in the general reforms embodied in the Health and Social Care Act
(2012). The NHS (Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical
Services) Regulations 2013 set out the legislative basis for developing and
updating PNAs and can be found at:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2013/02/pharmaceutical-services-regulations/

6.

The PNA is a statutory document that is used by NHS England to agree
changes to the commissioning of local pharmaceutical services. As such, if
NHS England receives a legal challenge to the services they commission
based on the PNA, the local authority could also be part of that legal
challenge. It is essential that the process that is followed meets the
legislation that is set out and that the PNA is a robust document.

234

Governance
7.

It is proposed that a Leicestershire and Rutland project team is established
to oversee the detailed production of the PNA documents for Leicestershire
and Rutland. These documents will reflect local needs and priorities for
Leicestershire and Rutland.

8.

In addition, because many of the relationships required for the PNA are
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) wide – involving representation
from NHS England, the Leicestershire Pharmaceutical Committee, Local
Professional Network for Pharmacists and the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland Local Medical Committee - a PNA Reference Group will be
established. This Reference Group will support PNA work across the three
Health and Wellbeing Boards, identify any economies of scale that can be
delivered through joint work and ensure that there is an effective process for
consultation on the PNAs. However, there will be separate PNAs for
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and each will be signed off by the
respective Health and Wellbeing Board.

9.

Draft terms of reference and membership for the PNA Project Team are
attached as Appendix A. The proposed membership for the Reference
Group is shown in Appendix B. The terms of reference for this group are in
development in consultation with Leicester City and Rutland and will be
agreed at the first meeting.

10. It is proposed that the Integration Executive will approve the preconsultation draft version of the Leicestershire PNA and provide assurance
to the Health and Wellbeing Board that the final PNA is an accurate
reflection of the pharmaceutical needs of the population and has been
developed using robust processes. The PNA Project Team will report
regularly to the Integration Executive and submit the pre-consultation draft
PNA for approval in September 2017.
11. The principal resourcing for the development of the Leicestershire PNA is
provided by the Leicestershire County Council Business Intelligence
Service, with information and advice provided through the PNA Project
Team by NHS England, the LPC, CCGs and others.
Consultation
12. The PNA is subject to a 60 day statutory consultation period which will start
at the end of September 2017. Regulation 8 of the Pharmaceutical Services
Regulations specifies that the Health and Wellbeing Board must consult
with the following:



the Local Pharmaceutical Committee
the Local Medical Committee
any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors
list for its area

235







any LPS chemist in its area with whom NHS England has made
arrangements for the provision of any local pharmaceutical services
Healthwatch, and any other patient, consumer or community group
in its area which in the view of the Health and Wellbeing Board has
an interest in the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area;
any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in its area
NHS England
any neighbouring HWB.

13. Health and Wellbeing Boards must consult the above at least once during
the process of developing the PNA. Those being consulted can be directed
to a website address containing the draft PNA but can, if they request, be
sent an electronic or hard copy version.
14. The draft PNA will be published on the Leicestershire County Council
website and views invited more widely than that of only the statutory
consultees.
Content and Timescales
15. The regulations and guidance documents provide information on the PNA
content. This has been reflected in the overview of proposed content of the
PNA provided in Appendix C. We propose a similar approach to that taken
in the 2015 PNA, but may seek more innovative ways to present and
visualise the data which might also facilitate easier updating.
16. It should be noted that during the period leading up to the finalisation of the
PNA 2018 the Government’s decisions regarding “Community pharmacy in
2016/17 and beyond” will have started to be implemented. The impact of
these changes will become apparent as 2017 progresses and there will
need to be a thorough understanding of the new emergent system and an
assessment of its implications for the PNA 2018.
17. Appendix C also provides the project timescales. The project plan is tight
with respect to delivering a signed off PNA by the 31st March 2018. The
PNA Project Team will monitor this and report any issues of concern to the
Integration Executive.
Equality Impact Assessment
18. The PNA will be subject to an EIA.
Recommendations
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested:



to note this report;
to approve the delegation of the assurance role to the Integration
Executive;

236




approve the proposal to form a project team and an interagency LLR wide
reference group and the draft terms of reference for the project team;
to receive further reports on progress and the final PNA report for approval
in March 2018.

Officers to Contact
Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health
Leicestershire County Council
Tel: 0116 305 4239
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk

237

APPENDIX A
LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL, RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL
PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT
PROJECT TEAM
TERMS OF REFERENCE
Purpose:
The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is a legal duty of the Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWB) and each HWB will need to publish its own revised PNA
for its area by 1st April 2018.
The purpose of this project team is to develop the PNA for Leicestershire and the
PNA for Rutland.
The team will set the timetable for the development of the PNA, agree the format
and content of the PNA and ensure that each PNA fulfils statutory duties around
consultation for the PNA.
The team will be a task and finish group, meeting between March 2017 and
March 2018.
Key responsibilities:
 To oversee the PNA process
 To ensure that the development of the PNA meets the statutory duties of the
HWBs
 To ensure active engagement from all stakeholders
 To communicate to a wider audience how the PNA is being developed
 To ensure that the PNA addresses issues of provision and identifies need
 To map current provision of pharmaceutical services
 To identify any gaps in pharmaceutical provision
 To map any future provision
Governance:
 Leicestershire County Council – the Health and Wellbeing Board will task the
Integration Executive with ensuring the PNA is conducted according to the
legislation.


Rutland County Council – arrangements to be confirmed, with overall
responsibility resting with the Health and Wellbeing Board.



The project team will be chaired by the Public Health Director, Mike Sandys.

PNA Project Team membership:
Local Authority PNA Leads

238





Mike Sandys, Leicestershire County Council, Chair
Caroline Boucher, Business Intelligence, Leicestershire County Council
tbc, Rutland County Council

Local Pharmaceutical Committee
 Chief Officer and Secretary
Clinical Commissioning Groups
 Medicines Management lead, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
 Medicines Management lead, West Leicestershire CCG
 Medicines Management lead, Leicester City CCG
HealthWatch
 To be confirmed
Public Health Intelligence leads
 Stephanie Webb/ Natalie Greasley, Leicestershire County Council
 Tbc, Rutland County Council
Local Medical Committee
 GP representative to be confirmed
NB: Membership will be reviewed regularly and may be extended by agreement
of the Project Team members
Frequency of meetings: five meetings to be arranged – March 2017, April 2017,
June 2017, September 2017, December 2017.
Additional meetings may be required between March 2017 and June 2017 as this
will be the main development phase of the PNA.
Support arrangements:
The meetings will be minuted by Leicestershire County Council.
Confidentiality
An undertaking of confidentiality will be signed by non-Local Authority employed
group members.
During the period of membership of the Project Team, members may have
access to information designated by the Local Authorities or other members as
being of a confidential nature and which must not be divulged, published or
disclosed without prior written consent. Improper use of or disclosure of
confidential information will be regarded as a serious disciplinary matter and will
be referred back to the employing organisation. For the avoidance of doubt as to
whether an agenda item is confidential all papers will be marked as confidential
before circulation to the group members.
Declarations of Interest
Where there is an item to be discussed, where a member could have a
commercial or financial interest, the interest is to be declared and formally
recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

239

APPENDIX B
LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL, LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL,
RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL
PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT
REFERENCE GROUP
TERMS OF REFERENCE
More detailed terms of reference will be developed at the first reference group
meeting. The main purpose of the reference group will be to identify economies
of scale by joint working across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, to share
good practice and to plan effective consultation.
PNA Project Team membership:
Local Authority PNA Leads
 Mike Sandys, Leicestershire County Council, Chair
 Caroline Boucher, Business Intelligence, Leicestershire County Council
 tbc, Rutland County Council
NHS England
 Pharmacy Contracts Manager, NHS England
Local Pharmaceutical Committee
 Chief Officer and Secretary
Local Professional Network for Pharmacists
 To be confirmed
Clinical Commissioning Groups
 Medicines Management lead, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
 Medicines Management lead, West Leicestershire CCG
 Medicines Management lead, Leicester City CCG
HealthWatch
 To be confirmed
Public Health Intelligence leads
 Leicester City Council
 Stephanie Webb/ Natalie Greasley, Leicestershire County Council
 Rutland County Council
Local Medical Committee
 GP representative to be confirmed

240

APPENDIX C
PHARMACUETICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT – WORKING OUTLINE AND
TIMESCALE
Purpose
1. To support local commissioners in deciding on the provision of NHS funded
services through community pharmacies in Leicester. These services are part
of the local healthcare provision and affect NHS and Local Authority budgets.
2. To support the NHS England-Leicestershire and Lincolnshire Area Team in
the determination of market entry decisions.
3. To provide a robust governance framework should a market entry decision
are contested or challenged legally by an applicant or by existing NHS
contractors.
4. To provide a source of relevant reference to Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland local authorities, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England for
the commissioning of any future of local pharmaceutical services.
Publication Outline
The PNA will review and include:


Existing pharmacy provision and services including dispensing, health
care and lifestyle advice, medicines reviews and information and
implementation of public health messages and services.



Dispensing by GP surgeries.



Services available in neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Board areas that
could affect the need for services.



Demographics of the relevant population shown as a whole and more
specifically by locality with clear indication of needs specific to each area.



Gaps in the provision of services, taking into account future requirements
that could be met by providing more pharmacies or pharmacy services.



Local area maps locating pharmacies and pharmaceutical services.

The PNA will not include:


Prison pharmaceutical services;



Hospital pharmacies.

241

The published document will cover the following key areas of review (this
list is a guide and will evolve alongside the development of report):
1. Context for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
2. Description of current services
2.1. Essential Services
 Dispensing
 Repeat Dispensing
 Disposal of Unwanted Medication
 Promotion of Healthy Lifestyles
 Sign Posting
 Support for Self Care
 Clinical Governance
2.2. Advanced Services – these are optional services that are
commissioned nationally by NHS England through the core
contract
 Medicine Use Review (MUR)
 New Medicines Services (NMS)
 Appliance use reviews (AUR)
 Stoma Appliance Customisation Service
2.3. Enhanced Services which are locally commissioned (list is an
example)
 Out of Hours Services
 Supply of Palliative Care Drugs
 Minor Ailment Scheme
 Advice and Support to Care Homes
 Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC)
 Chlamydia Screening
 Stop Smoking Services
 Alcohol Brief Interventions
 NHS Health Checks
 Flu vaccinations
 Supervised Consumption
 Needle Exchange
 Healthy living pharmacies
2.4. Pharmacies facilities
 Wheelchair access
 Access to disabled car parking within 100m
 Private consultation rooms
 Customer toilets
 IT facilities
 Foreign languages spoken
2.5. Different types of pharmacy contract

242











Internet/distance selling
100 hour dispensing
Dispensing practices
Dispensing appliance contractors
One-Stop primary care centres
Cross-border pharmacies affecting local population
Hospital pharmacy discharge medication arrangements
Prison pharmacy arrangements
Rurality

3. Each local authority will produce an overarching health needs document
as part of their JSNA process which will inform the PNA.
3.1. Local Health Needs
 This will be the section that identifies the health needs that need
to inform the commissioning of the pharmaceutical needs
assessment – so the interpretation of the health needs
document into the services that can be commissioned through
community pharmacy
 For example, mapping of teenage pregnancy hotspot wards to
EHC provision.
 Include a review of patients that are not within a 10 minute drive
time or a 20 minute walk time of a pharmacy
 Leicestershire and Rutland need to include a section on rurality
and the changes to the areas designated as rural linked to the
existing PNA
4. Changes to demography, services, etc. that will effect pharmaceutical
needs
 Demographic changes
 Planning intentions and housing developments
 Care homes and retirement villages
 Issues such as the impact of the co-operative pharmacy plans
5. Key Strategic Priorities
 Local Authority JHWS
 NHS England Primary Care Strategy
 Better Care Fund
 Better Care Together 5 year strategy
 CCG 5 year plans
6. Neighbouring and Regional Services
7. Engagement
8. Conclusions
9. Recommendations
10. Equality Impact Assessment

243

11. Table of Abbreviations/Glossary
12. Appendices

Implementation
Project Schedule – Under Development
Stage 1 – Project implementation (March 2017)

Milestone
Formally initiate project
Establish Project Team
Set up project templates
Confirm recruitment of key project team members

Complete
31st March
31th March
31th March
31st March

Stage 2 – Stakeholder Consultation & Initial Document Drafts
(April – August 2017)

Milestone
Draft PNA template (contents) agreed
Draft risk register
Develop engagement plan
Equality Impact Assessment
1st draft PNA document
Communications plan in place

COMPLETE
May 2017
May 2017
June 2017

Stage 3 – Final Document Draft, Approval & Publication
(August 2017 – March 2018)

2nd draft PNA – Full Document
Start 60 day consultation
End of consultation period
Revised draft PNA document
Health and Wellbeing Board sign off (March 2018)
PNA document published

31st March 2018

This page is intentionally left blank

245

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
BOARD (LRSAB) AND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
(LRLSCB)
SAFEGUARDING BOARDS BUSINESS PLANS 2017/18
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to set out the draft proposed Business Plan priorities for
the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) and
the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board LRSAB for 2017/18 for
noting and comment by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. Health and care needs can be linked to
safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in
other agencies.

3.

Connectivity between the LRSAB and the Better Care Together (BCT) Programme
was established during 2014/15 when the Board was a consultee during the process
of formulating the BCT Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-19. At that stage it was agreed
that safeguarding would be a cross-cutting theme across the BCT Programme and
we secured agreement to ensuring that the BCT Programme would incorporate,
promote, measure and evaluate safeguarding outcomes within its improvement
plans.

4.

The draft Business Plan Priorities for 2017/18 incorporate areas within priority health
workstreams, including emotional health and well-being and mental health. The
priorities include a specific reference to assurance regarding the safeguarding
implications and impacts of the Better Care Together and Sustainability and
Transformation Plan programmes.

Recommendation
5.

It is recommended that the Board comments on the proposed Business Plan
priorities 2017/18 for the LRLSCB and LRSAB, particularly in relation to the most

246
appropriate route for assurance regarding the safeguarding implications and impacts
of the Better Care Together and Sustainability and Transformation Plan programmes.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
6.

The LRLSCB and the LRSAB are partnerships that are required by regulation. The
LRLSCB is required as a result of the Children Act 2004 and expectations of the
Board are set out in Working Together 2015. The LRSAB is required as a result of
the Care Act 2014.

7.

It is a requirement of Working Together 2015 and the Care Act 2014 that the Annual
Reports of the LRLSCB and LRSAB be presented to the Chairman of the Health and
Wellbeing Board. In Leicestershire and Rutland we have, in addition, a protocol
between both safeguarding boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board that requires
the presentation of the draft business plans of the safeguarding boards with an
expectation that the Health and Wellbeing Board will consider any implications of
these plans for the health and well-being strategies of both counties.

8.

The Annual Reports for 2015-16 for the LRLSCB and LRSAB, which included some
analysis of need for future priorities were presented to the Health and Wellbeing
Board on 15th September 2016.

Background
Statutory Framework
9.

The LRLSCB is a statutory body established as a result of Section 13 of the Children
Act 2004 and currently operates under statutory guidance issued in Working
Together 2015. Whilst there is no statutory requirement to report the annual
business plan to the Health and Wellbeing Board it has been considered best
practice in the past so to do.

10. The LRSAB became a statutory body on 1st April 2015 as result of the Care Act
2014. The Act requires that it must lead adult safeguarding arrangements across its
locality and oversee and coordinate the effectiveness of the safeguarding work of its
member and partner agencies. It requires the LRSAB to develop and actively
promote a culture with its members, partners and the local community that
recognises the values and principles contained in ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’. It
should also concern itself with a range of issues which can contribute to the
wellbeing of its community and the prevention of abuse and neglect, such as:
• the safety of people who use services in local health settings, including
mental health
• the safety of adults with care and support needs living in social housing
• effective interventions with adults who self-neglect, for whatever reason
• the quality of local care and support services
• the effectiveness of prisons in safeguarding offenders
• making connections between adult safeguarding and domestic abuse.
11. These points have been addressed in drawing up thr Business Plan for 2017/18.
12. Safeguarding Adult Boards have three core duties. They must:

247

• develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how they will meet their
objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute;
• publish an annual report detailing how effective their work has been
• commission safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet
the criteria for these.
13. It is the first of these duties to which the Business Plan relates since this plan
essentially outlines our strategy for improvement.
Formulation of the Business Plans for 2017/18
14. As in 2016/17 the LRLSCB and LRSAB have formulated individual business plans
supplemented by a joint plan that addresses priorities they will share. This is
intended to secure a balance between achieving a strong focus on both children’s
and adult safeguarding issues and recognising that some safeguarding matters
require approaches that involve both children and adult services and focus on whole
family issues.
15. The future improvement priorities identified in the Annual Reports for 2015/16 have
been built into the Business Plans for 2017/18. In addition to issues arising from the
Annual Report the new Business Plans’ priorities have been identified against a
range of national and local drivers including:
 national safeguarding policy initiatives and drivers;
 recommendations from regulatory inspections across partner agencies;
 the outcomes of serious case reviews, serious incident learning processes,
domestic homicide reviews and other review processes both national and
local;
 evaluation of the business plans for 2015/16 including analysis of impact
afforded by the quality assurance and performance management framework;
 best practice reports issued at both national and local levels;
 the views expressed by both service users and front-line staff through the
Boards’ engagement and participation arrangements;
 recommendations contained in the Ofsted review of the LRLSCB published
on 13th February 2017 and the recommendations in the Ofsted inspections of
Leicestershire and Rutland published on the same date.
16. The new Business Plans have been informed by discussions at number of forums
since the autumn of 2016, including:
a. the annual Safeguarding Summit of chief officers from partner agencies held
on 23rd November 2016
b. meetings of the Scrutiny bodies in both Leicestershire and Rutland at which
both the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2015/16 and future priorities
for action have been debated;
c. meetings of the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Wellbeing Boards at
which both the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2015/16 and future
priorities for action have been debated;
d. discussions within individual partner agencies.
17. The proposed strategic priorities were formulated through the annual Development
Session of the two Safeguarding Boards held on 2 December 2016.

248

Proposals/Options
18. The Boards have continued to follow the approach to business planning that they
adopted last year, focusing on areas that they have identified as specific priorities for
development and improvement.
19. The Board is considering making a differentiation between Development priorities
and Assurance priorities. Assurance priorities are solely identified as priorities for
seeking assurance regarding safeguarding practice, risk or impact, rather than
carrying out any specific development work. Development priorities are ones that
require specific development work led by the Board, these may also include some
element of assurance.
20. Effectiveness of safeguarding in areas not covered by the business plan or
assurance priorities will be continue to be monitored through the core element of our
performance and quality assurance framework.
21. The specific priorities that have arisen for the LRSAB are:
Development Priority
1. Prevention
2. Making
Safeguarding
Personal (MSP)
3. Thresholds
4. Self-Neglect

22.

Identifying and addressing gaps re: over and
under-reporting
Establishing and embedding a robust process for
practitioners

The specific priorities that have arisen for the LRLSCB are:
Development Priority
1. CSE, Trafficking &
Missing (Missing
and online safety)
2. Children with
Disabilities
3. Signs of Safety

23.

Summary
Assurance regarding safeguarding elements of
local prevention strategies
Continuing development of MSP across partners

Summary
Developing assurance regarding missing children
process and intervention and developing online
safety responses.
Assessing organisational responses and
safeguarding risk understanding with regard to
these children and their families.
Further embedding this across the partnership,
particularly schools.

The priorities that have arisen for the part of the Business Plan shared between the
LRSAB and the LRLSCB can be seen over the page:

249

Development Priority
1. The ‘Toxic Trio’

2. Participation and
Engagement
3. Emotional Health
& Wellbeing

4. Multi-Agency risk
management /
Supervision

Summary
Assessing and developing approaches to
safeguarding adults and children where domestic
abuse, substance misuse and mental health
issues are present.
Establishing visible effective participation by
children and vulnerable adults at Board level.
Develop understanding of emotional health and
well-being across the partnership and gain
assurance regarding BCT and STP that work is
addressing safeguarding issues, particularly re:
mental health
Develop a multi-agency supervision approach for
risk management in safeguarding adults and
children.

24.

Against each of these priorities the Board is in the process of identifying key
outcomes for improvement and the actions that will need to be taken over the next
year to achieve these improved outcomes.

25.

The Priority on Emotional Health and Wellbeing currently references the Better Care
Together Plan and Sustainable Transformation Plan.

26.

The following are the identified assurance priorities arising from current priorities and
the considerations from the development day. Seeking assurance on these would
be built into the work of the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) and the LSCB
and SAB Multi-Agency Audit Groups as appropriate.

LSCB

SAB

Joint

Assurance Priorities
1. Early Help (step up and step down)
2. Sports and other independent settings (need to test historic
abuse disclosures)
3. Thresholds
4. Supervision
5. Initial Health Assessments for Looked After Children (IHAs)
6. Young People’s Mental Health
1. Thresholds
2. MCA DoLS
3. Harm Caused by paid staff/ professionals (watching brief)
1. Domestic Abuse

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
27.

The views of a range of forums are being sought on the Business Plans. This
includes the Cabinets, Children and Adults and Scrutiny Committees and the Health
and Wellbeing Boards in both local authority areas.

250
28.

The Board office are arranging for consultation on the priorities with young people
and adult service users through existing forums.

29.

Young people have identified Hate Crime to be considered in the Business Plan, this
will be considered further by the Board.

30. Feedback from this panel and these forums will support the development of the
action plans for these priorities. The final Business Plan will be signed off at the
meeting of the LRSAB and LRLSCB on 31 March 2017.
Resource Implications
31. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
Both the LRLSCB and LRSAB operate with a budget to which partner agencies
contribute under an agreed formula that reflects their size, operating budgets and
legal safeguarding responsibilities
32. The total budget within which the Boards operate in 2017/18 will be £346,090. The
LRLSCB has a budget of £241,692 and the LRSAB a budget of £104,478, added to
which the Boards receive £40,500 from the community safety partnerships to support
the undertaking of Domestic Homicide Reviews
Timetable for Decisions
33. The final Business Plan will be signed off at the meeting of the LRSAB and LRLSCB
on 31 March 2017
Background papers
None
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None
Officer to Contact
Paul Burnett, Independent Chair of the LRLSCB and LRSAB
Telephone: 0116 305 7130
Email: paul.burnett@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
34. The LRLSCB and LRSAB seek to ensure that a fair, effective and equitable service is
discharged by the partnership to safeguard vulnerable children, young people and
adults. At the heart of their work is a focus on any individual or group that may be at
greater risk of safeguarding vulnerability and the performance framework tests
whether specific groups are at higher levels of risk. The Business Plans for 2017/18
will set out how the partnership will seek to engage with all parts of the community in
the coming year.

251

Crime and Disorder Implications
35. There is a close connection between the work of the LRLSCB and LRSAB and that of
community safety partnerships in Leicestershire. For example the LSCB works
closely with community safety partnerships to scrutinise and challenge performance
in community safety issues that affect the safeguarding and well-being of individuals
and groups e.g. Domestic Abuse. The LSCB also supports community safety
partnerships in carrying out Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their
recommendations.
Environmental Implications
36. None
Partnership Working and associated issues
37. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in
national regulation, Working Together 2015, published by the Department for
Education and by the Care Act 2014.

This page is intentionally left blank

253

Agenda Item 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
OFSTED INSPECTION OF SERVICES FOR CHILDREN IN NEED OF
HELP AND PROTECTION, CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER AND CARE
LEAVERS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to advise the Health and Wellbeing Board of the
outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection of children’s social care services in
Leicestershire and to present the Action Plan which has been developed to
address the recommendations in the Ofsted Report and which sets out the
way forward for the development of the Council’s Children and Family
Services Department.

2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is also asked to note the Department’s
Improvement Plan which was developed in preparation for the inspection
and charts progress made from the time of the inspection to date.

Recommendations
3.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to (a)

Note the content, grades and recommendations of the Ofsted
inspection report on children’s social care services in Leicestershire;

(b)

Note the Children and Family Services Improvement Plan which was
developed in preparation for the inspection and charts progress made;

(c)

Note the Action Plan which has been prepared in response to the
recommendations in the Ofsted Report and includes proposals for the
future development and improvement of services to children and
families, and approve the Action Plan as the County Council’s formal
response to the Ofsted Inspection Report.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
The inspection was carried out in accordance with Ofsted’s Single Inspection
Framework. The resulting Action Plan will, when implemented, have an
impact on the County Council’s Strategic Plan and Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS). It will also affect departmental and operational plans which
inform the work of the Department.
Background
4.

254
5.

Ofsted is commissioned by the Department for Education (DfE) to undertake
what is known as the Single Inspection Framework on all English local
authority children’s social care services. Most councils have now been
inspected, with outstanding ones due to be completed in 2017. A new
inspection framework will commence in 2018.

The Review Process
6.

The inspection of Leicestershire’s children’s social care services was carried
out over four weeks, from 14th November to 8th December 2016. Ten
inspectors and one shadow inspector were involved. The inspectors
attended 120 meetings, looked at 276 case files, and were provided with
around 700 documents.

7.

The inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference that was
being made by the service to the lives of children, young people and their
families. They read case files, watched how professional staff worked with
families and with each other, and discussed the effectiveness of help and
care being given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they
talked to children, young people and their families.

8.

The inspectors also considered the Council’s self assessment of its
performance which set out its view about how well it is performing and what
difference it is making for the young people who it is trying to help, protect
and look after and areas for improvement. A copy of improvements
underway prior to the inspection which now includes the findings of the
Ofsted inspection and the progress made since is attached as Appendix A to
this report.

Inspection Findings
9.

The findings of the inspection are contained in a detailed report, the
executive summary of which is attached at Appendix D. This includes
gradings indicating how the service is perceived to be performing in five
broad areas and an overall effectiveness rating using the same grading
system. The grades are (1) inadequate - which will trigger formal intervention
by DfE, (2) requires improvement in order to achieve good, (3) good, and (4)
outstanding.

10.

To date in relation to overall effectiveness circa 25% of councils have been
classed as inadequate, 50% require improvement and 25% are good or
outstanding with only two achieving the top grade.

11.

Leicestershire has been graded as follows:
Overall effectiveness - Requires improvement to be good
1. Children who need help and protection - Requires improvement
2. Children looked after and achieving permanence - Requires
improvement
2.1 Adoption performance - Requires improvement

255
2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers - Requires improvement
3. Leadership, management and governance - Requires improvement.
Report Headlines
Overall effectiveness
12.

The report identifies many areas of good practice but also a number of
aspects which do need to improve and is a fair and accurate evaluation.
Ofsted’s appraisal of the service is in line with the Council’s own selfassessment, which is recognised within the Report and is a strength. The
Service had already identified the need for investment in certain areas and
had commenced improvement work prior to the inspection which is also
identified positively within the report.

(1) Children who need help and protection
Strengths
13.

The Report indicates that children at risk of significant harm are identified
and protected through effective interventions by staff. This is the most
important finding as it is the key aspect which underpins all of the
Department’s activities and is the most influential determinate of overall
grade.

14.

It was also recognised that the Council provides a wide range of good quality
early help services which are having a positive impact for families. Child
Protection Plans are reviewed effectively and on time and work to tackle
Child Sexual Exploitation is robust and cutting edge. The Authority works
closely with colleagues in other agencies such as the police and health
services to support and protect children and this joint working is developing
in areas such as the management of domestic abuse.

Areas for Improvement
15.

Children who are not at significant risk do not always receive a timely service
which happens due to staffing shortages and inefficient business processes.
This was being addressed at the time of the inspection but changes had not
had time to have sufficient impact.

16.

Whilst there was evidence of good quality assessments and of care or
protection plans overall standards were too inconsistent. The number of
repeat child protection plans are too high although were seen to be reducing
and since the inspection there have been a further reductions to become
close to the national average.

17.

Although no children with disabilities were seen to be at immediate risk there
was a need for more engagement with partner agencies and a need to
improve the quality and timeliness of assessments. Vulnerable 16/17 year
olds at risk of homelessness need speedier support.

(2) Children looked after and achieving permanence

256

Strengths
18.

Given that the Council is experiencing increases in the numbers of those in
care, it is encouraging to note that the Report indicates it is only taking
children into care when necessary and is then placing them in appropriate
placements that are well commissioned and monitored. Although numbers of
looked after children are increasing, early help services are having a positive
impact on keeping overall numbers below the national average. Where the
Authority uses adoption this is achieved in a timely way and children are well
matched to adoptive parents. The Council is also very good at keeping in
touch with care leavers.

19.

The service to support Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UAS
children) is good and sensitive to support the special needs of this group.

20.

There are two very active Children in Care Councils which are supported by
senior officers and the Cabinet Lead Member and which are valued by young
people. All of the work undertaken to engage and advocate for young
people was seen to be of very high quality.

Areas for Improvement
21.

Support for those at high risk of coming into care or those returning home
from care works well in some cases but overall could be more effective.
Although the Council does progress adoptions well it does not provide
enough on-going support and does not enable the adoption of enough
children with more complex needs.

22.

Assessments are not routinely updated and care plans are of variable quality
and not always specific enough around what is required. Social workers do
not always visit children as they should do or as young people would like.

23.

Inspectors were critical of the lack of therapeutic support particularly from the
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) provided by the
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust for children in care which is
detrimental to achieving good outcomes.

24.

Although children who go missing from home are routinely offered return
interviews of good quality this is not always the case for those who go
missing from care. There is also too much inconsistency in the support
offered to care leavers.

(3) Leadership, management and governance
Strengths
25.

Senior managers, political leaders and partners are engaged and prioritise
children’s services. Additional funding has been provided in recognition of
the on-going service pressures particularly in the looked after system and
also the need to reduce caseloads, develop quality assurance work, and
advocate for children.

257
26.

There is robust member oversight, scrutiny and challenge and a very
experienced and committed Lead Member who is focused on improvement.

27.

The report recognises the positive impact of the interim Director and
Assistant Director who have identified weaknesses and provided a catalyst
for recent improvements. The Signs of Safety initiative is also positive and
there is a very impressive commitment to the participation of children.

Areas for improvement
28.

Caseloads are too high for many staff, which is having a detrimental impact
upon standards and can be linked to some shortcomings identified within the
report.

29.

There are deficiencies and inconsistency in the management oversight of
casework practice and provision of good quality regular staff supervision.

30.

Developmental support for senior staff and managers is limited as is the
support offered to newly qualified social workers, which does not always
meet requirements.

31.

There are data quality issues in some areas particularly the First Response
Team which has led to under reporting of poor performance.

Key Actions
32.

The report contains 17 recommendations and the Action Plan prepared in
response is attached as Appendix B. The Action Plan provides the blueprint
for taking the service forward to achieve good and outstanding standards of
practice and the best possible outcomes for the children, young people and
the families it supports. A high-level summary (Action Plan on a Page) sets
out the vision to improve services and is attached as Appendix C.

33.

As mentioned previously, improvement activity was underway prior to the
inspection and as a result of this improvements are already being noted in
certain areas. These are identified in the Improvement Plan set out in
Appendix A.

Staff and member briefings
34.

Three briefings have been held for departmental staff regarding the findings
in the Ofsted Report and a presentation has been prepared for use by
managers who will cascade the findings at service and team levels. The
Senior Inspector who oversaw the inspection has visited the Department and
held sessions with the Lead and Cabinet Support Member, Senior
Managers, and the Director and Assistant Directors. Reports will be made to
the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board, the
County Council’s Cabinet and the Children and Families Partnership.

Conclusion
35.

The Ofsted Report does provide a comprehensive and largely accurate
evaluation of the strengths and aspects requiring development in the

258
Council’s social care services for children and families that is in line with
internal assessments. The updated Action Plan produced in response will
be submitted to Ofsted as is required. Additional work needs to be
undertaken to understand the further improvements needed and the how
these will be resourced and how this work interrelates with Children and
Family Services’ overall improvement plans.
36.

There will be no further engagement from Ofsted in relation to this inspection
or the Single Inspection Framework. Future inspections of social care
services will be undertaken under a new framework that commences in
2018. There are however outstanding inspections of SEND and School
Improvement Services which have no timeline being unannounced.

Resource Implications
37. In the preparation for the Ofsted Inspection, officers of the Council, together
with the Independent Chairman of the Leicestershire and Rutland
Safeguarding Boards undertook a self-assessment into the services provided
to children and their families. This highlighted a number of areas where
improvements needed to be made, the costs of which were reflected in the
recent MTFS report approved by the County Council in February 2017.
38.

Following the publication of the Ofsted report and the preparation of the
Action Plan further work is being undertaken to understand fully the financial
implications for the service. This work will be carried out over the next few
months and will need to have regard to the impact of changes already made,
the views of frontline staff about the effectiveness of change and suggestions
for improvements and the Council’s extremely challenging financial position.

Background Papers
Ofsted Report - Leicestershire: Inspection of services for children in need of help
and protection, children looked after and care leavers
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/leicestershire
Officer to Contact
Paul Meredith, Director of Children and Family Services
Tel: 0116 305 7441
Email: paul.meredith@leics.gov.uk
Appendices
Appendix A - Issues being addressed in the Improvement Plan December 2016
that were identified by Ofsted to require further work
Appendix B - Draft Ofsted Action Plan 2017-2020
Appendix C - Children and Family Services Improvement Plan 2017-2020 ‘The
Road to Excellence’
Appendix D - Ofsted Report Executive Summary

259
Equality and Human Rights Implications
39.

There are no specific equality or human rights implications arising from the
recommendations in this report. The findings apply to all children and young
people with whom the Council is engaged regardless of any protected
characteristic. The changes as a result of the Action Plan will help improve
the outcomes for children and their families.

40.

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments will be undertaken as
appropriate should there be any reviews of Departmental strategies or
services.

This page is intentionally left blank

Issues being addressed in the Improvement Plan Dec 16 that were identified by Ofsted to require further work
Improvement Plan July 16 –
Dec16

First Response (FR) Review of
processes

Ofsted found Nov-Dec 16


1

Resulted in Strengthening of
Safeguarding processes to
ensure compliance with Working
Together to Safeguard Children
2015. Strengthened strategy
discussion/Section 47
investigations.
Processes to audit work in
place. Had began work on
quality of Single Assessment
and setting quality standards.
Established performance
management reports

Some progress but need to continue
work in this area and particular issues
in First Response about the accuracy
of the data reports

1



2

4




Reviewing processes from
contact, triage, referral
(Nov/Dec)
Management plan in place to
address all areas of work
(Nov16)
Additional SM capacity in
place (Nov 16)
Additional SW capacity in
place from Nov and ongoing.
Review of resources required
going forward (commenced
Feb17)

Performance Management
Consultant now in post (interim).
Developing more detailed
report. Work on FR has been
the priority and better reporting
programmes in place from the
end of Feb 2017.

APPENDIX A

 Management systems to
manage / monitor service
delivery in place
 Monthly performance meeting
established to provide drive
and challenge
 Improving how managers use
Performance Information data
to measure progress and
performance.





261

Safeguarding and Out of Hours
Service identified to be strong
Contact / referral – delay in
response and not all work
recorded appropriately or in a
timely way.
Management oversight needs to
be stronger
Caseloads too high. Impact of a
large number of newly qualified
Social Workers being appointed to
the Service Sept/October 2016.



Progress of change Nov16 –
Feb 17

Ofsted
Recommendations

Supervision policy reviewed and
managers engaged in the
process


Some good examples of compliance
in frequency and quality but not
consistent

2




1st Nov 16 established
monthly reporting – (audit)
for supervision to SMT
every month.




Caseloads too high in some areas eg
FR, Care Leavers (PA) and for some
individual workers in other areas
Ofsted acknowledged the work
ongoing but as caseloads too high in
some areas they noted the impact on
quality of service delivery

3







Increased social worker
capacity via agency. This is
proving to be challenging
due to shortage of good
quality available agency
staff.
Reviewing service
requirements across the
whole service (commenced
Feb 17)
Impact of addressing the
work flow in FR has
resulted in large number of
cases going to other teams.
Need to increase social
worker capacity in the short
term whilst we determine if
this is a short term problem
or if it requires permanent
increased resources
(ongoing Dec 16)

262

Caseloads – monthly reporting
re numbers of open cases.
Increased social worker capacity
put in place in some areas (First
Response and Child Protection).
Reviewing what needs to be in
place longer term to ensure
reasonable caseloads.

Monthly reporting in place.
Overview report to SMT and
Performance meeting
SM reviewing paperwork to
make sure it supports the
process (March 17)
SM have to show in Service
Delivery Plan how they will
drive this forward (March 17)
SMT exploring L&D
requirements (March 17)

Update SW assessments – on
every child
 Developed paperwork to
update assessment for CiC
 Assessment standards
developed and distributed in
November 16 for all who
complete Single
Assessments

 Inconsistent practice. Some
assessments are detailed and
assess risk and are outcome
focused. Others lack depth and are
too superficial
 Need to develop strong risk
assessment and more outcome
focused plans

6







Practice guide (Principle Social
Worker) completed Spring 2016

Chronologies in place but not used
consistently to record the child’s
experiences / significant events

6



Practice Standards (March
17)

Some good examples but not
Sessions with Staff held by PSW consistent
Spring 2016
Permanence planning for all
children in care to be stronger




Strong if plan is return to
family or adoption. Focus
began on Review of Section
20 and long term care
Permanence Panel
established (March 16).
Began work on tracking, pre
proceedings and long term
FP

Permanence Panel established and
making progress but too early to
report longer term impact


Strength when return home or
adoption but requires
improvement for long term care
cases. Some evidence of drift in
planning for children in long term
FP

7

 Permanence Panel driving
forward this area of work
 Audit / QA framework
(March 17)
 Practice Summit to drive the
understanding of
permanence (April 17)

263

Use of Chronologies

Developing workshop / guide
in SMART planning for all
staff (March 17)
Improving managerial
oversight (immediate action
Dec 16)
Quality Assurance role is
supporting development in
quality practice (Nov 16)
Practice Standards (complete
March17)
Quality assurance and
improved framework
(Completed by March17)

Health assessments of CiC
Timescales for completion need
to improve. Improvements being
made (Performance data).



Therapeutic needs of some
children / young people are met but
others do not receive timely
services

Decision making panels
(Placement and Additional
Resources) and complex cases
(integrated with CSC, education
and health) established March
16.



Need to ensure a consistency of
approach of work with CAMHS

8



Reviewed processes and
clear decision making route
re therapeutic input

Improve consistency of SDQ –
to understand individual needs
and to identify and/or service
development eg CAMHS
MFH interviews for children at
home are “Good”
MFH interviews for CiC need to be
more robust. Endorsed the
progress of the work in place but
too soon to report impact.
CSE Hub and response to CSE
across the Service seem to be very
strong.

9

New process in place and
working (Dec 16).
90% RI completed (80% in time)




Reviewed process of
reporting with police.
Delay in the police logging
the MFH which impacts on
RI interviews addressed
Work on themes, impact in
development. New CSE
Hub and resources in place

264

Missing From Home interviews – 
reviewed process and reporting
to SMT training delivered.
 Saw increased completion

(Performance Report).
 Identified the further work
required for CiC. October
agreed resource in Listening
and Support service to do all 
interview Training completed
and all picked up from
Dec16. Close monitoring by
SMT (weekly report to AD)
and identified the need to
look at quality, themes and
input
 Monthly report to Lead
Member.

Children With Disabilities underrepresented in CP figures

Some evidence of robust / holistic
assessments but not consistent

 Practice summit held in
2016
 Audit of position completed
 Task and Finish group
established to report to
LSCB (October 2016)

Review of CIN plans don’t always
reflect an up to date assessment,
informed by a voice of child and
undertaken by a qualified and
registered SW.

SMART plans that are outcome /
focused need to be in place







Management oversight










Consistency across all
service areas
Points in process/systems
when a manager must
sign/record oversight
Linked to supervision

Systems being reviewed and
resource implications
considered (April 17)

Plans are on all open cases
Plans not always outcome
focused/ SMART. Some good
examples but not consistent
Parents / carer not always clear
what they must do to improve
things
Post adoption support / SGO
support needs to be more robust
Support plans for children going
home / edge of care don’t always
address long term sustainability

10



11



Some good examples but
inconsistent.
Lack of challenge / oversight

12


14







Develop workshop (March
17)
Practice standards (March
17)
Policy re post adoption
support revised (Feb 17)
Task and Finish group SGO
established to drive work in
this area (Jan 17)

Increase management
capacity in FR (Dec 16)
Work with managers re
standards and expectations
(immediate action)
Work with L&D at
Management Leadership
development (April 17)

265



Finding from audit
Reporting cases have plan
in place
QA audit developing
learning workshop on
SMART planning




10

New emerging issues as part of
the Ofsted Inspection

Private Fostering

Ofsted found Nov-Dec





Progress of change Dec16 –
Feb17

Ofsted recommendations


Not clear who is responsible for
this area
Limited numbers of known
children/young people
Private fostering Annual report to
LSCB not completed for 2016

13




Thresholds



Quality inconsistent

5

12



Increases manager capacity
in First Response to
improve robustness of
oversight (Dec 16)



Work with all Managers to
ensure stronger oversight
(Dec 16)



Performance management
reports/meetings to be used
to monitor performance
(Feb 17)



Audit progress– Jan-Mar
concentrating on First
Response and Children with
Disabilities. Learn, from
these audits to inform
practice.



Included in Practice

266

Pathway plans for care leavers.

Thresholds not consistently
understood at all stages across the
service

Policy/strategy being
revised (March 17)
Annual report completed
(Feb 17)
Review how best to support
this group of children/young
people in future (April 17)
Campaign to publicise
responsibility / reporting
(April 17)

Advice and support including
entitlement and health business
needs to be offered to all



Management oversight

NEET – Strategic and
Education, Employment and
Training (Not in Education,
Employment or Training)



Higher number of care leavers
need to be EET
Strategy needs to reflect offer to
vulnerable groups eg care leavers

Homeless 16 + 17 – LA had
reviewed all cases and provided
management oversight and
follow up

Some delays when decision to move
to Section 20 made in getting this in
place





15




16





Audit cycle in place

Accreditation / progression for
Support for ASYE, SP and TM not in
ASYE (Assessed and Supported place. Lack of consistency and
Year in Employment), Senior
training.
Practitioner and Team Manager

17






SC159/skr/Issues being addressed by Continuous Improvement Plan Dec 16 V4

NEET strategy being
reviewed to strengthen offer
to care leavers (March 17)
Reviewing Prospect control
to ensure above (April 17)
Clear guidance /
expectations (Nov 17)
Audit cycle already in place
(Nov 17)
Performance to be reported
to SMT on a quarterly basis
(Jan 17)

Reviewing AsYE
programme and support to
ASYE’s had already began.
(Nov 17)
Re-established SW meeting
across CSC and L&D to
look at SW reform (Dec 17),
accreditation and
progression
Discussion at Director and
AD level with L&D (Feb 17)

267



standard (March 17)
Reviewing capacity of PA’s
needed to improve (April
17)

This page is intentionally left blank

DRAFT OFSTED ACTION PLAN 2017-2020

Learning Organisation
Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescale

Progress to date

Develop a quality
assurance framework for
children’s social care

14,6, 13,

Agree a Quality Assurance framework to
govern all work.

Head of
Service,
Safeguarding
Assurance

Ready to launch in
March 17

Work underway. Draft to Routine audit shows consistent
be ready by the end of
application of thresholds, improved
Feb.
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey

Evidence of consistent use of
thresholds, improved quality of
assessments care planning and strong
management oversight at all stages of
child’s journey.



All audit work will be within the Quality
Assurance framework and directly feed
into Learning and development of
individuals and teams.



It will be an inclusive model that
provides a mentor/learning opportunity
for each social worker team and service
managers and heads of service.



Feedback from children, young people
and families evidences quality and
positive impact of interventions



To call this Growing Quality – Together.



Set out range of improvement activity
required for 2017 to monitor and drive
all improvement work

269

SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5



APPENDIX B

1

As part of the framework an audit model is
being developed and will include

Smart Targets

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Develop clear learning
17
programme for social work
staff - from induction to
exit

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescale

Progress to date

Smart Targets

Use the Practice Development group to
develop and embed practice standards for
practice and management across the
workforce.

Head of
Service,
Practice
Workforce
Development
Lead

Group established
Jan 2017.

Social work steering
group now reestablished

March 2017

AD, Children’s
Social Care

Feb/March 2017

Targeted support
delivered to ASYE
workers in First
Response

Strong, appropriately trained
workforce delivering good service
that evidences improved outcomes
for children.

April 2017

Review of current cohort
of ASYE training

Agree shared post with L&D to support
social work learning pathway
Review and consider infrastructure needed
to support this work
Consideration to develop ‘social work
academy’ and ‘grow your own’ approaches
to ensuring a sustainable workforce
17

Develop a methodology to implement the
social work reforms and build career
pathways for Leicestershire

L&D/CSC
Resources

May 17

Work ongoing

Strong, appropriately trained
workforce delivering good service
that evidences improved outcomes
for children.

Strong leadership to
create learning culture

1 – 17

External SMT to set standard and lead on
implementation.

AD, Children’s
Social Care

June 17

Practice Development
Group in place

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey

2
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

Ensure there is good two-way
communication between managers and
staff to disseminate and embed learning
from all improvement activity.

WikiLeeks in place

Use good practice examples identified
through inspection and audit to assist
shared learning to build on good practice.

Peformance meeting
(monthly)

External SMT sessions
established.

270

Develop approach to
social work progression
and accreditation at all
levels

Practice Excellence
Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Fidelity to the signs of
safety model

6

Involve practice development group in
ensuring fidelity to model.

Head of
Service,
Practice
Workforce
Development
Lead

Ongoing

Group established. First
meeting held in Jan
2017.

Feedback from children, young
people and families evidences
quality and positive impact of
interventions.

Establish posts within the infrastructure
which will support practice development
(advanced practitioners)

June 2017

TOR membership
agreed.
Await success of bid for
2nd part of national
programme (SoS)

AD, Children’s
Social Care
Application of practice
framework

1-17

Ensure workforce strategy includes the
Head of
practice framework and is embedded in day Service,
to day business.
Practice
Workforce
Development
Lead

June 2017

Consultation and launch with all managers

March 2017

Ensure consistency in using existing
standards where there are gaps.
Practice standards developed.
Examples of good practice shared across
the Service.

Head of
Service,
Safeguarding
Assurance
Head of
Service,
Practice
Workforce
Development
Lead
Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

3
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

Practice framework is
developed

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.
Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey

Work is underway to
identify where standards
are in place and where
there are gaps.
Practice standard being
drafted.
Practice Development
Group established.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey

271

Application of practice &
management standards

6

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Identify good practice as
exemplars to model good
engagement.

1-17

Each area to identify examples of good
engagement for example:

Head of
Service,
Safeguarding
Assurance

March 2017

Diversity and identity
introduced to core
training for foster carers
2017.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey

Ensuring we take account
of issues of diversity and
inclusion in families in all
care planning.



Working with diversity and issues of
identity



Working with transgender issues



Working with learning difficulties

Action learning sets to be established
across the service to share and build on
best practice. Initially to focus on advice
given in WikiLeeks on:


Chronologies



Genograms

Head of
Service,
Practice
Workforce
Development
Lead

Transgender module
introduced to foster
carers training for 2017.

Head of
Service,
Children in Care
Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

Quality of assessment
planning and recording
supported by reflective
supervision that shows
effective challenge

2,6,17

Practice standards set out expectations in
relation to high quality assessment
planning recording and decision making.

Head of
Service,
Children in Care

Managers ensure that these are embedded
in practice.

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

Tracking of performance to evidence
improved timeliness monitored through
performance meetings
Assessment and supervision – Need to
set out development expectations and
timescales.

SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

Monthly returns to show
supervision has taken
place.
Meeting with L&D
planned.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.
Improved timeliness from contact
to completion of assessment.

March 2017

Length of time that children are
looked after before a permanency
decision reduces year-on-year

Head of SEND

Develop a learning programme for senior
practitioner and team managers to include
AD, Children’s
training and mentoring approaches to
develop supervisory skills and competence. Social Care

4

March/April 17

Social Worker
development group reestablished.
Director/AD in
discussion with L&D to
identify a resource.

272

Head of SEND

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Good case management

7

Existing performance meetings are used to
ensure that the practice standards,
performance information and analysis of
improvement activity are being used
effectively by operational managers.

AD, Children’s
Social Care

Established now

Work on improving
performance data
underway.
Work on practice
standards underway.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.

Placement
commissioning and
monitoring in place.

All placements are commissioned
against assessment needs of
children and young people

Work began on SENA
(Special Educational
Needs)

Placement Stability – percentage
of children remaining in the same
placement for three years or more.

Where we are working to get children
home, or in permanence planning
trajectories are used as a case
management tool to ensure milestones and
timelines are clear and robust.
Robust Commissioning
framework across Children
and Family Services

1 - 17

Commissioning framework and monitoring
in place for CiC.

AD, Children’s
Social Care and

Established now

Right action Right time
Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Achieving permanency

7



Head of Service
Children in Care

March 2017

Manager meeting Feb to
look at Permanency
Planning.

Length of time that children are
looked after before a permanency
decision reduces year-on-year.

Early identification of adoption plans
and tracking through Permanence
Panel.



Development of permanence
champions who provide the wider
concept of permanence?



Permanence Panel established.

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

Establishment of Task
and Finish group re
Special Guardianship
Orders.
Task and Finish group re
Legal Planning Meetings
Court
process/Connected
Carers.
Practice summit to be
held.

5
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

273

Service
Manager,
Commissioning
Support

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Pathway plans

12



Structure review for Children in Care

Feb 2017

6



Plans are informed by up to date
assessments.

Head of
Service,
Children in Care

April 2017

Structure and resources
being considered
(Feb/March 17)

Proportion of children in care and
care leavers in education,
employment or training increases
year-on-year.



Plan audit- commissioned through
Quality Assurance audit model



Review role of PA and number
required.



Review NEET (Not in Education,
Employment or Training)strategy to
ensure focus on Care Leavers.



Action Plan and resource in place.

Immediate action

Capacity in place.



Improved timeliness from contact
to completion of assessment.

Review processes

Ensure Strong Front door
including Out of Hours
Service

NEET
Young people enjoy
education, employment
and training.

6
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

AD, Children’s
Social Care

To oversee
improvement.

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

8, 11

15



Post adoption plan audit



Review of CAMHS contract



Introduction of consultation hubs



Adoption website (Core offer and
community links)



Offer to birth parents is in place



Revised NEET Strategy



Reviewed IAG contract



Implemented new LC team

Review of Out of Hours
rota and structure to
ensure the best possible
service.

Head of
Service,
Children in Care

Jan 2017

Service
Manager,
Fostering,
Adoption &
Sufficiency

June 2017

Head of
Service,
Children in Care

March 2017

Service
Manager, 1619/25 Learning

June 2017

May 2017

Jan 2017
Sept 2017

March 2017

Proposal to DMT
implemented.
CAMHS contract review
underway.
Therapeutic offer to
parents procedure
amended.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.
Number of appropriate and
proportionate post adoption
support packages increases yearon-year.
Number of support packages
offered to birth parents increases
year-on-year.

Proportion of children in care and
care leavers in education,
employment or training increases
year-on-year.

274

SGO (Special
Guardianship Order) and
Post adoption and
therapeutic support

2

Service
Manager, CiC
and Post
Permanence
Support

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Edge of Care

14

Review underway.

16

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

March/April 17

(Help to keep families
together)

Review model and service specification to
manage edge of care work.

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.

Focus on-

Head of
Service,
Safeguarding
Assurance

March 2017

Children in Need
practice guidance in
place.

Percentage of children subject to a
repeat child protection plan for a
second or subsequent time
reduces year-on-year.

Linked to quality of
support to Children in
Need
Child Protection
planning/permanency

Percentage of children subject to a repeat
child protection plan for a second or
subsequent time reduces year-on-year
Length of time children are subject to a
child protection plan reduces year-on-year

Task and Finish Group
(multi-agency)
established.

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

Length of time children are subject
to a child protection plan reduces
year-on-year.

Policy and Performance
Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Ensure policies supporting
practice are in place

8,11,12,13,15,16

Review/create policies or written
statements on:

Head of
Service,
Children in Care

April 2017

Staying Put Policy
revised and signed offer
- SMT (Feb)

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

7
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5



Staying Put



Care Leavers offer



Private Fostering



Adoption support offer



NEET strategy

275

Length of time that children are
looked after before a permanency
decision reduces year-on-year.

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Accurate performance data 1,2,3,4,6,7,9,10,11,12,1
is available for all areas of
3,14,15,16
service and to ensure that
progress is made on the
specific recommendations
made by Ofsted.

Scope all performance data requirements

Performance
consultant

June 17

Scoping work underway

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

All managers actively use
data to support monitoring
and service management

1,2,3,4,6,7,9,10,11,12,1
3,14,15,16

SMT to ensure that service led
performance management is consistent
across all parts of the business

Heads of
Service &
Performance
consultant

Feb 2017

Performance meeting in
place

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

All staff understand the
requirement of good
quality data and their role
in recording all information
in the right way

1

Work with business, BI and QAIF team to
identify and rectify existing errors in
system.

Heads of
Service &
Performance
consultant

March 2017

Performance meeting
established.

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

Heads of
Service &

June 2017

Scoping work underway

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.

Design of performance reports
Test and implement new reports with
business.

276

Service managers to lead and drive
everybody’s changing behaviours to ensure
all are responsible and accountable for
their data.

Performance reports
being delivered.

Performance indicators evidence improving
outcomes for children and young peopleThis is an element of the Quality Assurance
framework and will directly inform the audit
activity.
Management oversight to
ensure effective case
management and decision
making

8
SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

2

Create reports which show when children
have had management
oversight/supervision
Practice and Management standard clear
re expectation

Performance
consultant

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Use of data to support
monitoring management

1 - 17



AD, Children’s
Social Care

June 2017

Principles underpinning
performance reporting
agreed.

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

Caseload size

3




SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

AD, Children’s
Social Care

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.
Dec 
March/April 2017

Additional capacity (agency) across
First Response, Child Protection +
Supporting Families + Children with
Disabilities.



Review structure to see how best
response is deployed.



Recruitment strategy to be developed –
JDs rewritten/rolling progress of
adverts/reached with clear social work
offer.

13



Private fostering strategy revised.

15



NEET strategy revised to be stronger re
vulnerable group. Proportion of children
In care and care leavers in education,
employment or training increases yearon-year

11

9

Report on current position re caseload
sizes run monthly

Performance
Consultant

Some additional capacity
but challenges of agency
availability.
Discussed developments
to have ongoing
recruitment.

277

Up to date strategies in
place

Consultant commissioned to work with
all stakeholders to agree requirements
and deliver reports.

Head of
Service,
Children in Care
Service
Manager, 1619/25 Learning

March 2017

Private fostering –
annual report and
communication strategy
agreed.
NEET policy under
review.



Staying Put Policy revised.



Staying Put Policy
revised Feb 2017.

Post adopted support offer reviewed.
Number of appropriate and
proportionate post adoption support
packages increases year-on-year.

Participation support
Jan/Feb 2017
DMT paper – resource
request (March/April 17)

Improved timeliness from contact
to completion of assessment.
Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.

Requirement

Links to Ofsted
Recommendations

Early Actions

Key Lead

Timescales

Progress

Smart Targets

Review process in First
Response to ensure timely
and proportionate
response to Children in
Need

4



Action Plan in place

Dec 



Additional capacity being
recruited to.

All processes reviewed.



Additional SW and management
capacity in place.

Head of
Service,
Children’s
Social Care
Field Work

Routine audit shows consistent
application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care
planning and strong management
oversight to all stages of a child’s
journey.



Supervision and additional support to
ASYE’s.



Admin and business support in place.



Working group established to drive the
work.



Draft Service delivery plan being agreed
to cover all key areas of practice,
management assessment and
performance.

Service Delivery Plan to
ensure all key areas of
improvement are
embedded

SC162/CR 17 02 2017 v5

Do you want date of first
meeting?

AD, Children’s
Social Care

AD, Children’s
Social Care

Business analysis to
support

March/April 2017
for sign off

Draft plan to be
discussed at SMT on 10
02 2017
AD met with each HoS
and SM to give clear
message of
expectations.

Performance indicators evidence
improving outcomes for children
and young people.

278

10

1-17

New systems to be
fully operational
end of March.

Continuous Improvement Plan 2017-2020

The Road to Excellence
What we’ll do

How we’ll do it

Our vision - Leicestershire is the best
place for children and families
Taking the right action,
at the right time

What success will look like

Ensure a strong ‘front door’

Our priorities
 High quality evidence-based practice
 Strong and effective management oversight

Achieving permanency for
children

 Increase in number of school age children who receive specialist
support for emotional wellbeing

Embedding excellent
practice

Quality pathway plans

 Performance indicators evidence improving outcomes for children
and young people

Consistent use of signs of safety model

Young people enjoy education,
employment and training

Application of our practice framework

We will:

High quality of assessment planning
and recording

 Ensure consistently good services for
children and their families
 Engage them in a timely and proportionate
way to bring about better outcomes
 Enable families, when safe to do so, to
successfully parent their children
 Enable children to live within their family
network
 Provide good quality care when children
need to be looked after

Help to keep families together

Inclusive practice

Rigorous decision making
Quality supervision
Compliant commissioning and
contracting

 Feedback from children, young people and families evidences
quality and positive impact of interventions
 All of the above are clearly influencing service design and delivery

Being a learning
organisation
Quality assurance framework
Develop progression routes for
social workers and managers
Learning from improvement
activity

Developing policy
and performance

 Routine audit shows consistent application of thresholds, improved
quality of assessment and care planning and strong management
oversight at all stages of a child’s journey

Clear communication
disseminates learning
Workforce strategy supports
a learning organisation

 % of children subject to a repeat child protection plan for a second
or subsequent time reduces year-on-year
 Length of time children are subject to a child protection plan
reduces year-on-year
 Length of time that children are looked after before a permanency
decision reduces year-on-year
 Number of appropriate and proportionate post adoption support
packages increases year-on-year
 Number of support packages offered to birth parents increases yearon-year

 Act in a timely way to provide permanence
for children who cannot be kept safe by
their families

Review and improve key
policy documents

 Proportion of children in care and care leavers in education,
employment or training increases year-on-year

Effective use of accurate data

 Improved timeliness from contact to completion of assessment

 Robust commissioning and contract
compliance

Effective management
oversight

 % of children remaining in the same placement for three years or
more

Appropriate caseload size

Four behaviours that underpin everything

Voice

Signs of safety

Outcome focussed

Leadership

Listening to and responding to what
the child and family tell us

‘Doing with’ and not ‘doing for’ or ‘doing to’

Striving to improve children’s and
families’ lives

Everyone is responsible and accountable

279

Our focus

Application of new work standards

Good post adoption and
therapeutic support

This page is intentionally left blank

281

282

283

284

285

Agenda Item 14

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF LEICESTER CITY CCG
TRANSFORMATION PLAN FOR MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING
FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE - REFRESH 2016/17
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to present the refresh of the Mental Health and
Wellbeing Transformational plan delivered through the Future in Mind – Children
and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformation Programme.
Link to the local Health and Care System
2. The plan has been developed as part of the LLR Better Care Together Programme
and is referenced in the LLR Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP). It is
underpinned by partnership working across health organisations, local authority and
public health, voluntary and community sector, schools and youth justice system.
Recommendation
3. The Board is requested to note the content of the refreshed transformation plan and
approve the document prior to publication on the CCG and Local Authority
websites.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4. This plan is based on principles set out in The Department of Health’s Task Force
Report (Feb 2016); Future in Mind; Promoting and Improving our children and
young people’s mental health and wellbeing.
Background
5. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s (LLR) multi-agency Transformational
Plan aims to improve the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people
(C&YP) up to the age of 25.
6. The Transformational Plan identifies six core schemes of work which will contribute
to the transformation programme.







Improve Resilience
Enhance Early Help
Improve access to specialist Children Adult Mental Health Services
(CAMHS)
Enhance the Community Eating Disorder Service
Develop a Children’s Crisis and Home Treatment Service
Workforce development

286
7. NHS England requires an update of the transformation plan each year.
8. The refreshed Transformation Plan for Mental Health and Wellbeing for children
and young people was presented and signed off at the LLR Commissioning
Collaborative Board on the 19 January 2017, where it was agreed that the
Transformational Plan would be presented at each of the Health and Wellbeing
Boards.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
9.The development of the Transformational Plan included engagement with service
users and providers. Engagement events were held between January and March
2016. These enabled us to capture children and service user views. The voice of
the child was used to inform pathway development and the planned schemes of
work.
Officer to Contact
Elaine Egan Morris,
CAMHS Commissioner and Transformational Lead, Leicester City CCG
Telephone: 07500 097 627
Email: elaine.egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix - Transformation Plan for Mental Health and Wellbeing for children and young
people (Oct 2016)
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
10. The CCGs Human Rights Lead has been involved in the development of the service
specification and procurement processes.
Partnership Working and associated issues
11. The Transformation Plan was developed through multi-agency collaboration between
the following organisations: Leicester City CCG;
 Rutland Council;
 Magistrate Head of Health and Justice in the East Midlands;
 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG;
 East Midlands Clinical Network and Senate, NHS England;
 Office of the LLR Police and Crime Commissioner;
 Leicestershire Partnership Trust;
 Healthwatch Rutland;
 Leicestershire County Council;
 Voluntary Action LeicesterShire;
 Leicester City Council;
 West Leicestershire CCG.

APPENDIX
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND

BETTER CARE TOGETHER

young people (Oct 2016)

2015 - 2020

287

Transformation Plan for Mental Health and Wellbeing for children and

CONTENTS
1. Introduction - Transformation plan for mental health and wellbeing services for children and young people (Oct 2016)
2. How we control and manage the transformation (Governance)
3. How we developed a Transformational Pathway
4. Progress of each scheme of work
Improve Resilience



Enhance Early Help



Improve access to specialist Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)



Enhance the Community Eating Disorder Service



Develop a Children’s Crisis and Home Treatment Service



Workforce development

288



5. How we will know we are making a difference
6. Workforce - Staffing levels and skill mix
7. Finance
8. Implementation Plan 2015-2017
9. Appendix 1: Transformation plan for mental health and wellbeing services for children and young people (Oct 2015)

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 2 of 19

1. Introduction - Transformation Plan for mental health and wellbeing for children and young people (Oct
2016)
The Transformational Plan produced in November 2015 sets out Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s (LLR) a multi-agency approach to
improve mental health and wellbeing in children and young people (C&YP) up 25. This plan, is based on principles set out in The Department of
Health’s Task Force Report (Feb 2016): Future in Mind: Promoting and improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing.

The Transformational Plan (2015) identified six core schemes of work:
Improve Resilience



Enhance Early Help



Improve access to specialist Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)



Enhance the Community Eating Disorder Service



Develop a Children’s Crisis and Home Treatment Service



Workforce development

289



The plan was developed as part of the LLR Better Care Together Programme and is referenced in the LLR Sustainable Transformation Plan
(STP). It is underpinned by partnership working across health organisations, local authority and public health, voluntary and community sector,
schools and youth justice system. This plan has been shaped through extensive engagement with children, young people and their families.
Children, young people and their carers have consistently told us that they are worried about bullying, peer and academic pressure and other
issues and they would like to have more and easier access to support to help them.

This refresh of the Transformational Plan (2015) outlines the progress in each of the core scheme and demonstrates how the programme has
been adapted to deliver the overarching ambition to improve children and young people’s mental health and well-being.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 3 of 19

2. How we control and manage the transformation (Governance)
This programme of work is being delivered through Better Care Together (BCT) framework and reports to the STP Delivery Board (System Leadership
Group). It is part of the Women and Children’s work stream as shown in the diagram below;

Clinical
Commissioning Groups

STP Delivery Board
via Better Care Together
Framework

Health & Wellbeing
Boards

Carers

290

Better Care Together
Steering group
Mental health & Wellbeing for CYP
Co-commissioning Group

Young
People

Stakeholder reference
groups

Schools

GPs

TASKS GROUPS

Promoting
resilience

Early Help

Access and
Care
Pathway

Eating
Disorders

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Intensive
community
Treatment

Workforce
Development

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 4 of 19

A steering group1 was established with representation from local authorities, voluntary sector, health watch, Office of Police Crime Commissioner
(OPCC), health commissioners and providers. The steering group meets monthly it is responsible for the delivery, implementation and monitoring of
plan, and delivery of services as agreed in business cases and service specifications.

The group is accountable to each organisation’s Boards /

Governing Bodies and three Health and Wellbeing Boards for the area.

3. How we developed the Transformation Pathway
The transformation journey started with engagement events, held between January and March 2016. These enabled us to capture children and service
user views. The voice of the child was used to inform pathway development (shown below) and the planned schemes of work

291

1

Better Care Together Mental health and wellbeing of children and young people steering group 2015: terms of reference

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 5 of 19

4. Progress of each scheme of work
Each scheme of work aims to achieve set goals. Implementation and service delivery is overseen by six multi-agency working groups who each hold
responsibility for achieving the goals of a scheme. The transformation pathway established through these workstreams will provide appropriate, timely,
access to a range of services to meet the needs of children and young people (C&YP), their families and carers. We have developed a range of new
referral routes to provide access to services. These include self-referral in to the early help service and on line counselling and enabled direct referral
to CAMHS by schools, school nurses and the voluntary sector.

Through collaborative working and monitoring of the whole pathway we will ensure the ease of service, allowing C&YP to be discharged from one
service and admitted into another without prolonged waits. We will work with adult mental health services to ensure the smooth transition of C&YP into
adult services as necessary.

292

4.1 Building Resilience - Promote good emotional health and resilience for all children, young people and their families
Young people said that they wanted to have the confidence to talk about emotional problems openly and without stigma. They want to be able to find
information and support from their school, college or youth service, as well as from websites and social media.

Education services want to offer guidance to pupils, and provide pastoral support and understand when to ask for specialist assistance. Parents, young
people and schools were all concerned about the impact of cyber-bullying.

The aim of the resilience scheme is to develop a range of ways for children, young people and carers to find information about mental health support
including the use of social media and more traditional communication methods.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 6 of 19

We have


Developed and agreed a resilience service model for the future



Commenced the procurement process to identify an appropriate service provider to be completed by end of December 2016. The resilience
model will be fully operational from December 2017

The Resilience Service Model will build on initiatives already undertaken in some local schools and introduce resilience activity to others. It will support
and engage schools and wider partners across LLR to strengthen mental health resilience throughout our schools. Actions will encourage staff and
children to promote mental wellbeing and develop self and organisational resilience.
The provider will work with partners to focus on supporting, extending and consolidating existing work and identifying gaps or emerging areas of
concern. The work will take into account mental health needs, emerging problems and target gaps in service provision

experiencing emotional distress and the first signs of mental disorders
Young people and carers have said that they want access to help and support quickly and locally, without being stigmatised, they want a say in the
kind of help they receive and be encouraged to become resilient and maintain their independence. They also want potentially serious problems to be
recognised quickly, and to no longer be told that “they are not ill enough” to get any help.

Organisations such as health, education, youth justice and social care said they want to work together to understand the needs of a young person and
decide together with the young person and/or parent what support to offer. We know that a range of public, private and community organisations can
provide effective support. Providers and users want their services to be part of a commissioned pathway of support, meeting high quality standards
and linked to more specialist services.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 7 of 19

293

4.2 Early Help - Development and delivery of co-ordinated, accessible and non-stigmatising early and targeted support for those

We have
 Developed a multi-agency “First Response” service model which will assess the level of distress and risk facing a child, young person or family
in order to co-ordinate the right intervention and support.


Agreed the use of approved risk assessment tools; the Merton Risk Assessment Tool and Signs of Safety.



Started to build on and develop partnerships with local community groups such as the City of Sanctuary (refugees and asylum seekers) and the
Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual and Transgender organisations in order to work with children and young people from hard to reach groups .



Commenced the procurement process, the service will be operational from April 2017.

It is important that a prompt local access to ‘First Response’ occurs and that it benefits from the expertise and knowledge of practitioners from various
agencies. The services will signpost the young person or family, escalate the case if required, or offer low intensity support and help. This will include
offers such as counselling, group work and parental support. But it will also include direct access to specialist mental health services if required. Mental
health professionals within co-located with other Early Help service staff will support a team around the professional model

The specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) is experiencing approximately 9% more referrals each year and an increasing
number are for urgent situations and complex cases. Young people say they value the quality of care and support they receive from the specialist
CAMHS service; they appreciate the therapeutic relationship they can develop with their practitioners and the support offered to their family and
carers.
It is recognised that accessing the service can be difficult and there is a perception that a young person will be told that they are “not ill enough” to
receive CAMHS help.
We have

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 8 of 19

294

4.3 Access to CAMHS - Single gateway to specialist CAMHS services with clear access standards



Supported the CAMHS service to pilot a single access team during 2015/2016: The pilot; team received all referrals to the service and made
direct contact with both the referrer and the young person and their carers (if appropriate) to understand the presenting issues, offering short
term interventions or they were referred to specialist CAMHS services if required.



Commissioned a full service from 2016/17 onwards.
o

It has locally agreed access waiting time standards and includes engagement with local authority social care access teams to share
information (with consent) and to plan joint interventions.

o

It provides a range of evidence based NICE concordat therapies, such as Systemic Family Therapy, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy,
Parenting Support and Interpersonal Psychotherapy.



Enhanced access to CAMHS and the new model is now operational; it has addressed a backlog of referrals and is now meeting the national 13
week target.
We have an agreed reporting schedule with providers. Providers are currently developing these reports.

4.4 Eating Disorder - Specialist community services for children and young people with eating disorders
NICE clinical guidance recommends family interventions for those with anorexia and cognitive behavioural therapy for children and adolescents with
bulimia.2

We have


Invested in a specialist multi-disciplinary community based eating disorders service for children and young people up to the age of 18, for up to
100 new referrals per year. The service will serve a general population of 1 million children and young people.

Eating disorders: core interventions in the treatment and management of anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and related eating disorders:
National Institute for Clinical Excellence 2004
2

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 9 of 19

295



We are reviewing further opportunities to enhance the service and enable full compliance with current and future guidance in line with new NICE
guidelines planned for publication in 2017.

4.5 Crisis and Home Treatment - Co-ordinated support to prevent crisis and at time of crisis
The current co-ordinated service includes an all age crisis resolution and home treatment service (CRHTx), a designated “Place of Safety” and an all
age liaison service. Children, young people and their families as well as some service providers identified a gap in the current crisis and home
treatment service.

As a result, the all age Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Service (CRHT) has been extended to children and young people as well as adults and
will be a 24hour -7days a week service. The children’s service is aligned to the adult service and the local authority single point of access (referred to
as the front door). Referral into the crisis service can be made by a range of organisations including: health services, GPs, early help, schools, police

296

and voluntary sector through a dedicated phone line.

We have


We have developed an all age liaison service for children and young people as well as adults will support children and young people with acute
mental health or behavioural problems arriving at the emergency department. The team will include a CAMHS consultant, CAMHS nurse, child
psychologist, family social worker and specialist substance misuse worker. This is set out in the action plan for Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland to deliver the Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat3.



Agreed a phased implementation of the service, phase 1 became operational in September 2016, with 3 staff delivering telephone and face to
face assessments for C&YP in crisis.

3

Crisis Care Concordat for Mental Health: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland action plan

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 10 of 19

4.6 Workforce
To support delivery of the transformation plan a multi-agency group has developed a service model to help improve both the capacity and
capabilities of practitioners that work with children and young people with mental health issues.

To meet expected standards a specialist workforce with clinical skills and experience in Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, Systemic Family
Therapy, and Psychodynamic Psychotherapy as core interventions is required. These need to be supported by knowledgeable and well trained
professionals from the wider children’s workforce. Therefore both targeted and universal practitioners will have training in generic child mental
health and have access to support and advice.

297

We have:


Recruited staff onto the CYP IAPT programme



Commenced a training needs analysis, to be completed by Jan 2017.



The training needs analysis findings will be shared across the partnership and will lead to the development of a mental health and
wellbeing workforce training offer for the children and young people’s workforce with a clear coordinated training offer.

5. How we will know the Transformation Plan is making a difference to children and young people’s mental
health and well-being?
The pathway and identified schemes of work will provide access to a range of services to meet the individual needs of the children and young people
(C&YP) and we will know they are receiving the right service at the right time by:
 a reduction in A&E attendances, in-patient admissions, inpatient facilities, out of area placements and care and treatment reviews
 a reduction on the length of time from referral to access CAMHS
 C&YP who are able to recognise when they need help and are able to access it

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 11 of 19



A reduction on the length of time from referral to treatment

6. Measuring the Impact of Change
Performance will be monitored through our contracting teams, assessing delivery of services in terms of activity as well as measurement against
quality indicators and clinical outcomes as described in the service specifications. We want to be assured that the service being delivered is making a
difference to C&YP and their families and that we are able to measure the impact of this change. This will be will be captured and presented in the
emotional health and well-being dashboard to include;
1. Reduction in CYP attendance a A&E presenting with non-physical needs
2. Reduction in in-patient admissions to CAU or Paediatric ward of C&YP with a mental Health need.
3. Reduction in admissions / reduced length of stay to the CAMHs Ward.

4. Reduction in CYP Tier 4 placements OOA

298

5. East CCG Reduction on OOA placements complex care - shared funding (Speak to Noelle)
6. Reduction in patients referred back to GP following CAMHS assessment
7. Numbers accessing early help
8. Numbers accessing CAMHs
9. Numbers accessing CRHTx
10. Increasing number of schools accessing the resilience programme
11. Service user led, local annual, feedback and patient satisfaction survey.

LLR will be agreeing the details of the national CQUIN focusing on transition from Children to Adult services. This will be reported and monitored on a
quarterly basis and will be linked to the Children and Young Peoples pathway.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 12 of 19

7. Workforce: staffing levels and skill mix
The workforce relevant to this plan is comprised of staff working in a wide range of services across the system, including those supporting parents,
those working in community groups, those in universal services (such as schools), those in targeted services and services for specific groups of
children (such as the children’s centre programme or specialist voluntary organisations) and those working in specialist CAMHS.
One of the aims of the Future in Mind Programme is to increase the number of staff across the partnership by,1,700 by 2020 to meet the additional
demand for services. The current local specialist CAMHS workforce has 80 whole-time equivalent clinical posts within this specialist service which is
less than recommended by the Royal College of Psychiatrists

The chart shows the workforce data for the specialist CAMHS service including primary mental health, community CAMHS, specialist CAMHS teams
as well as local hospital (tier 4) services.

WTE
15/16

Grade

WTE
16/17

Consultant

13

Specialty Doctor

1

Qualified

46

53.20

Unqualified

11

21.20

Qualified

8

23.13

Apprentice

1

1.00

Psychology
Therapy

22

25.44

7

7.13

Overall Total

109

145.65

Medical
Nursing
OT

299

Role

Additional staff 2016/17

14.55
X3 CRHTx

X1 Liaison service X6 Early help

Data tells us that the CAMHS has

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 13 of 19



24% of staff are from an ethnic minority background.



80% are female



A staff age range from 21-65yrs ; with 20% aged over 50.

Further work to undertake a whole system analysis of the workforce available across services in LLR is required.
We need to be certain that the existing and new workforce is suitably skilled and confident, capable of delivering the new models of care that we are
developing through the transformational programme. Therefore we are taking a whole systems approach to recruitment and retention and training and
development of all staff delivering care across the C&YP pathway.
The CAMH service has established a workforce development plan which covers recruitment, leadership development, and training in specific
therapeutic approaches such as cognitive behavioural therapy and interpersonal psychotherapy, this will be complemented by a programme of training
and support for all practitioners across the system; it will be open to health, social care, public health, police, school staff and the voluntary and
community sector.

1.
2.
3.

IAPT programme
Psychological wellbeing practitioners
Recruit to train

Recruitment to these courses is underway with staff from specialist services and partnership organisations

7. Finance
The three CCGs fund the specialist CAMH service to the value of £6.5 million in 2015/16. They also fund other children’s services such as paediatric,
disabled children’s services and speech and language therapy which also work with many children and young people who will have associated
neurodevelopmental or mental health conditions. Adult mental health services (which receive CCG funding of £80million per year) also support young
people aged 16-25years.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 14 of 19

300

The training programme will be provided through the Children & Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Programme (CYPIAPT) as LLR is part of the East Midlands Collaborative aimed at supporting the delivery of the CYP IAPT programme.
There are 3 routes available for training

Local Authority Children’s and Early Help services are funded at around £25million per annum. This includes a range of specialist services (such as
Educational Psychology, Disabled Children’s Services) and generic child and family services.

NHS England (East Midlands) estimates an annual cost of £3.5 million per year on hospital and specialist services for children and young people from
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

The Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner has committed £140,000 per annum to commission emotional support services for a child that is a
victim of crime as a contribution to a partnership approach.

There is a commitment from the partners to this plan to deploy existing budgets alongside the Transformational Plan funding to jointly address the

301

issues facing our local communities.

7.2 Financial Allocations 2016/2017
In 2016 - 2017 the three CCGs for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland have set aside a total of £2.055m for the transformational plan.
In August 2016 an additional £0.466m (non-recurrent) was awarded by NHSE to accelerate the implementation of the Liaison & CRHT service, plus an
additional allocation of £0.519m has also been received for Eating Disorders. Further additional funds of £0.431m has now been awarded nonrecurrently to support a reduction in waiting times.

There are also other funding streams from the CCGs, local authorities, public health and the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner that will
contribute to the overall transformation. We have a clear view that the Future in Mind funding is a catalyst for partner agencies to contribute to the
overall transformational of mental health services for C&YP.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 15 of 19

Priority

Funding (£m)
2015/16
Total Funding
Funding Sources
FIM

Total Funding

Other

Funding (£m)
2016/17
Funding Sources
Baseline

Other

Eating Disorders

0.440

0.440

0.519

Programme Management

0.100

0.100

0.100

0.100

Children’s CRHTx

0.966

0.500

0.250

0.966

0.500

Improving Access to CAMHS

0.100

0.100

0.288

0.196

0.196

Early Help

0.460

0.460

0.460

0.460

Public Help and Engagement

0.200

0.200

0.200

0.200

Workforce Development

0.142

0.070

0.070

0.070

CAMHS Interventions

0

0

0.529

0.529

Waiting Times

0

0

0.431

0

0.431

2.408

1.870

3.471

2.055

1.416

0.538

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

0.466

302

Total

0.519

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 16 of 19

8. The Implementation Plan 2015-2017
The Implementation Plan for 2015-17 set out below is based on the aspirations set out in Future in Mind. It is the first stage of our journey to transform
the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people by 2020.

Each objective aims to be SMART: to be clear, measurable, to a deadline and with a clear accountable officer. There are identified leads for each
objective, although all will require strong partnership working.

Future in Mind - implementation plan

Improve Access to
Children and Young
peoples services -

Deliver an all age
24/7 Crisis & Home
Treatment service

Eating Disorders

Action

Task Owner

16/17

Sign off business case at CCB
Write Service Specification and Contract variation
Identify and agree key performance and quality indicators
Present case at competition and procurement panel - for procurement regulations
Agree Reporting Schedule
Agree timeline for recruitment of staff and implementation of the new service model
Commence recruitment
Commence population of dashboard
Complete phase 1 of service
Full service delivery
Release of accelerator money from NHS E
Write Service Specification
Identify and agree key performance and quality indicators
Agree Reporting Schedule
Agree timeline for recruitment of staff and implementation of the new service model
Begin phase 1 of the implementation
Agree Implementation plan for delivery of full service over 3 years
Agree Monitoring of Service Spec
Agree Reporting Schedule

MT/EEM

June
July
July
July
Aug
Sept
Oct
Nov
Jan 17
April 17
July
Oct
July
Aug

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

EEM
MT/EEM
EEM/AM
EEM/AM
CM/CT
EEM
EEM /AM
EEM / AM
GW
EEM
EEM /AM
EEM
EEM /AM
EEM
AM
AE/EEM
AE/EEM

status

Sept - March17
Dec17
June16
Aug 16

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 17 of 19

303

REF

IAPT

Early Help

improving access to
therapies
Early implementer of

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

AE/EEM
AE/EEM
AE/EEM
AE/EEM
AE/EEM
MT/EEM/H
EEM
EEM
EEM
EEM
EEM
EEM
EEM
MT/EEM/BC
MT/ EEM/BC
EEM /KG
EEM/BC
EEM/BC
TR
BC/EEM
BC/EEM
BC/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
KG
KG / P
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
MMC/MT/EEM
AM/CT
AM/CT
AM/CT
Nott’s /LPT

Nov16
July16
July 16
Nov16
Dec16
Nov 16
Jan16
Oct 16
Nov
Nov
Nov
Nov-March
Feb16
Aug
Nov 16
Oct – Jan 17
Oct 16
Oct 16
Oct 16
Aug 16
Aug 16
Jan16
Aug
Oct
OCt
Nov 15
Jan16
Oct16
Aug16
Nov 16
Nov16
Nov 16
Jan16
Sept16
Oct16
Nov16
Oct16

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 18 of 19

304

Resilience

Populate Dashboard - Key Performance and Quality Indicators
Undertake gap analysis
Membership of Regional Eating Disorder Group
Agree actions to address gap
Develop RAP
Recruit 5 mth support officer
Allocation of staff onto leadership programme
Share CIAPT across partners
Agree request for placement onto training
Submit applications to NHSE
Monitor staff attendance
Manage backfill
Create whole system staffing number base line and projection plan to increase staffing
Sign off business case at CCB
Present case at competition and procurement panel - for procurement regulations
Commence procurement process
Write Service Specification
Identify and agree key performance and quality indicators
Undertake marketing event
Agree Reporting Schedule
Agree timeline for recruitment of staff and implementation of the new service model
Commence population of dashboard
Sign off business case at CCB
Present case at competition and procurement panel - for procurement regulations
Commence procurement process
Commission implement a public health campaign on mental health and resilience for CYP
Evaluate public Health Campaign
Write Service Specification
Identify and agree key performance and quality indicators
Present case at competition and procurement panel - for procurement regulations
Agree Reporting Schedule
Agree timeline for recruitment of staff and implementation of the new service model
Commence population of dashboard
Review of current service
Design service model
Agree way forward
Presentation from researchers and clinicians

evidence based
practice for
assessment of ADHD

Developing the
workforce

Agree way forward
Agree model

Nott’s /LPT
Nott’s /LPT

Nov16
Nov 16

Agree evaluation

Nott’s /LPT

Dec16

Recruit 5 month Lead

LM

Oct - March

LM

Nov - Dec

Undertake marketing event

LM / VAL

Jan 17

Produce report

LM

Feb 17

Undertake training needs analysis

9. Appendix 1: Transformation plan for mental health and wellbeing services for children and young people
(Oct 2015)
Please double click the icon below to open the 2015 plan.

305

November 2015 CYP
Mental Health Transformational Plan Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland.pdf

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Mental Health and Wellbeing for Children and Young People Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020

Final DRAFT v10 Refresh Jan 2017
Page 19 of 19

This page is intentionally left blank

307

Agenda Item 15

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16th March 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND HEALTH
PROTECTION ASSURANCE REPORT
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to update the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) of the role that the LLR Health
Protection Board and more recently LLR Health Protection System Assurance
Group is carrying out to provide assurance for whole system health protection
across LLR. It also updates the boards on health protection performance, key
incidents and risks that have emerged from October 2015 to the end of December
2016.
Link to the local Health and Care System
2. Health protection is a statutory duty of the local authority, via the Director of Public
Health (DPH). It is therefore a key element of the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy, Leicestershire County Councils core business, Better Care Together/
Sustainability Transformation Plan Urgent care work streams.
Recommendations
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: Receive the Health Protection Board Report October 2015- December 2016;
 Note the specific health protection issues that have arisen locally and steps
taken to deal with these.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4. From April 2013, as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Leicester City
Council, Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils acquired new responsibilities
with regard to protecting the health of their population. Specifically the local
authority is required, via its Director of Public Health (DPH), to assure itself that
relevant organisations have appropriate plans in place to protect the health of the
population and that all necessary action is being taken. Feedback from the Health
and Wellbeing Board in 2015 suggested a greater focus on key health protection
incidents across LLR, which have been included in this report.
Background
5. In order to discharge the health protection assurance responsibilities, a Health
Protection Board was established as a sub-group of the three Health and
Wellbeing Boards for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The

308

governance structures and reporting mechanisms have been reviewed to provide
greater assurance to the DPH, includes replacing the previous LLR Health
Protection Board and with a tighter LLR Health Protection System Assurance
Group, establishing a risk register and health protection performance
dashboards. This is the third health protection assurance report received by the
three Health and Wellbeing Boards from the revised LLR Health Protection
System Assurance Group.
Background papers
Leicestershire County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (November 2015)
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Annual Report (Covering
April 2014 to September 2015), Leicestershire County Council. [Available online at
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s113675/LLR%20Health%20Protection%20Annual%20Report.pdf

Leicestershire County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (January 2015)
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health protection Annual Report 2013/14.
Leicestershire County Council.
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00001038/M00004289/$$ADocPackPublic.pdf
Public Health England (2013) Protecting the health of the local population: the new
health protection duty of local authorities under the Local Authorities (Public Health
Functions and Entry to Premises by Local Healthwatch Representatives)
Regulations 2013. PHE, London. Available online at http://ow.ly/FXuj309HpNE
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
6.

The report affects all areas of Leicestershire and the wider LLR.

Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health, Leicestershire County and Rutland
Tel: 0116 305 4259 email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Vivienne Robbins, Consultant in Public Health, Leicestershire and Rutland
Tel: 0116 305 5384 email: vivienne.robbins@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix 1 LLR Health Protection Risk log (14.02.17)
Appendix 2 LLR Health Protection Performance Dashboards (February 2017)
Relevant Impact Assessments
7.

No specific impact assessment has been completed, however partnership
working across health, local authorities, police, fire, districts etc is essential to
ensure robust health protection and emergency planning arrangements are in
place. A health protection risk log has been produced and is attached as
Appendix 1.

309

Health Protection Board Assurance Report
Covering October 2015 to December 2016
1. Background
As a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 the local authority is required, via
its Director of Public Health, to assure itself that relevant organisations have
appropriate plans in place to protect the health of the population and that all
necessary action is being taken.
The purpose of this report is to update the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) of the role that the LLR Health
Protection Board and more recently LLR Health Protection System Assurance Group
is carrying out to provide assurance for whole system health protection across LLR.
It also updates the boards on health protection performance, key incidents and risks
that have emerged from October 2015 to end December 2016.
2. Changes to health protection governance arrangements across LLR
In order to discharge the health protection assurance responsibilities a LLR Health
Protection Board was established in June 2013 as a sub-group of the three LLR
Health and Wellbeing Boards. However some incidents during 2015/16 indicated that
whilst all indicators and reports appeared to show that the system functions well,
some gaps are present. It was therefore agreed that the current assurance system
would be reviewed to ensure Directors of Public Health (DsPH) are appropriately
sighted over these gaps.
Discussion with the DsPH and key stakeholders confirmed that although the Health
Protection Board is an assurance committee, gaps in the system were not always
identified and there was no obvious forum to take forwards strategic health
protection work (for example national priorities such as anti-microbial resistance).
It was therefore agreed that a more systematic, confirm and challenge approach was
needed. Fig 1 summarises the new approach to health protection assurance across
LLR. It can be seen that the majority of assurance can be achieved through
systematic quarterly data reports and more detailed verbal updates from key
stakeholders. The LLR Health Protection Board has therefore been replaced by a
smaller, more focused LLR Health Protection System Assurance Group. The
assurance group membership consists of the DsPH, Public Health England (PHE)
Consultants in Health Protection, and Local Authority Public Health Consultants who
lead on health protection. The assurance group will feedback into each local
authority departmental management teams (DMTs), an annual Health Protection
Review meeting, and as appropriate Health and Wellbeing Boards, Quality
Surveillance Group, Corporate Management Teams and Cabinet.

310

Fig 1 Revised LLR health protection assurance mechanisms.

New ways of working
A key element to develop an effective health protection assurance approach is
identification of key health protection risks (proactive and reactive) across the
system. This is achieved by a health protection risk log (Appendix 1) and
development of health protection dashboards. The dashboards use key data sets
across all components of health protection including trend data split by local authority
areas and comparisons to similar neighbours and national averages (Appendix 2).
Quarterly dashboards, reports and/or updates are received and reviewed at the
quarterly assurance group covering the following health protection components;
incidents and outbreaks, immunisation and screening, health care associated
infections, local authority service performance, environmental hazards and food
safety, and emergency planning. This data will be reviewed by the group and if
needed, stakeholders will be requested to produce more detailed assurance for the
group on an exception basis.
To complement the assurance group an Annual Health Protection Review meeting
was held in October 2016 to review the year’s progress with all stakeholders and
agree the LLR health protection strategic prioritises for the following year.
Initial strategic prioritises highlighted at the 2016 LLR Annual Health Protection
Review meeting for development over the next 12-18 months include;
 Anti-microbial resistance
 E.coli in urinary tract infections

311



Ensuring the breast cancer screening programmes is accessible to women
with learning disabilities

These pieces of work will be developed via existing programme boards or specific
task and finish groups. Progress will report back to the Health Protection System
Assurance Group.
3. Key health protection risks, emerging issues and mitigation
The Annual Health Protection Review provided an opportunity to review key LLR
health protection incidents/situations over the previous year and the lessons learnt.
Table 1 summarises the main incidents/ situations and confirms the areas for future
development that will be followed up via the assurance group. Reoccurring themes
from the outbreaks and situations include the importance of PHE leadership in
managing local situations and outbreaks and the need to consider a more strategic
approach to vulnerable people at risk of multiple drug resistant TB (such as the
homeless.)
Other key health protection developments include;
 Establishing a data sharing agreement between LLR local authorities
and Leicestershire Partnership Trust for sharing of the school census
data. This will ensure appropriate delivery of public health services (including
immunisations, national childhood measurement programme and 0-19
children’s service) to all eligible students. This will reduce administrative
workload for schools and LPT, whilst identifying the full cohort of students that
need to be offered services.
 LLR Prepared Assurance Framework confirmed that partners are generally
well prepared to respond to major incidents. Key areas for development
include ensuring there is health capacity at coordinating groups (national
issue) and that all local partners can maintain their response after the initial
48hr period.
 LLR Prepared exercise on pandemic flu (Cygnus). This live exercise
tested the strategic coordinating groups, feeding into national COBR
mechanisms in real time. Key learning included the need to set up a further
pandemic flu exercise for 2-3 weeks following the initial event (due summer
2017), clarifying some roles and responsibilities and reviewing the current
plan following the review of the national pandemic flu guidance. A further
mass fatalities exercise (Jerboa) was also completed to test the initial blue
light response (Jerboa 1) and communication between the strategic and
tactical coordinating groups (Jerboa 2). This exercise was well received by all
partners and a similar approach is likely to be taken in 2017.
 Improved influenza vaccination uptake in Leicestershire County Council
frontline staff following an evaluation and more corporate approach to flu
vaccination including access to flu clinics, vouchers and claiming expenses.
Initial figures have identified an increase from 117 in 2015 to 466 frontline
staff in 2016 accepting the offer of a free flu vaccination. N.B. Not all flu
vouchers were used reducing actual uptake figures.
4. Health Protection performance
As discussed in section 2, health protection dashboards have been developed to
support the DsPH to review health protection performance trends and identify areas

312

for further investigation. Appendix 2 provides a local copy of the key health
protection dashboards. Overall LLR performs similarly or better for health protection
performance as compared to national and similar neighbours apart for the following
exceptions;
Sexual Health


In 2014, Leicester City and Leicestershire are below the England average for
HIV testing coverage within the sexual health service at 56.5% and 66.2% as
compared to 68.2%. Further investigation has suggested this is due to a
coding error caused by the local integrated sexual health service including
contraception in the data returns.



In 2014, Leicester City had a higher HIV diagnosed prevalence of patients per
1,000 population aged 15-59 and late HIV diagnosis rate per 100,000 over 15
years, than the England average and similar neighbours.



In 2015, Leicestershire and Rutland have lower Chlamydia detection rates per
100,000 population aged 15-24 years than the national average; however
these are not statistically different to most similar neighbours.

Tuberculosis (TB)


Leicester City had a higher TB (three year average) incidence than similar
neighbours at 48.0 per 100,000 in 2012-14 as compared to 13.5 for England
overall.



When compared to similar neighbours, in 2014, a lower proportion of
Leicester City TB patients starting treatment within four months of symptom
onset.



When compared to similar neighbours, a lower proportion of Leicester City
and Leicestershire TB patients are offered a HIV test in 2014, however the
recent trends do show improvement.

Immunisation and Screening


In 2015/16, Leicester City performed lower than similar neighbours for
population coverage for human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine at 88.6%, even
though this was above the England average at 86.7%.



In 2015/16, Rutland performed lower than similar neighbours for the preschool
diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough and polio given by 5 years old with
89.7% uptake. However performance is still above the England average at
86.9%. A similar trend is found with the 5year old MMR dose 2.



LLR population flu vaccination uptake in over 65 years and at risk groups
decreased in winter 2015/16 following the national trend. However initial
results for 2016/17 are showing improvement on last year’s performance.

313



In 2014/15, Leicester City performed lower than the England average for all
screening programme indicators except the uptake of breast cancer screening
within 6months of invitation in women aged 50-70years. Leicestershire and
Rutland performed above the national average for all screening indicators.

Air Quality and Food Safety


In 2013, Leicester City was ranked as having a higher fraction of mortality
attributable to particulate air pollution than similar neighbours (ranked 15/16).
Blaby, Charnwood and North West Leicestershire district councils were
ranked as being within the bottom 26% of districts for the fraction of mortality
attributable to particulate air pollution.



There is a large variance in the number of food premises across each upper
and lower tier local authority. Harborough was the only district to have a
smaller proportion of food premises not achieving food standards A-E than the
England average at 83% as compared to 86.2% nationally.

Health Care Associated Infections


Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs are currently over their 2016/17 year to
date C. difficile trajectory at 54 cases. Work is being completed with the CCGs
to understand this trend and reduce future cases.

For more detail on overall health protection performance please see Appendix 2.
Further health protection data can also be found using the Public Health England
fingertips tool available at https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-protection.
5. Conclusion
Overall the LLR DsPH are assured that the correct processes and systems are in
place to protect the health of the population. Areas to continue to progress include
ensuring health has the capacity to respond to major incidents (national issue), and
maintaining and improving progress on key health protection indicators. The new
health protection governance structure is now in place to provide improved oversight
and risk management, and allow a more strategic approach to health protection
across the LLR system. These structures will continue to monitor progress over
areas identified within this report and will continue to report back to Health and
Wellbeing Boards on an annual basis and exceptional basis as appropriate.

Table 1 Summary of key health protection outbreaks, incidents and situations across LLR from October 2015 to end December
2016.
Outbreak/ Situation

August- September 2016 further two children and student
identified with extensively drug resistant TB cases.










Areas for future
development


Collaboration with CCG went
well
Uncertainty as to whether
the most effective use of
Find and Treat was made
Resources to manage such
incidents are limited both
nursing and clinical
No negative pressure
facilities for children in the
Midlands
No appropriate isolation
facilities for long term
isolation
Public Health Law is
inadequate to support
solutions for the problems
Complexities of isolating
extensively TB resistant
cases for a prolong period of
time.





More strategic approach
needed for managing
large TB outbreaks and
particularly in the
homeless population
Consider how this strain
of TB will be managed
longer term across LLR.

National specialised
commissioning
discussion needed
regarding negative
pressure facilities for
children.

314

Leicester City Council
1. TB in homeless in Leicester City- Same strain as
Loughborough
In May 2016 a case of TB was identified as a service user
at the Dawn Centre. In July 2016 the Find and Treat Team
screened 171/344 of people from the homeless population
in Leicester. A number of acute and latent TB cases were
identified and majority of these have now completed
treatment. Sequencing and epidemiological data confirmed
this outbreak was linked to the Loughborough outbreak
(see below).
2. Extensively drug resistant TB cases
December 2015 TB case admitted to hospital with
extensively drug resistant TB acquired outside of the UK.
Family member diagnosed with extensively drug resistant
TB in March 2016 and further cases were identified in
family members following screening. Service issues due to
identification of appropriate isolation facilities, locally and
nationally.

Key Lessons Learnt

Outbreak/ Situation

Key Lessons Learnt

Areas for future
development

Leicestershire County Council
3.

TB in injecting drug user community in Loughborough.
In January 2015, PHE requested the DPH to chair a
multiagency outbreak control meeting due to the
identification of a cluster of highly infectious TB cases
within the injecting drug user community in the
Loughborough area. This was the follow on from a cluster
originally identified in the 1990’s. A multiagency approach
was needed to include the local substance misuse, criminal
justice and social care services to map patient networks
and identify key individuals to target to attend a ‘Find and
Treat’ van in May 2016. In total 136 cases were screened







Methods of working –
complex outbreaks need
leading at the local level and
not remotely
Questionnaires need to be
developed in conjunction with
EHOs
Lots of difficulties
coordinating responses as
many local authorities
involved – need to use data
sharing agreements drawn up
with LLR Prepared.




Strong multiagency approach 
to the outbreak.
Strong leadership from PHE
due to dedicated senior
registrar leading the outbreak 
management
Quick decision making and

financial agreement from
West Leicestershire CCG.
Learning translated to

Consider more local PHE
leadership approach in
complex outbreaks.
Confirm data sharing
agreements are already
in place via the LLR
Prepared for sharing of
information in outbreak
situations

Significant amount of
PHE leadership capacity
needed to organise the
Find and Treat van event.
Need to engage district
partners earlier on.
Consider how TB
information and updates
can be linked into
substance misuse, social

315

4.

Salmonella outbreak in pub restaurant in Blaby District 
In March 2015, PHE were made aware of 21 cases with
Salmonella typhimurium. Seven cases required
hospitalisation and all cases were shown to be linked by
whole genome sequencing of isolates. Further analysis

over several months identified a total of 113 cases of which
103 were confirmed and 10 possible. PHE continued to
lead outbreak control meetings for several months due to

the ongoing source and number of cases identified. In
November 2015 the drains of the pub were identified as the
source of the infection by whole genome sequencing and
final control measures were put in place to stop the
outbreak.

Outbreak/ Situation
for TB and blood borne viruses. Small numbers of active
and latent TB and Hepatitis B and C were identified and
followed up.

5.









6.

Asbestos in Wigston
In April 2016, PHE were notified of an asbestos situation
affecting 15 properties following the spray washing of
nearby private garage roofs. Local residents had contacted
PHE following paying for a private asbestos assessment
and contacting their local MP. Clean up took from April until
end of September 2016 and has now been completed.



Leicester City TB outbreak
(see above.)
Good proactive relationship
with the media, providing
information in advance
meant they did not intervene
on the day.
Good working relationships
between PHE and
environmental health meant
control measures were
quickly put in place.
PHE led on reactive
communication that was
released due to media
enquiry.
Lead members for Melton
and Health were informed of
incident early on.
Legislation not helpful in this
area, making it difficult to
confirm who was responsible
for enforcing the clean-up
when the landlord would not
engage in the process.
Oadby and Wigston borough
council management team
agreed to fund the
assessment and clean up
and recharge the garage

Areas for future
development
care and housing staff
training.



Continue to review
petting farm hand
washing facilities.



Use LRF media contact
list to identify
communication leads for
each district or borough.
Ensure environmental
health capacity in each
district to support
situations.
Need for debrief on long
standing situations such
as this.

316

Cryptosporidiosis in petting farm in Melton
PHE identified an excess of cases of Cryptosporidiosis in
April 2016. Seven of the cases had visited a petting farm in
Melton over the Easter holidays and had petted lambs. The
facility was visited by environmental health officers and an
improvement notice served to improve hand washing,
provide hot water for handwashing and to improve advice
given to customers about hand hygiene. Control measures
reduced the exceedance in Cryptosporidiosis cases.

Key Lessons Learnt





Outbreak/ Situation

Key Lessons Learnt


Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
9. Flu incident at LRI – Haematology and Oncology
February 2016 small numbers of confirmed cases of
Influenza H1N1 Swine on cancer haematology unit at
Leicester Royal Infirmary. Following investigation 23 out of
45 patients were affected. Flu outbreak created significant
additional winter pressure on UHL. However due to
outbreak over 400 health care staff were vaccinated
against flu taking UHL to the highest rate of vaccination for
acute trusts in the East Midlands.










owner.
Communication/ media
response difficult due to no
specific media post within the
district. (This has now been
rectified.)

Difficult to informally notify
Rutland chief officers and
communication lead on the
evening.
PHE produced advice for the
public very quickly.



Confirm routes to
informally inform Rutland
senior officers of
incidents out of hours.

Emergency coordination and
management reviewed –
issues now taken over by
Urgent Care Board.
Needed a top down approach
to ensure joined up approach
across health and social care
to reduce pressures on UHL.
Difficulties with



Health and social care
management
arrangements to be
communicated across
LLR. Role of Local Health
Resilience Partnership
confirmed as proactive
system management
rather than acute

317

Rutland County Council
7. No Rutland specific incidents. Individual cases have been
managed through standard PHE operating procedures.
Outbreaks of sickness and diarrhoea in nursing homes
have been supported by the community infection
prevention control service.
8. Bird identified with Avian Flu
Dead bird identified with avian flu just before Christmas.
Situation dealt with via Chief Vet and linked with PHE.
National communication messages were incorrect stating
Leicestershire.

Areas for future
development

Outbreak/ Situation

Key Lessons Learnt



Ensuring PHE is linked into
the incident meetings early
on.
Communication with all
sexual health services and
commissioners was needed
(not just those attending the
meeting.)
DsPH coordinating a letter to
NHS England via the
Regional DsPH meeting.



Additional work is needed
to confirm referral
pathways between the
SARC and each sexual
health services across
the East Midlands.

318

East Midlands
10. Pathway incident at Sexual Assault Referral Centre

In summer 2016, it was identified that 25 patients across
the East Midlands had not been appropriately offered
PEPSI (Post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV after sex)

following a sexual assault. Serious incident called and Gold
command in Nottinghamshire initiated. Full thematic review
of incident completed and patients were contacted for
follow up. DsPH across East Midlands drafted letter to
NHS England to gain assurance that the incident was

appropriately dealt with.

communicating messaging
and delivering a joined up
response to the outbreak.
Outbreak improved flu
vaccination uptake in staff.

Areas for future
development
response.
 Review and implement
learning from exercise
Cygnus (national
pandemic flu exercise.)

Appendix 1 LLR Health Protection Risk log (14.02.17)
Risk Ref

Link to Health
Protection Area

HP001 Public Health

HP002

Environmental
Health

HP003
Public Health
CLOSED

Original Risk Score
Risk Description

Consequences / Impact

DsPH do not meet statutory responsibility.
Following implementation of the Health &
Social Care Act 2012, there has become more
fragmentation in the system. Health Protection
DsPH do not gain 100%
system may not be working effectively which
health protection assurance
could lead to increases in infectious disease,
across the LLR system.
environmental incidents, poor response to
major incidents etc. All leading to increased
mortality, morbidity and health/ social care
costs.

Lack of capacity in LLR
EH statutory functions not delivered including
environmental health &
food safety, food hygiene, environmental
regulatory teams to deliver
hazards etc.
statutory functions.

Restructure of Leicester
City and Leicestershire
County Public Health
departments. Potential
reduction in public health
capacity.

LLR Health &
Delivery of AMR strategy
HP004 Social Care IPC
across LLR.
Group

Reduced capacity to for health protection
assurance role. DPH's may not be assured of
the health protection system.

Risk Owner

MS/RT

I

L

Risk
Score

4

2

8

Current Risk Score (as at
01/04/2016)

Risk Action
Tolerate /
Treat /
Transfer /
Terminate

Further Action / Additional
Controls

Treat

Review the effectiveness of the
new governance arrangements
after 12months.

Risk Action
Tolerate / Treat /
Transfer /
Terminate

List of Current Controls / Actions
Embedded and operating soundly

Treat

Revised health protection assurance
governance arrangements to increase
assurance of the system and add a strategic
element to the work.

2

1

2

Tolerate

1

1

1

Tolerate

Unitary/
District
Council CE

2

2

4

Treat

Develop stronger links between EH
managers group and HPSAG to highlight
risks within individual teams. DsPH to
contact individual districts/ teams if there are
assurance concerns.

MS/ RT

2

2

4

Treat

DsPH consider health protection assurance
capacity within new Public Health
department structures

I

L

Risk
Score

4

1

4

PM

3

3

9

Treat

Separate AMR groups have been set up for
UHL and the community. These will report
into the LLR Health & Social Care IPC
Group, which will report to HPSAG. DsPH
can request additional assurance from the
group if needed.

2

2

4

Tolerate

Loss of historical system knowledge and
expertise across LLR.

DS

2

2

4

Treat

PHE already identifying and training possible
consultant replacements. Vigorous interview
process. DsPH linked into recruitment
process.

1

1

1

Tolerate

MS/RT

VR

County action plan complete.
Change in consultant lead for
health protection to Mike
McHugh. City action plan being
finalised, no impact on health
protection assurance.
MS/RT

PM/CT
Infectious
HP005 Disease control
(PHE)

Infectious
HP006 Disease control
(PHE)

Well established LLR
Consultant in Health
Protection nearing
retirement.

Increased prevalence of
virulent strain of TB in
Loughborough area and
Leicester City.

More new cases of active and latent TB,
further spread of disease. Potential for MDR
TB to develop in chaotic cases that don't
adhere to treatment. Increased morbidity,
mortality and health care costs.

PM

4

3

12

Treat

PHE lead outbreak response. Outbreak
control teams and find and treat vans
commissioned for both Loughborough and
City. Strategic multidisciplinary OTC booked
for Dec 2016 to review progress. Discussion
at HPSAG to review progress and next
steps.

DS

3

2

6

C15
(LCC
DMT)

Public Health

VR

3

3

9

Tolerate

Buy in from boards who have nominated
specific people to joining the group as well
commissioning consultation in order to allow
people to have opportunity to input.
Discussion at the Health & Wellbeing board
about the strategy to ensure buy in.

2

2

4

Local Health
Resilience
Partnership
(LHRP)

Public Health/
HP008 Environmental
Health

HP009

LLR Prepared/
LHRP

HP010 LR Prepared

Changes to LLR
operational health
resilience groups.

Partners are not clear on the response
structure to major incidents, causing delays in
action and coordination of groups.

Possible reductions to local
authority budgets following Potential reductions in services including public
implementation of the
health, environmental health and regulatory
business rates in 2018/19 services.
national guidance.
Health/ NHS England
capacity to attend major
incident meetings in
national emergency.

Lack of NHS health system leadership in
major incident.

Some LLR organisations
lack capacity to maintain
attendance at Strategic
Reduced LLR multiagency approach to
coordinating group (SCG)/
prolonged major incident.
Tactical Coordinating
Groups (TCG)'s over 48hr
period

4

2

8

Treat

Communication of new operational health
resilience arrangements to LHRP and wider
partners.

2

2

4

Tolerate

LA CE

3

3

9

Tolerate

Funding decisions will be made to have the
least impact on the wider health and social
care system. Proposals will be discussed
with key stakeholders/ partners and equality
impact assessments completed.

3

3

9

Tolerate

JD

4

5

3

2

12

10

Treat

Treat

Local arrangement that CCGs cover for
NHS England in the case of a national major
incident or when capacity is not available.

LLR Prepared to work with partners to
identify contingency plans for SCG/TCG
attendance after 48hrs.

3

3

3

3

9

9

Tolerate

I

L

Risk
Score

4

1

4

1

2

Yes

1

1

1

Yes

Q3 16/17 Risk Score
Q3 Comments
I

L

Risk
Score

4

1

4

New governance
arrangements
implemented. Review due
Sep 2017.

2

Good links developed with
EH Managers group.
Further work is needed to
confirm how air quality/
annual service plans are
reviewed at Health
Protection System
Assurance Group
(HPSAG).

2

0

2

1

2

Yes

1

1

1

No

4

Apr-16

1

3

MS/RT

Apr-18

MS

Apr-17

4

2

1

2

2

2

4

No immediate action
needed. Senior registrar
supporting LLR.

2

Strategic OTC met in Dec
2017. Agreed that county
risk has reduced due to
prevalence identified in
outbreak. More strategic
approach to tackling
vulnerable people such as
homeless and links with
TB, infectious diseases
needed. On HPSAG
agenda for Jan 2017.

4

2

Good engagement with
strategy implementation
and LLS SH
commissioning meetings
from CCGs and NHS
England (imms &
Screening). However
engagement has been
more difficult due to STP
pressures.

4

LHRP Capability
Assessment template due
for completion in early
2017.

4

Yes

No

2

2

6

10

2

2

4
No

5

Sep-17

1

2

3

Tolerate

1

Yes

Apr-17

Apr-17

2

2

2

AMR Summit arranged for
end January 2017 to
progress work. Longer
term AMR lead needs
identifying hence
increased risk likelihood.

2

1

Dec-16

MS

1

RISK CLOSED following
discussion at HPSAG on
26.01.17

2

JD

No

2

3

Further discussions at Local
Health Resilience Partnership
(LHRP) to confirm major
incident cover especially over
longer term major incidents.

Action
Complete
(Yes or
No)

Oct-16

Tolerate

TT/MS

TT/JD

Dec-16

Tolerate

VR

HP007

Sep-17

Target Risk Score

Apr-18

PM

Partners not engage with the strategy/ attend
commissioners meeting, strategy is not
Implementation of the
delivered. Gaps in sexual health services and
Leicestershire and Rutland pathways. Impact potentially increased
Sexual Health Strategies. unplanned pregnancies, STI including HIV.
Increased demand and treatment costs
across the health and social care system.

Action
Target
Date

2

2

3

2

No

Awaiting national
guidance.

6

No

Ongoing discussions at
LHRP.

10

5

2

Results from LLR
Prepared assurance
report completed at end
2016. Therefore follow up
actions still to occur.

319

Lack of progress made on AMR strategy
resulting in an increased prevalence of AMR
organisms across LLR. This could result in
increased mortality, morbidity and health/
social care costs.

Action
Owner

This page is intentionally left blank

Lei
cest
er
shi
r
eHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page1of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Cancer
I
nci
dence
(
LA/
NHS
E/
CCG)

Hepat
i
t
i
s
(
CCG)

Si
mi
l
ar
Tar
get Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Type Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

I
nc
i
denc
eofbr
eas
tc
anc
er(
I
CD10C50)

20122014

Eng

174.
2

169.
9

7/
16

Low

I
nc
i
denc
eofc
er
v
i
cal
c
anc
er(
I
CD10C53)

20122014

Eng

11.
1

9.
6

13/
16

Low

I
nc
i
denc
eofc
ol
or
ect
al
c
anc
er(
CD10C17C21)

20122014

Eng

68.
9

72.
9

2/
16

Low

Hospi
t
al
admi
s
s
i
onr
at
ef
orhepat
i
t
i
sBr
el
at
edends
t
agel
i
v
erdi
s
eas
e/
hepat
oc
el
l
ul
ar 2013/
14
c
ar
ci
noma

Eng

N/
A

0.
9

Nul
l

Hospi
t
al
admi
s
s
i
onr
at
ef
orhepat
i
t
i
sCr
el
at
edends
t
agel
i
verdi
seas
e/
hepat
oc
el
l
ul
ar 2013/
14
c
ar
ci
noma

Eng

1.
2

3.
8

1/
15

Low

Per
sonsi
ns
ubs
t
anc
emi
s
us
et
r
eat
mentwhoi
nj
ec
tdr
ugs-% ofel
i
gi
bl
eper
s
onswho 2014/
15
hav
er
ec
ei
v
edahepat
i
t
i
sCt
es
t

Eng

89.
9

81.
5

15/
16

None

2014

Eng

24.
6

63.
6

10/
16

Low

HI
Vdi
agnos
edpr
ev
al
enc
er
at
eper1,
000aged1559

2014

Ben

0.
7

2.
2

6/
16

None

HI
Vl
at
edi
agnos
i
s(
%)(
PHOFi
ndi
c
at
or3.
04)

2012-14

Ben

40.
5

42.
2

3/
15

Low

HI
Vt
est
i
ngc
ov
er
age,t
ot
al
(
%)

2014

Eng

66.
2

68.
3

12/
16

Hi
gh

NewHI
Vdi
agnos
i
sr
at
e/100,
000aged15+

2014

Eng

4.
1

12.
3

8/
16

Low

Syphi
l
i
sdi
agnosesr
at
eper100,
000popul
at
i
on

2014

Eng

1.
3

7.
8

1/
16

Pr
opor
t
i
onofpul
monar
yTBc
as
ess
t
ar
t
i
ngt
r
eat
mentwi
t
hi
nf
ourmont
hsofs
ympt
om
ons
et

2014

Ben

72.
7

69.
7

1/
12

Hi
gh

Pr
opor
t
i
onofTBcas
esof
f
er
edanHI
Vt
es
t

2014

Ben

87.
0

85.
4

7/
14

Hi
gh

TBi
nci
denc
e(
t
hr
eey
earav
er
age)

2012-14

Ben

4.
7

13.
5

10/
16

Tr
eat
mentc
ompl
et
i
onf
orTB(
%)

2013

Eng

96.
6

84.
8

2/
13

SexualHeal
t
h Gonor
r
hoeadi
agnosi
sr
at
eper100,
000popul
at
i
on
(
LA)

TB(
CCG)

Wor
se

Si
mi
l
ar

Bet
t
er

N/
A

Get
t
i
ngBet
t
er

NoChangei
nTr
end

Get
t
i
ngWor
s
e

N/
A

Tar
getType-Benchmar
k
i
ngagai
ns
tgoal
.Changeov
ert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
cat
esgoodper
f
or
mance.RAG i
sc
al
c
ul
at
edi
nr
el
at
i
ont
oTar
getType.

ChangeOverTi
me

RAG

Low

Low
Hi
gh

DoT

321

I
ndi
cat
or

Lat
estTi
me
Per
i
od2

Lei
cest
er
shi
r
eHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page2of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup

Lat
estTi
me
Per
i
od

Tar
get
Type

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Rank
Val
ue Val
ue

201516

Ben

97.
4

93.
1

2/
16

201516

Ben

97.
5

73.
3

4/
16

12mont
hsPCV

201516

Ben

97.
4

93.
1

2/
16

Hi
gh

12mont
hsPopul
at
i
onv
ac
c
i
nat
i
onc
ov
er
age-12Mont
hsRot
avi
r
us

201516

Ben

94.
1

Nul
l

4/
11

Hi
gh

24mont
hsDt
ap/
I
PV/
Hi
b

201516

Ben

98.
1

95.
1

5/
16

Hi
gh

24mont
hsMenCBoos
t
er

201516

Ben

96.
5

91.
0

3/
16

Hi
gh

24mont
hsMMR

201516

Ben

96.
1

91.
4

5/
16

Hi
gh

24mont
hsPCVBoos
t
er

201516

Ben

95.
8

87.
7

3/
16

Hi
gh

5Year
sDt
ap/
I
PVBoos
t
er

201516

Ben

95.
3

86.
9

3/
16

Hi
gh

5Year
sHi
b/
MenCBoos
t
er

201516

Ben

95.
5

92.
5

9/
16

Hi
gh

5Year
sI
nf
antHi
b

201516

Ben

97.
1

92.
7

9/
16

Hi
gh

5Year
sMMRDos
e1

201516

Ben

97.
6

93.
9

2/
16

Hi
gh

5Year
sMMRDos
e2

201516

Ben

94.
1

87.
7

4/
16

Hi
gh

Popul
at
i
onvac
c
i
nat
i
onc
ov
er
age-HPV(
f
emal
es1213year
sol
d)

2013/
14

Ben

96.
4

86.
7

1/
16

Hi
gh

3.
03xi
i
i
-Popul
at
i
onv
ac
c
i
nat
i
onc
ov
er
age-PPV

2015/
16

N/
A

72.
7

70.
1

7/
16

Hi
gh

3.
03xi
v-Popul
at
i
onv
ac
c
i
nat
i
onc
ov
er
age-Fl
u(
aged65+)

2015/
16

N/
A

71.
9

71.
0

8/
16

Hi
gh

3.
03xv-Popul
at
i
onv
ac
c
i
nat
i
onc
ov
er
age-Fl
u(
atr
i
ski
ndi
vi
dual
s)

2015/
16

N/
A

42.
6

45.
1

13/
16

Hi
gh

2.
20xi
-Newbor
nBl
oodSpotSc
r
eeni
ng–Cov
er
age

2015/
16

N/
A

92.
2

95.
6

13/
15

Hi
gh

Femal
es,2564,at
t
endi
ngc
er
v
i
c
al
s
c
r
eeni
ngwi
t
hi
nt
ar
getper
i
od(
3.
5or5.
5y
ear
c
ov
er
age,%)

2014/
15

Eng

77.
7

Nul
l

N/
A

None

Femal
es,5070,sc
r
eenedf
orbr
eas
tc
anc
eri
nl
as
t36mont
hs(
3yearcover
age,%) 2014/
15

Eng

79.
7

Nul
l

N/
A

None

Femal
es,5070,sc
r
eenedf
orbr
eas
tc
anc
erwi
t
hi
n6mont
hsofi
nv
i
t
at
i
on(
Upt
ake,%) 2014/
15

Eng

82.
5

Nul
l

N/
A

None

Per
s
ons
,6069,s
c
r
eenedf
orbowel
c
anc
eri
nl
as
t30mont
hs(
2.
5y
earc
ov
er
age,%) 2014/
15

Eng

63.
1

Nul
l

N/
A

None

Per
s
ons
,6069,s
c
r
eenedf
orbowel
c
anc
erwi
t
hi
n6mont
hsofi
nv
i
t
at
i
on(
Upt
ak
e,%) 2014/
15

Eng

63.
0

Nul
l

N/
A

None

I
ndi
cat
or&Age

I
mmuni
sat
i
on 12mont
hsDt
ap/
I
PV/
Hi
b
(
NHSE)
12mont
hsMenC

Scr
eeni
ng
(
NHSE)

Si
mi
l
ar

Bet
t
er

NoDat
a/Suppr
essed

NoChangei
nTr
end

Get
t
i
ngWor
s
e

N/
A

RAG

DoT

Hi
gh
Hi
gh

N/
A

Tar
getType-Benchmar
k
i
ngagai
ns
tgoal
.Changeov
ert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
cat
esgoodper
f
or
mance.RAG i
sc
al
c
ul
at
edi
nr
el
at
i
ont
oTar
getType.I
mmuni
sat
i
ondat
amaydi
f
f
erf
r
om publ
i
s
hedf
i
gur
esduet
oaggr
egat
eddat
a.

322

Fl
u(
NHSE)

ChangeOverTi
me
Tr
endCha
r
t

Bl
abyHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

6

5.
3

219/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

728

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

91

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

687

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

223

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

31

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

686

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

94

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

656

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

96

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

30

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

4

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

323

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Char
nwoodHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

6

5.
3

216/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

1,
450

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

100

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

1,
421

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

265

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

19

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

1,
324

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

91

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

1,
282

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

97

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

42

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

3

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

324

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Har
bor
oughHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

5

5.
3

139/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

975

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

83

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

512

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

115

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

13

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

866

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

89

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

847

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

98

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

19

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

2

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

325

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Hi
nckl
ey&Boswor
t
hHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

5

5.
3

186/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

985

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

94

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

905

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

394

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

41

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

922

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

94

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

888

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

96

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

34

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

4

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

326

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Mel
t
onHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

5

5.
3

159/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

540

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

93

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

377

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

106

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

23

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

444

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

85

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

432

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

97

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

12

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

3

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

327

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Nor
t
hWestLei
cest
er
shi
r
eHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

6

5.
3

258/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

897

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

87

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

700

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

170

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

19

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

848

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

95

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

822

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

97

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

26

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

3

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

328

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Oadby&Wi
gst
onHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page3of5)
I
ndi
cat
or
Gr
oup
Ai
rQual
i
t
y
(
LA)

I
ndi
cat
or

Si
mi
l
ar
Lat
estTi
me Lat
est Engl
and Nei
ghbour
Per
i
od
Val
ue Val
ue
Rank

3.
01-Fr
ac
t
i
onofmor
t
al
i
t
yat
t
r
i
but
abl
et
opar
t
i
c
ul
at
eai
rpol
l
ut
i
on

2013

5

5.
3

172/
294

122016

N/
A

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erCent
r
e

35

Nul
l

N/
A

Lei
ces
t
erUni
v
er
s
i
t
y

48

Nul
l

N/
A

Ni
t
r
ogenDi
ox
i
de(
ugm3)

Lei
ces
t
erA594Roadsi
de

2015/
16

378

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofI
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsac
hi
ev
ed(
pr
emi
s
esr
at
edAE)

2015/
16

99

86.
2

N/
A

Tot
al
I
nt
er
v
ent
i
onsAc
hi
ev
ed(
Pr
emi
s
esRat
edAE)

2015/
16

348

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
NumberofEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
cementAc
t
i
ons

2015/
16

98

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
Es
t
abl
i
s
hment
sSubj
ec
tt
oFor
mal
Enf
or
c
ementAct
i
ons(
%)

2015/
16

28

27.
0

N/
A

Tot
al
ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antEs
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
I
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etRat
ed)

2015/
16

339

Nul
l

N/
A

Tot
al
% ofBr
oadl
yCompl
i
antes
t
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnotyetr
at
ed)

2015/
16

94

90.
4

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E

2015/
16

333

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatC,
D,
E(
%)

2015/
16

98

97.
1

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,B

2015/
16

6

Nul
l

N/
A

Br
oadl
yCompl
i
antatA,
B(
%)

2015/
16

2

2.
9

N/
A

Down

N/
A

Same

Up

Changeovert
i
me:c
har
tt
ex
t(
Low/
Hi
gh)i
ndi
c
at
esgoodper
f
or
manc
e.Ai
rQual
i
t
yMoni
t
or
i
ngt
akenatt
hr
eesi
t
es
.

DoT

None

329

FoodHygi
ene Tot
al
est
abl
i
s
hment
s(
i
nc
l
udi
ngnoty
etr
at
ed&out
si
de)
(
LA)

ChangeOverTi
me

Lei
cest
er
shi
r
eHeal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page4of5)
Mont
h,YearofLat
estTi
me
Per
i
od

I
ndi
cat
orGr
oup I
ndi
cat
or

C.Di
f
f(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofC.di
f
f
i
c
i
l
ei
nf
ec
t
i
onf
orpat
i
ent
saged2y
ear
sandov
erbyAcut
eTr
ust-Tr
ust
Oct
ober2016
Appor
t
i
onedonl
y
*

Lat
est
Val
ue

56

MRSA(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
us
t-CCG As
s
i
gnedCas
es

Oct
ober2016

1

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
us
t-Thi
r
dPar
t
yCases

Oct
ober2016

0

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
us
t-Tot
al
Repor
t
edCas
es

Oct
ober2016

1

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
us
t-Tr
us
tAs
si
gnedCas
es

Oct
ober2016

0

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMSSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
ust-Tr
ustAppor
t
i
onedonl
y
*

Oct
ober2016

5

Dat
acur
r
ent
l
yf
orUHLonl
y
.

NoChange

Up

330

Oct
ober2016

Down

DoT

5

E.Col
i(
NHSE) Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofE.
c
ol
i
bac
t
er
aemi
abyAc
ut
eTr
us
t-Tr
us
tCas
es

MSSA(
NHSE)

ChangeOverTi
me

EastLei
cest
er
shi
r
eCCG Heal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page5of5)
I
ndi
cat
orGr
oup I
ndi
cat
or

Mont
h,YearofLat
estTi
me
Per
i
od

Lat
est
Val
ue

C.Di
f
f(
NHSE)

Oct
ober2016

3

E.Col
i(
NHSE) Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofE.c
ol
i
bac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

24

MRSA(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

0

MSSA(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMSSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

4

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofC.di
f
f
i
c
i
l
ei
nf
ec
t
i
onf
orpat
i
ent
saged2y
ear
sandov
erbyCCG

ChangeOverTi
me

DoT

331

Down

NoChange

WestLei
cest
er
shi
r
eCCG Heal
t
hPr
ot
ect
i
onDashboar
d(
Page5of5)
I
ndi
cat
orGr
oup I
ndi
cat
or

Mont
h,YearofLat
estTi
me
Per
i
od

Lat
est
Val
ue

C.Di
f
f(
NHSE)

Oct
ober2016

3

E.Col
i(
NHSE) Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofE.c
ol
i
bac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

24

MRSA(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMRSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

0

MSSA(
NHSE)

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofMSSAbac
t
er
aemi
abyCCG

Oct
ober2016

4

Mont
hl
yc
ount
sofC.di
f
f
i
c
i
l
ei
nf
ec
t
i
onf
orpat
i
ent
saged2y
ear
sandov
erbyCCG

ChangeOverTi
me
DoT

332

Down

NoChange

333

Agenda Item 16

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF ARDEN/GEM COMMISSIONING SUPPORT PERFORMANCE
SERVICE AND COUNTY COUNICL CHIEF EXECUTIVE
HEALTH AND WELLBEING SYSTEM PERFORMANCE REPORT
QUARTER 3
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
update on overall health and wellbeing system performance issues using a number
of locally and nationally agreed metrics and standards.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

The report sets out progress against a number of metrics and targets directly related
to a number of existing plans and strategies including: a. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy;
b. The Better Care Fund;
c. Better Care Together workstreams such as mental health and learning disability;
d. CCG operating plans;

3. The performance framework, targets and metrics will be updated after May to
accommodate any recent changes such as publication of the local draft Sustainability
and Transformation Plan and agreement of the revised BCF Plan and targets.
Recommendation
4. The Committee is asked to:
a) note the performance summary and issues identified this quarter and actions
planned in response to improve performance; and
b) comment on any recommendations or other issues with regard to the report.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5.

The Board and partners have agreed a number of plans and strategies with support
metrics, standards and targets which set out its aspirations for an effective health and
wellbeing system and services in Leicestershire. The Board has also agreed to
receive periodic reports on performance so that it can assess progress and
outstanding issues.

334
Background
6. The Committee currently receives a joint report on performance from the County
Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the Arden/GEM Commissioning Support
Performance Service. This particular report encompasses:
a. Performance against key metrics and priorities set out in the Better Care Fund
plan;
b. An update on key Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and provider
performance issues including mental health performance; and
c. An update on wider public health metrics and performance.
Better Care Fund and Integration Projects – Appendix 1
7. The following section of the report summarises performance against the targets within
the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan. Appendix 1 contains the BCF Plan indicators and
targets applying from April 2016. These are all 2016/17 targets and were revised in July
2016 in light of new population projections released by the Office for National Statistics in
May 2016.
1. Metric 1 – Residential and nursing home admissions – 606.4 per 100k a year
2. Metric 2 – Reablement – 84.2% for each rolling 3 month period
3. Metric 3 – Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) quarterly targets - 236.66, 231.91,
214.66, 312.19 per 100k
4. Metric 4 – Non-elective admissions – 724.37 per 100K per month
5. Metric 5 – Patient experience – 63.5%
6. Metric 6 – Falls – 139.76 per 100K per month
Metric 1 – Permanent Admissions to Residential and Nursing Homes
8. In relation to residential and nursing home admissions - permanent admissions to care
for those aged 65+ per 100k - the forecast is 621.8 (848 admissions) against a target of
606.4 (827 admissions). The indicator is therefore currently rated red. Performance in
2015/16 was 860 admissions (642.3)
Metric 2 - Reablement
9. In relation to reablement, the latest data on the percentage living at home 91 days after
hospital discharge and reablement is 87%. Performance continues to improve and meet
the BCF target of 84.2%. Data published for 2015/16 puts Leicestershire above the
national average. In relation to the percentage of people who had no need for ongoing
services following reablement for 2015/16 data shows Leicestershire performance is
above the average. The metric is therefore rated green.
Metric 3 – Delayed Transfers of Care
10. In relation to delayed transfers of care (DToC) for Oct-Dec (Q3) there were 6, 211 days
delayed for Leicestershire residents. 382.35 days delayed per 100k aged 18+. December
saw the highest number of days delayed this financial year. The indicator is therefore
rated red. The main reasons for delay this quarter were completions of assessments and
patient/family choice.

335
11. 46% were in the acute sector and 54% in the non-acute sector. Both acute and nonacute targets are being missed, although the non-acute situation is considerably worse.
For Q3 53% of the days delayed were at LPT and 33% at UHL. The remainder are out of
county providers, of which the biggest contributor is Kettering Hospital with 4% of the
total. A completion assessment is now the most common reason for a delay in 2016/17
and in Q3. In December the number of days attributed to this cause almost doubled from
November’s figures.
Metric 4 - Non-Elective Admissions
12. For the period April to December there have been 45,939 non-elective admissions,
against a target of 44,190 – a variance of 1749. Furthermore, the forecast for the end of
the 2016/17 financial year is that there could be 61,424 admissions, against a target of
59,030. The current rag rating is therefore amber. All these figures include estimated
LPT admissions from September to December due to a data issue which LPT and NHS
Digital are working to repair.
13. The tables below show the total number of avoided admissions achieved by the five
original emergency admission schemes and ELRs weekend Acute Visiting Schemes
(AVS). The target for avoided admissions in 2016/17 is 1,517 and has been aligned with
CCG operating plans. By the end of December 2138 admissions had been avoided.

Apr
16

May

June

July

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

232

281

279

269

260

227

208

219

163

Cumulative 232
avoided

513

792

1061

1321

1548

1756

1975

2138

Actual
avoided

Metric 5 – Patient Experience
14. In relation to patient experience and patients satisfied with long term support to manage
long term health conditions the latest data shows a figure of 63.6% against a target of
62.2% for March 2016. The metric is therefore rated green.
Metric 6 – Falls
15. In relation to emergency admissions for injuries due to falls in people aged 65+ the latest
figure is 122.45 (167 falls) against a target of 139.76. The indicator is currently rated
green.
CCG and Provider Dashboards - Appendix 2
16. In March 2016 NHS England published a new Improvement and Assessment Framework
(IAF) for CCGs. From 2016/17 this replaced the existing CCG Assurance Framework.
The Framework includes a set of 57 indicators across 29 areas. In the Government’s
Mandate to NHS England the new framework takes an enhanced and more central place
in the overall arrangements for public accountability of the NHS. The IAF has been

336
designed to supply indicators for adoption in Sustainability and Transformation Plans as
markers of success.
17. This report looks to include relevant indicators from the new Framework, taking into
account contents of the local Sustainability and Transformation Plan. The performance
report is the vehicle to ensure that an appropriate governance and assurance process is
in place for CCGs. The report focuses on a dashboard covering;
 Better Health - this looks at how the CCG is contributing towards improving the
health and wellbeing of its population; and
 Better Care - this principally focuses on care redesign, performance of constitutional
standards and outcomes, including important clinical areas.
18. Attached as Appendix 2 is the dashboard that summarises information on CCG and
provider performance using the above Framework. The indicators within the dashboard
are reported at CCG level. Data reported at provider level does differ and delivery
actions indicate where this is a risk. The following provides narrative of those areas
currently ‘at risk’ and actions in place to support improving performance.
Electronic Referrals
19. Work continues with local providers and practices to support usage of the Electronic
Referral System (ERS). A joint improvement approach was agreed between UHL and the
Leicestershire CCGs with various actions in place including;
 all practices compatible with the ERS system, with referral advice and guidance,
and a list of specialties provided by UHL;
 review of all specialties to increase slots available to 100%
 CCGs working to reduce appointment slot issues, with capacity alerts for specific
services.
Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital
admission and emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions
20. CCGs continue to monitor and drive weekend and other services aimed at avoiding unnecessary admissions, and services are included in the Integrated Urgent Care lot
procurement.
Antibiotic prescribing
21. Performance is monitored by the CCG Medicines Optimisation Teams. The practice
position against targets was circulated to GP practices and reports were presented at
locality meetings. Practice packs were issued to all GP practices containing a page of
“top tips to ensure appropriate antibiotic prescribing” detailing actions and objectives
practices could undertake. The formation of an LLR Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy
Group has also been progressed.
Cancer Waiting Times
22. The majority of the 62 day backlog sits within Lower GI, Lung, Urology and Gynaecology
at UHL. The main reasons for 62 day breaches remain theatre capacity constraints,
patient complexity, patient delays, diagnostic delays and patients being unfit.
Recruitment is underway for a number of additional consultant staff in a number of
services. The Remedial Action Plan (RAP) has been refreshed and continues to be
updated regularly and the thematic findings from the root cause analysis process that is

337
in place for all patients who breach the 62 day standard are fed into the RAP. Cancelled
operations as a result of emergency pressures continue to affect the 62 day
performance.
Improved Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
23. Referral initiatives for IAPT include: promoting the service in practices via surgery
televisions; promotion of the service to carers including children’s carers and older
people; follow up of contacts made at CCG AGM’s; discussions regarding mail drops of
leaflets within certain high prevalence areas; radio campaign on Heritage FM Radio.
Detailed analysis of the performance of waiting times has been undertaken and a
number of administration process issues have been resolved. This has shown significant
improvement in unvalidated (local) December data.
Specialist inpatient care for people with a learning disability and/or autism
24. December 2016 national data was recently released. This shows an overall decrease in
patients of 3 across LLR in the period from September to December. Figures will always
be volatile when dealing with people with acute mental illness, but the plan is to reduce
the numbers over all.
Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP register receiving an
annual health check
25. National data is only reported annually and is based on data from the NHS Digital GPES
and QOF and is the position that NHS England will monitor the CCG on. Locally data is
available in line with the quarterly Primary Care Liaison Nurse meetings, with the next
meeting taking place in March.
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Emergency Department (ED). Waiting Time <
4 Hours
26. UHL has been on high escalation levels for Emergency Department (ED) performance
for much of the 2016 calendar year, due to occupancy and acuity within ED, the Trust’s
ability to manage the volume of attendances with the current physical constraints and
staffing skill mix, as well as flow within the department and across the trust. The systemwide Accident and Emergency Delivery Board has agreed a Recovery Action Plan
focusing on 5 key intervention areas. Presentations at the Emergency Department
continue to exceed the expected levels (circa 5% real-terms year on year growth). In
addition, the Midlands and East Region have launched Cohort Two of its Emergency
Care Improvement Programme, which will provide additional support to UHL to improve
performance. The new Emergency Department Floor is due to open in Spring 2017,
which will provide an integrated Emergency Department service which is expected to
address some of the physical and pathway constraints currently impacting negatively on
performance.
Ambulance Response Times, Handovers between UHL Emergency Department and
Ambulance and Ambulance Crew Clear
27. High occupancy in the Emergency Department and bed pressures across the Trust in
Quarter 2 to Quarter 4 have led to congestion in the assessment bay, resulting in longer
waits for ambulance handovers. System-wide actions are underway to decrease
conveyance to Leicester Royal Infirmary, and to increase the volume of “see and treat”

338
and “hear and treat” clinical encounters to divert patients away from the Emergency
Department. Ambulance handovers featured in the Escalation Meeting with NHS
England and NHS Improvement on 6 January 2017 and further recovery actions are
under development as a result. These will include increased use of cohorting, as well as
actions to reduce the conveyance rates.
28. A trial of a joint response vehicle containing a GP and an EMAS Paramedic – specifically
responding to Nursing Home/Care Home referrals in the week prior to Christmas is being
reviewed. Early findings have suggested a significant number of admissions have been
avoided for this patient cohort. Frailty training to EMAS staff to reduce conveyance and
cohorting policy is in place for patients awaiting beds.
Delayed Transfers of care attributable to the NHS per 100,000 population –
Leicestershire Partnership Trust
29. The reasons behind the increase in delays are being investigated. A contract
performance notice has been issued which will convert to a Service Development
Improvement Plan (SDIP) 2017/18. A remedial action plan is in progress and multiagency DTOC housing group established. Although Mental Health Services for Older
People DTOCs have shown slight improvement these are still being monitored.
52 Week waiters at UHL
30. At end of December there were 32 patients across UHL who breached 52 weeks. 30
within Musculoskeletal and Specialist Surgery (MSS) (including 15 Orthodontics), five
patients have now had treatment, eight patients have a treatment date and two from
Cancer, Haematology, Urology, Gastroenterology and General Surgery (CHUGGS) have
both been treated.
Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted in 28 days and No patient has to tolerate an
urgent operation being cancelled for the second time - UHL only
31. Weekly winter bed meetings occur to forward plan elective capacity to match predicted
bed availability. At LRI the Trust is initiating the ‘Red 2 Green’ process to reduce patient
length of stay and improve flow, reducing the risk of patient cancellations due to bed
pressures.
UHL Quality Dashboard
Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches
32. A dashboard relating to quality metrics at UHL has been included in Appendix 2. There
were 14 mixed sex accommodation breaches in December at UHL 2 patients were
affected in neurology and surgical specialty, they were both due to lack of bed capacity.
In Ophthalmology there were 4 breaches with 12 patients affected. The Ophthalmology
Suite is situated within a very small clinical environment which meets the needs of large
numbers of patients each day. Due to activity within the Suite 4 breaches occurred for
patients undergoing day case eye surgery.
Leicestershire Mental Health Dashboard – Appendix 3
33. A Mental Health dashboard has been developed which includes more detail on the
Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Dementia CCG Improvement and Assessment

339
Framework 2016/17 metrics. Actions to address those ‘at risk’ indicators have been
included in the relevant sections above. A selection of Public Health Outcomes
Framework indicators which identifies Self Harm, Suicide and Anxiety levels across
Leicestershire has been reported and an update provided where possible.
Public Health Outcomes Performance – Appendix 4
34. Appendix 4 sets out current performance against targets set in the performance
framework for public health. Public Health England has published an update to the public
health outcomes framework (PHOF). In terms of high level outcomes 14 indicators are
presented and Leicestershire is better than the England average for six of these. No
indicators perform significantly worse than the England average.
35. A number of the PHOF indicators were updated in a data release in 2017 and Appendix
4 summarises the latest position. Overall to date 17 metrics are rated green, 4 amber
and 6 red. In addition 2 further metrics are rated higher than comparators and 1 lower
than comparators.
36. In relation to the 17 green indicators the following have shown improvement and are on
track to meet targets – life expectancy males, chlamydia detection rates, under 75
mortality for cardiovascular disease, cancer, liver disease and respiratory disease,
breastfeeding initiation, smoking at time of delivery, under 18 conceptions, child excess
weight (11 year olds), excess weight (adults), active adults, inactive adults, completion of
drug treatment (non-opiates), and breast cancer and cervical cancer screening
coverage.
37. Health inequalities (females) is lower than comparators. Health inequalities (males) and
excess under 75 mortality for people with a serious mental illness is higher than
comparators. Amber indicators include – life expectancy (females), suicide rates, child
excess weight 4-5 year olds and smoking prevalence in adults.
38. Red indicators include – HIV late diagnosis, infant mortality, child dental decay, drug
treatment (opiates), admissions for alcohol related conditions, take up of NHS health
checks. Further work is underway to progress improvement across the range of indicator
areas.
39. In September Public Health England published health profiles for all local authorities in
England. The profiles summarise the health of the population using 31 indicators across
a range of themes. In relation to Leicestershire 19 of the indicators are significantly
better than the England average, 7 the same, with just one – recorded diabetes –
significantly worse than the England average.
40. Further consideration will be given to actions to tackle these areas as part of the Health
and Wellbeing Strategy implementation and the public health service plan development
process. In addition work has commenced on a new Single Outcomes Framework which
will feed into a revised set of priority outcomes and metrics for public health following the
County Council election in May 2017.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
41. The metrics include a number which involve surveys of patient and user satisfaction
with services.

340
Resource Implications
42. There are no specific resource implications arising from this report. However a a
range of performance levels and improvements are also interdependent with funding
availability.
Background papers
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following link:
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-ofdirectors/board-meeting-dates/
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None – relates to whole county and health system performance.
Officer to Contact
Kate Allardyce and Sarah Cooke - Performance Team (Leicester & Lincoln)
Arden/GEM Commissioning Support Unit
Tel: 0116 295 7272, Mobile: 07795126428
Email: Sarah.Cooke@gemcsu.nhs.uk
Andy Brown – Performance Team Leicestershire County Council
Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk Tel 0116 305 6096
List of Appendices
Appendix 1– Better Care Fund Dashboard
Appendix 2 – CCG and Provider Performance Dashboards
Appendix 3 – Mental Health Dashboard
Appendix 4 – Public Heath Performance Dashboard.
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
43. The metrics include a number of aspects relevant to equalities such as single sex
accommodation. Further analysis and monitoring is carried out at a more detailed
level to assess if there any equalities implications of different plans and strategies,
including relevant EHAs.
Partnership Working and associated issues
44. Delivering improvement in health and care requires effective partnership working from
all partners and parts of the health and care system given the inter-relationship
between the different elements.

BETTER CARE FUND

Metric

Target

♦ METRIC 1: Permanent admissions of older people
(aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing care
homes, per 100,000 population, per year

♦ METRIC 2: Proportion of older people (65 and over)
who were still at home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services

♦ METRIC 3: Delayed transfers of care from hospital
per 100,000 population, average monthly rate per
quarter
Priority

606.4

84.20%

214.66

Current
Data

2016/17 (Jan 2017)

Trend

621.8

RAG

APPENDIX 1

R

LOW

87.00%

G

382.17

R

LOW

♦ METRIC 4: Total non-elective admissions into
hospital (general and acute), per 100,000 population,
average monthly rate per quarter

♦ METRIC 5: Patient / service user experience.
Patients satisfied with support to manage long term
health conditions

♦ METRIC 6: Emergency admissions for injuries due
to falls in people aged 65 and over per 100,000
population, per month

Metric Supporting

♦ METRIC 4: Total non-elective
admissions into hospital (general and
acute), per 100,000 population, average
monthly rate per quarter

724.37

777.07

62.20%

63.60%

139.76

LOW

122.45

Scheme Details

♦ Glenfield CDU Ambulatory (Care Pathway)
♦ 7 Day Working Primary Care
♦ Rapid Assessment for Older Persons Unit
♦ Integrated Health and Care Crisis Response
♦ Loughborough Urgent Care Centre Extra
Care Pathways

LOW

Target

Current
Month
Target

1517

135

(2016/17)

(Dec '16)

The target relates to hospital discharges between October
and December 2016 followed by accommodation location
between January and March 2017. The measure is monitored
on a rolling period with the current performance relating to
hospital discharges between Aug '16 and Oct '16 and
accommodation location between November '16 and January
'17. The BCF target is met.
BCF DToC targets are quarterly and 214.66 covers the period
Oct-Dec ’16 (Q3). The Q3 performance is 382.35 days
delayed per 100,000 population aged 18+ per month for OctDec ’16. December saw the highest number of days delayed
this financial year. The main reason for delay this quarter was
A_completion_assessment, although delays for
B_patient_family_choice have also seen an increase on the
previous quarters.

A

For the period Apr-16 to Dec-16 there have been 45,939 nonelective admissions, against a target of 44,190 - a variance of
1,749. This is RAG-rated as amber. Furthermore, the forecast
for the end of the 2016/17 financial year is that there could be
61,424 admissions, against a target of 59,030. This would be
RAG-rated as amber.
LPT figures have been estimated for Sep-Dec, based on AprAug performance, due to ongoing issues with their data
flowing through to the SUS data used for calculating this
metric

G

Current data shows July – September 2015 and January –
March 2016 results published in July 2016. Target is for this
period. The target was achieved.

G

There were 167 falls leading to admissions for injury for
Leicestershire residents aged 65 and over in November 2016.
This is a rate of 122.5 per 100,000, well below the target of
139.8. This would mean a final year out-turn, based on Apr –
Nov data, of 1,401.2 which would be rated green against the
target of 1,677.1.

Current
Month
Data

163

Cumulative
Target

Cumulative
Data

1398

2138

(Apr-Dec'16)

(Apr-Dec'16)

Commentary

The admissions avoidance
target for 2016/17 has been
achieved. However, the £1m
risk pool has been released
back to the CCGs in
recognition of the general
over-performance of the total
emergency admissions
activity.

341

Better Care
Fund
Overarching
Metrics

Commentary
The current data shows the January forecast for 2016/17.
The BCF target for 16/17 is a maximum of 827 admissions.
The full year forecast is 848 admissions (or 621.8 per 100,000
population) which does not meet the BCF target.

This page is intentionally left blank

343
West Leicestershire CCG and East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG Performance
(CCG Improvement & Assessment Framework 16/17)
BETTER HEALTH

Smoking

Childhood
Obesity

Diabetes

Falls

Personalisation
and choice

Health
Inequalities

Anti-microbial
resistance

Carers

Previous Data

Target

WL CCG

DoT

ELR CCG

DoT

Maternal Smoking at Delivery

15/16
WL - 10.5%
ELR - 8.6%

Below 15/16 baseline

Q2 16/17
10%



Q2 16/17
5.82%



Percentage of children aged 10 - 11 classified as overweight or obese

14/15
WL - 29.9%
ELR - 28.2%

Below 14/15 baseline

% of people with diabetes meeting all 3 targets (HbA1c, blood pressure
& cholesterol)
People with diabetes diagnosed less than a year who attend a structure
education course

WL - 42.8%
ELR - 41.9%
WL - 0.4%
ELR - 2.1%

Emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged
65+ per 100,000 population

WL - 1729
ELR - 1828

Below 15/16 baseline

12mths to Nov 16
1623



12mths to Nov 16
1697



Utilisation of the NHS e-referral service to enable choice at first routine
appointment
Personal health budgets

WL - 58%
ELR - 67%

WL - 78% by Marc h 17
ELR - 80% by March 17

Nov 16
60%



Nov 16
68%



Percentage of deaths which take place in hospital

WL - 46.3%
ELR - 44%

Below 14/15 baseline



12mths to Q1 16/17
46%



People with a long-term condition feeling supported to manage their
condition

WL - 62.1%
ELR - 64.8%

Above 14/15 baseline



15/16
65%



Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive
conditions per 100,000 popn (Local data)
Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under
19s per 100,000 popn (Local data)

WL - 767
ELR - 807
WL - 164
ELR - 168

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually
require hospital admission per 100,000 popn (Local data)

Due March 17

Above 14/15 baseline
Due March 17

Above 14/15 baseline

12mths to Q1
16/17
45.9%
15/16
63%

Below 15/16 baseline

12mths to Dec 16
692



12mths to Dec 16
713



Below 15/16 baseline

199



130



WL - 1081
ELR - 1113

Below 15/16 baseline

1145



1141



Emergency admissions from children with lower respiratory tract
infections (LRTI) per 100,000 popn (Local data)

WL - 219
ELR - 254

Below 15/16 baseline

281



252



Anti-microbial resistance: Appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in
primary care

WL - 1.03
ELR - 1.04

1.161 or below

Nov 16
1.043



Nov 16
1.025



WL - 11.7%
ELR - 11.4%

WL - 10.2% or below
ELR - 10% or below

10.7%



11.0%



WL - 0.81
ELR - 0.83

Above 14/15 baseline

Anti-microbial resistance: Appropriate prescribing of broad spectrum
antibiotics in primary care

Quality of life for carers

Due July 17

344
BETTER CARE
Previous Data

Cancer

Cancers diagnosed at early stage - % of cancers diagnosed at stage
1&2
Cancer 62 Day Waits - % of patients receiving first definitive
treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for
suspected cancer
Cancer 2 Week Wait - % of patients seen within two weeks of an
urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
Cancer 31 Day Wait - % of patients receiving first definitive
treatment within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis
One-year survival for all cancer
Cancer patient experience

IAPT Roll Out - Proportion of people that enter treatment against
the level of need in the general population (CCG)
IAPT Recovery Rate (CCG)

Mental Health

Learning
Disability

Dementia

Maternity

75% of people with relevant conditions to access talking therapies
in 6 weeks
95% of people with relevant conditions to access talking therapies
in 18 weeks
50% of people experiencing first episode of psychosis to access
treatment within two weeks
Mental Health - Care Programme Approach (CPA) - % of patients
under adult mental illness on CPA who were followed up within 7
days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient care

Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with a learning
disability and/or autism
(per 1m pop) ALL LLR
Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP register
receiving an annual health check

WL CCG

DoT

ELR CCG

DoT

Above 2013 CCG position

2014
49.1%



2014
52.2%



WL - 79%
ELR - 78.3%

85%

YTD Dec 16
75%



YTD Dec 16
82%



93%

93%



94%



96%

94%



96%



Above 2012 CCG position

2013
69.5%



2013
70.2%



Above 2015 National
Average (8.7)

2015
8.6



2015
8.6



15%

YTD Sept 16
13.6%



YTD Sept 16
12.7%



50%

49%



56%



75%

65%



70%



95%

99%



99%



50%

Nov 16
89%



Nov 16
87%



95%

98%



98%



WL - 91%
ELR - 91%
WL - 96%
ELR - 96%
WL - 68.6%
ELR - 69.3%
National
position 8.7
WL -14.6%
ELR - 14%
WL -51%
ELR -55%
WL -45%
ELR -52%
WL -95%
ELR - 97%
WL -50%
ELR - 100%
WL -96%
ELR - 96%

39.82 by Q3 16/17 LLR (34
patients)

Q3
52.71 (45 patients)



WL -57%
ELR - 54%

Above 14/15 CCG position

15/16
31%



15/16
34%



Estimated diagnosis rates for people with dementia

WL -66.4%
ELR - 61.9%

66.7%

Dec 16
66.7%



Dec 16
62.6%



The percentage of patients diagnosed with dementia whose care
plan has been reviewed in a face-to-face review in the preceding
12 months

WL -77.9%
ELR - 73.7%

Above 14/15 CCG position

15/16
76.7%



15/16
74%



Neonatal mortality and still births per 1,000 population

WL -8.4%
ELR - 4.4%

Below 2013 CCG position

8.2



6.7





79.2



Women's experience of maternity services

England 79.7 Above 2015 England average

80

Choices in maternity services

2015 only, no England position (CCGs in
highest number of peers therefore green)

63.3

Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions

WL - 1890
ELR - 2067

Below 15/16 baseline

87%

UHL 91.2% STF by March 17 /
95% national target

WL - 1508
ELR - 1631

Below 15/16 position

2

UHL 0

YTD end Dec 16
1 (Leicester City CCG patient)



21%

EMAS / UHL 0%

18%



13%

EMAS / UHL 0%

10%



69%

EMAS - 68% STF

A&E Waiting Time - % of people who spend 4 hours or less in A&E (UHL)
Emergency admissions to any provider following a previous discharge
from any provider within 30 days (per 100,000 popn)
Trolley Waits in A&E - Number of patients who have waited over 12
hours in A&E from decision to admit to admission (UHL)
Ambulance Handover time - Number of handover delays of > 30 minutes
(UHL)
Ambulance Handover time - Number of handover delays of > 1 hour
(UHL)

Urgent and
Emergency Care

Target

WL - 46%
ELR - 48.9%

67.3

12mth to Dec 16
12mth to Dec 16

1972
2079
YTD end Dec 16
79%
12mth to Dec 16
1626



12mth to Dec 16
1597

69%

61%

59%





39%



57%

EMAS - 60% STF
49%





84%



Ambulance Clinical Quality - Category A
19 minute response time

87%

Crew Clear delays of > 30 minutes (LRI)

4%

EMAS 0%

4.3%



0.9%

EMAS 0%

0.6%



Below 15/16 Leics

10.8



Crew Clear delays of > 1 hour (LRI)
Delayed Transfers of care attributable to the NHS per 100,000
population
Population use of hospital beds following emergency admission

EMAS - 87% STF



53%

Ambulance Clinical Quality - Category A (Red 2) 8 minute response time
57%





Ambulance Clinical Quality - Category A (Red 1) 8 minute response time
67%



85%

7.5

80%

Below 15/16 CCG position



73%



345
BETTER CARE (continued)
Previous Data

Target

WL CCG

DoT

ELR CCG

DoT

Management of long term conditions (Unplanned hospitalisation
for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions per 100,000
popn)

WL - 767
ELR - 807

Below 15/16 CCG position

12mths to Dec 16
692



12mths to Dec 16
713



Patient experience of GP services

WL - 85%
ELR - 84%

Equal to or above Jan 16 CCG
position

85% (July 16)



84% (July 16)



Primary Medical
Care
Primary care access

Full provision of 100% by
April 19

90% (28 out of 31
practices) - partial
provision for
extended access
10% (3 out of 31
practices) - no
provision for
extended access

Primary care workforce
Number of GPs and Practice Nurses (full-time equivalent) per
1,000 weighted patients by CCG

Sept 15
WL - 1.03
ELR - 1.19

Higher than or equal to Sept
15

Oct 16
1.03



Oct 16
1.23



Patients waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to hospital
treatment - RTT - Incompletes (CCG)

WL - 95%
ELR - 94%

92%

YTD Dec 16
92.6%



YTD Dec 16
92.5%



227

0

WL - 95.4%
ELR - 94.5%

99%

96.2%
49 pts

100%

WL - 86%
ELR - 87%

Above Jan 16 position

No. of 52 Week Waiters - UHL only

Elective Access
Diagnostic Test Waiting Time < 6 weeks (CCG)
Cancelled Operations - % of patients re-admitted within 28 days of
cancelled op (UHL)

Dental

48% (23 out of 48
practices) - partial
provision for
extended access
52% (25 out of 48
practices) - no
provision for
extended access

Patient experience of NHS dental services

Dec 16
15 Orthodontics and 9 WL & ELR patients at
UHL
YTD Dec 16
99.3%



YTD Dec 16
99.2%

86.5%
(All patients at UHL)

89%








83%



346
PERFORMANCE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 2015/16
WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Baselin
e

Target
2014/1
5

Latest
Period

YTD

EBS6

No patient has to tolerate an urgent
operation being cancelled for the 15/16
second time - UHL only

Zero Tolerance

Zero tolerance

YTD Dec 16

3 in November

EBS1

Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA)
15/16
Breaches

6

Zero Tolerance

YTD Dec 16

4 in June, 1 in July, 2 in Aug, 20 in Sept
7 in Oct, 1 in Nov
14 in Dec

Above baseline

15/16
provisional due
May 17

Indicator

Baselin
e
Period

QUALITY DASHBOARD

Description

PROMS - Total health gain by patients
(i) hip replacement
14/15
Domain 3.1ii (ii) knee replacement
Domain 3.1iii (iii) groin hernia
Domain 3.1i

Domain 3.1iv (iv) varicose veins

Domain 5.2ii

Domain 5.3

15/16

UHL 49

less than or equal
to 49 by end of
16/17

YTD Dec 16

UHL 30

15/16

1

Zero Tolerance

YTD Dec 16

1

15/16

60

61

YTD Dec 16

43

Number of category 2 pressure ulcers

15/16

89

<=7 per month

Dec-16

5

Number of category 3 pressure ulcers

15/16

33

<=4 per month

Dec-16

2

Number of category 4 pressure ulcers

15/16

1

0

Dec-16

0

Mar-16

94.4%

94.1%

22

Red = <92%
RAG based on
previous month

Dec-16

Mar-16

Dec-16

21

15/16

5.4

<5.5

Dec-16

5.7

Dec-16

0

Health acquired infection
measure (MRSA) UHL
Health acquired infection
measure (CDIFF) UHL

(HCAI)
(HCAI)

OTHER QUALITY INDICATORS
QUAL1
Safety Thermometer - Harm Free
Safety Thermometer - New Pressure
QUAL2
Ulcers
All falls reported per 1000 bed stays
QUAL3
for patients >65years
Safety Thermometer - Catheters &
QUAL4
New UTIs
QUAL5
QUAL6

0.326
0.073
0 (Insignificant)

Serious Incidents - UHL all patients
Domain 5.2i

0.431

New Venous Thromboembolism (VTE)
Never Events

Mar-16

1

Mar-16

8

15/16

2

RAG based on
previous month
RAG based on
previous month
0

Dec-16

5

YTD Dec 16

2
(1 Nov 16, 1 July 16)

LEICESTERSHIRE MENTAL HEALTH DASHBOARD
West Leicestershire CCG and East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG Performance
CCG Improvement & Assessment Framework 16/17
Indicator

15%
(3.75% per
quarter)

14.3%

15/16

51%

50%

57%

52%

43%

49%

47%

44%

49%

15/16

55%

50%

57%

54%

61%

54%

59%

48%

15/16

45%

75%

65%

65%

63%

63%

66%

70%

65%

15/16

52%

75%

74%

75%

67%

69%

69%

65%

15/16

95%

95%

99%

99%

98%

100%

100%

99%

15/16

97%

95%

99%

99%

98%

100%

100%

15/16

50%
(3/6)

50%

No
patients

67%

75%

100%

100%

Nov 16
89%

15/16

100%
(4/4)
Feb 16

50%

100%

100%

0%

100%

100%

13.9%

13.7%

14.3%

100%

100%

90%

Sep-16

14%

15%
(3.75% per
quarter)

13.1%

13.7%

10.2%

12.4%

13.5%

13.5%

YTD Sept
16
12.7%
56%

Oct-16

Nov-16

Dec-16

95%

100%

98%

100%

Indicator Description

Latest
Baseline
Position

Outturn/
Standard

Standard/
Target

Apr-16

May-16

Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16

Sep-16

Oct-16

Nov-16

Dec-16

70%

100%

75%

Nov 16
87%

100%

98%

15/16

96.1%

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

100%

95%

91%

YTD

Apr-16

May-16

Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16

Sep-16

Oct-16

Nov-16

98%

Dec-16

45.68

43.34

39.82

45.68

43.34

39.82

52.71
45 patients across all LLR, 17 of
which from WL

54
49 patients across all LLR, 15 of
which from WL

52.71
45 patients across all LLR, 17 of
which from WL

52.71
45 patients across all LLR, 17 of
which from WL

54
49 patients across all LLR, 15 of
which from WL

52.71
45 patients across all LLR, 17 of
which from WL

2016/17

Standard/
Target

Apr-16

15/16

66.4%

66.7%

64.2%

14/15

77.9%

Above
14/15
levels

May-16

Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16

Sep-16

Oct-16

Nov-16

Dec-16

63.7%

63.6%

63.6%

64.0%

64.8%

65.8%

66.3%

66.7%

76.69%
15/16 QOF

16/02/2017

YTD

14/15

54%

Above
14/15 levels

YTD

34% (15/16)

Standard/
Target

Outturn/
Standard

31% (15/16)

YTD

99%

Standard/
Target

100%

Estimated diagnosis rates for people with
dementia
The percentage of patients diagnosed with
dementia whose care plan has been
reviewed in a face-to-face review in the
preceding 12 months

Aug-16

Outturn/
Standard

97%

Indicator Description

Jul-16

Mostly meeting expectations (OCT-16)
75% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for Out of Area Placements, weighted to reflect
preparedness for transformation

100%

Above
14/15
levels

Jun-16

Mostly meeting expectations
75% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for Out of Area
Placements, weighted to reflect preparedness for transformation

96%

57%

15/16

May-16

Requires Improvement (OCT-16)
48% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for Crisis Care, weighted to reflect preparedness for
transformation

95%

14/15

YTD Sept
16
13.6%

Apr-16

Requires Improvement (Oct 16)
48% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for Crisis Care,
weighted to reflect preparedness for transformation

96%

2016/17

YTD

Requires Improvement (OCT-16)
35% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for C&YP MH, weighted to reflect preparedness for
transformation

15/16

Reliance on specialist inpatient care for
people with a learning disability and/or
autism (per 1m pop) LLR total

Dec-16

Meeting expectations (Oct 16)
85% compliance with a self-assessed list of minimum service expectations for C&YP MH,
weighted to reflect preparedness for transformation

Latest
Baseline
Position

Learning Disability

12.2%

Nov-16

Mental Health - Care Programme Approach
(CPA) - % of patients under adult mental
illness on CPA who were followed up within
7 days of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care

Proportion of people with a learning
disability on the GP register receiving an
annual health check

Dementia

13.5%

Oct-16

347

Out of area placements for acute mental
health inpatient care - transformation

Sep-16

Outturn/
Standard

Crisis care & liaison mental health services
transformation

Aug-16

Latest
Baseline
Position

Children & young people's mental health
services transformation

Jul-16

Standard/
Target

14.6%

Jun-16

Outturn/
Standard

15/16

May-16

Latest
Baseline
Position

Apr-16

Latest
Baseline
Position

50% of people experiencing first episode of
psychosis to access treatment within two
weeks

Standard/
Target

Mental Health

IAPT Recovery Rate (CCG)
75% of people with relevant conditions to
access talking therapies in 6 weeks
95% of people with relevant conditions to
access talking therapies in 18 weeks

Outturn/
Standard

IAPT Roll Out - Proportion of people that
enter treatment against the level of need in
the general population (CCG)

East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG

Latest
Baseline
Position

Indicator Description

West Leicestershire CCG

Apr-16

15/16

61.9%

66.7%

60.5%

14/15

73.7%

Above
14/15 levels

May-16

Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16

Sep-16

Oct-16

Nov-16

Dec-16

60.3%

61.6%

61.9%

62.6%

62.8%

62.8%

63.3%

63.0%

74.04%
15/16 QOF

YTD

People with a high anxiety score from
Annual Population Survey. % of
respondents scoring 6-10 to the question
"Overall, how anxious did you feel
yesterday?" where 0 is “not at all
satisfied/happy/anxious/worthwhile” and
10 is “completely

Standard/
Target

Age-standardised mortality rate from
suicide and injury of undetermined intent
per 100,000 pop

Outturn/
Standard

Self Harm, Suicide & Anxiety

Emergency Hospital Admissions for
Intentional Self-Harm, all ages per 100,000
popn

Latest
Baseline
Position

Public Health Outcomes Framework

13/14

Leics 111.3
England 204

Below
13/14
levels

14/15
Leics 126.4
England 191.4

2012-14

Leics 9.6
England 10

Below 1214 levels

2013-15
Leics 9.3
England 10.1

14/15

Leics 18.1
England 19.4

Below
14/15
levels

Very low
34%
Estimates of Anxiety from the Annual
Population Survey (APS) Personal Wellbeing dataset

April
2011 to
March
2014

Low 21%
Medium
22%
High 23%

Higher than
baseline April 2012
to March
2015
Lower than
baseline

15/16
Leics 16.8
England 19.4

39%
21%
20%
20%

348

16/02/2017

PUBLI
CHEALTHANDPREVENTI
ONI
NDI
CATORS:
LEI
CESTERSHI
RE
PUBLI
CHEALTHANDPREVENTI
ONI
NDI
CATORS

-si
mi
l
art
o

-hi
ghert
han

p

0.
1i
i
-Li
f
eexpect
ancyatbi
r
t
h(
Femal
e)

2013-15

84.
5

83.
9

A

Hi
gh

2.
02i
-Br
east
f
eedi
ng-br
east
f
eedi
ngi
ni
t
i
at
i
on 2014/
15

74.
3 74.
4

G

Hi
gh

0.
1i
i
-Li
f
eexpect
ancyatbi
r
t
h(
Mal
e)

2013-15

80.
2

80.
5

G

Hi
gh

2.
03-Smoki
ngst
at
usatt
i
meofdel
i
v
er
y

2015/
16

11.
1 10.
0*

G

Low

4.
8

5.
0

L

None

2.
04-Under18c
oncept
i
ons

2014

24.
4 18.
5

G

2.
06i
-Chi
l
dexces
swei
ghti
n45and1011
y
earol
ds-45y
earol
ds

2015/
16

20.
5 21.
3

A

Low

2.
06i
i
-Chi
l
dexc
esswei
ghti
n45and1011
2015/
16
y
earol
ds-1011y
earol
ds

31.
3 31.
3

G

Low

2.
12-Exc
esswei
ghti
nAdul
t
s

2013-15

64.
8 64.
7

G

Low

2.
13i
-Per
cent
ageofphy
si
c
al
l
yac
t
i
v
eand
i
nact
i
v
eadul
t
s-ac
t
i
veadul
t
s

2015

57.
0 59.
5

G

Hi
gh

2.
13i
i
-Per
c
ent
ageofphysi
cal
l
yact
i
v
eand
i
nact
i
v
eadul
t
s-i
nac
t
i
veadul
t
s

2015

28.
7 26.
0

G

Low

2.
14-Smoki
ngPr
ev
al
enc
ei
nadul
t
s-c
ur
r
ent
2015
s
moker
s(
APS)

16.
7 17.
4

A

Low

2.
15i
-Suc
cess
f
ul
c
ompl
et
i
onofdr
ug
t
r
eat
ment-opi
at
euser
s

2015

7.
4

R

2.
15i
i
-Succ
essf
ul
compl
et
i
onofdr
ug
t
r
eat
ment-nonopi
at
euser
s

2015

39.
2 40.
5*

G

Hi
gh

2.
18-Admi
s
si
onepi
sodesf
oral
cohol
r
el
at
ed
2014/
15
c
ondi
t
i
ons-nar
r
owdef
i
ni
t
i
on(
Per
s
ons
)

554.
0 595.
9

R

Low

2.
20i
-Cancersc
r
eeni
ngc
ov
er
age-br
eas
t
c
ancer

2016

75.
5 84.
0

G

Hi
gh

2.
20i
i
-Canc
ers
cr
eeni
ngcov
er
age-cer
v
i
c
al
2016
c
ancer

72.
7 77.
7

G

Hi
gh

2.
22i
v-Cumul
at
i
veper
cent
ageoft
heel
i
gi
bl
e
2013/
14popul
at
i
onaged4074of
f
er
edanNHSHeal
t
h
15/
16
Checkwhor
ec
ei
vedanNHSHeal
t
hChec
k

55.
0 42.
2

R

Hi
gh

2.
23i
i
-Sel
f
r
epor
t
edwel
l
bei
ng-peopl
ewi
t
ha
2015/
16
l
owwor
t
hwhi
l
es
cor
e

3.
8

N

0.
2i
i
i
-Sl
opei
ndexofi
nequal
i
t
yi
nl
i
f
eexpect
ancy
atbi
r
t
hwi
t
hi
nEngl
i
s
hl
oc
al
aut
hor
i
t
i
es,basedon 2012-14
l
oc
al
depr
i
vat
i
ondec
i
l
eswi
t
hi
neachar
ea(
Mal
e)

6.
5

6.
2

H

None

1.
16-Ut
i
l
i
s
at
i
onofout
doorspac
ef
or
exer
c
i
s
e/
heal
t
hr
eas
ons

17.
9

21.
4

G

Hi
gh

1647.
0

1888.
9

G

Hi
gh

Mar2014Feb2015

3.
02-Chl
amydi
adet
ec
t
i
onr
at
e(
1524yearol
ds)
2015
(
Per
s
ons
)

3.
04-HI
Vl
at
edi
agnosi
s

4.
02-Pr
opor
t
i
onoff
i
v
eyearol
dchi
l
dr
enf
r
ee
f
r
om dent
al
dec
ay

2013-15

2013-15

2014/
15

4.
04i
-Under75mor
t
al
i
t
yr
at
ef
r
om al
l
car
di
ov
asc
ul
ardi
s
eases(
Per
sons)

2013-15

4.
05i
-Under75mor
t
al
i
t
yr
at
ef
r
om c
ancer
(
Per
s
ons
)

2013-15

42.
2

3.
9

92.
8

68.
8

56.
9

4.
1

71.
6

62.
0

R

R

R

G

Low
Low
Hi
gh

Low
Low

133.
8

124.
5

G

4.
06i
-Under75mor
t
al
i
t
yr
at
ef
r
om l
i
verdi
s
ease
2013-15
(
Per
s
ons
)

17.
8

13.
8

G

Low

4.
07i
-Under75mor
t
al
i
t
yr
at
ef
r
om r
espi
r
at
or
y
di
s
eas
e(
Per
s
ons
)

2013-15

24.
1

24.
0

G

Low

4.
09i
-Exces
sunder75mor
t
al
i
t
yr
at
ei
nadul
t
s
wi
t
hs
er
i
ousment
al
i
l
l
nes
s

2014/
15

370.
0

362.
9

H

None

4.
10-Sui
c
i
der
at
e(
Per
s
ons)

2013-15

9.
0

9.
3

A

Low

I
ndi
cat
or

Per
i
od Tar
getVal
ue

6.
8*

n/
a

DOT

RAG

p

Val
ue

Heal
t
hi
mpr
ovement

Tr
end

p

Tar
get

4.
01-I
nf
antmor
t
al
i
t
y

Heal
t
hcar
eandpr
emat
ur
emor
t
al
i
t
y

-l
owert
hanc
ompar
at
or

Per
i
od

0.
2i
i
i
-Sl
opei
ndexofi
nequal
i
t
yi
nl
i
f
eexpect
ancy
atbi
r
t
hwi
t
hi
nEngl
i
s
hl
oc
al
aut
hor
i
t
i
es,basedon
2012-14
l
oc
al
depr
i
vat
i
ondec
i
l
eswi
t
hi
neachar
ea
(
Femal
e)

RAG

–bet
t
ert
han

*=Val
uef
orLei
ces
t
er
s
hi
r
eandRut
l
andc
ombi
ned.n/
a=Val
uecannotbecal
c
ul
at
edasnumberofcasesi
st
oosmal
l

P
DOT

-s
i
mi
l
art
o

↑-improving/increasingtrend↓-deteriorating/decreasingtrend→ -nochangeintrend⃝ -n/a

Tr
end

Low

Hi
gh

349

Heal
t
hpr
ot
ect
i
on Wi
der

Over
ar
chi
ngi
ndi
cat
or
s

I
ndi
cat
or

–wor
s
et
hant
ar
get

This page is intentionally left blank

351

Agenda Item 17

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
ENTER & VIEW OF URGENT CARE CENTRES IN LEICESTERSHIRE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to present the findings of Healthwatch
Leicestershire’s (HWL) visit to four Urgent Care Centres (UCCs)/ Walk in Centres
across Leicestershire.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

Under the Healthwatch regulations, local Healthwatch has a statutory power to
enter and view providers so that our authorised representatives can observe care
being delivered and listen to the experiences of people that receive health and
social care services. Organisations must allow an enter and view visit to observe
activities on premises controlled by the provider as long as this does not affect the
provision of care or the privacy and dignity of people using services.

3.

Members of the public volunteer are trained to become Authorised Representatives
to carry out visits on behalf of Healthwatch Leicestershire.

Background
4.

Enter & View visits are conducted by a small team of trained volunteers, with
Healthwatch staff, who are prepared as ‘Authorised Representatives’ to conduct
visits to health and social care premises to find out how they are being run and
make recommendations where there are areas for improvements.
Enter and view is the opportunity for Healthwatch Leicestershire to:
 Enter publicly funded health and social care premises to see and hear
consumer experiences about the service
 Observe how the service is delivered, often by using a themed approach
 Collect the views of service users (patients and residents) at the point of
service delivery including staff views
 Collect the views of carers and relatives
 Observe the nature and quality of services
 Collect evidence-based feedback
 Report to providers, the Care Quality Commission (CQC), Local Authorities,
Commissioners, Healthwatch England and other relevant partners.

5.

Enter & View visits are carried out as ‘announced visits’ where arrangements are
made between the Healthwatch team and the service provider, or if certain
circumstances dictate as ‘unannounced’ visits.

352

6.

The aims of the visits were to:
 View an Urgent Care Centre and how it works
 Observe the delivery of care to patients
 Observe what support is used by the centre for patients
 Capture the experience of patients, their families or carers and staff of an
Urgent Care Centre

7.

This report summarises our observations and themes from Enter & Views in four
UCCs. Over the four visits we spoke to 45 patients and 10 staff members. The four
UCCs visited in Leicestershire were:
 Loughborough - Friday 28 October
 Oadby, Market Harborough and Melton Mowbray - Friday 4 November

8.

A large proportion of the visit was observational, involving the authorised
representatives observing the surroundings to gain an understanding of how
patients engaged with staff members and the facilities.

9.

At the end of each visit, we discussed our findings with the providers who were
able to provide clarity on some of our observations.

Summary of findings
10. Following the visits, we have collated the findings that emerged across all four
UCCs so that these can be considered and taken forward by all the providers across
Leicestershire.
(a) From the data captured, patients were unsure what illnesses and injuries
can be treated at an UCC.
(b) The majority of patients had not heard of the NHS Now App.
(c) Patients did not know the process for triage or have a good understanding of
the NHS 111 service. Information about services were not displayed
prominently in all of the UCCs.
(d) Patients were unaware of the opening hours for the UCCs and whether x-ray
facilities were provided.
(e) From the data captured, patients had either been unsuccessful in getting a
GP appointment that day or at short notice and had therefore made the
decision to visit the UCC for immediate treatment.
(f) Although local late night pharmacy information was available on asking, this
was not displayed in the waiting areas.
Report recommendations
11. The individual recommendations can be found in the full report after the summary
of each visit.
Recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board
2

353

12. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
I. Note the findings from the visits.
II. Comment on the findings that refer to the NHS App and information
regarding pharmacies.
III. Note that there are four separate sets of recommendations from each UCC
for commissioners and providers to address.
Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director
Telephone: 0116 257 5040
Email: Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
applies to all functions of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality
Act 2010. Schedule 19 list does not include Healthwatch England or Local
Healthwatch organisations, however as bodies carrying out a public function using
public funding we are subject to the PSED general duty.

2.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and
social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise
the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in
service commissioning and delivery.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

355

Enter & View Report
Urgent Care Centres

28 October & 4 November 2016

356
Enter & View Report

Acknowledgements
Healthwatch Leicestershire would like to thank the service providers, patients and Urgent
Care Centre staff for their contribution to the Enter & View Programme.

Disclaimer
Please note that this report relates to findings observed on Friday 28 October 2016 and
Friday 4 November 2016. Our report relates to this specific visit to this service and is not
representative of the experiences of all patients and staff, only an account of what was
observed and contributed at the time.

What is Healthwatch?
Healthwatch is the independent consumer champion to gather
and represent the views of the public. We have significant statutory
powers to ensure the voice of the consumer is strengthened and
heard by those who commission, deliver and regulate health and
care services. Part of the local Healthwatch Programme is to carry out
Enter & View visits.

What is Enter & View?
Enter & View visits are conducted by a small team of trained volunteers, with Healthwatch
staff, who are prepared as ‘Authorised Representatives’ to conduct visits to health and social
care premises to find out how they are being run and make recommendations where there
are areas for improvements.

Enter & View is the opportunity for Healthwatch Leicestershire to:
§§ Enter publicly funded health and social care premises to see and hear consumer
experiences about the service
§§ Observe how the service is delivered, often by using a themed approach
§§ Collect the views of service users (patients and residents) at the point of service delivery
including staff views
§§ Collect the views of carers and relatives
§§ Observe the nature and quality of services
§§ Collect evidence-based feedback
§§ Report to providers, the Care Quality Commission (CQC), Local Authorities,
Commissioners, Healthwatch England and other relevant partners.
2

357
Enter & View Report

Enter & View visits are carried out as ‘announced visits’ where arrangements are made
between the Healthwatch team and the service provider, or if certain circumstances dictate
as ‘unannounced’ visits.
Enter & View visits can happen if people tell us there is a problem with a service but, equally,
they can occur when services have a good reputation – so we can learn about and share
examples of what they do well from the perspective of people who experience the service
first hand.

Purpose of the visit
§§ View an Urgent Care Centre and how it works
§§ Observe the delivery of care to patients
§§ Observe what support is used by the centre for patients
§§ Capture the experience of patients, their families or carers and staff of an Urgent Care
Centre

Strategic drivers
§§ Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) has a focus on promoting pathways of access to
pharmacies, Urgent Care Centres, Out of Hours availability and NHS 111 service.
§§ During our Summer Tour1 last year, we found 40% of people were unsure where to find
their nearest Urgent Care Centre (UCC). We have used that insight to design a new leaflet
‘#YourVoiceCounts’2 to raise awareness about how to access these vital services which
was distributed during our Summer Tour 2016.
§§ We wanted to see an UCC working first hand and to find out if the people that use the UCC
are using the right service for their treatment.

1

https://goo.gl/HkgJfD

2

https://goo.gl/MDhrFP

3

358
Enter & View Report

Methodology
All the Enter and View visits were announced.
This report summarises our observations and themes from Enter & Views in four UCCs.
Over the four visits we spoke to 45 patients and 10 staff members. The four UCCs visited in
Leicestershire were:
§§ Loughborough Urgent Care Centre - Friday 28 October 2016
§§ Oadby Urgent Care Centre - Friday 4 November 2016
§§ Market Harborough District Hospital - Friday 4 November 2016
§§ Melton Mowbray Hospital - Friday 4 November 2016
The visits took place on two separate Fridays due to authorised representatives capacity
and availability. All the visits took place between 4pm – 7pm. We were aware that some of the
UCCs opened at 5pm. By starting our visits at 4pm, we were able to make our observations
and see any handovers that took place.
We contacted the providers for the services to arrange pre-meetings. We met with the Vocare
Clinical and Operational Lead and the staff team a couple of weeks before our visits. We were
able to discuss what our plans would be for the three centres (Oadby, Market Harborough and
Melton Mowbray) we were to visit in East Leicestershire.
We contacted the providers for Loughborough UCC to see if they wanted a pre-meeting
before our visit but they did not feel that this was necessary.
On the day of our visits to each UCC we met with staff members before we conducted our
visit. We created a survey that we used to ask patients about their experiences of the service.
The questions focused on waiting times, access, reasons for attending the UCC and patient
information. The authorised representatives explained to everyone they spoke to why they
were there and left them with a Healthwatch Leicestershire leaflet.
A large proportion of the visit was observational, involving the authorised representatives
observing the surroundings to gain an understanding of how patients engaged with staff
members and the facilities.
At the end of each visit, we discussed our findings with the providers who were able to
provide clarity on some of our observations.

4

359
Enter & View Report

Description of the Urgent Care Centres in
Leicestershire
Urgent Care Centres treat patients for injuries and illnesses that require immediate attention,
but are not life threatening. Urgent care centres offer access to a range of treatment for minor
illnesses and injuries including, lacerations, stomach upsets, burns and strains.
Key:



Urgent Care Centres

Melton
Charnwood
North West
Leicestershire

Melton Mowbray
Hospital

Loughborough UCC

Hinckley & Bosworth

Leicester
Blaby

Oadby
&
Wigston

Harborough

Market Harborough
District Hospital

Oadby UCC

At the time of our visit, the evidence is that the UCCs provides a very good standard of care.
The majority of the patients that we spoke to were very positive about their experience at the
UCC and the treatment they had received.
The main body of our report is divided into four individual sections for the four UCCs that
we visited. The results of each individual visit are provided, including; access to the UCC,
reception and waiting areas, information for patients, patient facilities and what patients told
us about the services. We have also listed recommendations for each separate service.
5

360
Enter & View Report

Service Provider Feedback
This report was agreed with both service providers as factually accurate and their full
responses can be found in the report.
Derbyshire Health United (DHU) Health Care CIC said that they look forward to continuing a
good relationship with HWL in the future.
Northern Doctors Urgent Care Limited (Vocare) thanked the Enter and View team for
conducting the visit and appreciated the useful feedback and comments provided.

Overall summary of findings
Following the visits, we have collated the findings that emerge across all four UCCs so that
these can be considered and taken forward by all the providers across Leicestershire as
follows:
1.

All patients were seen within two hours of arriving at an UCC. We saw evidence that
children and older people were given priority if necessary.

2. From the data captured, patients were unsure what illnesses and injuries can be treated
at an UCC.
3.

Water was available to all patients at all UCCs. However, patients told us that they would
like hot drink/ vending machine facilities available after 5pm.

4. The majority of patients had not heard of the ‘NHS Now’ App.
5.

Patients did not know the process for triage or have a good understanding of the NHS 111
service. Information about the NHS 111 service was not displayed prominently in all of the
UCCs.

6. We saw evidence of clean and welcoming reception and waiting areas.
7.

Patients were unaware of the opening hours for the UCCs and whether X-ray facilities
were provided.

8. From the data captured, patients had either been unsuccessful in getting a GP
appointment that day or at short notice and had therefore made the decision to visit the
UCC for immediate treatment.
9. Although local late night pharmacy information was available on asking, this was not
displayed in the waiting areas.
10. Dedicated noticeboards with information about UCC services available for patients were
not available in all the UCCs.

6

361
Enter & View Report

Results of Individual Visits
Loughborough Urgent Care Centre
Address

Loughborough Urgent Care Centre Hospital Way
Loughborough.
Leicestershire
LE11 5JY

Service Provider

DHU Health Care CIC

Service Commissioner

West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

Date and time of visit

Friday 28 October 2016
4pm-7pm

Authorised
representatives
undertaking the visit

2 – Authorised Representatives
1 – Staff Lead

Services available
Loughborough UCC is open 24 hours all year round. X-ray facilities are available between
9am-5pm, 7 days a week except on bank holidays which is between 10am-2pm.

Access to Loughborough UCC
Loughborough Urgent Care Centre (UCC) is based at Loughborough Hospital, which is a
community hospital with two inpatient wards.
The Loughborough UCC is well signposted
from the hospital road entrance. There is
a large free car park directly outside the
entrance to the Loughborough UCC with
disabled spaces and well-marked off drop off
zones. The Loughborough UCC is accessed
via two large automatic doors. We observed
patients accessing the centre with ease. In the
hospital entrance, there were wheelchairs
available for patient use.

7

362
Enter & View Report

Reception and waiting area
The Healthwatch team was given a friendly
and warm welcome by the receptionists and
staff on arrival. There were two receptionists
on duty and we observed that patients were
given a form to fill in on arrival and were
asked to wait to be seen. The reception desk
had two levels – a higher and lower section.
There was a hearing loop sign to indicate that
this was in operation.
There were ample seats available in the
seating area. The chairs were clean and had
no rips or tears in the padding. We did note
that there were no high back chairs available.
On tables, there was a variety of magazines
available for patients to read.
We noted that there was a large television
in the waiting room that was not in use. We
asked the staff if the television was ever used
and were told that it was not.

Information for patients and
visitors
There is a large noticeboard in the waiting
area with patient information about the
services available. The notices were
informative, although we did not observe any
patients reading the notices during our visit.
The majority of patients were seen between
30 minutes and 2 hours. There was no
information on estimated waiting times
displayed in the Loughborough UCC but
there was a sign to indicate that waiting times
may vary. Some patients felt that they waited
a long time and would have liked to have
the estimated waiting time on display. We
also observed that there was no clock in the
reception area.

8

363
Enter & View Report

We noted that patients were able to leave comments or complaints in a number of ways.
There was a Care Quality Commission (CQC) comments box on the reception desk inviting
people to ‘tell us about your care’. Near to the door, there were DHU Health Care CIC (who
are the providers) information leaflets and feedback postcards available, that people could
complete to leave their feedback.

Patient facilities
There was an area for small children with
a colourful wall mural and small seating
area. There were colouring pens and paper
available. We observed families using this
area.
The Woman’s Royal Voluntary Services
(WRVS) run a coffee shop at the hospital. The
coffee shop is not open after 5pm. A water
machine is available to patients, however
there are no hot drinks facilities or vending
machines available when the WRVS coffee
bar is closed. Patients and their relatives told
us that they would like to be able to get a hot
drink in the UCC whilst waiting to be seen.
Male, female, disabled toilets and baby changing facilities were clearly labelled and accessible
from the waiting area. It was noted that the disabled toilet door closure was not working. This
meant that the door did not close completely unless anyone was using it. As the toilets all had
eco lighting that shut off when the facilities are not in use, this meant that the light remained
on and patients were unsure if anyone was already inside.
Inside the disabled toilets were two bins for different waste, however there were no signs to
indicate to patients which bin to use.
We did not see a list of late night pharmacies on display. We asked the staff if they provide this
information and we were able to obtain a list from the reception staff. However, there are no
notices to let patients know this.

9

364
Enter & View Report

What patients told us

 18

We spoke to 18 patients
during our visit.

Patients were very complimentary about the staff customer care.
Over a third of patients (7) had visited the UCC before. Nine patients were at the UCC because
they were unable to access an appointment at their own GP Practice and felt that they needed
treatment that day so self-referred to the UCC.
Three of the patients were children who had been referred directly to the UCC from their
secondary school due to injuries sustained that afternoon. They all reported that they had a
positive experience at the UCC.
There were a number of students from Loughborough University who had been to see a GP
and had been referred to Leicester Royal Infirmary A&E rather than the UCC. These students
told us that they had decided that their conditions were not life threatening and had made their
own decision to come to the UCC instead of going to A&E as they felt that the UCC was the most
appropriate service for them.
Patients told us that they were unsure what the X-ray facilities times were and the opening times
for the UCC – even though the UCC is open 365 days a year.
All of the patients that we spoke to had no knowledge of the ‘NHS Now’ App.

Recommendations
This report highlights the good practice that we observed and reflects the
appreciation that patients felt about the care and support provided. The
following recommendations reflect the findings from the Enter & View visit.
We have included the service provider response below each recommendation where
available.
1. Review signage and consider displaying X-ray facilities times for patients and a sign that
indicates the UCC is a 24-hour service open all year round.
We are putting signs up regarding opening times for x-ray facilities and that the UCC
is open 24/7.

10

2.

Consider a larger display for treatment times and a list of what can be treated at an UCC.
We are putting signs up regarding treatment times although will be approximate.

3.

Review the use of the television in the waiting area.
This is being picked up with the supplier (Pro Vision) and taken forward.

365
Enter & View Report

4.

Consider installing a clock in the waiting area.
We are currently looking into the purchase and installation of a clock.

5.

Explore options for having a coffee/ drinks machine available in the waiting area.
This is ongoing, but needs further investigation in relation to the cost involved and
any health and safety implications.

6.

Explore ways of providing patients with information on NHS 111 and the process for triage.
We are putting some promotional leaflets etc within the waiting area and perhaps a
small display with the patient journey mapped. In the future we may ask the Patient
Experience Group to carry out some form of educational training and information
sharing with patients about NHS 111 and when to call etc.

7.

Display the list of late night pharmacies prominently in the waiting area.
A poster is being created to list opening times and will be displayed in the waiting area.

8.

Fix the disabled toilet door and include signs for the waste bins.
The estates department have been contacted regarding the problem with the door
and for a resolution as soon as possible.

Additional feedback
In addition to providing responses to the recommendations above, the service provider also
gave us an update on other issues raised in the report.
1.

Orange bags for clinical waste were used for the bin in the disabled toilet instead of black.
The estates department have been contacted as they provide the cleaning services to
ensure this does not happen again.

2. There were two bins for different waste in the toilets, however there were no signs to
indicate to patients which bin to use.
We are currently looking into the provision of signage. Signage for all the bins within
the LUCC is being updated.
3. Patients said that they were unsure what times the X-ray facilities are available and it
would be a good idea if the information rolling loop could be reinstated.
If the TV in the waiting room is not reinstalled it will be removed and an LED message
board will be sourced which could include all the relevant information including
waiting times. Alternative are currently being looked into.
4. There were no high back chairs available in the waiting area.
This issue will be investigated regarding cost.
5. Patients were not aware of the NHS Now app and there was no advertisement or
promotion of it within the waiting area.
We have started to look at the app and how it can be promoted.

11

366
Enter & View Report

Oadby Urgent Care Centre
Address

Oadby Urgent Care Centre
18 The Parade
Oadby
LE2 5BJ

Service Provider

Northern Doctors Urgent Care Limited (Vocare)

Service Commissioner

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical
Commissioning Group

Date and time of visit

Friday 4 November 2016
4pm-7pm

Authorised
representatives
undertaking the visit

3 – Authorised Representatives
1 – Staff Lead

Services available
Oadby UCC is open from 8am to 9pm
Monday to Friday and 8am to 8pm Saturdays,
Sundays and Bank Holidays. There are no
X-ray facilities available.

Access to Oadby UCC
Oadby UCC provides urgent care for minor
injuries and illnesses for the residents of
Oadby and the surrounding areas.
The authorised representatives found Oadby
UCC difficult to find. A covered walkway
leads from The Parade to the UCC entrance.
The sign is small and above eye level. One
small sign opposite points directly to the
walkway. Neither this sign nor the signs at
the centre entrance indicate the medical
services provided.
When driving to Oadby UCC the signage
is similarly problematic. There is a sign

12

367
Enter & View Report

directing traffic for the UCC towards the town
centre but once you have turned into the
Parade the next small sign is obscured by
leaves on a nearby tree.
There is ample free parking on two car parks
at Sandhurst street and East street (3 hours
free) and free on street parking on the Parade.
There is a small free car park (11 spaces) and
one for Oadby UCC but it is difficult to gain
access, which is via the residential area
behind the UCC.
There is one disabled parking space. This could be particularly difficult for patients with
mobility issues.

Reception and waiting area
Oadby UCC is located in a single storey building and initial access is via automatic external
doors. The inner doors are heavy and difficult to open. There is a notice to tell people to
knock on the window if they need assistance with the door. The opening hours for Oadby
UCC are clearly displayed.
The receptionist and the centre manager were pleasant, helpful and welcoming. We
observed patients being greeted on arrival and they were given a form to complete. (Except
for those with appointments made via NHS 111). The form included a voluntary description
of symptoms. The centre manager said the receptionists could judge if they needed to ‘jump
the queue’ from patients’ appearance and stated symptoms. Depending on their symptoms,
patients were booked to see a GP or an Emergency Care Practitioner.
A notice on the reception stated that waiting time was currently 20 minutes. Whilst we were
there, we did not observe anyone waiting this long.
The rows of chairs in the waiting area are well spaced with room for pushchairs or
wheelchairs. None of the chairs had arms but when we raised this with staff at the end of
the visit, we were told that chairs with arms were available from one of the treatment rooms.
There were no tables or magazines available to patients.
There was not a separate area for children.

13

368
Enter & View Report

Information for patients and visitors
The noticeboards were all very tidy with
appropriate health information on display. For
example; Sepsis identification, Sexual Health
Services, how to make a complaint, Emergency
dental service etc. We observed a patient
reading the notices during our visit.
However, there was very little information for
patients about what services were available and
what conditions could be treated at an UCC.

Patient facilities
There is a water machine in the reception
office. We were told that due to misuse by some patients, patients have to request a drink
from a staff member. There is a sign notifying patients. There is no onsite access to hot drinks
or snacks for patients.
There are no X-ray facilities for patients. We asked the staff about this and were told that the
current building would not be suitable to provide X-rays as it is too small.
There are two toilets off the reception area. Both of the toilets were clean. There was a third
toilet in the treatment area for use of those giving samples.

What patients told us

 18

We spoke to 18 patients
during our visit.

Patients who had previously visited Oadby UCC shared positive experiences of the centre
and clinical staff. The staff told us that it was quieter than normal for a Friday night.
Two thirds of patients (12) had visited Oadby UCC before. 14 patients had not been in contact
with the GP before arriving at the UCC. Some of these patients reported that they had visited
Oadby UCC as they were unable to get a GP appointment at short notice.
Four patients had problems locating Oadby UCC and said that the signs are very small and
the car park is difficult to access.
Patients felt that they received a good service at Oadby UCC.
All of the patients that we spoke to had no knowledge of the ‘NHS Now’ App.
14

369
Enter & View Report

Recommendations
This report highlights the good practice that we observed and reflects the
appreciation that patients felt about the care and support provided. The
following recommendations reflect the findings from the Enter & View
visit.
We have included the service provider response below each recommendation where
available.
1.

Improve the road signage to the UCC and the exterior signs to the centre.
This is a highways issue and we are unable to influence this, we have all the original
signage from when the UCC was a GP surgery. We have recently ensured that signage
is on the end of the walk way and there is also a large sign on entrance to the car park
and on the building itself.

2.

Investigate having X-ray facilities available for patients.
There is no space to be able to install this facility within the centre and is also not part
of the contract which was procured by the CCG.

3.

Include chairs with arms in the waiting area.

4.

Review the inner door to make it easier for patients to open.
Unfortunately this is a fire door so we are restricted to keeping it closed. We have
ensured that the sign is at a height which is wheelchair friendly to try and rectify this.

5.

Investigate having a space for children in the waiting area.
Unfortuantely there is very little space in the waiting room especially on busy days,
weekends and bank holidays. We try if needed to use a spare room near reception to
sit children if they appear to be poorly.

6. Explore options for having a coffee/ drinks machine available in the waiting area.
We have previously trialed having a water machine in the waiting area and this
caused problems with water being spilt. There would be a health and safety concern
with having a hot drinks machine when there are children in the waiting room.

15

370
Enter & View Report

Market Harborough Urgent Care Centre
Address

Market Harborough District Hospital
58 Coventry Road
Market Harborough
LE16 9DD

Service Provider

Northern Doctors Urgent Care Limited (Vocare)

Service Commissioner

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical
Commissioning Group

Date and time of visit

Friday 4 November 2016
4pm-7pm

Authorised
representatives
undertaking the visit

2 – Authorised Representatives

Services available
Market Harborough UCC is open from 5pm
to 9pm Monday to Friday and 9am to 7pm
Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays. X-ray
facilities are available on weekdays between
8.30am to 5pm.
We are aware that the hospital and UCC is
due to relocate to a new build on the St Luke’s
Hospital site early in 2017.

Access to Market Harborough
UCC
Market Harborough UCC is located within
Market Harborough District Hospital.
This is an old Victorian Hospital Building,
which serves to provide out patients,
physiotherapy and a number of other clinical
services including Minor Illness/ Injury and
the Urgent Care service.

16

371
Enter & View Report

Market Harborough UCC is accessed from the small car park at the back of the main building.
The directional signage at the front of the hospital points visitors towards the rear of the
hospital building. The signs are small and the directions were unclear, especially in the
dark. It was also not clear where to progress once you enter the main corridor as there were
no internal signs to the UCC. Overall, the team found that the access and entry to Market
Harborough UCC is confusing.

Reception and waiting area
On arrival, we were not expected even though
we had made all the necessary contact and
pre-arrangements leaving us having to explain
to the receptionists and staff who we were
and that we visiting to speak with patients and
staff. We were unable to establish where the
breakdown in communication occurred.
At 5pm, the main entrance doors to the hospital
are locked. Access to Market Harborough UCC
between 5pm and 9pm is by door buzzer
operated through to the receptionist.
The reception desk is situated within the patient’s waiting room and this is where patients are
booked in and out. There is no privacy or screen from other patients waiting.
There was a white board above reception that related to staff on duty and waiting times. During
our visit this was not changed or updated after 5pm when Market Harborough UCC became
operational.
The doorway to the waiting area is accessible for wheelchairs and pushchairs.
There are individual adult sized chairs and a circular table on which was displayed several
magazines. There is a large clock in the reception area.
We noted that a hearing loop was not in operation. We were advised that a hearing loop is in
operation in the clinical rooms but not in the waiting area.
We noted that Market Harborough UCC appears tired and desperately in need of the planned
replacement. The plaster on the walls is peeling and flaking and hazard strips are plentiful on the
floors.
We noted that there was a hand sanitiser available but we did not observe anyone using this.
We noted that it is not necessarily in the right location as it is located on a far wall opposite to the
entrance door.

17

372
Enter & View Report

Information for patients and visitors
There are three noticeboards with an assortment of posters and we noted that some of which
were not up to date. The posters on two of the noticeboards were confusing as they were not
categorised by topics. The majority of posters were not laminated.
No information was observed that would provide patients with Market Harborough UCC opening
times and what services are provided.
There was an information rack on one wall in which there were an assortment of information
leaflets – including commercial material, self-care leaflets and other health care leaflets. One of the
noticeboards contained in a very neat and well-presented manner, several posters on Antibiotic
Awareness. We noted that there were two ‘NHS UCC Wheels’ promotional material hidden at the
back of the rack.
We noted that the Friends & Family Test forms were available. However, the box for completed
forms was old and faded. We did not see any information or posters on display about how to make
a complaint.

Patient facilities
Wheelchair access is available and we observed one patient wheelchair user.
There is one unisex toilet available that is old with a high cistern with a high chain that may be
difficult to some patients to reach. The toilet was clean and functional.
On asking we were shown a disabled toilet available in the decommissioned ward, although there
did not appear to be any signs advising this.

What patients told us

5

We spoke to 5 patients
during our visit.

We asked the staff if this is usual for a Friday night and were told that usually there would be 16
patients.
None of the patients had been to the GP before they arrived at Market Harborough UCC.
Patients were frustrated that they had to travel elsewhere after 4.30pm for an X-ray although the
information given on leaflets ‘states Urgent Care Centre with X-ray facilities’.
There is no doctor on site. Patients were told by NHS 111 service what was provided and at what
time the UCC was open - indicating that patients would be able to see a doctor or have an X-ray
within the UCC. This led to some patients making a 25-mile round trip and still not being seen for
an X-ray or by a doctor.
18

373
Enter & View Report

All of the patients were seen within 30 minutes. The patients that we spoke with were pleased to
be able to access the service, near to home where the wait is short.
Some patients told us that it was difficult to find unless you had visited before. One patient got lost
and was directed to the wrong hospital. Overall, those spoken to seemed to understand what the
service provided having been at least once before.
All of the patients and staff that we spoke to had no knowledge of the ‘NHS Now’ App.

Recommendations
This report highlights the good practice that we observed and reflects the
appreciation that patients felt about the care and support provided. The
following recommendations reflect the findings from the Enter & View visit.
We have included the service provider response below each recommendation where available.
1.

Keep the white board in reception up to date in line with the service being provided or
consider removing the board.

2.

Look at ways of improving communication and privacy for patients booking in and out of
reception.
This is unfortunately a space issue which will be addressed with the new build due to
move in March 2017.

3.

Remove the old posters and notices.

4. Provide and promote up to date UCC information. Provide details about the ‘NHS Now’ App,
NHS 111 and ‘Choose Better’ campaign.
		
This information has previously been available but we are unsure why it is no longer in the
waiting area. We will ensure this information is displayed.
5.

		

Review the publicity material available and clearly differentiate between the Minor illness,
Minor Injury service and UCC Services. Promote clearly which services are provided, their
opening hours and the distinction between them so that patients are less confused.
Vocare clearly display an opening sign on the outside of the building.

6. Agree delegated responsibility for the management of the shared space.
7.

Improve signage to the toilets.

8. Replace the Friends and Family Box.
9.
		

Provide information to patients on how to make a complaint.
Vocare do have a poster on their wall space on how to make a complaint.

10. Review the position of the hand sanitiser.
		 This will be addressed when the services move site in March 2017.
19

374
Enter & View Report

Melton Mowbray Urgent Care Centre
Address

Melton Mowbray Hospital
Thorpe Road
Melton Mowbray
Leicestershire
LE13 1SJ

Service Provider

Northern Doctors Urgent Care Limited (Vocare)

Service Commissioner

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical
Commissioning Group

Date and time of visit

Friday 4 November 2016
4pm-7pm

Authorised
representatives
undertaking the visit

2 – Authorised Representatives
1 – Staff Member

Services available
The UCC is open from 5pm to 9pm Monday
to Friday and 9am to 7pm Saturdays,
Sundays and Bank Holidays. There are no
X-ray facilities available.

Access to Melton Mowbray UCC
Melton Mowbray UCC is located within
Melton Mowbray Hospital. The UCC supports
patients with minor injuries, illness and urgent
care needs.
Melton Mowbray UCC is located just outside
the town centre. There is an ample size car
park directly outside the hospital entrance
and nine disabled parking spaces. On entering
Melton Mowbray UCC there is a sign about
the Minor Injury/ illness Service based at the
hospital but there is no information about
Melton Mowbray UCC and opening times.
The hospital is on one level and access is
via two large automatic doors. We observed
patients accessing the hospital with ease.
20

375
Enter & View Report

Reception and waiting area
The main reception area is very spacious
and the UCC waiting area is located just off
from the reception desk. There is a large
reception desk where patients can sign in to
Melton Mowbray UCC. There are Friends and
Family Test comment cards available at the
reception desk, which patients can complete
to share their experience of the service.
The hospital walls are painted pale blue and
the waiting area is clean and bright. There
are a number of paintings on the wall in the
waiting area. The waiting area was clean with rows of ample chairs. We did note that there
were no high back chairs in the waiting area.
There are wheelchairs available in the reception. During our visit, we observe a patient
arriving to check in who nearly fainted at the reception desk. The nurses and staff all helped
to get the patient in a wheelchair and the patient was seen straightaway.

Information for patients and visitors
In the waiting area, there is a small
freestanding noticeboard with a couple of
posters. As the hospital is a shared space,
there are a number of noticeboards with
general patient leaflets and information.
None of these are specific for Melton
Mowbray UCC.
There is a small noticeboard near the
entrance/ exit which was not well utilised.
No information was observed that would
provide patients with Melton Mowbray
UCC opening times and what services are
provided. There were no details about NHS
111 on display. We did not observe any details
about late night pharmacies. We asked the reception staff who were able to provide details of
a local late night pharmacy. However, there are no notices to let patients know this.

21

376
Enter & View Report

Patient facilities
We noted that there was a water machine
available. There were no hot drinks facilities
or a food vending machine. This was a
frustration for patients and visitors at the
hospital.
We noted that there was not a children’s
area in the waiting area. There were also no
magazines available to patients.
From the reception area, there is not a clear
sign to indicate where the toilets are. The
male and female toilets were clean and
spacious. The disabled toilet was out of order
and we were told that parts had been ordered
for the toilet. The staff were able to redirect
visitors to an alternate disabled toilet.
We noted that hand sanitisers were available for patients and visitors.
There are no X-ray facilities for patients.

What patients told us

4

We spoke to 4 patients
during our visit.

We asked the staff if this is usual for a Friday night and were told that usually there would be
16 patients.
One patients had been to the GP before they arrived at the UCC. Two of the other patients had
been advised by the GP receptionist to go to the UCC.
All of the patients located the UCC with ease.
There is no doctor on site. Patients would like to have a doctor available for serious diagnosis.
One patient would like to see the hospital turned into an A&E department due to the distance
to the closest A&E.
Patients were frustrated with the lack of a hot drink and snack machine available.
All of the patients were seen within 1 hour.
Two of the patients that we spoke to had used the ‘NHS Now’ App to find the UCC.
22

377
Enter & View Report

Recommendations
This report highlights the good practice that we observed and reflects the
appreciation that patients felt about the care and support provided. The
following recommendations reflect the findings from the Enter & View
visit.
We have included the service provider response below each recommendation where
available.
1.

Have a dedicated UCC noticeboard with details about the ‘NHS Now’ App, NHS 111,
pharmacies and the ‘Choose Better’ campaign.

2. Investigate having a space for children in the waiting area.
There is a separate children’s waiting room next to the clinical room.
3. Explore options for having a drink / vending machine available in the waiting area.
There was a vending machine in the waiting area. This area was managed by the
hospital who decided it should be removed. We do not have any influence on this.
4. Have a toilet direction sign installed in reception.
This will be passed on to NHS Property Services as we do not own the building. We are
also not the majority users of the building.
5. Display the UCC times inside and outside the building.
There is a sign on the wall outside the UCC stating the UCC opening times.
6. Consider installing a television and including magazines for patients in the waiting area.
This will be passed on to NHS Property Services as we do not own the building.

23

378

Enter & View Report
Urgent Care Centres
Distribution
The report has been distributed to the following:
§§

DHU Health Care CIC

§§

Northern Doctors Urgent Care Limited (Vocare)

§§

West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (WLCCG)

§§

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
(ELRCCG)

§§

Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT)

§§

University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL)

§§

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

§§

Leicestershire County Council (LCC)

§§

LCC Health & Wellbeing Board

§§

Overview & Scrutiny Committee (OSC)

§§

NHS England (Leicestershire and Lincolnshire) Local Area Team

§§

Healthwatch England and the local Healthwatch Network

Published on www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk

Healthwatch Leicestershire
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire
9 Newarke Street, Leicester
LE1 5SN
0116 2574 999
info@healthwatchleics.co.uk
www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk

24

379

Agenda Item 18

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF HOSPITAL DISCHARGE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to present the findings of Healthwatch
Leicestershire’s (HWL) survey, that saw HWL listen to patients, carer’s and staff
members on the issue of hospital discharge.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

In 2015, HWL’s Carers Reference Group (HWL CRG) worked closely with University
Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) NHS Trust’s Specialist Discharge Team (UHL SDT) to
increase the level of carer and family member involvement in the patient discharge
process.

3.

The exercise highlighted the need for a joined-up approach between all the
discharge teams, who are all based at different sites across the hospital Trust.

Background
4.

The aim of the Research Project was to capture the discharge experiences of
patients, carers and staff with a focus on hospitals as a care setting.

5.

To capture the three different perspectives, we developed three separate survey
Questionnaires specifically targeted at the different groups. In developing the
surveys, we consulted with:
 HWL Board members with many years’ experience of working in the public
and voluntary sector, experience in social care, service development,
commissioning and contracting, primarily around services to support carers
of people living in Leicestershire.
 Local Carer support organisations across LLR.
 Specialist Nurse for Discharge at UHL.

Emerging findings
6.

The emerging headline findings for each target group highlight many similarities
relating to their shared lived experience of hospital discharge.

Patients
7.

The emerging findings from 216 Patients responses are as follows.

380


Half of patients had been an emergency admission with a third having been
previously admitted/ discharged for the same reason.



Just over a third of patients told us they had their discharge delayed, with 41%
stating this was down to waiting for medication.



Almost two thirds of patients told us that hospital staff had not discussed their
discharge with a family member or carer.



Over two thirds of patients stated they were not offered any support for when
they got home.

Carers
8.

The emerging findings from 30 carer responses are as follows.


Just under half of carers told us they were not given information about what
would happen when the person they cared for was discharged from hospital.



Half of the carers we spoke to said that they were not involved in discussions or
the planning of discharge for the person they care for.



From the carers we spoke to, over a third rated their experience of hospital
discharge below average, with only five carers rating their experience above
average.



We asked carers how easy or difficult is it to find time to get treatment or
support for themselves. For example, to make appointments or take a break
from caring. Half of the carers that responded told us it was very or extremely
difficult. Only two carers found it extremely easy.

Staff
9.

The emerging findings from 40 staff responses are as follows.


The majority of staff we spoke to (34 out of 40) admitted that there are areas
that could be improved to benefit the patient’s discharge journey.



Almost all the staff members we spoke to (39 out of 40) told us that discharge
processes are delayed due to internal practices.



Over three quarters of staff (33 out of 40) said they are involved in the care
planning and discharge of patients on a weekly basis. However, almost half of
the staff told us that they have never had discharge training.



We asked staff how confident they were when discharging patients and found
that just over half felt very or extremely confident.



Just under a quarter of staff (9 out of 40) said they are always supported with
discharge planning, whilst seven staff members told us that they are rarely
supported.

Report recommendations

381
10. This report highlights a number of experiences and insights into how patients,
carers and staff feel about hospital discharge services.
11. We have made key strategic and practical recommendations although the full
report also contains a number of key messages that can be used to improve
experiences of discharge.
1. The issue of timings around medication to take out (TTOs) should be
addressed with some urgency, including more immediate practical steps to
examine how the overall discharge process can be speeded up and improved.
2. Hospital discharge should look the same whichever hospital setting the
patient is coming from. There should be an improved schedule and a
consistent approach to staff training relating to discharge.
3. There are many processes, people and procedures that are intertwined with
hospital discharge. There needs to be a cultural shift and greater
communication between staff teams, departments and partners working
toward an effective pathway and process for discharge.
4. Carers and family members often feel on the margins/ left out when it
comes to the care of the patient. Better information for carers and family
members, in terms of processes, timings and care should be made accessible
and explained.
5. Hospital discharge affects people’s lives in many different ways. There
should be a follow up survey specifically around hospital discharge so that
the system can continually be improved to benefit patient and carer’s
experiences.
Recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board
12. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
I. Note the findings and to urge health and social care partners to consider
actions to improve services, systems and processes outlined in the findings
report.
II. Suggest stakeholders that would welcome the presentation of this report.
Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director
Telephone: 0116 257 5040
Email: Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
applies to all functions of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality
Act 2010. Schedule 19 list does not include Healthwatch England or Local

382
Healthwatch organisations, however as bodies carrying out a public function using
public funding we are subject to the PSED general duty.
2.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and
social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise
the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in
service commissioning and delivery.

383

The Lived Experience
of Hospital Discharge
Survey of patients, carers and staff

384
Hospital Discharge Report

Foreword
This survey forms part of our programme of work in 2016/17 to
highlight the views of health and social care service users about
their experience of the local services offer.
From the key findings, we are reminded that discharge from hospital is a process that needs a
strong commitment to joined-up policies, procedures and delivery to enable quality outcomes for
patients, carers and staff. In addition, where scant regard is given to the impact of good and timely
communication; we recognise how much this can result in a negative outcome for patients and carers.
We all need to do more to ensure action throughout the discharge pathway reflects a better
understanding of its impact on patients and carers and to achieve better outcomes not only for
patients and carers but for Trusts.
Patients, carers and staff working in partnership can enable the delivery of a better and more effective
hospital discharge process. Clinicians and managers will need to show strong commitment, vision and
leadership to assist in achieving these ambitions.
In January 2017, UHL declared a System Critical Incident1 and cited that patients were experiencing
very long waits for ward beds, delayed discharge and many patients experienced ambulance handover
delays.
Our focus in this report is to capture related experiences from three key participants in the process of
hospital discharge namely, staff involved with hospital care, patients and their carers, with an aim to
help inform and improve the discharge processes.
Our findings reinforce the evidence gathered by University Hospitals for Leicester (UHL) NHS Trust
in a spot check back in September 2016, which showed that there were 60 delayed discharges, half
of which were due to internal factors. We are keen that they alongside other health and social care
partners address the concerns outlined in this report.
The full report and recommendations will be shared with the UHL Trust Board, Leicester Partnership
NHS Trust (LPT) Board and Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) subgroups and boards that
have a remit to address discharge. The findings will also be presented at the Leicestershire Health &
Wellbeing Board as well as other LLR stakeholders.
Our report will also be shared with local MPs, NHS England, Healthwatch England, neighbouring
Healthwatch and respective local and district authorities.
We are grateful to the patients, carers and staff for sharing their stories and insights.
Pat Fraser MBE, 					
Healthwatch Leicestershire Board Member		
Lead on Carers						
1

2

Fiona Barber,
Healthwatch Leicestershire Board Member
Lead on Social Care

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust press release http://alturl.com/j4rcg

385
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Contents
2

Foreword

3

Contents

4
4
5
6
8

Executive Summary
Overview
Key Headlines
Insights and Emerging Themes
Recommendations

9
9
10

Introdcution
Background and Context
Our Approach

11
11
12
19

Main findings from Patient’s
What we found
What patient’s told us
Positive experiences of discharge

21
21
22

Main findings from Carer’s
What we found
What carer’s told us

26 Main findings from Staff
26 What we found
27 What staff told us
30 Conclusion
31

Acknowledgements

3

386
Hospital Discharge Report

Executive Summary
Overview
Healthwatch Leicestershire
(HWL) is committed to
highlighting patients’
experiences of health and social
care services and believe that
every voice counts when it
comes to shaping the future of
health and social care.
This Executive summary provides an overview
of the qualitative and quantitative findings
following our surveys with patients, staff and
carers about their experiences of hospital
discharge.
We aimed our surveys at 3 target groups from
September to December 2016 and heard from
286 people, as follows:

216

patients

286

30

carer’s

responses

40

staff *

* We heard from staff members based across
various hospital sites as follows;
nn
25 Leicester Royal Infirmary
nn
nn
4 Leicester General Hospital
nn
nn

4

9

Glenfield Hospital

2

Other

“They tried to send me home
the night before with no notice.
I needed to see the consultant
prior to discharge and I had no
way of getting home as I live
over 30 minutes away by car. I
felt I had to really fight to stay the
night, I felt they didn’t understand
my point of view and that the
discharge would have been
unsafe”
Melton, 25 – 35 years Female

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

387
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Key Headlines

INTRODUCTION

The emerging headline findings for each target group highlight many similarities relating to their shared
lived experience of hospital discharge.

Almost two thirds of patients told us that
hospital staff had not discussed their
discharge with a family member or carer.

Just over a third of patients told us they had
their discharge delayed, with 41% stating this
was down to waiting for medication.

Over two thirds of patients stated they
were not offered any support for when
they got home.

Just under half of carers told us they were
not given information about what would
happen when the person they cared for was
discharged from hospital.

Half of the carers we spoke to said that
they were not involved in discussions or
the planning of discharge for the person
they care for.

From the carers we spoke to, over a third
rated their experience of hospital discharge
below average, with only five carers rating
their experience above average.

We asked carers how easy or difficult is it
to find time to get treatment or support
for themselves. For example, to make
appointments or take a break from caring.
Half of the carers that responded told us it
was very or extremely difficult.

CARER’S FINDINGS

Carer’s

The majority of staff we spoke to (34 out
of 40) admitted that there are areas that
could be improved to benefit the patient’s
discharge journey.

Almost all the staff members we spoke
to (39 out of 40) told us that discharge
processes are delayed due to internal
practices.

Over three quarters of staff (33 out of 40)
said they are involved in the care planning
and discharge of patients on a weekly basis.
However, almost half of the staff told us that
they have never had discharge training.

We asked staff how confident they were
when discharging patients and found that
just over half felt very or extremely confident.

STAFF FINDINGS

 Staff

Just under a quarter of staff (9 out of
40) said they are always supported with
discharge planning, whilst seven staff
members told us that they are rarely
supported.

5

CONCLUSION

Half of the patients had been an emergency
admission with a third having been previously
admitted/ discharged for the same reason.

PATIENT FINDINGS

 Patients

388
Hospital Discharge Report

Insights and Emerging
Themes
From the survey responses of
patients, carers and staff, the
following themes were identified
as common:
Remove the barriers
Featuring alongside all the feedback surrounding
hospital discharge, patients, carers and staff talked
about their lived experience of delayed discharge.
For example, having to wait for test results,
medication or discharge letter so that patients
could be discharged with their care plans involving
their family/carer. On too many occasions patients
have been waiting because internal systems,
processes and protocols were not aligned resulting
in wasted energy and inefficient use of resources.
The barriers that prevent timely sign off of
discharge paperwork, dispatching of medicines
for patients and the planning of effective care
packages must be identified and removed.

Coordination is key
Patients and service users assume that all health
care professionals act as ‘one team’ working
together and sharing relevant information.
Therefore, it is bewildering to them as to why joined
up working does not happen at staff handovers
between nurses and doctors, when getting
medications from the pharmacy and arranging
transport. There is a need for better coordination
and recognition that this needs to be a specific
responsibility.
Staff members and senior management within
hospitals and external partners are already aware of
the many of the issues that affect patient discharge.
Patients, carers and staff need all those involved
to adopt consistent standards. The logistics and
complexity of the issues for hospital discharge
must be managed to provide patients with better
experiences, free from unnecessary delays resulting
from ineffective joint working.
6

“I was woken up at about 2.00am
and was moved to another
ward. The next evening at about
11.00pm I was moved again to
a day ward. Then discharged
from the day ward the next day.
In fairness to the staff they were
stressed and didn’t have a clue
about my requirements. All of us
on our bay were forgotten about
for Breakfast and lunch”
Hinckley and Bosworth
55-64 years old, Female

Talk to patients
Keeping patients and their carers up to date with
timings for discharge can often place the patient
more at ease. On many occasions, patients were not
given any clear information as to why their discharge
was delayed or when issues would be resolved. They
are simply left not knowing when they will be going
home. The uncertainty increases anxiety and also
takes up energy that should be used for recovery.
Ward staff expressed concerns that they could not
confidently explain why in many cases discharge
processes are so time consuming, this leaves the
patient feeling helpless and less confident about
further messages from the staff.
Patients and carers express their frustration with
‘you said that 2 hours ago!’ resulting in high levels of
stress. This is not conductive to the environment for
recovery. This in turn impacts on staff who are then
having to deal with their uncertainties as well whilst
providing care for patients.
Health professionals need to explain discharge
processes and timelines to all patients, their family
and carers to manage expectations.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

389

STAFF FINDINGS

CARER’S FINDINGS

PATIENT FINDINGS

INTRODUCTION

Healthwatch Leicestershire

“The waiting for drugs to take home always causes delays. It is not
unusual to have to wait 6hrs or longer. A system of pre-ordering
drugs ready for discharge should be found, as this is the cause of all
discharge delays. I find it very unnecessary”

7

CONCLUSION

Hinckley and Bosworth
55-64 years old, Female

390
Hospital Discharge Report

Recommendations
This report highlights experiences and insights into how patients,
carers and staff feel about hospital discharge services.
We provide both strategic and practical
recommendations as follows:
1. Timely medication 			
The issue of timings for medication to
take out (TTOs) should be addressed with
some urgency, including more immediate
practical steps to examine how the overall
discharge process can be speeded up and
improved.
2. Training					
The experience of hospital discharge should
be the same whichever hospital setting the
patient is coming from. There should be
an improved schedule and a consistent
approach to staff training relating to
discharge. This training should have an
element of multi-disciplinary and multiagency focus.

3. Cultural change 				
There are many processes, people and procedures
that are intertwined with hospital discharge.
There needs to be a cultural shift that leads to
greater communication between staff teams,
departments and partners working toward an
effective pathway and process for discharge.
4. Inclusive approach 			
Carers and family members often feel on the
margins and left out when it comes to the care of
the patient. Better information for carers and
family members, in terms of processes, timings
and care should be made accessible and
explained.
5. Feedback loop 				
Hospital discharge affects people’s lives in
many different ways. There should be a timely
follow up survey specifically around hospital
discharge so that the system can continually
be improved to benefit patient and carer’s
experiences.

“The feedback from my operation
took place while I was still heavily
under the influence of anesthetics
and as a result was unsure what the
outcome of the operation was”
Oadby & Wigston
25-34 years old, Male

8

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

391
Healthwatch Leicestershire

INTRODUCTION

Introduction
In this report, we present our findings from the data and responses
gathered from three separate surveys of patients, carers and staff into
hospital discharge.
The report highlights the main themes that emerged from the analysis of the qualitative and quantitative
responses and presents this information by target group; Patients, Carers and Staff.

In 2015, HWL’s Carers Reference Group (HWL
CRG) worked closely with University Hospitals
of Leicester (UHL) NHS Trust the Specialist
Discharge Team (UHL SDT) to increase the level
of carer and family member involvement in the
patient discharge process.
The exercise highlighted the need for a joined-up
approach between all the discharge teams, who
are all based at different sites across the hospital
Trust.
In January 2016, HWL surveyed its members
and invited the general public to inform us about
what areas of health, wellbeing and social care
people consider a priority. This information
we used to help shape our future work plan,
campaigns, activities and programmes.
2

Unsafe Discharge for Vulnerable People http://alturl.
com/5487t

3

Safely Home: What happens when people leave hospital and
care settings http://alturl.com/r7qnh

PATIENT FINDINGS

nn Hospitals and Care in the Community; care
and treatment, waiting times, safe discharge
into community, accessible care in the home,
domiciliary services and care packages.

CARER’S FINDINGS

The findings from the 2014 Survey revealed in
detail that there was an inconsistency in how
hospitals and healthcare settings approached
discharge planning resulting in a disjointed/
disconnected offer.

A number of priorities emerged from this exercise
and informed our dedicated work streams as
follows:

The aim of this project was to capture the
discharge experiences of patients, carers and staff
with a focus on hospitals as a care setting.
UHL completed a random spot check in
September 2016, which showed that there were
60 delayed discharges. Half of these were due to
internal factors such as;

STAFF FINDINGS

Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) conducted a
study in the summer of 2014 to understand in
greater depth the impact unsafe discharge can
have for patients2. The study forms part of the
Healthwatch England’s Programme of research3.

In September 2016,
there were 60
delayed discharges

nn TTOs (to take out medicines)
nn Diagnostics
nn capacity issues with staff and medical resource.
The remainder were delays due to external factors
such as care plans or NHS delays regarding
community hospitals.

9

CONCLUSION

Background and
context

392
Hospital Discharge Report

The remainder were delays due to external
factors such as care plans or NHS delays
regarding community hospitals.
Leicestershire has one of the biggest NHS
Trusts in the country4, and as with other similar
institutions, hospital discharge process can have
significant influence on the frequency that a
patient returns to hospital. We want to better
understand the barriers and various perspectives
of hospital discharge locally.
According to NHS England5, a ‘delayed transfer of
care’ occurs when an adult inpatient in hospital
(children are excluded from this definition) is
ready to go home or move to a less acute stage
of care but is prevented from doing so (the
patient is safe to discharge/ transfer).

Our Approach
To capture the different perspectives of the
target groups, we developed three separate
Questionnaires specifically targeted at different
groups.
In developing the surveys, we were able to gather
invaluable insights, expertise and experiences to
shape our questionnaires and understand the
key issues by involving HWL Board and HWL
Carers Reference Group members: -

The challenges
Our challenge was to promote the different
surveys aimed at the three different target groups
and then combine the findings into a coherent
narrative.
Our aim was to approach various voluntary,
public and statutory organisations to help
disseminate the surveys. There were some
challenges in involving service users, staff and
carers because we did not have access to them
directly and therefore relied on the support from
providers to cascade and promote.
The online survey was the main vehicle to
capture target groups feedback. To promote the
survey,
nn we issued a media release that was sent to
various stakeholders, which was also featured
in the Leicester Mercury6
nn UHL cross promoted the surveys to their
members and social care partners.
nn UHL also posted information for their staff on
their Intranet
nn we cascaded the surveys to voluntary groups
that support carers
nn we promoted the survey and project on our
social media page and website

nn HWL Board members with many years’
experience of working in the public and
voluntary sector, experience in social care,
service development, commissioning and
contracting, primarily around services
to support carers of people living in
Leicestershire.
nn Local Carer support organisations across LLR
nn Expertise from the Specialist Nurse for
Discharge at UHL
nn Their valuable feedback gave us assurance
that we were asking the relevant and
meaningful questions.

10

4

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

5

Delayed transfers of care: a quick guide http://alturl.com/
wrfgc

6

http://alturl.com/kqdci

Healthwatch Leicestershire

What we found

Almost two thirds of patients
told us that hospital staff had not
discussed their discharge with
a family member or carer. This is
consistent with the comments from
carers that saw almost half tell us they were not
involved in discussions around the discharge of
the person they cared for.

CARER’S FINDINGS

Just over a third of patients told us
they had their discharge delayed,
with 41% stating this was down to
waiting for medication.

Over two thirds of patients stated
they were not offered any support
for when they got home. There is
a mixed message when it comes
to support. From those that were
not offered any support, a quarter did not have
anyone at home to support them. We also know
that patients and carers have commented that
more information to support groups and services
would be beneficial.

STAFF FINDINGS

Half of patients had been an
emergency admission with a third
having been previously admitted/
discharged for the same reason.
This is a deeper issue than it may seem on the
surface as there may be many reasons for a patient
to be readmitted to hospital for the same illness.
What cannot be ignored is the fact that many people
are repeatedly presenting at hospital. For example,
this may be due to people with long term conditions
or maybe partially due to poor discharge. This is
something that may need further review.

PATIENT FINDINGS

Patients and staff have both commented that
due to internal factors within the hospital, patient
discharge has been delayed. Staff commented
that this due to many factors such as, lack of
pharmacy staff or shortage of medication, medical
staff availability to write/ sign discharge letter and
delay in transport, just to name a few. However,
the delay in obtaining medication to take home
(TTOs) is an issue that is consistently raised by
both patients and staff.

“The worst of it is waiting for the medication to reach you. I know the dispensary
can be very busy, but do they not have a team dedicated to doing discharge
medication? It seems to take much longer than a normal dispensary in the
community. Maybe the system of dispensing needs looking at for people being
discharged from hospital”
North West Leicestershire, 75 years or older, Male
11

CONCLUSION

Gathering the patient’s
experiences of hospital discharge
has enabled us to gain insight in
to how hospital processes are
affecting the lives of patients.
From the data collected, we have
highlighted the key messages
that has emerged.

INTRODUCTION

Main Findings - Patients

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

393

394
Hospital Discharge Report

What patients told us
We provided an opportunity for suggestions
and improvements to be shared by patients, we
then collated those suggestions and ideas, and
summarised them under headings. The following
is what emerged from patient experiences.

Waiting times
Delay in discharging patients from hospital is a
known and long-standing issue. For many patients,
being in hospital is a sensitive time and the thought
of going home is often prevailing in the minds of
patients and carers.
Over a third, (36%) of patients told us
that their discharge was delayed with
41% percent (of the 36 percent) telling
us that the reason for the delay was
getting medication. In many cases,
patients are waiting the entire day with
minimal updates as to the progress of
the discharge.

“I was asked to vacate my bed
space by 11.00am for a new
admission, so I stayed in a day room
for 6 hours only to be told that my
medication and discharge letter
was not complete. I had to prompt
the staff to give me antibiotics whilst
waiting in a day room so that no
doses of medication were missed
but they had nothing for me. I felt
very unwell in the day room on
chair for 6 hours and by the time
I got home I felt more poorly than
before I was admitted. My son took
me home and had to pick up my
medication at 6.00am the next
morning from the hospital”
Charnwood
75 years or over, Female

“I was told at 8.00am I could go
home today and it was 8.00pm
when I told them I would not wait
any longer for medication or a
discharge letter and that I would
come back the next day for them
when all of a sudden they printed
the letter from a computer in
the ward and realised that the
medication was already there but
they had not checked”.
Leicester City
65-74 years old, Female

12

There were times that medication could not
be dispensed because discharge letters had
incorrectly recorded the medication needed
for the patient. This would be further delayed
if the doctor could not be found to correct the
error in a timely manner. Some patients who
have experienced hospital discharge on various
occasions have the mind-set that there are the
‘usual delays’ of waiting for the paperwork and
medication.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

395

STAFF FINDINGS

CARER’S FINDINGS

PATIENT FINDINGS

INTRODUCTION

Healthwatch Leicestershire

“I required medication upon discharge (antibiotics and pain relief).
Having been told at 09:30 I would be going home that day it wasn’t
until 22:00 that the medication was provided, meaning I waited in
a bed for 12 more hours more than I needed, and didn’t get home
until nearly 23:00. Not ideal when recovering from surgery”

13

CONCLUSION

Charnwood
35-44 years old, Female

396
Hospital Discharge Report

Mary’s story – Medication
It is well documented that Leicestershire has
an aging population with increased multiple
illnesses and care needs. This has played an
important part in the rising demand for services,
combined with reduced finances, which has
contributed to pressure on the capacity of local
health and social care services.

Mary’s hospital discharge was delayed due
to waiting for medication to arrive from the
pharmacy. A pharmacist visited her about 5pm
and asked about a couple of items of medication
to see if they were needed. Mary said no,
although she was not asked about all of her
medications.

nn Mary is a retired, 65 – 74-year-old Female
who lives in the Oadby & Wigston area of
Leicestershire.

The medication was finally delivered to the
ward about 7.30pm. They contained laxatives,
which she had taken in her first few days on the
ward and no longer needed. Plus, dissolvable
Paracetamol that makes her sick, as well as
another item, which she couldn’t remember but
also, did not need. Mary told one of the nurses
that she was not going to take them home as it
would be a waste of medication, and left them
in the bay on the bedside table. Although there
was a slight delay in her discharge, Mary was
fortunate that she did not have to wait too long
as her husband was able to pick her up at 8pm.

nn Mary went in to hospital for immediate
treatment and when asked about her overall
experience of discharge, she rated this as
average (3 out of 5).				
nn Although Mary was not offered any support
at home whilst going through the discharge
process, she would have liked her family to
be involved in the discharge discussions.

Mary said,
“I would suggest that it
would save a lot of wasted
medication if either a nurse
or a pharmacist went through
the list of medication to be
taken home with the patient
and checked that they are all
needed and that the patient
understands what they are
taking. If a patient was unable
to answer the questions due
to age or dementia, perhaps
it could be checked with a
family member or carer. It
might take an extra bit of
time, and I do appreciate that
hospital staff are busy, but
millions of pounds maybe
wasted on medication that
are not needed every year in
the NHS”.
14

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

397
Healthwatch Leicestershire

They also found that there were hurried and
ineffective discharges due to the pressure on
beds in hospitals and a lack of understanding of
what is available in the community or ‘step down’
services to ensure optimum care of patient and
suitable placement.

“I was told I could go home
and that I would have a follow
up phone call which never
happened and I was on my own
feeling unwell and vulnerable, not
pleasant”
Harborough
55-64 years old, Female

7

INTRODUCTION
PATIENT FINDINGS

A report by the Queens Nursing Institute7 in
2016 found that there was poor communication
between hospitals, social services and
community based teams.

CARER’S FINDINGS

Good, clear and effective communication with
patients plays an important role in enabling an
effective discharge process.

“One time my father in-law had
spent all day in the discharge
lounge area, and then ended
up being transferred from the
Leicester Royal Infirmary to the
Leicester General Hospital for a
bed for the night, as they realised
the care package that had been
set up had expired because he
hadn’t reached home in time for
the carers to see to him. So care
had to be sorted out again the
next day. His daughter only found
out when she rang to ask were
her father was”.
Harborough
55-64 years old, Female

Some patients feel they are not properly
informed as to why they are having tests or
how long they are expected to be in hospital.
Receiving some form of an update can often
help patients and family members organise
transport to coincide with discharge and to
better understand their condition. One patient
told us that it would help if better information
about what support services were linked to
the hospital, and what medical condition they
support.

STAFF FINDINGS

Communication

Family members that are caring for patients
are still experiencing poor communication with
clinical staff in regards to talking with them and
receiving information. One family member told
us that their father in-law who is well in to his
80’s, does not like to be moved around, but had
been moved to the discharge lounge without
any communication to the family.

Discharge planning: Best practice in transitions of care.
Queens Nursing Institute 2016 http://qni.org.uk/docs/Discharge%20Planning%20Report%202015.pdf

15

CONCLUSION

The system of dispensing medicines to hospital
wards must be reviewed and improved to
benefit the patient experience. There is an
understanding by patients that hospital staff are
busy and that the system as a whole is stretched.
However, obtaining medication to take home
via a prescription seems to take much longer
in a hospital setting compared to a normal
dispensary in the community.

398
Hospital Discharge Report

“I was told I could go home
and that I would have a follow
up phone call which never
happened and I was on my own
feeling unwell and vulnerable, not
pleasant”
Harborough
55-64 years old, Female

Hospitals should introduce a system to keep
their patients informed with all the processes and
timescales during discharge.

Avoidable mistakes
When discharge goes wrong it can have negative
physical and emotional effect on the patient and
an increased financial expense for the health and
social care system. For older people, in particular,
longer stays in hospital can lead to worse health
outcomes and can increase their long-term care
needs8 . We heard from 82 older people (aged
65 or over), 13% of those patients spent 15 days
or over in hospital. 42% said their discharge had
been delayed, with many stating this was due to
medication.
Being discharged safely is key to avoiding
patient readmission. Almost a third (29%) of older
people that we heard from had been previously
discharged for the same illness. On numerous
occasions patients, had been sent home with the
wrong medication and in some cases with the
wrong medical notes. Aside from having to make
a special journey back to the hospital to return
them, it is totally unacceptable and could be
detrimental to their on-going health and care.
In 2015, Healthwatch England published a
National report titled ‘Safely Home: What happens
when people leave hospital and care settings?’9
8
9

16

Department of Health, Discharging older patients from hospital http://alturl.com/fdbcg
Safely Home: What happens when people leave hospital
and care settings? http://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/
healthwatch.co.uk/files/final_report_healthwatch_special_inquiry_2015_1.pdf

“I was admitted at night. My husband
waited to be told if I could go home
with him after my treatment. We
waited several hours and eventually
had to ask the doctor if I could go.
She had decided to keep me in and
not told us, even though she could
see that my husband was waiting
and it was the early hours of the
morning. Doctors are sometimes not
proactive when it comes to keeping
patients informed”
Melton
55 – 64 years of age, female

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

399
Healthwatch Leicestershire

INTRODUCTION

“In our opinion my late husband
was discharged too early, I spoke
to nursing staff on 3 occasions the
day following discharge telling them
how he was but was told to ‘keep an
eye on him’. He passed away 3 days
following discharge”
Harborough
65-74 years old, Female

PATIENT FINDINGS

Healthwatch England noted that people were
either discharged before they were ready, or that
they were kept in care for too long, which had a
significant and detrimental effect on their lives.
This reflects some of the experiences that were
shared with us at a local level and that form part
of this report.

CARER’S FINDINGS

50% older people said that as far as they
were aware, hospital staff didn’t discuss
their discharge with a family member/carer
before discharging.
74% of older people were not offered
any support at home before being
discharged.

Charnwood
55-64 years old, Female

STAFF FINDINGS

“How long have you got? My
medication was not ready, my blood
test was delayed then the actual
results were delayed. My medication
wasn’t correct as there was problems
with the paperwork not being
completed”

“I was admitted with severe
tonsillitis; I also have no spleen
so fighting infections is hard for
my body. I was then sent home
without my blood tests results
being seen and with the wrong
medication so had to be readmitted the following day, which
eventually got me the correct
medication after being reviewed
properly”
North West Leicestershire		
25 – 34 years of age, Male

17

CONCLUSION

22% did not have anyone at home to
help, i.e. a family member or carer.

400
Hospital Discharge Report

Julie’s story – Poor discharge
nn Julie is a retired, 75 year or over Female who
lives in Leicester.
nn Julie went in to hospital for immediate
treatment and when asked about her overall
experience of discharge, she rated this as
poor (1 out of 5).
nn Julie was not told how long she would be in
hospital and ended up staying for 10 days
initially.
nn Julie is a resident in a care home and was
offered Supportive Care Home Staff but felt
that there were insufficient resources to meet
her needs.
Julie had fallen at her care home and broken
her hip. After 10 days of being in hospital she
was discharged back to the care home but no
one told her husband or the care home that

she was being discharged and when to expect
her. Within 48 hours of being back at the care
home she had fallen again and broken her other
hip, subsequently being readmitted spending a
further 10 days in hospital.
Julie was once again discharged back to the
care home, however this time she was not fit.
She arrived back unresponsive and later that
evening was readmitted to hospital by a GP
via Accident & Emergency (A&E). She spent
a further 15 days in hospital before being
discharged successfully.
Julie’s hospital discharge was delayed due to
waiting for a care plan to be finalised.
In total Julie spent 35 days in hospital much
of which was due to poor discharge and care
planning.

Julie said,
“I was told that I would
receive physiotherapy at
the care home but it has
taken a couple of months
before I saw anyone during
which time my mobility
deteriorated. It has been
hard for my husband and
the care home staff to meet
my increased needs”.

18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

401
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Positive experiences of discharge

“I was told when I would be discharged then one
of the nurses on the ward contacted a member
of my family who would be picking me up so that
they could come and collect me. Everything went
well, nothing needed improving”
Leicester City, 65 – 74, Female

“First of all, my whole experience in the Leicester
General hospital was really good. It was my first child
so I really didn’t know what to expect. But all the staff
was very supporting from the beginning till the end.
We were discharged because baby and me where
both well, so on the 4th day we were discharged”
Leicester City, 25 – 34, Female

“Following a check-up 13 days later, the surgery
was pronounced a success and I was discharged.
The treatment was timely and thorough. The
surgeon was excellent, if, at times, somewhat
brusque in manner”
Blaby, 65 – 74, Female

“They even helped put my shoes on, couldn’t get
rid of me fast enough, 100% perfect”
Hinckley & Bosworth, 65 – 74, Male

PATIENT FINDINGS

“My discharge procedure went very well. I was
told I was going to be transferred to another ward
ready for transfer the following day. I told my
family I was being discharged today, they went
and spoke to the doctor who confirmed I was
being discharged that day. They arranged for
medication, discharge notes and also ambulance
home. The ambulance arrived within 30 minutes
to take me home. I was really impressed by the
staff and Patient Transport Services”
Melton, 55 – 64, Male

CARER’S FINDINGS

“The feedback from my operation took place
while I was still heavily under the influence of
anesthetics and as a result was unsure what the
outcome of the operation was”
Oadby & Wigston, 25-34, Male

“Drugs were prescribed and delivered promptly.
Staff were helpful and caring and I was discharged
quickly” Harborough, 55 – 64, Male

STAFF FINDINGS

““I was supported well and the nurses provided me
with efficient care. I feel that my discharge planning
should have been done with my family, as there
were too many medications to remember especially
as the surgery affected me psychologically and
physically I was drained. Overall, the consultants and
doctors looking after me were excellent”
Leicester City, 25 – 34, Female

The nurses were wonderful, in fact everyone was
lovely but it took far too long for the pharmacy to
sort and send my medication to the ward. I know
it’s a big hospital but there must be patients being
discharged all the time. There were three patients
discharged while I was on the ward and everyone
was held up waiting for their meds which has a
knock-on effect where arrangements for transport
are concerned” Blaby, 55 – 64, Male

“My procedure was a little lengthy but thorough
and staff ensured my health and wellbeing was
priority”
Charnwood, 25 – 34, Female

19

CONCLUSION

“The amount of support and information I received
was great. The only thing I have a slight gripe with
is how long it takes to be discharged. Once they tell
you that you can go home it seems a long time after
that before everything’s done”
Leicester City, 25 – 34, Female

INTRODUCTION

It is important to promote positive experiences and insights as these can also help to influence changes in
culture. During our conversations with and feedback from patients, many positive experiences were shared,
some of these are noted below:

402
Hospital Discharge Report

“The staff were all very friendly, attentive and
informative. I felt reassured and better prepared
for what to expect when I returned home. I had
written information to refer to and a number to
ring if there were any problems. The consultant
also took the time to talk to me on the phone
whilst I was still on the ward and prior to my
discharge. I wasn’t expecting that and felt it
showed a real commitment to patient care”. ”
North West Leicestershire
55 - 64, Female

nn Almost half of patients reported their overall
experience of being discharged from hospital
as above average, with a third rating it below
average.
nn We asked patients which hospital they were
discharged from:

“I was put under the care of a
Consultant who I eventually met two
weeks later when he returned from
holiday and illness, and immediately
found me fit to go home... His junior
team were reluctant to discharge
me... Had another consultant or
senior doctor seen me in this
time perhaps I could have left the
hospital 5 days earlier and freed up
the room/bed I was in. I was very
grateful for the care I had but felt
that the delay in discharge resulted
in me blocking a bed…”
Leicester City, 65 – 74 years of age, Male
20

47%		 Leicester Royal Infirmary
27% Leicester General Hospital
19% 		 Glenfield Hospital
7%		Other

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

403
Healthwatch Leicestershire

INTRODUCTION

Main Findings - Carer’s
We wanted to look at discharge holistically and recognised that
carers are well placed to identify areas for improvements to services.
Gathering the carers experiences of hospital discharge has enabled
us to gain insight into how hospital processes are affecting carers and
patients.

What we found
PATIENT FINDINGS
CARER’S FINDINGS

Half of the carers we spoke to
said that they were not involved
in discussions or the planning
of discharge for the person they
care for. The majority of staff have suggested
that they are involving carers in the discussions
to discharge patients, however this does not
reflect the general view from the carer. This has
identified a breakdown in communication.

STAFF FINDINGS

It is safe to assume that not every carer
understands the workings of the health and social
care system. We have identified that those who
care for patients do not feel fully briefed on how
a patients care will be addressed once they leave
hospital.

We asked carers how easy
or difficult is it to find time to
get treatment or support for
themselves. For example, to make
appointments or take a break
from caring. Half of the carers that responded
told us it was very or extremely difficult.
Only two carers found it extremely easy.
From previous discussions with carers we know
that the age of carers is varied and that many
can have their own medical issues to manage.
If health professionals do not communicate
appropriately with regards to arrangements
for people they care for, it makes it difficult to
plan their own care. There is also the additional
pressure of caring for someone and not having
any additional support to provide respite.

From the carers we spoke to, over
a third rated their experience of
hospital discharge below average,
with only five carers rating their
experience above average. From
the comments that carers made, waiting times,
communication and feeling uninformed were key
drivers in the decision to rate their experiences
below average.

21

CONCLUSION

Just under half of carers told us
they were not given information
about what would happen when
the person they cared for was
discharged from hospital.

404
Hospital Discharge Report

What Carer’s told us
We provided an opportunity for suggestions
and improvements to be shared by carers, we
then collated those suggestions and ideas, and
summarised them under headings. The following is
what emerged from carer experiences.

What support would you like to
see more of?
We asked carers to tell us what support they would
like to see more of. The following are reflections and
comments that carers gave:
nn Ensure that family members and carers are given
relevant information about illnesses/ treatments
and of the on-going plans for the patient’s care
and treatment. “I want to be kept informed of my
mother’s prognosis and treatment as the person
who has cared for her whilst she was at home
for the last 4 years. No attempt was made to
do this even though we were visiting her most
days”. Carers want to receive information about
discharge in good time and have the opportunity
to speak to those carrying it out.
nn Greater support to navigate Continuing Health
Care services and for the services to connect
better and share information with the hospital. “It’s
crazy, it’s really hard to find someone in the huge
machine that is the NHS to make a complaint, to
get someone to listen to you, to get help NOW
when you need it rather than having to wait 8
weeks for a complaint to be even acknowledged”.
nn Carers should have more flexibility to plan and
coordinate appointments for themselves and the
person they care for, as opposed to being given
an appointment with no other availability.
nn Affordable community and residential respite
facilities that provide carers with more support
and regular free time.
nn Better information and support to allow carers to
share their thoughts or perhaps attend a support
meeting once a month. This would help with
their mental wellbeing, provide peer support and
reduce social isolation.
22

“It was a difficult time for both my
mother and myself. I felt no one
at the hospital had the slightest
interest in supporting us”.
Leicester City
55-64 years old, Female

What would you improve?
Carers would like to see better communication
across the board in terms of between staff and
other staff, and carers and staff. Also, included in this
joined up working/communication is Social Services
and patient transport, as hospitals need to be able
to work better with stakeholders for the benefit of
patients. Somewhere within this mix, it is integral
to communicate with the carer and to keep them
informed and more involved in the process.
It is important when communicating, for hospital
staff to be consistent with what patients and carers
are told about discharge in order to not raise any
expectations of timings and departure.
Also, to ensure that the discharge is planned to meet
the patient’s needs, taking into account when the
carer is available to ensure a safe discharge.
Carers are experiencing inconsistency when it
comes to receiving information, often a doctor
would say one thing and a nurse would say another.
There is no clarity or consistent answers to questions that a carer may have. In some cases, they are
not being told anything and carers have felt like a
nuisance for asking questions.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

405

CARER’S FINDINGS

PATIENT FINDINGS

INTRODUCTION

Healthwatch Leicestershire

STAFF FINDINGS

“At hospital they refused to let Mum go home until they had
decided what care she needed. No one listened to us. At first they
wanted her home with only 4 calls a day from a nurse. We said this
wasn’t sufficient then all of a sudden they changed their mind and
now we have a live-in carer and 4 calls a day. On a Wednesday, we
also have the shared lives carer. Why someone can’t be sensible
and cancel the Wednesday is beyond me. It should be looked at on
an individual basis. Also, how am I supposed to hold down a fulltime job and see consultants, when they refuse to meet me during
evenings or weekends”.

23

CONCLUSION

Blaby
35-44 years old, Female

406
Hospital Discharge Report

Rob’s story – poor communication
Rob’s aunty is 75 years or over and was
admitted, then discharged the next day
and readmitted again due to uncompleted
assessment and treatment of pain.
nn Rob is employed full time, 35 - 44 years of age,
Male, who lives in Blaby.
nn Rob was told on the same day that his aunty
went in to hospital for immediate treatment.
nn As a carer, Rob rated his overall experience of
discharge as a 1 out of 5.
Rob told us that the patient’s discharge was
delayed to incomplete Continuing Health Care
(CHC) assessment. Rob said, “I was informed
that she was ready for discharge, so they went
to assess her in order to return her to the care
home. The next day I was told a CHC assessment
was going to be completed, two weeks later she
was still in hospital. Finally, I was informed she
was ready to be discharged.

Rob was pleased that one of the nursing
assistants took it upon herself to inform him
that the bay his aunty was in had a contagious
disease. “I believe her colleagues where not
too impressed, as they wanted me to continue
with the assessment in order to get my aunty
discharged. Would other staff have told me that
there was a contagious disease? Would they
have discharged my aunty without informing us
if I had not had gone in to see her?”
Consistent communication from staff and
discharge specialists is something that Rob
would like to see improved. Rob would like to
go back to the old system of nursing where
the patient had a named nurse that cares for
all aspect of the patients care from admission
to discharge. “At the moment no one seems to
know what anyone else is doing for the patient
and a lot of time is wasted in trying to find out
and information gets lost in translation”.
Rob said,
“I have made sure I am involved however had
I not have called for an update they would not
have called me until discharge was imminent
and even then, they do not appreciate what may
need to be set up for her”.

24

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

407
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Carer’s experiences and suggestions for improvements:

Medications 			

nn

To have set times for discharge and collection
of medications from the pharmacy.

30

nn Two thirds of patients being cared for by a
carer, were admitted to hospital
in an emergency as opposed to a
planned admission.

PATIENT FINDINGS

The number of times an elderly dementia
patient uses the emergency services should
be monitored and discussed within the
system and with patients/ carers to try to
prevent multiple admissions for one person.

nn We heard from 30 carers across Leicestershire
and when we asked their
employment status, 16 carers
told us that they were employed,
6 were retired and 1 was
unemployed (7 did not answer).

nn

Care
		
For each nurse to be responsible for the
care of specific patients from admission to
discharge, in order to help with a consistency
of care.



Planned timings 		

For patients, especially elderly to be
discharged at a reasonable time of the day.
If this overlaps with lunch/ dinnertime, the
patient should be provided with a packed
lunch or a meal to take home.

nn

Dignity
		
Patients should be adequately clothed
when being discharged. There has been
feedback to suggest that elderly patients have
experienced being discharged on a cold day,
wearing a hospital nightgown and pyjama
bottoms despite having had their own clothes
available. Incidences such as this should not
happen.

“My mother stayed longer than
planned in hospital because her
wound took longer to heal (she is
diabetic). [The hospital transport]
eventually turned up at the same time
as the lunch trolley. So, my mother
was sent home without lunch... The
ward did not contact me to tell me
she was being sent home so the first
I knew about it was when my mother
phoned me at work… I still find it
incredible that an elderly diabetic was
sent home after 16 days with nothing
to eat”.

STAFF FINDINGS

nn

CARER’S FINDINGS

nn We found that almost all of the carers we
spoke to (18 out of 20) do not live with the
person they care for.

Charnwood
35-44 years old, Female

25

CONCLUSION

Older people 		

nn

INTRODUCTION

From the data collected, we have highlighted the
key messages that have emerged.

408
Hospital Discharge Report

Main Findings - Staff
Gathering the staff experiences of hospital discharge has enabled us to
gain insight into how hospital processes are affecting not only staff, but
the lives of patients. From the data collected, we have highlighted the
key messages that has emerged.

What we found
The majority of staff we spoke to
(34 out of 40) admitted that there
are areas that could be improved
to benefit the patient’s discharge
journey. This is reflected by carers
and patients who have also commented that staff
had not communicated with them sufficiently
in regards to the expectation of their care and
support as they leave hospital. Staff have also
observed that the various departments of the
hospital do not often work in alignment for the
benefit of the patient or the wider staff team.
Almost all the staff members we
spoke to (39 out of 40) told us that
discharge processes are delayed
due to internal practices.
Staff are a crucial part of the puzzle
to any practices that may need improvement.
Staff have made it clear that they observe
a disjointed picture, which may indicate a
lack of communication or departments not
understanding how they fit in to the bigger
picture. This is then filtered down to patients who
feel the effects of a broken system and have
also commented on the lack of communication
around their care as well as delays in their
discharge due to internal issues.
Over three quarters of staff (33
out of 40) said they are involved
in the care planning and discharge
of patients on a weekly basis.
However, almost half of the staff
told us that they have never had discharge
training. This supports the need for a thorough
26

fundamental approach to discharge training for
all staff. If the majority of staff are involved in the
discharge process (as we have found) at some
point and hospitals consistently face issues
around discharge. It would seem to be crucial for
staff to have a tighter grip and understanding of
how processes may improve their discharging of
patients.
We asked staff how confident
they were when discharging
patients and found that just
over half felt very or extremely
confident. This is a good baseline
but we must remember that just under half the
staff felt moderately, slightly or not at all confident
when discharging patients. Patients and carers
have mentioned the lack of consistency with
discharging patients, and staff have also identified
that training must improve in order to raise the
standard and confidence of hospital discharge.
Just under a quarter of staff (9
out of 40) said they are always
supported with discharge
planning, whilst seven staff
members told us that they are
rarely supported. This is based on a sliding scale
of always, often, sometimes, rarely and never. The
varying spread of answers suggests that there is
some inconsistency in the process of support and
what that support looks like.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

409
Healthwatch Leicestershire

What Staff told us

INTRODUCTION

We provided an opportunity for suggestions
and improvements to be shared by staff, we
then collated those suggestions and ideas, and
summarised them under headings. The following
is what emerged from staff experiences.

Overall improvements to
benefit patients and carers from
a staff point of view

PATIENT FINDINGS

Being discharged from hospital is the final part of
the process for the in-patient and often the last
thing they remember is waiting for hours to go
home. To help with this, there must be a more
comprehensive discharge process that ensures
all pertinent issues are identified on or near to
date of admission and an appropriate plan of
action is subsequently formulated. This should
not be left until the patient is being discharged.

CARER’S FINDINGS

“Ensure that baseline information is confirmed
initially after admission and confirm with family
or carers of any concerns for returning to their
community before planning discharge”.
NICE (National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence) has recommended10 that, a single
health or social care practitioner responsible
for coordinating the person’s discharge from
hospital. Create either designated discharge
coordinator posts or make members of the
hospital or community based multidisciplinary
team responsible.

27

CONCLUSION

10 Transition between inpatient hospital settings and community or care home settings for adults with social care needs
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG27/chapter/Recommendations#discharge-from-hospital

STAFF FINDINGS

Similarly, staff had also commented on the
need for greater responsibility around patient
discharge. Creating a process where doctors
are available to write prescriptions (TTOs) on
the wards would help to ensure patients are
discharged swiftly. This is also linked to the
turnaround time for the pharmacy to dispense
medicines, along with a suggestion to have a
pharmacist available from 7.30am - 8pm 7 days a
week or based on the ward.

410
Hospital Discharge Report

Patients can be seen by multiple consultants
at different times, which can prove frustrating
for the patient and their carer. Staff told us that
discharge co-ordinators have helped to improve
communications, by meeting regularly with
patients and carer and acting as a family link
between specialities.
Proactively communicating with patients about
their care is important. Improving communication
between teams would undoubtedly be of benefit,
including internal and external partners.
Staff comments around what would improve
patient experience:
nn Discharge letters to be issued in a timely
manner.
nn More pharmacists with faster turnaround and
greater discharge team support per ward.
nn An area designated for ‘fit for discharge’
patients in an environment away from the
acute setting. It would be cheaper to use a
hotel style system e.g. in a residential home
than to keep them in an acute hospital setting.
nn A lead person in oncology to facilitate the
discharge process for Continuing Health Care
funded and end of life patients. This would
give a better service and experience to the
patients.
nn Good communication within the medical team
and the medical team plans that document
discussions with family and ward staff.
nn Speedier and more joined up working with
social care. A 7-day a week working culture for
both hospital and social service staff.

“Increased pharmacy technicians
and pharmacists on the wards to
facilitate discharges. Being proactive
rather than reactive. Increase the
number of computers on the wards
to aid discharges”.
Anonymous staff member

28

nn A smooth transition from secondary to
primary care. Integrate the services to enable
staff to in-reach or outreach. This would
be particularly beneficial in Therapies (OT
specifically).

Why discharge is delayed
Internal issues
Pharmacy medication, ‘To Take Out’ (TTOs) and
Discharge letters
Issues causing the worst delays are:
nn Completion of discharge paperwork by
medical staff
nn Prescription and dispensing of medication,
which may at times be done after the doctor
has completed his/her ward rounds.
Staff told us that some doctors attitude regarding
discharge letters is often that they are not seen as
a priority therefore letters are written late. Although
staff have said that they do identify at least 48 hours
in advance the patients who are being discharged.
Delay in completion of discharge paperwork
impacts the pharmacy and can create a bottleneck
in terms of preparing medication for the wards
and patients. This can be further exacerbated
by incorrect prescription writing and a lack of
communication between the staff in terms of
timescales. This mix can, in many cases, result in late
discharges or no discharge at all.
The time of day that the decision is made to
discharge a patient can ultimately effect when the
patient finally leaves the hospital. If for example a
doctor does not complete the discharge letter until
5pm, patients may have to wait for medication,
which could mean that from being told they are
going home to when they actually do go home,
may be many hours.
On any given day, a doctor on his/her ward
round may tell the patient he/she can go home,
the nurses may then wait several hours for the
discharge letter, then more hours for the pharmacy
to prepare medication. Some wards do have a

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

411
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Although there appears to be initiatives to
support constant learning within hospitals
around discharge, 45% of the staff we heard from,
told us that they had never received discharge
training. 20% of staff last received training over
2 years ago. In order to truly improve at a pace
that is needed, there must be consistent and
continuous development of those who are
clinically and administratively responsible for
delivering effective hospital discharge.

“Patient packages of care are
sometimes cancelled which
means that they often need a full
reassessment by occupational
therapy... Patients who need a
rehabilitation bed or a nursing/
residential bed have to wait for
assessment and a bed to become
available. Needing to give 48 hours’
notice to care agencies also delays
discharge as well as waiting for care
providers to have allocated staff..
Anonymous staff member

INTRODUCTION
PATIENT FINDINGS

There is poor communication amongst medical
staff when dealing with patients and carers and,
messages are often mixed if given at all.

Staff often delay discharge as there is not enough
available transport to take patients home or to their
place of residents. Communication of pick up times
to hospital staff could be improved, and often there
is a long wait for staff to know definitely when the
ambulance will arrive, which creates anxiety and
uncertainty for patient and relatives.

Care package
Staff being able to confirm a package of care for a
patient is another hurdle that has to be overcome.
There can often be a delay in sourcing appropriate
and timely care in the community, i.e. continuing
health care (CHC).
Delays in discharge can also affect new packages of
homecare and can mean that planned care is either
put on hold or stopped. The aim should be to restart
packages to coincide with the scheduled discharge.
There is a lack of availability of care Providers to start
care packages at short notice and a lack of capacity to
bridge service provision to enable transfer of care to
the community.

CARER’S FINDINGS

Staff mentioned a lack of specialist discharge
sisters and that there is not enough time
for complex discharges. On occasion, poor
assessments of a patient’s discharge needs
take place, along with a lack of knowledge of
discharge processes and poor communication
between teams.

Delayed discharge has a massive impact on
ambulance transport. There is a large patient base
that comes from nursing and residential homes and
if discharge is late, the cut off times are missed to get
patients back home in a timely manner.

There are occasions when care homes refuse patients
and, family members refuse for patients to return
home, intentionally leaving them in hospital for longer
than they need to be.

STAFF FINDINGS

General

Why discharge is delayed
External issues
Transport

“Patient care packages are at times
unable to start for a week with no option
or availability of services to bridge the
gap. We need a safe ward to send
patients that are ready for discharge
awaiting nursing homes, rest homes
and packages of care. The acute setting
is not ideal for these patients”.
Anonymous staff member
29

CONCLUSION

medicine cupboard but it often needs to have a
larger selection of stock and also a pharmacy staff
member per ward.

412
Hospital Discharge Report

Summary of additional staff suggestions:
There appears to be a lot of
schemes within the hospital doing
the same thing or something very
similar. Streamline all discharge
services/processes within the
hospital and work more strategically
across departments.

Discharge should include preventing
readmission; there is a lack of clear
communication and appropriate
knowledge of the patient that also
slows down discharge.
Doctors should be more available to
complete discharge paperwork on
the wards and the Pharmacy should
be able to respond more quickly to
expedite TTO prescriptions.

We heard from 40 staff members across various
hospital sites. The following is a breakdown of
where they were based:

There is a need to communicate
more accurate timings around
hospital discharge and to provide
the patient with realistic timeframes
of when they are expected to leave
hospital.
Foster a culture to create better
access for relatives to collect
patients, which would include a
fuller and timely involvement and
better communication between
hospital staff, carers and families.

25

Leicester Royal Infirmary

4

Leicester General Hospital

9

Glenfield Hospital

2

Other

Conclusion
Our research has identified a
significant frustration from all
parties around consistent delays
in hospital discharge. Although at
times there appears to be a lack
of internal ownership as to who
is responsible for improving the
system of discharge, we find that
there is a desire from staff to tackle
the issues and move forward.
30

Ultimately the people who commission
and provide services must deliver improvements in a timely manner, taking
into account the views of patients, carers
and staff during any process.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

413
Healthwatch Leicestershire

CARER’S FINDINGS

PATIENT FINDINGS

INTRODUCTION

Acknowledgements

We would also like to acknowledge the support of our stakeholders
who continue to allow us to work through their networks and who
welcome the insights of Healthwatch Leicestershire.

31

CONCLUSION

STAFF FINDINGS

We would like to acknowledge the support of University Hospitals
of Leicester NHS Trust in working closely with Healthwatch
Leicestershire to share and listen to patient, carers and staff voices.
In particular, the Patient Experience Team and the Communications
Team that continue to provide an open door for our engagement.

414
Hospital Discharge Report

Healthwatch Leicestershire
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire
9 Newarke Street, Leicester,
LE1 5SN
0116 2574 999
info@healthwatchleics.co.uk
www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk
32

February 2017

415

Agenda Item 19

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
BETTER CARE FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with
assurance on the national quarterly reporting requirements for the Better Care Fund
(BCF).

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board approved Leicestershire’s current BCF plan in May
2016.
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s118710/Better%20Care%20Fund%20Plan%20Submission%20and%20Assurance.pdf

3.

4.

The day to day delivery of the BCF is overseen by the Leicestershire Integration
Executive as agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2014.
(http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=1038&MId=3981&Ver=4). The
Integration Executive Terms of Reference have been refreshed, and were approved
by the Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2015.
NHS England issued BCF implementation guidance in July 2016
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/bcf-ops-guid-2016-17-jul16.pdf

which set out the requirements for quarterly reporting along with the draft templates
and analytical tools that are required to be used for this purpose.
Background
5.

The BCF plan was initially submitted to NHS England in September 2014 and was
implemented during 2014/15 and 2015/16.

6.

In line with the national policy requirements, the BCF plan was refreshed for 2016/17
at the beginning of 2016. The final plan was submitted to NHS England on 3 rd May.
Confirmation was received in July that the plan was fully approved.

7.

The purpose of the BCF is to transform and improve the integration of local health
and care services, in particular to:
 Reduce the dependency on hospital services, in favour of providing more
integrated community based support, such as reablement, early
intervention and prevention;
 Promote seven day working across health and care services;
 Promote care which is planned around the individual, with improved care
planning and data sharing across agencies.

416
Financial Position at the end of Q3 2016/17
8.

The BCF spending plan totals £39.4m in 2016/17. This comprises of minimum
contributions from partners of £39.1m as notified by Government, and an additional
locally agreed £0.3m allocation from the Health and Social Care Integration
Earmarked Fund.

9.

The current financial position at the end of quarter three was that a small underspend
was being forecast in the BCF plan. This was mainly as a result of a negotiated
reduction in contract values for a number of services in the plan.

10. At this point in the financial year, the expectation remains that the whole £39.4m will
be spent.
11. A risk pool of £1m has been created within the BCF which is accessed if the planned
reduction of emergency admission is not achieved. The BCF plan also contains a
general contingency of £1m. The risk pool and contingency are reviewed on a
quarterly basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the level of financial risks.
12. At the end of quarter two, it was agreed to release the full £1m set aside for under
delivery against the emergency admissions risk pool. It should be noted that by the
end of October, the BCF had delivered the level of avoided emergency admissions
that was set for 2016/17. Therefore this was not due to an underperformance of the
target, however due to the continued over performance in terms of emergency
admissions activity affecting both Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG), the risk
pool was still need to off-set the cost of this additional activity.
13. It was also agreed that the general contingency (£570k) and uncommitted reserve
funding (£769k) be released back to West Leicestershire CCG in recognition that
these funds were not committed within the BCF during 2016/17.
14. It was acknowledged that releasing these reserves now would eliminate the
opportunity for these to be included in the contingencies/reserves for the BCF budget
in 2017/18. Therefore all partners would need to accept the risk this poses to
headroom within the BCF next year and have a shared plan for mitigations.
15. The Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) contingency pool includes £1m for potential nonachievement of QIPP savings in 2017/18 and a further £0.75m for non-achievement
of MTFS savings. At a meeting between the Chief Finance Officers of Leicestershire
County Council (LCC), East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) and West Leicestershire CCG it was agreed that:


The CCG element of the contingency (£1m) will be released back to both CCGs in
2016/17.



Any issues arising from the HTLAH project that impacts on the CCG’s finances in
2017/18 will be addressed through the use of CCG funds and will not impact on
the BCF.



The remaining £0.75m will continue to be used by LCC to offset the risk of
achieving MTFS savings.

 The section 75 agreement will be amended to reflect the changes.
Performance against BCF Outcome Metrics at the end of Q3 2016/17

417

16. The BCF plan is measured against six outcome metrics. The following table explains
the definition of each metric, the rate of improvement that is being aimed for, and
progress at the end of quarter three.
National Metric Definition
(1)
This is a nationally
defined metric
measuring delivery of
Permanent
admissions of the outcome to reduce
inappropriate
older people
admissions of older
(aged 65 and
people to residential
over) to
residential and care.
nursing care
homes, per
100,000
population

Trajectory of improvement
The target has been set at a rate of 606.4
per 100,000 per population aged 65+. This
equates to 827 or fewer admissions in
2016/17.
In 2015/16 there were 860 permanent
admissions to residential care. Based on
April – December data for 2016/17, the
current forecast is for 848 admissions this
year, a rate of 621.80 per 100,000
population. While this will not meet the
target, it is an improvement on 2015/16
performance.
On track for improved performance, but not
to meet full target

National Metric Definition
(2)
This is a nationally
defined metric
measuring delivery of
Proportion of
the outcome to increase
older people
the effectiveness of
(65 and over)
reablement and
who were still
rehabilitation services
at home 91
whilst ensuring that the
days after
discharge from number of service users
offered the service does
hospital into
not decrease.
reablement /
The aim is therefore to
rehabilitation
increase the percentage
services
of service users still at
home 91 days after
discharge.

Trajectory of improvement

National Metric Definition
(3)
This is a nationally
defined metric
measuring delivery of
Delayed
the outcome of effective
transfers of
joint working of hospital
care (DTOC)
services (acute, mental
from hospital

Trajectory of improvement

The target for 2016/17 has been set at
84.2%.
The latest data, based on admissions to
reablement in August – October and
followed up in November – January, shows
a success rate of 87.0%.
On track to achieve target

Reductions during 2015/16 in delays have
focussed on interventions in the acute
sector. Therefore the target was set based
on reducing the number of days delayed in
non-acute settings by 0.5%, while
maintaining the rate of days delayed in

418
per 100,000
population
(average per
month)

health and non-acute)
and community-based
care in facilitating timely
and appropriate transfer
from all hospitals for all
adults.
The aim is therefore to
reduce the rate of
delayed bed days per
100,000 population.

acute settings at its current low level. The
targets are quarterly and are 236.66,
231.91, 214.66, and 312.19 for quarters one
to four of 2016/17 respectively.
At the end of quarter three the BCF DTOC
metric was 382.17 against a target of
214.66.
Targets for the first three quarters of
2016/17 have been missed. The targets
were based on good performance in
2015/16 but numbers have increased in
2016/17. However, benchmarking against
East Midlands and CIPFA statistical
neighbours shows that we have been in the
top quartile for performance for each
quarter.
No improvement in performance
There are a number of system challenges
that have affected this position, which is a
marked deterioration from the improvements
made last year.


Volumes of attendances and admissions
at UHL have continued to rise, which has
created pressure on the health and care
system overall, including the
consequences of increased activity on
hospital discharge.



Delays in CHC assessments and
problems with the discharge to assess
pathway have affected the ability to
place NHS funded care packages out of
hospital in a timely manner.



A task and finish group has been
established to work on system wide
discharge data, as there are a number of
concerns about data flows, data quality,
and there is a need to provide one
consolidated, integrated set of
data/dashboards for the A&E Delivery
Board. The Discharge Working Group (a
sub group of the A&E Delivery Board)
oversees the ongoing action plan to
improve hospital discharge across all
settings of care including out of county
acute sites.

419


National Metric Definition
(4)
This is a nationally
defined metric
measuring the reduction
Non-Elective
in non-elective
Admissions
admissions which can
(General &
be influenced by
Acute)
effective collaboration
across the health and
care system.
Total non-elective
admissions (general and
acute) underpin the
payment for
performance element of
the Better Care Fund.

A new domiciliary care contract went live
in Leicestershire on 7th November (Help
to Live at Home). In the weeks leading
up to the new service existing providers
were less inclined to take new cases,
which created delays in placing home
care packages, and in the week before
go live one of the new providers exited
the process. This displaced 189 existing
home care service users who were due
to transition to this provider, requiring the
council to enact contingency planning.
During October and November this has
had a knock on effect to system flow
overall which again has not helped the
position in terms of DTOC. Intensive
work continues to resolve and stabilise
home care capacity at the time of writing
this report.

Trajectory of improvement
The target for 2016/17 is 724.37 per
100,000 per month, based on a 2.49%
reduction on the probable number of nonelective admissions for patients registered
with GP practices in Leicestershire for
2015/16 (allowing for population growth).
This equates to a combined trajectory of
1,517 avoided admissions within the BCF
schemes targeted at avoiding emergency
admissions.
Despite BCF admission avoidance schemes
performing well and already achieving the
target of 1,517 avoided admissions this
financial year, the number of non-elective
admissions continues to rise. System-wide
plans are being delivered or developed as
part of STP plans to stem the rise in nonelective admissions.
The target for non-elective admissions in
2016/17 was 59,030 or 724.37 per 100,000
population per month. The current forecast,
based on April – December data, for
2016/17 is for 61,424 admissions, or 753.75
per 100,000 population per month.
No improvement in performance

420
National Metric Definition
(5)
Selected metric for BCF
Plan from national
menu: - taken from GP
Improved
Patient Survey:
Patient
“In the last 6 months,
Experience
have you had enough
support from local
services or
organisations to help
manage long-term
health condition(s)?
Please think about all
organisations and
services, not just
health.”

Trajectory of improvement

Local Metric
(6)

Definition

Trajectory of Improvement

This is a locally defined
metric measuring
delivery of the outcome
to reduce emergency
admissions for injuries
due to falls in people
aged 65 and over.

A realistic target was set for 2016/17 which
holds the number of falls in the 65-79 age
group at the 2015/16 level, while reducing
those in the 80+ population by 5% allowing
for population growth. The target is 419.27
per 100,000 per quarter.

Injuries due to
falls in people
aged 65 and
over

This target was set at 62.2% for 2016/17.
This is based on the 2015/16 target and a
2% increase in the number of positive
replies.
Current performance is 63.6% (as at July
2016).
On track to achieve target

The target for emergency admissions for
injuries due to falls has been set at 2,287 or
fewer admissions, or 1,677.07 per 100,000
population aged 65+. This equates to a
monthly rate of 139.76. Our latest estimate,
based on April – November data is for 1,911
admissions in 2016/17, a rate of 1,401.24
per 100,000 population.
A business case to change the pathway in
2017/18 is being prepared. If approved, this
should improve things further still.
On track to achieve target

Progress against BCF national conditions
17. The revised policy framework and technical guidance for 2016/17 indicates that BCF
plans must demonstrate assurance regarding the following:
 Delivery against five national BCF metrics and a locally selected metric
(see para 16);
 How a proportion of the fund will protect adult social care services;

421
 How data sharing and data integration is being progressed using the NHS
number;
 How an accountable lead professional is designated for care planning/care
coordination;
 Delivery of Care Act requirements;
 How a proportion of the fund will be used to commission care outside of
hospital;
 How seven day services will be supported by the plan;
 That the impact on emergency admissions activity has been agreed with
acute providers;
 That there is a locally agreed proactive plan to improve delayed transfer of
care from hospital;
 That Disabled Facilities Grant allocations within the BCF will be used to
support integrated housing solutions including the delivery of major
adaptations in the home.
 Approval of the BCF plan by all partners being assured via the local Health
and Wellbeing Board.
18.

The Leicestershire BCF plan, through work during 2015/16 and to date during
2016/17, has been able to provide assurance that most of the national conditions of
the plan have been met.

19.

The exception to this is the question ‘are support services, both in the hospital and in
primary care, community and mental health settings available seven days a week to
ensure next steps in the patient care pathway, as determined by the daily consultantled, can be taken’.

20.

It was agreed at this stage to state that this national condition was still in progress.
This was due to the fact that work is still underway on the Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland urgent care redesign. As this will be implemented in April 2017, it was
reported that the national condition will be fully met by September 2017, to allow time
for the changes to embed in.

Process to submit the BCF quarterly report to NHS England
21. The BCF Operationalisation Guidance required that a quarterly performance
template was submitted to NHS England by 3rd March 2017, summarising the final
position for quarter three 2016/17.
22. The appropriate representatives of the Integration Executive reviewed the completed
template by 2nd March and submitted the required information to NHS England on 3rd
March on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Recommendation
23. The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report and that the quarter
three 2016/17 BCF return was approved by representatives on the Integration
Executive by 2nd March, and submitted to NHS England on 3rd March.

422
Officer to Contact
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
0116 305 4212
Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
24. The BCF aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of Leicestershire,
with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to reduce emergency
and urgent health demand.
25. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is
provided at:
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf

Partnership Working and associated issues
26. The delivery of the BCF plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget is
managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers in
Leicestershire.
27. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
28. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being
implemented through the five year plan to transform health and care in
Leicestershire, known as Better Care Together http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk

423

Agenda Item 20

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 16 MARCH 2017
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
ACTIONS FOLLOWING THE DECEMBER BOARD DEVELOPMENT
SESSION
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the actions that have been
taken following the Board Development Session on 15 December 2016.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

This report relates to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s role in delivering the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and also considers the need for the
Board to develop a more comprehensive method of engagement with the other
Health and Wellbeing Boards in Leicester and Rutland and the public, as local health
and care services are transformed.

Recommendation
3.

The following recommendations are made to the Health and Wellbeing Board:(a) To note the progress that has been made with the actions arising from the
Board Development Session held in December;
(b) To approve the updated Code of Conduct for Co-opted Members of the Health
and Wellbeing Board, attached as Appendix A to this report;
(c) That the actions outlined at paragraph 11 of this report be agreed for
discussion at the Board Development Session on 18 April

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed on 6 December 2016 to take on a greater
role in relation to delivery of the STP in line with the governance arrangements
proposed across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

5.

The Board received a report outlining the outputs from the Development Session
held on 15 December at its meeting on 6 January 2017. This report also outlined
actions that would be taken following the Development Session.

Background

424
6.

The Health and Wellbeing Board holds an annual development session towards the
end of the year to consider partners’ commissioning intentions the following year and
to ensure that risks, issues and pressures are discussed and addressed jointly.

7.

The purpose of the 2016 development session was:a) To receive an initial briefing on the STP areas where the Health and Wellbeing
Board will have a lead role;
b) To consider the Health and Wellbeing Board’s role in relation to the STP;
c) To ensure that priorities for 2017/18 are aligned with the STP;
d) To ensure partners have an overview of commissioning intentions across the
system for the forthcoming financial year and to consider risks and issues across
the partnership arising from these.

8.

An update on the actions agreed in relation to the STP areas of focus is set out
below:-

Action

Update

Date for
Completion
1 June 2017

Review the protocol between
the Health and Wellbeing
Board, Health Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and
Healthwatch Leicestershire in
the light of the STP
arrangements.

The Protocol has been revised and
arrangements are being made to seek
the input of Healthwatch Leicestershire
and the Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee prior to it being submitted to
the Health and Wellbeing Board on 1
June.

Produce a protocol defining
how the three Health and
Wellbeing Boards in
Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland will engage with
each other on the STP.

Arrangements are being made for the
Chairs of the LLR Health and Wellbeing
Boards to meet quarterly with the Lay
Chairs of NHS bodies to discuss issues
of mutual concern relating to the STP.
This is being managed through the STP
Programme Office.

June 2017

Work with STP
communications leads to
develop key communications
messages for the two lead
areas, setting out the benefits
for each locality and
clarifying: The role of the STP;
 The role of the Health
and Wellbeing Board;
 The role of individual
organisations; and
 The role of individual
members of the Health
and Wellbeing Board
in communications and
engagement.

Initial key messages have been
developed and the STP public summary
was published in February. These
messages will continue to be refreshed
as the areas of work develop further.
Arrangements are being made to clarify
the role of the Health and Wellbeing
Board and individual organisations in
the STP. A draft terms of reference
covering the duties of the STP Senior
Leadership Team, governing body,
Health and Wellbeing Board and areas
of responsibility has been developed.
This will be presented to the June
Health and Wellbeing Board once
approved.

February 2017

425
Update the guidance on
declarations of interest for
Board Members, recognising
that some Board members
will have senior roles in
delivering the STP and will
not be able to participate in
confirm and challenge
sessions relating to their
areas of responsibility.

The guidance has been updated and is
appended to this report for approval.

March 2017

Code of Conduct
9.

The Code of Conduct has been amended to include a new paragraph 4.5 which
states that where a Health and Wellbeing Board member is also an STP lead officer
and is presenting relevant STP work, that Board member will declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest as there is a conflict between the member’s employment and role
of the Board. However, the Board member will remain in the room to present the
item and answer questions. If there is a vote, the Board member should leave the
room at that point.

Actions arising from Discussion of Commissioning Intentions
10. The Development Session held in December included brief presentations from each
Board Member with commissioning responsibilities of the key risks and pressures
they faced in the coming year, outlining where they felt these would have an effect on
the wider health and care system.
11. The discussion at the Development Session identified a number of mitigating actions
that could be taken. It is proposed that there is a presentation at the Board
Development Session on 18 April outlining any progress that has been made
following the Development Session. Key actions related to:(i)

Whole Life Disability;

(ii)

The development of a Children and Young People’s Plan for Leicestershire;

(iii)

Articulating a consistent, easy to understand offer describing how District
Councils support prevention and demand management;

(iv) Joint working on cyber crime in relation to frail older people;
(v)

Extend the housing enabler for hospital discharge to community hospitals;

(vi) The use of a consistent prioritisation tool across health and social care, such as
the Public Health tool which enabled a judgement to be made on the relative
importance of the issues which needed to be taken into account when making
commissioning decisions

426
12. Further discussion regarding the incorporation of the Police 101 service into the
Integrating Points of Access project had identified that it would not be possible to
take this proposal forward at this stage.
Role of the Health and Wellbeing Board in Communications and Engagement.
13. The development session held in December identified the need for a more focused
communications and engagement campaign relating to self-care. The idea of a public
awareness raising campaign has been discussed with communications colleagues
across partner organisations.
14. An outline communications campaign plan has been developed. The aim of the
campaign will be to inform and engage local people to take responsibility for their
health and wellbeing to achieve the best possible quality of life. This will be achieved
by providing tips on staying safe, well and independent and signposting to local and
national resources.
15. The campaign will be based on monthly activity linked to local or national campaigns
e.g. May - physical activity (national walking month). The theme for each month will
be planned with partners over the coming month – a proposed campaign calendar is
included below. This will be co-ordinated with the STP comms group and themed
communication from STP workstreams, such as Home First and Integrated Locality
Teams, will be added to this grid. Activities relating to STP consultation will also be
added once the timescales are known.
May
Walking month –
physical activity

June
- Be Clear on Cancer
- Bike week

July
Physical activity (Change
4 Life)

August
Physical activity (Change
4 Life)

September
Be Food Smart (Change 4
Life) – healthy eating

October
Stoptober – stop
smoking

November
- Stay Well this Winter –
flu jabs
- Lung Cancer
awareness

December
Stay Well this Winter – flu
jabs, pharmacy, A&E

January
New Year New You –
One You (PHE)

February
National heart month

March
Ovarian & prostate cancer
awareness

April

16. A partner resource pack including articles, press release, social media and artwork
will be developed for each month for use across partners. We will encourage
residents to visit First Contact Plus, District/Borough Council sport and recreation
web pages, the health and care integration website and Leicestershire County
Council website for information and advice.
17. The campaign is initially planned to run from May 2017 and will be evaluated
throughout.

427

Resource Implications
18. The actions arising from this report will be delivered within existing resources. The
communications actions will be scoped and discussed with the Leicestershire County
Council communications team and communications teams across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland to establish any resources constraints.
Background papers
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 6 December – Sustainability and
Transformation Plan: Role of the Health and Wellbeing Board http://ow.ly/t8yY307oG6O
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 5 January – Outputs of the December
Development Session
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125463/Outputs%20from%20Development%20Session.pdf

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None
List of Appendices
Appendix A – Code of Conduct for Co-opted Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
Appendix B – Public Prevention Campaign
Officers to Contact
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
Telephone: 0116 305 4212
Email: Cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
Rosemary Palmer
Democratic Services Manager
Telephone: 0116 305 6098
Email: rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Sally Kilbourne
Senior Communications Officer
Telephone: 0116 305 5749
Email: sally.kilbourne@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
19. The role of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to collectively tackle health inequalities
and to make sure that all people can access health and care when they need to.

428
Individual proposals coming before the Health and Wellbeing Board will be subject to
an equalities and human rights implications assessment.

429

APPENDIX 1
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
CODE OF CONDUCT FOR CO-OPTED MEMBERS
This Code of Conduct, which applies only to co-opted members of the Health and
Wellbeing Board (‘the Board’) who are not elected members, has been adapted from
Leicestershire County Council’s Code of Conduct to recognise the particular
circumstances that apply to officers and representatives of other bodies. This Code
is intended to promote high standards of behaviour amongst the co-opted members
of the Board. Members of the Board who are County Councillors will be subject to
the Leicestershire County Council Code of Conduct and members who are District
Councillors will be subject to their Authority’s Code.
This Code applies to all co-opted members of the Board. It is your responsibility to
comply with the provisions of this Code and ensure all obligations are met.
Scope
1.

You must comply with this Code whenever you:
1.1 act in your capacity as a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board;
1.2 conduct the business of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

The Principles
2.1

In accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, you must
have regard to the following principles and observe the following rules of
behaviour:Principle 1 - Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Principle 2 - Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation
to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in
their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.
Principle 3 - Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Principle 4 - Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

430

Principle 5 - Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.
Principle 6 - Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Principle 7 - Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles
and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.
2.2.

The above principles articulate the fundamental values of public service
that underpin the conduct of Board Members. The following provisions
contained in this Code are derived from these principles and provide a set
of enforceable minimum standards for the conduct that is expected of coopted members of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

General Obligations
Respect
3.1 You must treat others with respect.
3.2 You must not:
3.2.1

do anything which may cause a breach any of the equality
enactments;

3.2.2

bully any person;

3.2.3

intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to
be:
(i) a complainant;
(ii) a witness; or
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or
proceedings;
in relation to an allegation that a member (including yourself) has
failed to comply with this code of conduct;

3.2.4 do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the County
Council.

2

431

Confidentiality
3.3 You must not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be
aware, is of a confidential nature, except where:
3.3.1
3.3.2
3.3.3

3.3.4

you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
you are required by law to do so;
the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining
professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to
disclose the information to any other person; or
the disclosure is:
(i) reasonable and in the public interest; and
(ii) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable
requirements of the County Council.

3.4 You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to
which that person is entitled by law.
Reputation of the Authority
3.5 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be
regarded as bringing your office or the County Council into disrepute.
Use of your position
3.6

You must not use or attempt to use your position as a member of the Health
and Wellbeing Board improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any
other person, an advantage or disadvantage.

Decision making
3.7

When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant
advice provided to you by officers of the relevant public bodies acting pursuant
to their statutory responsibilities (including a proper officer designated by the
County Council).

3.8

You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed.

3

432

Interests
A.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Definition
4.1

You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Health and
Wellbeing Board if it is of a description specified in regulations made by the
Secretary of State and the interest is:
(a) yours;
(b) your spouse’s or civil partner’s;
(c) somebody with whom you are living as husband and wife or as if you are
civil partners;
and you are aware, in the case of paragraphs (b) and (c) that that other
person has the interest.

4.2

Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest arising from your
employment the action you should take will depend on the particular
circumstances. It would be a nonsense for co-opted members of the Board
appointed by their employers to be precluded from a meeting solely because
the matter related to something which affects their organisation (strict
interpretation of the law would require this unless a dispensation has been
given). However, there may be exceptional circumstances where, because
the matter affects the individual directly or, for some other reason, it would
not be appropriate for a member to participate. To determine this you must
ask yourself the question “would a reasonable member of the public with
knowledge of the relevant facts regard the matter as so significant that it is
likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.”

[Note: the regulations currently in force are attached but do not form part of the
Code of Conduct, as they may be amended by the Government at any time.]
Declaring at and participation in meetings
4.3

If you are present at any meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and
you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered or
being considered, and the interest is not a ‘sensitive interest’ (see Section
4.14), at the meeting:
4.3.1 you must disclose the interest to the meeting whether or not is has
been registered;
4.3.2 unless a dispensation (see Section 4.15) has been given, you may not
participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting and must
leave the room;
4.3.3 unless a dispensation has been given, you may not participate in any
vote taken on the matter at the meeting.
4

433

4.4

Following any disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting
which is not on the County Council’s register or the subject of a pending
notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the interest
within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure.

4.5

For the avoidance of doubt, where a co-opted member of the Board has a
lead role in delivery of work for which the Health and Wellbeing Board has a
‘confirm and challenge role’, that Board member will declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest in the matter but will remain in the room to present the
item and answer questions, unless a dispensation has been given. If there is
a vote on the matter, the co-opted member should leave the room at that
point.

[Note: With regard to 4.3 above, Standing Order 30 of the County Council’s
Constitution also requires you to leave the room where the meeting is held while any
discussion or voting takes place.]
B.

Personal Interests

Definition
4.5

You have a personal interest in any business of the Health and Wellbeing
Board where either:
4.5.1 it relates to or is likely to affect:
4.5.1.1 any body:
(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principle purposes includes the influence
of public opinion or policy (including any political party
or trade union);
of which you are a member or in a position of general
control or management.
4.5.1.2 the interests of any person from whom you have received a
gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50
within the last 12 months.

or
4.5.2 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded
as affecting your wellbeing or financial position or the wellbeing or
financial position of a relevant person to a greater extent than the
majority of the population affected by the decision.
4.6

For the purposes of paragraph 4.5, a ‘relevant person’ is:
5

434

4.6.1 a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close
association; or
4.6.2 any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any
firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are
directors; or
4.6.3 any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest
and a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
4.6.4 any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 4.5.1.1.
Declaring at and participation in meetings
4.7

Subject to paragraph 4.9 below, where you have a Personal Interest in any
business of the Health and Wellbeing Board and where you are aware or
ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of the Personal Interest and
you attend a meeting of the Board where such business is considered, you
must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the
commencement of the meeting and prior to any discussion of the relevant
item, or as soon as the interest becomes apparent to you. This provision
does not apply where the interest arises from your position at your
appointing body.

4.8

Where you have a Personal Interest you may remain in the meeting, speak
and vote on the matter unless to do so would compromise your impartiality
obligations or any other obligations set out in this Code.

4.9

Where you have a Personal Interest, but, by virtue of paragraph 4.14,
sensitive information relating to it is not registered in the County Council’s
Register of Members Interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you
have a Personal Interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information to
the meeting.

C.

Personal Interests which might lead to bias

Definition
4.10

In addition to the requirements in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
referred to in Section A of Part 4 of this Code, you have a Personal Interest
which might lead to bias in any business of the Health and Wellbeing Board
where:
4.10.1 you have a ‘Personal Interest’ as defined in paragraph 4.5 and 4.6
above; and
4.10.2 that ‘Personal Interest’ is one which a member of the public with
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as so
significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public

6

435

interest.
Declaring at and participation in meetings
4.11

If you are present at any meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and you
have a Personal Interest which might lead to bias in any matter to be
considered or being considered, and the interest is not a ‘sensitive interest’,
subject to paragraph 4.13 below, at the meeting:
4.11.1 you must disclose the interest to the meeting (whether or not it is
registered);
4.11.2 unless a dispensation has been given, you may not participate in any
discussion of the matter at the meeting and must leave the room;
4.11.3 unless a dispensation has been given, you may not participate in any
vote taken on the matter at the meeting.

D.

Registration of interests

4.12

Subject to paragraph 4.14 (Sensitive Interests), you must within 28 days of:
(a)
(b)

the adoption of this Code; or
your election or appointment to office as a member of the Health and
Wellbeing Board (where that is later);

notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of :
(i)
(ii)

any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, as defined in paragraph 4.1
above; and
details of your Personal Interests where they fall within the
category mentioned in paragraph 4.5.1 above.

4.13

Subject to paragraph 4.14 (Sensitive Interests), you must, within 28 days of
becoming aware of any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Personal
Interest as referred to in paragraph 4.5.1, or any change to any such interest,
notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the details of that new interest or
change.

E.

Sensitive Interests

4.14

Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to
you, or a person connected with you, being the subject of violence or
intimidation, and the Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on
the Register, copies of the Register that are made available for inspection and
any published version of the Register will exclude details of the interest but
may state that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld.

F.

Dispensations
7

436

4.15

To enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or a Personal Interest that might lead to bias,
the Council may grant you a dispensation in accordance with rules and
procedures established by the County Council.

8

APPENDIX B

Sally Kilbourne
March 2017

437

Public prevention
campaign

Challenges:

438

Objective

439

Promote, maintain and enhance people’s
independence so that they are healthier,
stronger, more resilient and less reliant
on health and care services

Communications strategy

440

Inform and engage local people to take
responsibility for their health and
wellbeing to achieve the best possible
quality of life

Timescales
June
July
- Be Clear on Cancer Physical activity
- Bike week
(Change 4 Life)

August
Physical activity
(Change 4 Life)
November
- Stay Well this Winter
– flu jabs
- Lung Cancer
awareness
February

September
Be Food Smart
(Change 4 Life)
December
Stay Well this
Winter – flu jabs,
pharmacy, A&E

October
Stoptober

March
Ovarian & prostate
cancer awareness

April

441

May
Walking month –
physical activity

January
New Year New You
– One You (PHE)

Next steps:
• Your ideas?
442

• What would help you get involved?

